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PREFACE

HE subject-matter of the present volume is, per-

haps, sufficiently told on the title-page. It

may, however, be explained that the compiler was

originally employed to report on the records of the

Home Department in Calcutta, and intended to

confine his extracts to the papers preserved there.

As, however, he proceeded with the task it was dis-

covered that the value of those records had been

much overrated. They were incomplete in them-

selves, and not only overloaded with detail, but

were mostly written in the verbose style of the

eighteenth century. Those of an early date had

been destroyed in the great storm of 1737, or were

lost at the capture of Calcutta in 1756 by the

Nawab of Bengal. Those of a later date throw

considerable light upon the progress of affairs during

the transition period, when the Company’s servants

were beginning to exercise a political power in

India; but they do not furnish dctails as regards

the social life of the early English settlers in

Bengal, which is still a desifleratum in Anglo-Indian

history.
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The extracts given will suffice to show to what

extent these records possess an intrinsic interest.

In order, however, to complete the usefulness of the

volume, and render it of historical value, the com-

piler has been led to extend his researches over a

wider field. He has collected extracts from the

works of old travellers and other contemporary

authorities, which bring out the workings of the

English element amongst the native population, not

only at Calcutta, but at Surat, Bombay, and Madzras.

Surat was perhaps scarcely a settlement; it was

only ahouse or factory. But it was the first factory

which the English established in India; and the

pictures furnished by the old travellers, Mandelslo

and Fryer, of English life at Surat in the reigns of

Charles the First and Charles the Second, will pro-

bably have a charm for most.xveaders, In like manner

Fryer’s description of Bombay, some twenty years

after its cession to the English by the Portuguese,

will excite imperial interest. It throws further

light upon that indomitable spirit of English
enterprise which has converted a pestilential island

into one of the great commercial cities of the world.

As regards Madras, the compiler has had excep-

tional sources of information. The old records of

the commercial period,’ which were wanting in

Calcutta, have peen preserved at Madras. In 1860
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Sir Charles Trevelyan, then Governor of Madras,

opened up the records of that Presidency to the

compiler for the first time. The result was a

publication of a series of extracts from the records ;

and these extracts were illustrated, or rather held

together, by an explanatory narrative. The work

was published in three volumes under the title of

** Madras in the Olden Time.”

That portion of the present volume which

deals with Madras comprises. a selection of such

Madras records as are likely to interest general

readers. Those which are only of local value,

and likely to prove tedious to readers outside the

Madras Presidency, have been generally excluded.

Those which illustrate the primitive system of

administration, the old English life within the walls

of Fort St. George and. Black Town, or the rela-

tions between the English residents and native

population, have been reproduced i extenso, or

in the form of an abridged summary. These

again have been supplemented by extracts from

the travels of Fryer and Hamilton. Something

is thus opened up of the inner state of affairs dur-

ing the seventeenth century, and early years of the

eighteenth, and the way in which the Company’s

administration of Madras was regarded by strangers

and interlopers.
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In dealing with Calcutta the compiler has pro-

ceeded much on the same principle. The absence

of records prior to the capture of Calcutta in

1756 has been supplied by extracts or summaries

from contemporary authorities, such as Holwell,

the Syar-ul-Mutakherin, Stewart’s History of

Bengal, and otherworks of alike character. The

following documents are specially worthy of

notice :—

1st.—The letters of certain English envoys who went on a

mission from Caleutta to Delhi as far back as 1715. This

correspondence was discovered at Madras during the

investigations of 1860 and 1861.

2nd.—LJixtracts from Hamilton’s Travels about 1720, which

furnish graphic pictures of old Calcutta life, as well as sketches

of all the European settlements in Bengal.

3rd.—Holwell’s Narrative of the Tragedy in the Black

Hole in 1756. Holwell was one of the sufferers in that

terrible catastrophe, in which a hundred and twenty-three

persons were stifled to death in a small dungeon, whilst only

twenty-three lived till the next morning.

Of the remainder of the volume little need be

said. It consists of extracts from the Calcutta

records strung together by an explanatory narrative.

There are some strange and lamentable episodes,

such.as the quarrel over the inland trade,and the

massacre at Patna, Alf, however, may be left to

tell their own story.
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The labour which has been spent upon this

volume is beyond all calculation. It cannot be

judged by the results, but only from the voluminous

records which have been carefully searched but

yielded nothing. The time expended, however, will

never be regretted should it appear that the in-

formation now collected from original or half-for-

gotten sources has helped to throw more light

upon the rise of British power in India.

J. TALBOYS WHEELER.

CALCUTTA,

The 26th December 1877.
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EARLY RECORDS

OF

BRITISH ENDIA.

CHAPTER I.

INDIA IN THE SEVENTEENTH CENTURY.

A. D, 1600°r0. 1700.

ILE three English Presidencies of Madras, Cal-

cutta, and Bombay were founded in the seven-

teenth century, during the reigns of Charles the

First, Oliver Cromwell, and Charles the Second.

The records of British India consequently begin in

the seventeenth century. Before describing their

subject matter, it may be as well to glance at the

existing state of India; to present, as it were, an

outline picture of India in the seventeenth century.

India is an inverted triangle. Its northern boun-

dary is formed by the Himalayas; its western and

eastern sides are washed by the Indian Ocean and

the Bay of Bengal. It is divided into three belts or

zones, Which may be described as Hindustan, the

Dekhan, and the Peninsula. Hindustan is in the

north; the Dekhan in the middle; the Peninsula in

the south. These three zones are separated from

each other by nes running east to west, or west to

Early English

settlements.

Division of

India :—

Hindustan,

Dekhan,

Peninsula.
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east, along two rivers, and reaching to the sea on

either side. The line of the Nerbudda river sepa-

rates Hindustan from the Dekhan; the line of the

Kistna river separates the Dekhan from the Penin-

sula."

In the seventeenth century the people of India

practically consisted of Hindus and Muhammadans.

The bulk were Hindus; they were the subject race.

The Muhammadans were comparatively few, but

they were the ruling power. They had begun to in-

vade India in the eleventh century. In the begin-

ning of the seventeenth century they had established

their dominion in Hindustan; they had founded
kingdoms in the Dekhan; they had not as yet con-

quered the Peninsula. ‘The Hindus were still mas-

ters in the Peninsula.

The Muhammadans were not all of the same race.

They comprised Afghans and Moghuls; accordingly

there was a race antagonism’ between the two.

The Afghans were bigoted Muhammadans; they

were intolerant of Hindu idolatry; they had tried to

force the Koran upon the people of India by war

and persecution. In the sixteenth century their

empire had been overturned by tlte Moghuls. The

Moghuls were lax and indifferent in matters of reli-

1 Politically the boundary between Hindustan and the Dekhan is formed

by the Vindhya range of mountains, Geographically the line of the Ner-

pudda river is preferable. It has the Vindhya mountains on its northern

bank, whilst its southern bank is formed by the Satpura range.

2 Besides the Afghan element there was a Turkish element. There is no

necessity in the presqnt work to indicate any distinctive marks between Turks

and Afghans, or between Turks and Moghuls,
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gion; they called themselves Muhammadans, but

many were Muhammadans only in name.

The Moghul empire in India had been the growth Mocha empire

of the sixteenth century. Baber and Humayun

were the early Moghul conquerors. Their reigns

are of no moment. The real founder of the Moghul

empire was the celebrated Akbar. This semi-en-

lightened barbarian introduced a policy under which

the discordant elements of Moghul, Afghan, and

Hindu were quieted down, and the whole were

moulded into one empire.

The reign of Akbar has been regarded as @ Ahan,

golden era in the history of India. He was a

true Moghul, a descendant of Timur and Chenghiz

Khan. He had the instincts of a warrior and a

king. He established his empire over Hindustan,

the Punjab, and Cabul; but he is best known by

his policy. He abandoned the religious bigotry

which had hitherto, characterised Muhammadan

rule in India. He was tolerant in religious matters,

like the ancient Romans. At the same time he

sought to be honoured as a deity, like the Roman

emperors. This system of toleration was adopted

by his son and grandson. During all three reigns

it was the mainstay of the empire. It will be seen

hereafter that it was abandoned by his great-grand-

son Aurungzeb for a policy of intolerance. The

bigotry of Aurungzcb brought about the decline

of Moghul rule.

The policy of Akbar and his immediate success- poticy of akbar.

ors has rarely been understood, It was that of
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Chenghiz Khan, the Moghul hero. of the thirteenth

century. According to the old laws of Chenghiz

Khan, every religion was to be tolerated that ac-

knowledged the worship of one God. Akbar acted

on this policy. At the same time he was imbued

with all the curiosity of a Moghul. He had a keen

relish for religious discussion. He studied Brah-

manism, Parsi worship, and Christianity. Ile broke

up the authority of the Ulama, the collective body

of Muhammadan lawyers and doctors, who often

controlled the sovereign by appeals to the Koran.

He threw off all the trammels of the Koran.

He left men to follow their own religion, but

wished them to pay him divine honours as a re-

presentative of deity. It is evident that he was a

bad Muhammadan. But the result of his policy

was that the Moghul empire was not endangered

by religious antagonism. During the reigns of

Akbar and his immediate suecessors, men of every

religion dwelt in peace under Moghul rule. To all

outward appearance the empire of the Moghul in

India was as permanent as that of any European

power.

Akbar carried his policy to an extreme. He

made friends with Hindu princes; he appointed

them to high commands; he took their daughters

to be his wives. He entertained European gunners

and artisans. These instincts have been common to

Moghul princes from a very early period. Marco

Polo tells of siyuilar doings in the court of Kublai

Khan ; similar proclivities have long been at work
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in the present day at the court of the King of

Burma.

But notwithstanding these outward signs of tnberent |

intelligence, the Moghul empire in India was poli- “osm

tically weak. It was held together, not by common

loyalty, but by mutual fear. There was much

display of outward show and form; but there was

no real strength in the body politic. It was

always exposed to rebellions from within and in-

vasions from without. These conditions are to be

found in all Moghul.empires.. They are not dis-

tracted by religious antagonisms; but they are

only held together by a system of intrigue and

terrorism. They lack those bonds of patriotism

and public spirit which alone secure the permanence

of empires, whether Asiatic or European. The

empires of Chenghiz Khan and Timur were of this

type; so is the existing Moghul rule in Upper

Burma; and so was the Moghul cmpire in India.

Such empires may dazzle the world for a few

generations; they gencrally perish in wars and

revolutions. They leave nothing behind that

can be called history. Family chronicles and court

memoirs have been written to order by court scribes

and parasites for the glorification of monarchs and

their ancestors; but to this day our only reliable

knowledge of the religion and civilisation of the

Moghuls is to be derived from the testimony of

contemporary European residents or travellers.

The Moghul dominion in India was an absolute mognut aos.
potism,

and irresponsible despotism, The will of the sove-
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reign or Padishah' was law, and above all law. In

theory, he was master of the life and property of

every one of his subjects. He could imprison, flog,

torture, mutilate, confiscate, or execute at will.

There was no independent force to over-ride his

whim; nothing but fear of rebellion or assassina-

tion. There were public Durbars, but no one ven-

tured to dispute the will of the sovereign. There

was no hereditary nobility, except amongst the

Hindus. ‘There was no publie opinion worthy of

the name; the voice of the people was rarely raised

except in flattery of the Padishah. As far as the

Moghul grandees were concerned, the Padishah was

the sole proprietor of the soil, the sole inheritor of

wealth, the sole fountain of honour. Hereditary

rights were only possessed, by Hindus, or by the

lower classes. ‘When the empire was at its zcnith,

all rights were often outraged or ignored; when

the empire began to decline, rights began to har-

den into institutions.

The following remarks of Robert Orme, the con-

temporary historian of British India, furnish such

an exact insight into the tenure of land, and nature

of property generally, under Moghul rule, that they

are extracted at length :—

“We see in those parts of Hindustan, which are frequented

by European nations, the customs or laws which regard lands2 DD

1 The Moghul sovercign was known to Europeans as the King, the Em-

peror, ox the Great Moghul. In India he was universally known as the Padishah.

Abul Fazl gives the following niecaning to the term Padishah: “ ‘Pad,’ ” he

says, “signifies stabincy and possession ; ‘Shah? means ‘ origin or lord.” See

preface to the Ain-i-Akbari, translated by Professor Blochmaun, of Calcutta,
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subject to contradictions, not easily reconcileable. The hus-

bandman who possesses a few fields has the power of selling

and bequeathing them, at the same time that the district in

which these fields are included is annually let out by the

Government to a renter who pays a certain sum of money to

the lord of the country, and receives from the cultivator a

certain part of his harvests. The renter sometimes quarrels

with the busbandman, and displaces him from his pogsessions.

Clamours as against the highest degree of injustice ensue.

The prince interferes and generally redresses the poor man,

who has so much need of support in such a cause of misery ;

and if he fails to give this proof of his inclination to justice,

he is held in execration, and deemed.capable of any iniquity.

“In all the countries absolutely subjected, the Great Proprictory

Moghul styles himself proprietor of all the lands, and gives Sovereign.
portions of them at will as revenues for life to his feudatories;

but still these grants take-not away from the cultivator the

right of sale and bequest. The policy of all the Indian gov-

ernments in Hindustan, as well as that of the Great Moghul,

seems to consist more in a perpetual attention to prevent any

one family from obtaining great possessions, than in the in-

tention of multiplying oppressions upon the body of the peo-

ple; for such slavery would soon leave the monarch little

grandeur to boast of, and few subjects to command. As all

acquisitions of land are subject to the inspection of the gov-

ernment, the man who should attempt to make himself pro-

prietor of a large estate in land would be refused the certi-

ficates necessary to put him in possession, and would be

marked as a victim necessary to be sacrified to the policy of

the State. From what we see in the histories of this and

other Eastern countries, the violences committed among the

great lead us to think that the man of more humble condi-

tion is subject to still greater violences, when, on the contrary,

this humility is the best of protections.

“The feudatory, by the acceptance of a certain title and Rights of in-

the pension which accompanies it, acknowledges the Great ter ee dace
Moghul bis heir, No man, from the Vizier downwards, has
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any trust of importance reposed in him but on these terms ;

and on his devease, the whole of his property that can be

found is seized for the use of the Emperor, who gives back to

the family what portion he pleases. The estates of all who

are not feudatories descend to the natural heirs.”

The Moghul Padishahs of Hindustan spent half

their time in public; this was the one popular

element in their rule. They received petitions and

administered justice in public. They gave audi-

ences in open Durbars. They publicly inspected

horses, elephants, troops, arms, accoutrements,

jewels, decorations, furniture, cattle and animals

of all kinds, goods and. chattels of every descrip-

tion. They delighted in hunting expeditions, .after

the old Moghul fashion which has prevailed since

the days of Nimrod. They delighted in public

fights between animals and. gladiators, after the

manner of the later Roman emperors. Akbar took

great pains in the administration of justice ; he was

anxious for the welfare of the people. Neither his

son Jehangir, nor his grandson Shah Jchan, cared

anything for the people. They were greedy only

of flattery and riches. They lavished cnormous

sums on harem establishments, jewels, palaces,

mausoleums, and tented pavilions. Meanwhile they

often hoarded up vast sums in the palace vaults of

Delhi and Agra.

The Moghul empire was divided into some twenty

or thirty provinces. The governors of provinces

éollected revenue, administered justice, and kept the

country under military command. The governor
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of a province was known as the Nawab or Su-

bahdar. All appointments were supposed to be

made direct by the Padishah ; none were valid until

they had been confirmed by the royal letters and in-

signia of investiture. It is scarecly worth while to

map out the provinces. Their limits were sometimes

changed at the will of the Padishah, Sometimes

three or four were placed under a prince of the

blood as viceroy. All, or nearly all, comprehended

large tracts under Hindu Rajas. Sometimes the

Moghuls invaded the territories of the Hindu Rajas.

But many Hindu princes maintained their inde-

pendence down to the last days of the empire.

The revenue system of the Moghuls was a series revenue system.

of struggles and compromises. In theory there was

order and regularity ; mm practice there was disorder

and uncertainty. ‘The cultivators were known as

Ryots; the middle man, who farmed or rented the

land, was known as the Zemindar. From the Ryot

to the Nawab or Subalidar there was a constant con-

flict of interests. The Ryots were often treated as

serfs. The Ryot sought to appropriate the harvest

without the knowledge of the Zemindar. The Ze-

mindar’s servants mounted guard over the Ryot and

hoodwinked the Governor. The Governor played the

same game in turn. The Padishah secured his own

share of the revenue by appointing a Dewan to

every province. The Dewan was supposed to keep the

accounts; to remit the royal share to the imperial

treasury. The Dewan was independent of the Su-

bahdar; so far he was a cheek upon the Subahdar.
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Generally, the Dewan was in collusion with the

Subahdar. At spasmodic intervals he aspired after

promotion, or reward, by a display of extraordinary

zeal in behalf of the Padishah.

Presents were as much an institution as the land

revenue. No man appeared without a present: be-

fore a revenue collector, a magistrate, or a local

governor. Hyots made their presents to the Zemin-

dar, and bribed his servants. Zemindars made their

presents to the local Governor, and bribed his

servants. Local Governors propitiated the Subah-

dar in like manner. On family occasions, such as

the birth of a Subahd&r’s son, or the marriage of

a son or daughter, extra presents were expected and

demanded. All petitions were accompanied by pre-

sents. The gifts sent to court were enormous.

Jewels and gold mohurs in sufficient abundance

would purchase immunity from the grossest oppres-

sions und the vilest crimes.’

The Moghul court was nomadic. Its movements

might be compared with the “royal progresses” of

old English kings; they bore a closer resemblance

to the migrations of the old Moghul Khans between

summer and winter quarters. The Moghul Padi-

shahs wandered to and fro over the conquered pro-

vinces of India in the same fashion that Chenghiz

Khan and Timur wandered over the vast tracts

1 Under British rule, return presents are generally given of equal value.

Under Moghul rule, the most valuable jewels were often presented to the

Padishah, whilst a piece of muslin, or an embroidered handkerchief, or a

paltry medal, were givéi in return, Forcign ambassadors were treated differ.

ently, according to circumstances,
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between China and Europe. Their encampments

resembled great cities; they included streets of tents

and pavilions; shops, bazars, fortifications, enclo-

sures, and gateways of painted canvas, Sometimes

the court left the camp, and was fixed for a while

at Agra, Delli, Lahore, or Ajmir; when the hot

season began, it generally moved away to the cool

mountains of Kashmir. The courts of Subahdars

and Nawabs were all of the same type. They

moved about their respective provinces in much the

same fashion.

The Moghul empire was always exposed to rebel-

lion. Hindu Rajas rebelled against the Subahdar.

Refractory Subahdars rebelled against the Padi-

shah. The migrations of the court may have

tended to preserve the peace of the provinces. At

intervals the empire was convulsed by a war for

the succession. The Padishah always had four sons

and no more. This Moghul institution dates back

to Chenghiz Khan. Other sons might be born; asa

rule, only four were recognised. If one of the four

died, another was taken to fillhis room. The eldest

was heir-apparent; he resided at court with his father.

The three others were sent out to rule remote pro-

vinees as viceroys. When the Padishah died, or

was about to die, the four brothers marched armies

against each other; India was deluged with blood.

When a prince had destroyed his three brothers, he

ascended the throne and massacred all the males of

the blood royal, excepting his own gons. After tis

India was tranquil.

Rebellions.
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Jehangir, son of Akbar, was an inferior man to

his father. He is better known than any other

of the Moghul Padishahs. Sir Thomas Roe was

sent by James the First on a mission to Jchangir.

The object was to procure the protection of the Pa-

dishah for an. English factory at Surat. Roe saw

a great deal of Jehangir. He describes him as a

drunken sovereign, infatuated with a vindictive

woman named Nurmahal, His reign was much

disturbed by rebellions.

Shah Jehan, son of Jehangir, was selfish and

sensual. His dominion extended over the same

provinces as that of Akbar; if included Kabul, the

Punjab, and. Hindustan ; it also extended over the

Northern Dekhan.' His vices were a scandal to

Asia. His court was utterly corrupt and depraved.
There was a lax indifference to religion, morality,

or public decency. The sons of Shah Jehan, with

one exception. were men of the same stamp. The

third son was the exception; his name was Au-

rungzeb. ,

Aurungzeb had little chance of the throne. He

had two brothers older than himself; both were

popular with Moghuls and Rajputs. Ambition

fired his brain; it stimulated his genius; it im-

1 Moghul deminion had been gradually encroaching upon the Dekhan

ever since the reign of Akbar. In the reign of Shah Jchan, the conquered

provinees in the Dekhan were formed into a viceroyalty, which was known as

the “Dekhan.” The Mussulman kingdoms of the Southern Dekhan were

still wnconquerec. They were known as Bijapur and Golkonda. They

extended southward to the River Kistna, or Krishna. India south of the

River Krishna was distributed amongst a number of petty Hindu principali-

ties, the relies of the old Hindu empire of Vijayanagar.
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pelled him to form a policy. We abandoned the

toleration of Akbar. He affected to be a strict

Muhammadan. Ile curried favour with Muham-

madans. He sought the support of all zealous

Muhammadans throughout India, He made his

religion a stepping-stone to the throne.

The early Padishahs were lusty men, sensual Bizofry and

and jovial. Aurungzeb was lean and spare. His

eyes were sunk in his head; they were bright and

piercing. He abstained from wine and flesh meat ;

he lived chiefly on rice and vegetables. He was

always talking of the Koran. He was ostentatious

in the performance of his religious duties. He was

never a sincere zealot. His religion never inter-

fered with his pleasures or policy. He hada weak

digestion ; his abstinence from wine and meat was

therefore a necessity. He was hetcrodox in his

marriages. His favourite wife was a Christian

from Georgia. Another favourite was a Rajput

lady. He flattered Rajput Rajas to win them to

his cause. He flattered Sivaji, the Mahratta leader

in the Western Dekhan. Sivaji might help him

in the coming struggle for the throne. Sivaji

might give him a refuge in the event of defeat

and disaster. He ceded territory to Sivaji; he

made a treaty of friendship with the Mahratta.

The war between the four brothers began whilst war between the

Shah Jehan was still alive. In the end Aurungzeb ups
obtained the mastery. His brothers were slaugh-

tered or poisoned with all their male descendants.

His father Shah Jehan was deposed and imprisoned
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in the palace at Agra. Aurungzeb ascended the

throne at Delhi. He began his reign with caution.

He disguised his hatred of Hindus. He trimmed

between Mulammadans and Rajputs. Occasion-

ally he sent armies against the Mahrattas ; but many

years passed away before he waged war against

Hinduism and Tindus.

The reign of Aurungzeb lasted from 1658 to

1707. It covered half a century,—the interval

between the death of Oliver Cromwell and the

opening years of Queen Anne. The great cha-

racteristic of the reign was the restoration of the

Koran as the supreme law throughout Hindustan.

Apart from this revival of Islam, there are three

prominent events in his reign, namely: the rise

and growth of the Mahratta power; the persecut-

ing wars against the Hindus; the development

of three English factories into presidency towns.

Aurungzeb became alarmed at the growing power

of Sivaji and the Mahrattas. Sivaji was becoming

a thorn in the side of the Moghul empire. He was

thirty years of age when Aurungzcb became

Padishah. He had been brought up amongst the

precipices and defiles of the Western Ghats. Tis

head-quarters were at Poona. He had numerous

fortresses on the mountains. He had founded a

kingdom on a basis of plunder. Every year during

the dry season his Mahratta horsemen scoured the

plains in search of booty. When the rains began

they carried off the spoil to their mountain for-

tresses. Sivaji established a system of black mail ;
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it consisted of one-fourth of the revenue; it was

known as chout, Whenever the inhabitants paid

the chout, their district or village was spared.

Whenever they withheld the chout, they were

plundered every year until they yielded to the

demand.

Sivaji was unscrupulous and perfidious. In his sivai, me

early years he inveigled a Muhammadan general

into a private interview; he slaughtered him with a

secret weapon ringed to his fingers, known as

“ tigers’ claws.”’ When Aurungzeb came to the

throne, he broke his treaty with Sivaji; he took

back the territory he had ceded to Sivaji. In

revenge, Sivaji plundered Surat. He tried to

plunder the English factory at Surat, but the Eng-

lish beat him off.

Aurungzeb regarded Sivaji with contempt. He War against

referred to Sivaji as ‘*the mountain rat.” He sent _
his uncle Shaista Khan to subdue “ the mountain

rat,” Shaista Khan captured Poona, and Sivaji

retired to his hill fortresses. One night, whilst

Shaista Khan was asleep at Poona, his house was

attacked by Mahrattas. His eldest son was slaugh-

tered on the spot. He himself escaped through a

window with the loss of a finger. Amidst the

panic, Sivaji and his Mahrattas went out of the

city. They were seen in the distance ascending a

hill fortress amidst the glare of torches.

Aurungzeb next set a trap for “ the mountain sivaji at pemi,

rat.” Sivaji was invited to Delhi under pre-

tence of being appointed viceroy of the Moghul
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conquests in the Dekhan. He went to Delhi; he

found himself deeccived, insulted, and a prisoner.

He was in danger of assassination, but escaped

out of the city in an empty hamper. He was

fortunate enough to reach Poona in safety.

Death, of Siva It is needless to dwell on the wars of Aurungzeb

against the Mahrattas. It will suffice to say that

Sivaji escaped from every toil and danger; he

founded a kingdom anda dynasty. He died about

1680.

Anmech | When Sivaji was dead, Aurungzeb took the field.

Possibly he had been afraid of Sivaji; afraid that

Sivaji would circumvent him or assassinate him.

Henceforth, and until his last illness twenty-seven

years afterwards, Aurungzeb remained in camp.

Throughout this period he was constantly warring

against the Hindus. He began the war in the vain

hope that he could dethrone the Hindu gods and

establish the Koran from sea to sea.

Perscouting, The fire of persecution began with the destruc-

Hindus, tion of pagodas in Hindustan. A large pagoda was

burnt down near Delhi. Orders were issued to the

governors of provinces to destroy all heathen temples

throughout the empire. Idols were cast down;

temples were converted into mosques. Hindu peni-

tents, known as Yogis and Saniasis, were driven

out of Hindustan. All the great officers of the

Crown, who refused to become Muhammadans, were

deprived of their posts. The celebration of Hindu

festivals was prohibited. Worst of all, the hate-

ful poll-tax, known as the Jezva, was levied on all
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who refused to embrace Islam. This tax pressed

heavily upon the Ilindus. Merchants paid a yearly

Jezya of thirteen rupees and a half per head ; artizans

paid six rupees and a quarter; the poorer classes

paid three rupees and a half. It is diflicult to con-

ecive how such a tax could have been levied with-

out a rebellion.

There was danger in Rajputana. Aurangzeb wos in
Rajputane.

moved all the forees of the empire against Raj-

putana, Jaipur consented to pay the Jezya. Marwar

refused at first, but afterwards came to a compro-

mise; the tax was redcemed by the ecssion of ter-

ritory. The Rana of Udaipur resolutely sct his

face against the demand. Most of his territory

was walled in by mountains. He abandoned

all the country outside the mountains. ‘The whole

nation was in arms; strong guards were posted in

every gorge and defile. Aurunezcb was_ baffled.

At one time he was lost ina labyrinth of defiles.

Ifis favourite wife was taken prisoner. His foree

was nearly starved out. <At last he retired to

Ajmir. ‘The remainder of his reign is devoid of

all interest. It was wasted in wars with Rajputs,

Mahrattas, and Afghans. He died in 1707.1

Having thus reviewed the condition of the Moghul

empire during the seventeenth century, if may be

advisable to glance at the early history of the Eng-

lish settlements in India during the same period.

Y Rllot’s History, Vol. VIL Catrow’s Moghul,
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CHAPTER If.

ENGLISH AT SURAT AND BOMBAY.

1600—1700.

HE early history of the English in India is a

tedious detail of voyages, personal adventures,

fights with the Portuguese, or quarrels with the

Moghul Governor of Surat. In the first instance the

English effected alodgment at Surat. This town is

seated on the western coast of India, the side nearest

to Europe. ‘The port of Surat had been famous

from a remote antiquity. It was situated about

a hundred and eighty miles to the north of Bombay.

It was the first place in India where the English

and Dutch established a trade.

The Portuguese had already been a century in

India. The Pope had given them the sovercignty

of the East. They denied the right of the English

to come there at all. They hated the English as

heretics. They told the Moghul Governor of Surat

that the English were pirates. The details of such

squabbles have lost all their interest. It will suffice

to say that between the years 1610 and 1620 both

English and Dutch were permitted to establish

factories at Surat.

The trade with India must have been most pro-

fitable. In 1628, the English and Dutch Presidents

were living in state in large houses like palaces ;

the senior merchants were furnished with chambers
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in the same mansion, Whenever the President

went abroad, a banner was carried before him, and

he was followed by merchants on horseback, as well

as by native attendants armed with swords, buck-

lers, and bows and arrows.!

In 1638 a young gentleman of Holstein paid a visitor
Mandeislg,

visit to Surat. His name was Albert de Mandelslo.*

He has left a curious account of his visit; it fur-

nishes a graphie picture of the English factory :—

* Within a league of the Road we entered into the river surat Custom

upon which Surat is seated, and wwhich hath on both sides House.
avery fertile soil, and many fair @ardeus, with pleasant

country-houses, which bemy all white, a colour it seems the

Todians ave much in love with, afford a noble prospect amidst

the greenness whereby they are encompassed. But this river,

which is the Tapte, called hy others Tynde, is so shallow at

the mouth of it, that barks of 70 or $0 ton can hardly come

into it. We came ashore near the Sulthan’s Palace,’ and

went imincdiately to the Custom-honse to have our things

searched by the oflicers there: which ts done with such ex-

actness In this place, that-they think it not enough to open

chests and portmantles, but examine people’s clothes and

pockets. The Sulthan or Governour, nay the Customers *

themselves, oblige merchants and passengers to part with, at

the price they shall think fit to put upon them, those goods and

commodities which they had brought for their own private use.

Accordingly the Sulthan himself, who cameto the Custom-house

as soon as we were got thither, having found among my things

a bracelet of yellow amber, and a diamond, would needs buy

them both of me: whereto when I made him answer, that I

1 Travels of Pictro della Valle in 1623 and 1624. London: 1665.

2 Travels of J. Albert de Mandelslo in 1638 and 1689. Loudon: 1669.

* The focal Governor of Surat was called Sultan out of courtesy,

4'The Custom House Olficers are always termed Customers by old

travellers, After the English ostablished themselves in India and levied

duties, the Collectur was always known ag the Customer.
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was no merchant, and that I valued those things only for their

sakes who had bestowed them on me, he was pleased to return

me the diamond, but detained the bracelet, telling me I should

have it again when I honoured him with a visit.

“While we were in this contestation, came to the place

an JTndian coach, drawn by two white oxen, which the

English President had sent to bring me to their house; so

that leaving the Sulthan with the bracelet, I went into it.

At the entrance of the house I met the President, with his

Second, that is tosay, he who commands under him, and in

his absence, whose name was Mr, Fremling, who received me

with extraordinary kindness, aud very civilly answered the

compliment [ made them, upon the freedom I took to make

my advantage thereof. The President, who spoke Dutch very

well, told me I was very welcome; that in the country

where we then were, all Christians were obliged to assist one

unother, and that he was the more particularly obliged there.

to as to what concerned me, in respect of the affection I

would have expressed towards some of his nation at Ispahan.

He thereupon brought me to hig chamber, where there was

a collation ready. It consisted of fruits and_ preserves,

according to the custom of the country, As soon as we

were set, he asked me what my, design was, and understand-

ing that I intended to return for Germany within twelve

mouths, he sold me I was come too late to get away that

year, by renson no more ships would come that way, but

that if I would stay with him five or six months, till there

were a convenience of passage, he would take it kindly: that

during that time he would contribute all he could to my

divertisement: that he would find out a means how I might

see the mcst emivent places in the country—nay, that he

would send some of his own nation alone with me, who

should find me those accommodations I could not otherwise

hope for, This obliging discourse soon prevailed with me

to accept of these profters, so that he shewed me all the

house that Io might make choice of a convenient lodging,

whieh I took near his Second’s chamber. In the evening,

some merelants and others belonging to the President, eame
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cud brought me from my chamber to supper into a great

hall, where was the Minister with about a dozen merchants,

who kept me company, but the President and his Second

supped not, as bee accustomed to that manner of life, out

of a fear of overcharging their stomachs, digestion being

slowly performed, by reason of the ereat heats which are as

troublesome there in the night time as in the day. After

supper the Minister carried ime into a preat open gallery,

where I found the President and bis Second taking the

coolness of the sea-air. This was the place of our ordinary

rendezvous, where we met every night; to wit, the President,

his Second, the principal merchant, the Minister and my-

self; but the other merchantseame not but when they were

invited by the President. — At dinner he kept a great table

of about fifteen or sixteen dishes of meat, besides the desert.

«The respeet and deference which the other merchants

have for the President was very remarkable, as also the

order which was there observed in all things, especially at

Divine Serviee, which was suid twice a day, in the morning

at six, and at eight at night, and on Sundays thrice. No

person in the house but had his particular function, and

their certain hours assigned them as well for work as reerca-

tion, Our divertisement.was.thus ordered. On Fridayes after

Prayers, there was a particular assembly, at which met with

us three other merchants, who were of kin to the President,

and had left as well as he their wives in England, which day

being that of their departure from England, they had ap-

pointed it for to make a commemoration thereof, and drink

their wives’ healths, Some made their advantage of this

meeting to get more than they could well carry away, though

every man was at liberty to drink what he pleas’d, and to

mix the Sack as he thought fit, orto drink Palepuatz, which

isa kind of drink consisting of aqua vite, rose-water, juice

of eitrons and sugar.!

'Tt is a curious fact, mot generally known, that pauch was au Indian

drink invented by the convivink Factors at Sarat. Et was culed punch from

the Hindustad word signilying tive ingredients, we., brandy, sagay, Hines,

spice, and water

Order of the

Mnglish Pactory.
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Ten, “ At our ordinary meetings every day, we took only Zhé,

which is commonly used all over the Indies, not only among

those of the country, but also among the Duteh and English,

who take it as a drug that cleanses the stomach, and digests

the superfloous humours, by a temperate heat particular

thercto. The Persians instead of 7%é drink their Auhwa,

which cools and abates the natural heat which 7é preserves.'

English Garden, = The English have a fair Garden without the city, whither

we constantly went on Sundayes after Sermon, and sometimes

also on other dayes of the week, where our exercise was

shooting at Butts, at which I made a shift to get a hundred

Mamoudis (or five pound sterling) every week. After these

idivertisemenis, we had a eollation of fruit and_ preserves,

and bathed our selves (tm a tanke or cistern which had five

foot water. Some Dutch gentlewomen served and enter-

tained us with much civility. What troubled me most was,

that roy little acquaintance with the English tongue made

me ineapable of conversation, unless it were with the

President, who spoke Dutch.

amnsementsat During my abode at Surat I wanted for no divertisc-

Sera ment; for either I walked down to the Haven, or found com-
pany in the city, especially at the Dutch President’s, who had

his family there, and with whom. it was the easier for me

to make acquaintance, in as much as I could converse with

them in my own janguage. But understanding that the

English ships, with which T intended to retarn into Europe,

would not be ready for their departure under three or four

Journey to months, I resolved to take a journey into the country, to the
Alimadabad, , ’ J

1 This is a curions allusion to tea and coffee. In China tea is called Cha;

soit is in India. Olearius, in his travels through Muscovy, Tartary, aud

Persia, makes the following remarks :—

“Phe Persians are great freyuenters of the taverns or tipling houses,

which they call Tazri Chattai Chane, in regard there they may have The, or

Cha, which the Usbegues Tartars bring thither from Chattai, It is an herb

which hath long and narrow leaves, about an inch ia Jength and half an inch

in breadth. In oider to the keeping and transportations of it, they dry it

so that it turns to aedark grey colour, inclining to black, and so shrivelled up,

that it seems not to be what it really is; but as soon as it is pnt info warn

water, it spreads aud re-assumes its former green colour.”
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Great Mogul’s Court, taking my advantage of a Caffila, or

Caravan, of thirty wagons loaden with quicksilver, roenas,

which is a root that dics red, spiees, and a considerable sum

of moucy, which the Enelish were sending to Ahmadabad,

The President had appointed four merchants, certain Banians,

twelve English soldiers, and as many Indians, to conduct

and convey this small Caravan; so that confident I might

undertake this journey without any danger, (which it had

not been safe for me to attempt without this convenience, by

reason of the Rajputs, and their robberies upon the high-

way,) I took the President’s advice, and pnt my self into

their company.

“ These Rajputs are-a sort of-high-way men, or tories, Rajput outlaws.

who keep in the monntains between. Baroda and Baroche,

which are called Champenir, where they have their fortified

places and retreats, whevein they sometimes make their party

good against the Mogul himself. Not long before he had

taken one of their strongest places, and by that means

kept them a long time in subjection ; but they revolted again,

and exercised their robberies with e@veater eruelty then ever.”

The journey of Mandelslo from Surat to Ahmad. anasearas.

abad is too long for extract. At Ahmadabad he

paid a visit to the Moghul Governcr. His account

of this visit is very graphic. Aveb Khan, the

Governor, was a type of the Governors of provinees

in the reigns of Jehangir and Shah Jehan.

“The city of Ahmadabad maintains for the Mogul’s service, amadabaa

out of its own revenue, twelve thousand horse and fifty 12,000 horse.

elephants, under the command of a Khan, or Governor, who weathers
hath the quality of Raja, that is to say, Prince. He who

commanded there in my time, was called Areb Khan, and

about sixty years of age. IT was credibly informed, that

he was worth in money and houshold-stuffe, ten Crore, which

amount to fifty millions of erowns, the Crore being accountede

at a hundred Lacs of Rupees, each Lac being worth fifty

thousand erowns. It was not long before, that his daughter,



ilis Court.

His expeuee.

Mancéelsio visits

the Governor of

Almadabad.

Their discourse.

D4, BARLY RECORDS OF BRITISH INDIA.

one of the greatest beauties in the country, had been married

to the Mogul’s second sun; and the Khan, when she went to

the Court, had sent her attended by twenty elephants, a

thousand hevse, and six thousand wagons, loaded with the

richest stufls, and whatever else was rare in the country. His

Court consisted of above 500 persons, 400 whereof were his

slaves, who served him in his affairs, and were all dicted in the

house. I have it from good hands, that his expence in house-

keeping amounted to above five thousand crowns a month,

not compreliending in that account that of his stables, where

he kept five hundred horse and fifty elephants. The most

eminent persons of his retinue were very magnificently clad,

though as to his own person; he was nothing curious, and

was content commonly with a garment of cotton, as are

the other Indosthans, unless. it were when he went abroad

into the city, or took a journey into the country ; for then

he went in creat state, sitting ordinarily in a rich chair, set

upon an elephant, covered with the richest tapistry, being

attended by a guard of 200 men, having many excellent

Persian horses led, and. causing several standards and

banners to be carried before him.

“JT went along with the English merchant to visit the

Governor, whom we found sitting in a pavilion or tent

which looked into his garden. Having caused us to sit

down by him, he asked the merchant who I was: He

told him in the Indosthan language, that I was a gentleman.

of Germany, whom a desire to sce foreign countries, and

to improve himself by travel, had obliged to leave his own.

That coming into Persia, upon oceasion of an Hmbassy sent

thither by the Prince my master, I took a resolution to sce

the Indies, as being the noblest country in the world; and

being come to that city, that I hoped he would not take it

ill if I aspired to the honour of waiting upon him. The

Governor made answer, I was very welcome, that my reso-

lution was noble and generous, and that he prayed God to

bless and prosper it. He thereupon asked me, whether

duking my abode in Persia, I had learnt ought of the
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language. Treply’d that I had a greater inclination to the

Yorkish language, and that I understood it so far as to make

a shift to express my selfin it. The Governor, who was a

Persian born, made answer, that if was true indeed, the

Tarkish language was mnch incre commonly vpoken in the

Shah’s Court then that of the country, and thercupon asked

me my age, and how Jonge it was since T left Germany. 1

told him I was 24 years of age, and that 1 had travelled

three years. He replied that he wondered very much my

friends would suffer me to travel so young, and asked me

whether I bad not changed my habit by the way; whereto

having made answer that I had not, he told me, that it was

an extraordinary good fortune, that T had travelled in that

costume through so many countries, without meeting with

some unhappy aceident, and that the Dutch and English, to

prevent any such misfortune, elad themselves according to

the fashion of the country.

© After about an hour’s discourse, we would have risen and.

taken our leaves of him, but the Governor intreated us to

stay and dine with him, He caused some fruit to be brought,

while his people were laying the cloth, which was of cotton,

laid upon a large carpet ef red Vurkie-leather. The dinner

was very noble, and served up) and) drest according to the

Persian way, the meat being laid in dishes, all porcelane,

upon rice of several colours, in the same manner as we had

gsecn at the Court at Ispahan, Presently after dinner we

came away, but as I was taking my leave of the Governor

be told me in the Turkish language, Seuai duhe furim, that

is to say, we shall see you again, viving me thereby to under-

stand, that he would be glad of some further discourse with

me.

* Accordingly we went thither again, but I had clad

my self according to the mode of the country, upon the

design I had to travel into Cambaya, which I could hardly

do without changing habit. We found him in the same

apartment where we had seen him the time Jefore. He was

clad in a white vestment, according to the Indian mode,

Dinner

Asccond visit to

the Governor,
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ever whieh he Tad another that was longer, of brocade, the

ground earnation lined with white satin, and above, a

collar of sables, whereof the skin were sewed together, so

as that the taile hung down over the back. As soon as he

saw us come in, he made us sit down by the Lords that were

with him. He was abont some business, which hindered bim

for a while from discoursing with us, yet could I not but

observe that he was pleased at my change of habit. He

dispatched several orders, and sometimes writ himself; yet

did not his business take him up, so as to hinder him from

taking tobacco, which he took after the same manner,

there standing near him a servant, who with one hand

held the pipe to his mouth, and sct fire to it with the

other. He quitted that exereise too and take a view of

certain troops of horse and companies of foot, which were

drawn up jin the court. He would see their arms himself,

and caused them to shoot at amark, thereby to judge of

their abilities, and to augment the pay of snel as did well

at the cost of the others, out of whose pay there was so much

abated. So that secing him tlus employed we would have

taken our leaves, but he sent us word that we should dine

with him, causing in the mean time fruit to be sent us,

whereof by his order we sent the best part to our lodging.

* Soon after he called for a little golden cabinet, enriched

with precious stones, and having taken out two drawers,

out of one he took Offion, or Opium, and out of the other

Bengi, a certain drug, or powder, made of the leaves and sced

of hemp, which they use to excite luxury, Having taken a

small spoonful of each, he sent the cabinet to me, and told

me, that it could not otherwise be, but that, during my abode

at Ispahan, I must needs have learnt the use of that drng,

and that I should find that as good as any I had seen in

Persia. I told him, that I was no competent judge of it, in

regard I had not used it often, however I would then take of

it for the honour’s sake of receiving it from bis hands. I took

of it, and the Inglish merchant did the like, though neither

of us had ever taken any before, nor did much like it then.
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«The Governor of Ahmadabad was a judicious understanding Character of (he

man, but hasty, and so rigorous, that lis government inclined Ahmadabad,

somewhat to cruelty. I¢ happened one day, that the two

principal Divectors of the Enelish and Dutch trade there,

being invited by him to dinner; a young gentleman that

waited upon the former, comes into the hail to attend upon

his master. Tie had on a slashed doublet, much after the

fashion which was worn about thirty years since, which the

Governor thought so ridienlous, that he could not forbear

laughing at it, and asked the English President, in what quality

that slashed gallant served him, since that according to his

habit, he conceived he kept him for his Fool. The President

made answer, not without some confusion, that he waited on

him in his chamber, and that hehad opened his doublet in

that manner to make way for the air, the better to avoid

the excessive heats of the country, whieh the Europeans

could not well endure. Whereto the Governor replied, that

that reason gave some satisfaction, but what he most wondered

at was that the Christians, who area wise and understanding
people, had not yet found out the way to make their doublets

of several shreds, rather then cut and mangle whole pieces

of stuffes to put themselves into that mode, This jesting

with the English merchant put him into so good an humour,

that he would needs devote the remainder of the day to sport,

and divertisement, and thereupon sent for twenty women-

dancers, who as soon as they were come into the room fell a

singing and dancing, but with an activity and exact observa-

tion of the eadence, much beyond that of our dancers

upon the ropes. ‘They had little hoops or cireles, through

which they leaped as nimbly as if they had been so many

apes, and made thousands of postures, according to the several

soundings of their musick, which consisted of a tenbeck, or

timbrel, a haw-boy, and several tabours. Having danced

near two hours, the Governor would necds send into the city

for another band of dancers, but the servants bronght word,

that they were sick and could not come, 'Thas excuse being not

taken, he sent ont the same servants, with express order to
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bring those women away by force ; but they returpine thesecond

time with the same excuse, he ordered they should be cudelled.

Upon that, the women came and east themselves at the

Governor’s feet, and acknowledged that it was indeed true, they

were not sick, and that they denied to come, becanse thev

knew well cnough he would not pay them. We Jaught

at it, but immediately commanded ont a party of his enard

to bing them to him, and they were no sooner entered into

the hall ere he ordered their heads to be struck off. They

begged their lives with horrid cries and lamentations; but he

would be obeyed and caused the exeention to be done in the

room before all the company, not one of the Lords

then present daring to make) the least intercession for

those wretehes, who were eight i number. The strangers

were startled at the horror of the spectacle and inhumanity

of the action; which the Governor taking notice of, fell a

laughing, and asked them what they were so much startled

at. Assure your selves Gentlemen, said he, that if I should

not take this course, J should not be Jong Governor of

Ahmadabad. For should I connive once at their disobedience,

these people would play the Masters, and drive me out of

the City. *Tis but prudencein me to prevent their con-

tempt of my authority, by such examples of severity as these

are.”

Thirty-six years passed away. In 1674, Dy. Fryer

visited Surat. Tle was a Surgeon in the service

of the East India Company. He has left the

following description of the English factory at

Surat. It indicates a considerable increase in the

Company’s establishment at Surat, as well as a

large extension of their trade.

“The house the English live in at Surat, is partly the

King’s gift, partly hired; built of stone and excellent

? Fryer’s Travels iff India and Persia between 1672 and 1681. Loudon:

1698.
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nmber, with good carving, without representations; very

strong, for that each floor is half a yard thick at least, of

the Lest plastered cement, which is very weighty. It is

contrived after the Moor’s buildings, with upper and lower

galleries, or terrace-walks; a neat Oratory, a convenient

open place for meals. The President has spacious lodeings,

noble rooms for counsel aud eutertainment, pleasant tanks,

yards, and an hammum to wash in; but no gardens in the

eity, or very few, though without the erty they have many, like

wildernesses, oversprend with trees. The English had a neat

one, but Sevaji’s coming, destroyed it: It is known, as the

other Factories are, by their several flags flyme.

“ Here they live (in shipping-time) in a continual burly- Fall of noise.

burly, the Banians presenting themselves from the hour of

ten till noon; and then afternoon at four till night, as if it

were an Exchange in every row; below stairs, the packers

and warehouse-keepers, together with merchants bringing

and receiving musters, make a meer Billinseate; for if you

make not a noise, they hardly think you intent on what you

are doing.

« Among the English, the business 1s distributed into four the Pour Chief

offices; the Accomptant, who is next in dignity to the Presi- Oe,
dent, the veneral acvompts of all dndia, as well as this place,

passing through his hands; lie is quasi Treasurer, signing all

things, though the broker keep the cash. Next him is the

Warehouse-keeper, who registers all Lurope goods vended, and

receives all astern commodities bought; under him is the

Purser Marine, who gives account of all goods exported and

imported, pays Seamen their wages, provides wagons and

porters, looks after tackling for ships, and ships’ stores.

Last of all is the Seerctary, who models all Consultations,

writes all letters, earries them to the President and Council to

be perused and signed; keeps the Company’s seal, which: is

affixed to all passes and commissions; records all transactions,

and sends copies of then to the Company ; though none of

these, without the President’s approbation, can act or do any

thine. The affairs of India are solely under bis regulation ;
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from him issue out all orders, by him all preferment is dis-

posed; by which means the Council are biassed by his arbi-

trament.

“The whole mass of the Company’s servants may be com-

prehended in these classes, v/2., Merchants, Factors, and

Writers; some Bluecoat Boys also have been entertained

under notion of apprentices for seven years, which being

expired, if they can get security, they are capable of employ-

ments. The Writers are obliged to serve five years for 107.

per Ann. giving ina bond of 5002. for good behaviour, all

which time they serve under some of the forementioned

Offices: After which they commence Factors, and rise to pre-

ferment and trust, according to seniority or favour, and

therefore have a 1,0002. bond exacted from them, and have

their salary augmented to 200 per dan. for three years, then

entering into new indentures, are made Senior Factors; and

lastly, Merchants after Three Years more; out of whom are

chose Chiefs of Factorics, as places fall, and are allowed 402,

per Ann. during their stay in the Company’s service, besides

lodgings and victuals at the Company’s charges.

“Those in their several Scigniories behave themselves after

the fundamentals of Surat, and im their respective Factories

live in the like grandeur; from whence they rise successively

to be of the Council in Surat, which is the great Council;

and if the President do not contradict, are sworn, and take

their place accordingly, which consists of about five in num-

ber, besides the President, to be constantly resident.

“As for the Presidency, thongh the Company interpose a

deserving man, yet they keep that power to themselves, none

assuming that dignity till confirmed by them: His salary

from the Company is 5002, a year; half paid here, the other

half reserved to be received at howe, in case of misdemeanor

to make satisfaction; beside a bond of 5,0002 sterling of

good securities.

“The Accountant has 722. per annum, fifty pound paid

here, the other at home: All the rest are half paid here, half

at home, except the Writers, who have all paid here.
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*Qut of the Council are clected the Deputy-Governor of ne advantage

Bombay, and Agent of Persia; the first a place of great Comeih
trust, the other of profit; though, by the appomtment from

the Company, the Second of India claims Bombay, and the

Secretary of Surat the Ageney of Persia, which is connived

at, and made subject to the will of the President, by the

interest of those whose lot they ave; clusing rather to reside

here, where consignments compensate those emoluments ; so

that none of the Council, if noted in England, but makes

considerably by his place, after the rate of five in the hun-

dred, commission ; and this is the Jacob’s ladder by whieh

they ascend.

“Tt would be too mean to deseend to indirect ways, whieh the haseness

are chiefly managed by the Banians, the fittest tools for any of the Bausans,
deceitful undertaking ; out of whom are made brokers for

the Company, and private persons, who are allowed two per

cent. on all bargains, besides what they squeeze secretly out

of the price of things bought; which cannot be well under-

stood for want of knowledge in their language; which ignor-

ance is safer, than to. hazard Deine poisoned for prying too

nearly into their actions: Though the Company, to encourage

young men in their service, maintain a master to learn them

to write and read the lanewage, and an annuity to be annex-

ed when they gain a perfection therein, which few attempt,

and fewer attain.

“To this Factory belongs twenty persons im number, number of

reckoning Swally Marine into the account; a Minister for Vactorg 2 he
Divine Service, a Surgeon, and when the President is

here, a guard of Enelish soldiers, consisting of a ‘double file

led by a Serjeant.

“The present Deputy has only forty Moor-men, and a flag-

man, carrying St. George his colours swallow-tailed in silk,

fastened to a silver partisan; with a small attendance of

horse with silver bridles, and furniture for the gentlemen of

the house, and coaches for Ladies and Couneil.

“The President besides these has a ucise of trumpets, and state ot the

is carried himself in a Palenkeen, a horse cf state led before President.
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him, a Mirchal (a fan of ostriches’ feathers) to keep off the

sun, as the Omrahs or great men have, none but the

Emperor have a Sumbrero among the Moguls: Besides

these, every one according to his quality has his menial

servants to wait on him in his chamber, and follow him

out.

“The Presidency of Surat is esteemed superior to all in

India, the Agency of Bantam being not long since subordinate

to it, but since made independent ; though the South Sea trade

is stil] maintained from hence to Bantam with such cloth as

is vendible there, from thence with dollars to China for

sugar, tea, porcclane, laccared ware, quicksilver, tuthinag and

copper; which with cowreys, little sea-shells, come from Siam

and the Phillipine Islands; gold and elephants’ teeth from

Sumatra, in exchange of corm. From Persia, which is still

under the T'residency, come drugs and Carmania wool;

from Mocha, cohar, or coffee. The Inland Factories subject

to it, are Ahmadabad, whence is provided silks, as atlases

wrought with gold; Agra, where they fetch indico, chuperly,

course cloth, Siring chints, Broach baltas, broad and narrow ;

dimities, and other fine calicuts; Along the coasts are

Bombay, Rajipore for salloos; Carnear for dungarees, and

the weightiest pepper; Calicut for spice, ambergreez, granats,

opium, with salt petre, and no cloth, though it give the

name of Calicut to all in India, it being the first port from

whenee they were known to be brought into Europe: All

which, after the Europe ships have unladen at Surat, they go

down to fetch; and bring up time enough before the Caftilas

out of the country come in with their wares.

«Phe places about Surat afford variety of Calicnts, but not

such vast quantities as are yearly exported, and moreover not

so cheap; which is the reason at every place the factors are

sent to oversce the weavers, buying up the cotton-yarn to

employ them all the rains, when they set on foot their

investments, that they may he ready against the season for

the ships: or else the chicE broker imploys Banians in

their steads, whe are respousible for their fidelity,
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‘On these wheels moves the iraflick of the East, and has this trade _

succeeded better than any Corporation preceeding, or open Coinyany bette
trade licensed in the time of Oliver Cromwell; though how Traders.

much more to the benefit of Mngland than a free commerce,

may be gnessed by their already being over-flocked with

Europe merchandise, which lowers the price. What then

would a glut do, which certainly must follow, but debase

them more, and enhance these ?

“ But lest the New Company should be exclaimed against ag Their Freemen

too greedy monopolizers, they permit free traders on their than their
Island Bombay; when, to speak truth, they are in a far stevens
worse condition than their servants; being tied up without

hopes of raising themselves: so that, in earnest they find out

that to be but a trick.

The Charges* However, to confess on the Company’s behalf, the trade
of the Enelish

Company not(I mean on this coast) for some years latcly passed has

hardly ballanced expences. They employing yearly forty sail Tollauders,
of stout ships to and from all parts where they trade, out and

home; manning and maintaining their Island Bombay, Fort:

St. George, and St. Helens; besides large sums expended to

bear out the port of ther Factors; which notwithstanding

hy impartial computation has been found inferior to the costs

of the Hollanders, and therefore more to the profit of the

English East India Company, than theirs, in the few years

they have adventured ; so that [should mightily blame them

should they prove ungrateful to His Majesty, who by his

eracious favour has united them in a society, whereby they

are competitors for riches (though not strength) with the

notedest Company in the universe.

“This Charter was granted presently after the happy restora- qneir charter

tion of our Gracious Sovereign, when order began to dawn, and Pre

dispel the dark chaos of popular community: Then was sent

out a President, to put their Charter in foree, and establish a

eraduation among their servants, which before was not

observed; only for order’s sake, they did nominate an Agent;

the rest being independent, made no distin¢tion. When as
now, after a better model, they commence according to their

standing, and are under a eollegiate manner of restraint.



The Course of

the Presidents,

‘The Enelish

defend

themselves

honour & :

Sevaji a secoud

time.

vith

The Power of

he President,

TM suecess of

the first

Adveutures,

$f BARLY RECORDS OF BRITISIE INDIA.

«The last Avent was Avent Rivinton, who was abolished by

the Company’s sending out President Wynech, who lived not

much more than two years: President Andrews took his

place ; and he resigning, Sir George Oxendine held it till his

death; in whose time Sevaji plundered Surat; but he

defended himself and the merchants so bravely, that he had

a khillut or Serpaw, a robe of honour from head to foot,

offered him from the Great Mogul, with an abatement of

customs to Two and an half per cent. granted to the Com-

pany: For which his masters, asa token of the high sense

they had of his valour, presented him a medal of gold, with

this device :

‘Non minor est virtus quam queerere parta tueri.’

« After whose decease, the Tonourable Gerald Aungier took

the chair, and encountered that bold mountaineer a second

time, with as great applause; when the Governor of the

town and province durst neither of them shew their heads :

“« Puctum enim totius Barbarie ferre urbs una non poterat.

«he enemies by the help of an Europe engineer had

sprung a mine to blow up the castle; but being discovered,

were repulsed; for though he had set fire to the rest. of the

city, they retained the castle, and. the English their house.

«The extent of the Presidency is larger in its missions than

residency; in which limits may be reckoned an hundred

Company’s servants continually in the country ; besides the

annual advenues of ships, whieh during their stay are all

under the same command: Therefore what irregularities are

committed against only the Presidency or Company, in case

of non-submission, the persons offending are to be sent home,

aud dismissed their employments for refractoriness ; but if an

higher Court Iry hold of them in case of murder or any eapi-

tal crime, ther. they are to be sent to Bombay, there to have ¢

legal trial, according to the laws of England, as the Presi-

dent is created Governor of His Majesty’s Island.

«The ill-managing of which penalties formerly, or the in-

validity to in‘tiet them, may he the true eause ef the unpros-

peroushess of the ancient undertakers; who bad this imeon-
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venieney still attending, to wit, the incorrigible stubbornness War with
: : , . . Portugal.

of their own men, after they had overcome all other difficulties,

occasioned by the erant of the East to the Portugal, and West-

Indies to the Spaniard. Neverthicless this fairy gift was the

ground of a long and tedious quarrel in each of the world’s

ends; so that our ships encountring with their Carracks,

seldom used to part without the loss of one or both. Nay,

the long-lived people yet at Swalley, remember a notable

skirmish betwixt the Enelish and Portugals there, wherein

they were neatly intrapped; an ambuscado of ours falling

upon them behind in such sort, that they were compelled

between them and the ships in the road, to resign most of

their lives; and gave by their fall a memorable name to a

Point they yct call Bloody Point, for this very reason. Butsince

these sores are fortunately bound up in that conjugal tye

betwixt our sacred King and the sister of Portugal, laying all

foul words and blows aside, let us sce how the affairs stand

betwixt them and the Dutch, who followed our steps, and got

in at the breach we made. They made them more work, not

only beating them out of their South-Sea trade, but possessed

themselyes of all their treasures of spice, and have ever since

kept them, with all thei strong-holds, as far as Goa; they

only enjoying the gold trade of, Mosambique undisturbed ; the

Japanners having banished both their commerce and reh-

eon,

~ « Wherefore our ships almost alone, were it not for a little one company

the French of late, lade Calients for Europe: The Dutch have surieh this Nort,
a Factory here, that vend the spices they bring from Batavia,

and invest part of the money in coarse cloth, to be disposed

among their Planters, or sold to the Malayans, and send the

rest back in rupees: So that we singly have the credit of

the Port, and are of most advantage to the inhabitants,

and fill the Custom-NHouse with the substantialest incomes.

But not to defraud the French of their just commendations,

whose Factory is better stored with Monsicurs than with cash,

they live well, borrow money, and make a show: Here are

French Capuchins, who have a Convent, and live in es-

teem.”
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Dr. Fryer furnishes a curious account of the

relations between the English and the Muhammad-

ans at Surat :—

Going out to see the city of Surat, I passed without any

incivility, the better because I understood not what they

said; for though we meet not with boys so rude as in Eng-

land, to run after strangers, yet here are a sort of bold, lusty,

and most an end, drunken beggars, of the Mussulman east,

that if they sce a Christian in good clothes, mounted ona

stately horse, with rich trappings, are presently upon their

punetilios with God Almighty, and interrogate him, Why he

suffers him to go a footscand in rags, and this Kafir

(Unbeliever} to vaunt at thug? And are hardly restrained

from running a Muck (whichis to kill whoever they meet,

till they be slain themselves), especially if they have been

at Hadji, a pilgrimage to Meeca, and thence to Juddah,

where is Mahomet’s Tomb; these commonly, like evil spirits,

have their habitations among the tombs. Nor can we com-

plain only of this libertinism, for the rich Moormen them-

selves are persecuted by these rascals.

“ As for the rest, they are very respectful, unless the seamen

or soldiers get drunk, either, with toddy or bang (a plea-

sant intoxicating seed, mixed with milk); then are they

monarchs, and it is madness to oppose them; but leave

them to themselves, and they will vent that fury, by breath-

ing a vem or two with their own swords, sometimes slash-

ing themselves most barbarously.”

The allusions to Bombay in the forcgoing

extracts show that it was considered at this

period to be a subordinate place to Surat. It had

been given to the English in 1661 as a portion

of the dowry of Donna Infanta Catherina, sister

to the King» of Portugal, when she was given

in marriage to Charles the Second. Some ycars

elapsed before the English effected a settlement
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at Bombay. Dr. Fryer visited the Island about

1674, and has left the following description of

Bombay and its surroundings :—

“Tet us walk the rounds. At distance enough lies the tw.

the town, in which confusedly live the Euglish, Portugueze,

Topazes, Hindoos, Moors, Couly Christians, most fishermen,

“Jt is a full mile in length, the houses are low, and

thatched with oleas of the covoe-trees, all but a few the

Portugals left, and some few the Company have built, the

Custom-house and Ware-houses are tiled or plastered, and

instead of glass, use panes of oyster-shells for their windows

(which as they are cut in-squares, and polished, look grace-

fully enough). There is also a reasonable handsome Bazar,

“At the end of the town looking into the field, where

cows and buffoloes graze, the Portugals have a pretty house

and Church, with orchards of Indian fruit adjoining. The

English have only a Buryiug-place, called Mendam’s-Point,

from the first man’s name there interred, where are some

few tombs that make a pretty show at entring the Haven,

but neither Chareh or Hospital, both which are mightily to

be desired.

«There are no fresh water rivers, or falling streams of

living water: The water drank is usually rain-water preserved

in tanks, which deeaying, they are foreed to dig wells into

which it is strained, hardly leaving its brackish taste; so that

the better sort have it brought from Massegoung, where ix

only one fresh sprig,

“On the backside of the towns of Bombay and Maijm,

are woods of coeoes (under which inhabit the Banderincs,

those that prane and eultivate them), these Hortoes being

the greatest purchase and estates on the Island, for some

nnles together, till the sea break in between them: Over.

against which, up the Bay a mile, hes Massegoung, a great.

fishing town, peculiarly notable for a fish ealled bumbelo,

the sustenanee of the poorer sorf, who live on them and

batty, a eourse sort of rice, and the wine of the cocue,

ealed toddy. The eround between this and the great breach

Bombay

Brosin

sprites

a
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is well ploughed, and bears good batty. Here the Portugals

have another Church, and Religious Honse belonging to the

Franciscans.

“ Beyond it is Parell, where they have another Church,

and demesnes belonging to the Jesuits; to which appertains

Siam, manured by Columbeens, husbandmen, where live the

Frasses, or porters also; each of which tribes have a Manda-

dore, or superintendent, who give an account of them to

the English, and being born under the same degree of slavery,

are generally more tyrannical than a stranger would be

towards them; so that there needs no other task-master

than one of their own Tribe, to keep them in awe by a rigid

subjection.

“Under these uplands the washes of the sea produce a

Iunary tribute of salt left iu pans or pits made on purpose at

spring-tides for the overflowing; and when they are full

are inerustated by the heat of the sun. In the middle,

between Parell, Maijm, Seiam, and Bombay, is an hollow,

wherein is received a breach running at three several places,

which drowns 40000 acres of good land, yielding nothing

else but samphire; athwart which, from Parell to Maijm,

are the ruins of a stone causeway made by penances.

“At Maijm the Portugals have another complete Church

and House; the English a pretty Custom-house and Guard-

house: The Moors also a Tomb in great veneration for a

Peor, or Prophet, instrumental to the quenching the flames

approaching their Prophet’s Tomb at Mecha (thongh he was

here at the same time) by the fervency of his prayers.

“ At Salvasong, the farthest. part of this Inlet, the Francis-

cans enjoy another Church and Convent; this side is all

covered with trees of cocoes, jawks, and mangoes; in the

middle lies Verulee, where the English have a watch.

On the other sice of the great inlet, to the sea, is a great

point abutting against Old Woman’s Island, and is called

Malabar-hill, a rocky, woody mountain, yet sends forth

long grass. A-top of all is a Parsee Tomb lately reared; on

its declivity towards the sea, the remains of a stupendous
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Pagoda, near a tank of fresh water, which the Malabars

visited it mostly for.

“Thus have we compleated our rounds, being in the cir

cumferenee twenty miles, the length eight, taking in Old

Woman’s Island, which is a little low barren Island, of no

other profit, but to keep the Company’s antelopes, and other

beasts of delight.

“The people that live here are a mixture of most of the

neighbourmg countries, most of them fugitives and vaga-

bonds, no aceount being here taken of them: Others perhaps

invited hither (and of them a great number) by the hberty

granted them in their several religions, which here are

solemnized with varicty of fopperies. (a toleration consistent

enough with the rules of gam), though both Moors and

Portugals despise us for i6; here Heensed out of policy, as

the old Numidians to build up the greatest empire in the

world. Of these, one among another, may he reckoned

60000 souls; more by 50000 than the Portugals ever could.

For which number this Island is not able to find provistons,

it being most of it a reck above water, and of that which

is overflowed, little hopes to recover it. DTowever, it is well

supphed from abroad both with corn and meat at reasonable

rates; and there is more flesh killed for the English alone

here in one month, than in Surat fer a year for all the Moors

in that populous city.

“The Government here now is Evelish ; the soldiers have

martial law: he freemen, common; the ehief arbitrator

whereof is the President, with bis Council at Surat; under

him isa Justiciary, and Court of Pleas, with a Committee

for reeulation of affairs, and presenting all complaints,

“The President has a Jarge commission, and is Fee-Regis :

he has a Couneil here also, and a guard when he walks or

rides abroad, accompanied with a party of horse, which are

constantly kept in the stables, either for pleasure or service.

Ife bas his chaplains, physician, surgeons, and domes.

ticks; his linguist, and mint-master: At meals he has his

irampets usher in his courses, and soft music at the table;
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If he move out of his. chamber, the silver staves wait on

him ; if down stairs, the guard reeeive him ; if he go abroad,

the Bandarines and Moors under two standards march before

him. He goes sometimes in the coach, drawn by large milk-

white cxen, sometimes on horseback, other times in palen-

keens, carried by Cohors, Muassulman porters: Always having

a Sumbrero of state carried over him: And those of the

English inferior to him, have a snitable train.

“But for all this gallantry, I reckon they walk but in

charnel-houses, the climate being extremely unhealthy; at

first thoneht to be caused by Bubsho, rotten fish; but though

that be prohibited, yet It continues as mortal: I rather

impute it to the situation, which causes an infeeundity in

the earth, and a putridness in the air, what being produced

seldom coming to maturity, whereby what is eaten is un-

digested; whence follows fluxes, dropsy, scurvy, barbiers

(which is an cnervating the whole body, being neither able

to usc hands or feet), gout, stone, malignant and putrid

fevers, which are endemial diseases : Among the worst of these,
Fool Raek (brandy made of blubber, or carvil, by the Portugals,

because it swims always in a blubber, as if nothing else were

in it; bat teuch it, and it stings like nettles; the latter,

because sailing on the waves it bears up like a Portugal

Carvil: It is, being taken, a jelly, and distilled causes

those that take it to be fools),

“To support their colony, the Company have sent ont

English women ; but they beget a sickly generation ; and as

the Dutch well observe, those thrive better that come of an

Suropean father and Indian mother: which (not to reflect on

what creatures are sent abroad) may be attributed to their

living at large, not debarring themselves wine and strong

drink, which immoderately used, inflames the blood, and

spoils the milk in these hot countries, as Aristotle long ago

declared. The natives abhor all heady liquors, for which

reason they prove better nurses,

“Notwithstanding this mortality to the English, the country

people and naturalized Portugals live to a good old age,
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supposed to be the reward of their temperance; indulging

themselves neither in strong drinks, nor devouring flesh as

we do. But I believe rather we are here, as exotic plants

brought home to us, not agrecable to the soil: For to the

lustier and fresher, and oftentimes the temperatest, the

clime more unkind; but to old men and women it seems

to be more suitable,

“ Happy certainly then are those, and only those, brought

hither in their nonage, before they have a gust of our Albion ;

or next to them, such as intoxicate themselves with Leethe and

remember not their former condition: When it is expostulated,

Ts this the reward of an harsh and severe pupilage? Is this

the Elysium after a tedious wastage ?. For this, will any thirst,

will any contend, will any forsale the pleasures of his native

soil, in his vigorous age, tobury himself alive here ? Were

it not more charitable at the first bubbles of lis infant-sor-

rows, to make the next stream over-swell him? Or else

ifhe must be fall grown for misery, how much more com-

passionate were if to expose him to.an open combat with the

fiercest duellists in nature, to spend abonce his spirits, than

to wait a piecemealed consumption ? Yet this abroad and

unknown, is the ready choice of those to whom poverty

threatens contempt at home: What else could urge this

wretched remedy? Vor these are untrodden paths for know-

ledge, little improvement being to be expected from barbarity,

eustom and tradition are only venerable here ; and it is

heresy to be wiser than their forefathers ; which opinion is

both bred and hatehed by an innate sloth; so that though

we scem nearer the heavens, yet bodics here are more earthy

and the mind wants that active fire that always mounts, as

if it were extinguished by its Avteparistasis: Wherehy society

and communication, the characteristic of man, is wholly lost.

What then is to be expected here, where sordid thrift is the

only science? After which, notwithstanding there is so

general an inquest, few there be acquire it: For in five

hundred, ene handred survive not; of that one hundred,

one quarter @et not estates ; of those that do, it has not.
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been recorded above one in ten years has seen his country :

And in this difficulty it would hardly be worth a sober man’s

while, much ess an lngenvous man’s, who should net defile

his purer thoughts, to be wholly taken up with such mein

(not to say indirect) contemplations ; however, a necessary

adjunet, wealth, may prove to buoy him up on the surface

of repute, lest the vulgar serve him as Alsop’s frogs did their

first, revered deity.”

Dr. Fryer visited Bombay in stirring times. Sivaji

had established his Mahratta kingdom in the Kon-

kan. He was preparing for his coronation as Raja.

The English at Bombay sent an embassy to the

Raja in the hope of opening up a trade through his

dominions into the Dekhan. Fryer describes the

progress of the embassy. Sivaji held his head-quar-

ters at the great hill fortress of Rairee. At this

time he was absent on a pilgrimage. Accordingly

the English ambassador halted at Puncharra, a town

situated atthe foot of the hil Tfere he had an

interview with Narainji Pundit, one of the Mahratta

ministers. Ile begged the Pundit to persuade Sivaji

of the profit that would accrue to him by the open-

ing up of the trade; for, as the Raja had been a

soldier from his infancy, it was possible that he

paid no attention to such matters. The Mahratta

minister replied to the following effect :

That he doubted not but it would be effected in a short

time; for that the King of Bijapur, who is owner of those

countries (from whence most sorts of wares come) being

weary of wars with his master, had sent several embassies to

conelude a peace with him; which be thought weuld be made

up in two or three months, and then the ways would be free,

and the merchants have egress and regress ax formerly.
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That the Rajah, after his coronation, would act more like a

Prince, by taking care of his subjects, and endeavouring the

advancement of commerce in his dominions; which he could

not attend before, being in perpetual war with the Great

Mogul, and Ning of Bijapur. This is the substance of his (the

ambassador’s) disconrse with Narainji Pundit, who seemed to

hinn te be a man of prudence and esteem with his master: so

after a little sitting he took his leave of him, having first pre-

sented him with a diamond ring, for which he expressed a

liking; and his eldest son a couple of Pamerins, which are

fine mantles.

«They continuing under their tent, found it very hot and

incommodious ; wherefore they were glad when they heard

the Rajah was returned from Purtabghur, when the ambas-

sador solicited Narainji Pundit to procure his leave to pass

up the Hill into Rairee Castle: the next day they received order

to ascend the hill into the castle, the Rajah having appointed

a house for them; which they did; leaving Puncharra about

three in the afternoon, they arrived at the top of that strong

mountain, forsaking the humble clouds about sun-set.

“ Rairee is fortified by nature more than art, being of very

difficult access, there being but one avenne to it, which is

guarded by two narrow gates, and fortified by a strong wall

exeeeding high, and bastions thereto: all the other part of

the mountain is a direct precipice, so that tt is impregnable,

except the treachery of some in it betray it. On the moun-

tain are many strove buildings, as the Rajal’s Court, and

houses of other Ministers, to the number of abort 300, It is

in length about two miles and an half, but no pleasant trees or

any sort of grain grows thereon, Their house was about a

mile from the Rajah’s Palace, into which they retired with no

little content.

* Vour days after their aseent, by the solicitation of Narainji

Pundit, the Rajah gave them audience, though busily em-

ployed by many other great affairs, relating to his coronation

and marriage. Our ambassador presented him, and his son
~

Sambajt Rajah, with the particulars appotuted for them ,
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which they took well satisfied with them; and the Rajah

assured them we might trade securely in all his countries

without the least apprehension of il from him, for that the

peace was concluded, Our ambassador replied, that was our

intent; and to that intent the President had sent him to this

Court to procure the same articles and privileges we enjoyed

in Tndostan and Persia, where we traded. He answered, it

ig well, and referred our business to Moro Pundit his Peshwa,

or Chanecllor, to examine our articles, and give an account

what they were. He and his son withdrew into their private

apartments, to consult with the Brahmans about the ceremo-

nies preparatory to his enstalment ; which chiefly consisted

in abstinence and purifying; till which be over, he will

hear no farther of business. They hiewise departed to their

lodgings.

* About this time the Rajah, according to the Hindu custom,

was weighed in gold, and poised abont 16,000 Pagodas, which

money, together with an 100,000 more, is to be distributed

among the Brahmans after the day he is enthroned, who in

great numbers flock hither from all parts of his territories.

“ Being earnest to press on his errand he came for, the

ambassador sent to Navainji Pundit to know what was

transacted in the articles; but.was returned for answer :—The

Rajah stopt bis ears to all affairs, declaring he had granted

all the demands, except those two articles, expressing our

money shall gro current in his dominions, and his on Bombay;

and that he shall restore whatever wrecks may happen on

his coasts belonging to the English, and inhabitants of Bom-

bay: the first he accounted uunecessary to be inserted, be-

cause he forbids not the passing of any manner of coins: nor

on the other side, ean he force his subjects to take those

monies whereby they shall be losers; but if our com be as

fine an allay, and as weighty as the Mogul’s, and other

Princes, he will not prohibit it. To the other he says, that it is

against the laws of Konkan to restore any ships, vessels, or

woods, that are driven ashore by tempest, or otherwise ; and

that should he grant us that privilege, the French, Dutch,
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and other merchants, would claim the same right; which he

could not grant without breaking a custom has lasted many

ages: the rest of our desires he willingly eonecded, embracing

with much satisfaction our friendship, promising to himself

and country much happiness by our settlement and trade :

notwithstanding Narainji Pundit did not altogether despair

of obtaining our wrecks, because we enjoyed the same privi-

lege in the Mogul and Decean country.

“Near a month after they had been here, Narainji Pundit

sent word, that to-morrow about seven or clght in the morn-

ing, the Rajah Sevaji intended to aseend his throne; and he

would take it kindly if they came to congratulate him there-

on; that it was necessary~to present him with some small

thing, it not being the custom of the Eastern parts to appear

before a Prince empty-handed. The ambassador sent him

word, aecording to his adviee he would wait on the Rajah at

the prescribed time.

“ Accordingly next morning he and his retinue went to

Court, and found the Rajah seated on a magnificent throne,

and all his nobles waiting on him in rich attire; his son

Sambaji Rajah, Peshwa Moro Pundit, and a Brahman of

great eminence, seated on an ascent under the throne; the

rest, as well officers of the army as others, standing with great

respect. The English made thei obeisance at a distance,

and Narainji Pundit held up the diamond ring that was to be

presented him: He presently took notice of it, and ordered

their coming nearer, even to the foot of the throne, where

being vested, they were desired to retire; which they did not

so soon, but they took notice on each side of the throne there

hung (according to the Moor’s manner) on heads of gilded

lances many emblems of dominion and government; as

on the right-hand were two great fishes’ heads of gold, with

very large teeth ; on the left, several horses’ tails, a pair of

gold scales on a very high lance’s head, equally poised, an

emblem of justice ; and as they returned, at the Palace gate

stood two small elephants on each side, and wo fair horses

with gold trappings, bridles, and rich furniture ; which made

The Ambassador

samitianed to

the Coronation,

Coronation

of Sivaji.
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them admire how they brought them up the hill, the passage

being both difficult and hazardous.

The Rajah ne Two days after this, the Rajah was married to a fourth
marries Wb OUP . .

Wife. wife, without state; and doth every day bestow alms on the

Brakunans.

Sivaji signs the “Some days after, Narainji Pundit sent word the Rajah had

APHCles. sioned their articles, all but that about money. Then the
rest of the Ministers of State signed them, and they went to

receive them of Narainji Pundit, who delivered them to the

ambassador with expressions of great kindness for our nation,

and offered on all oceasions to be serviceable to the English

at the Court. of the Rajah.”

Vatne of te The description of the reception by Sivaji of an

deseription. ~—_Enelish ambassador is very valuable; it brings the

English reader face to face with the court of the

once famous Mahratta, Strangely enough it is not

noticed in Grant Dufl’s History of the Mahrattas,



CHAPTER Ii.

ENGLISH AT MADRAS

1600—1677.

settioment on

selves at Surat on the western side of India, Scyte *e

they made many futile attempts to effect a settle-

ment on the eastern side, known as the Coast of

Coromandel. The trade on the Coromandel Coast

was very valuable. The natives in this quarter had

brought the art of painting or dycing calicoes to the

highest pitch of perfection. They were in great

demand in Europe. Above all, they were in great

demand in the countries further to the eastward ;

in Burma, Siam and the Indian Archipelago; espe-

cially in what were known as the Spice Islands.

The English, however, wanted something more Want of a torr

than a factory. They wanted aterritory which they ““TM

could fortify. No such territory could be obtained

in the Moghul dominions. The Moghuls would

neither grant territory nor allow of any fortifica-

\\ TIILST the English were establishing them- attempts as

tions.

It would be tedious to narrate the ntiny abortive Parehase of
Madras,

attempts that the English made in this direction.
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At last they sueeecded in buying a piece of land

from a Tlindu Raja. It was in the remote Penin-

sula, far away to the south and far away from the

Moghul frontier. It was afterwards known as

Madras. Jt was the first territory which the

English secured in India.

Madras was founded in 1639. <A site was chosen

on the sandy shores of the Coast of Coromandel.

The spot was hard by the Portuguese city of

St. Thomé. In the sixteenth century St. Thomé

was famous throughout the world of Christianity.

St. Thomas the Apostle was said to have been

martyred there. ILis bones were found, or were said

to have been found, in a neighbouring mount.

The city and cathedral of St. Thomé were built to

commemorate the legend.’

The English territory of Madras was a mere

strip of land to the north of St. Thomé. It ran six

miles along the shore and one mile inland. It was

exposed to the heavy surf which rolls in from the

Bay of Bengal; but it possessed one crowning

advantage. ‘There was a small island in the strip

facing the sea; it was formed on the land side by

the river Koum. It was only four hundred yards

long and about a hundred yards wide; but it could

be easily rendered secure against the predatory

attacks of native horsemen.

1 ‘The story of St. Thomas is told inthe tenth book of the “ Lusiad” of

Camoens. The “Jgusiad? is a Portuguese epic composed in the sixteenth

century. Lb is known te English readers through the poetical translation of

William Mickle.
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A certain Mr. Day bought the strip from the white tows.

Hindu Raja of Chandragheri.’ The English agreed

to pay a yearly rent of twelve hundred pagodas, or

nearly six hundred pounds sterling, for this piece

of land. They built a wall round the island. They

laid out the enclosure in little streets and alleys,

with a fortress in the centre. Noone but Hu-

ropeans were allowed to live on the island. It was

accordingly known as ‘* White Town.”

There was soon a large native settlement outside misck tows.

the island. It was inhabited by weavers and other

peorle of the country; hence it was known as

“Black Town.” White Town and Black Town

were both included under the name of Madras.

White Town was also called Fort St. George.’

1 The Hindu Raja of Chandragheri deserves a passing notice, Lis name

was Sri Ranga Raja. He was a descendant of the old Rajas of Vijayanagar,

who had been driven out of the western table-luid in the previous century.

He affected to live in state at the fortress of Chandragheri, about seventy

miles to the south-west of Madras. His. suzevainty was still respected by

some of the local governors round about, ‘The governors were called Naiks

or deprties of the Raja. ‘Phe strip of seaboard, afterwards called Madras,

was within the govcrument of the Naik of Chinglopat.

Sri Kanga Raja was a genuine Hindu. Like all Tlindus, be was ardently

desirous of perpetuating bis family none to future ages. In granting the

land to the Kuglish, he expressly stipulated that the English town should

be called Sri Ranga Raja-patanan, or“ he town of Sri Ranga Raja? The

vrant was engraved ona plate of gold. The English kept the plate for more

than a century. I was lost in 1716 at the capture of Madras hy the Pronch.

The Raja of Chandragheri was outwitted by the Naik of Chingleput.

The father of the Naik was named Chinnapa. The Naik set the Raja

defiance. He ordercd the town tobe called Chinna-patanim, or “the town

of Chinvapa.” The Raja was helpless. The Mubammadans were pressing

towards the south, Jn 1646 the Raja fed away to Mysore. The English

gave the name of Madras (o their town on the Coast of Coromandel, To

this day the uative people call it hy the old moue of Chinna-qatanam,

Phe aceompanyirg drasing of Port St. George tn 1677 is taken frew

Fryers Travels,
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Early perils. The English at Madras were at first exposed to

ereat danger. The Hindu Raja was soon conquered

by the Muhammadans of the neighbouring kingdom

of Golkonda, The officer of the Sultan of Golkonda

who commanded the country round about Madras

was known asthe Nawab. He was never contented

with the yearly rent ; he wanted presents and exact-

ed fines, Sometimes he laid an embargo upon all

goods and supplies going to Madras until the money

was paid. Sometimes he besieged the place. After

the walls were finished; 10 native army ever cap-
tured Fort 5t. George.

Risc of Madras. Foy some years the houses in White Town were

very few in number. The Europeans were few.

There were twenty or thirty servants of the Com-

pany, and a few soldiers. The Portuguese at St.

Thomé wer2 invited to build houses at Madras ;

and many were glad to come and live under the

protection of the English guns.

Absence of Little or nothing is known of Madras in those
records prior to

1670, early days. There are no records at Madras before

1670. The times, however, were very bad. In Eng-

land there was civil war, followed by the Common

wealth and the restoration of Charles the Second.

Yn India the advance of the Sultan of Golkonda

into the Peninsula, and the occasional inroads of

Mahrattas, were a great hindrance to the trade.

Capture of St About 1662 a general of Golkonda captured the
Thot¢ by the

Muhamondans city of St. 'Thomé. Numbers of Portuguese were
of Golkonda, . .

driven ouf of the town. Many took refuge in
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Fort St. George, and built houses there. This

Portuguese population strengthened the place for a

time, but caused much inconvenience in after years.

In the year 1672 Madras was an important place. Madras in i672.

White Town contained about fifty houses laid out

in twelve strects. In the midst was the large

house of the Governor, where all the Company’s

servants took their early dinners. Some of the older

servants were married, and lived in separate houses ;

but all were expected to be present at dinner, and

to maintain order and decorum.

The establishment at Madras was on the same plan Frropea

as that at Surat, which has already been described.

The Governor or Agent was of course the first

member of Council. The Book-keeper was second in

Council; the Warchouse-keeper was third; and the

Customer was fourth. The duties of these officers

may be gathercd from their names. The duties

of Customer were peculiar.to: the English settle-

ments. He collected all customs, rents, and other

taxes; he also sat as Justice of the Peace in Black

own. The administration of justice will be brought

under consideration hereafter.

The Council met every Monday and Tuesday Consultation

at eight o’clock for the transaction of business, '*

Everything was discussed and decided in Council,

All that concerned the Company or their servants

down to the most trifling point was duly laid before

the Council. The Scerctary was always in attend-

ance. ILe kept a diary of all proeccdings and
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consultations. A copy of the diary was sent home

every year, together with a general letter review-

ing the proceedings; in reply a general letter

was received from the Court of Directors. These

records have been preserved either in India or in

England down to our own time.

The members of Council were known as Mer-

chants. Those under them were graded as Factors,

Writers, and Apprentices. The salaries were very

small. The Governor of Madras drew only three

hundred pounds a year; the second in Council drew

one hundred; the third drew. seventy; and the

fourth only fifty. Factors were paid between twenty

and forty; Writers received only ten pounds, and

Apprentices only five. But all were lodged and

boarded at the expense of the Company.

The salaries were very low. They were mere

fractions of the real incomes. Fortunes were some-

times acquired by private.trade. Every servant

of the Company was allowed to trade to any port

in the East, so long as he paid the custom duties

levied by the Company, and did not interfere with

the trade between India and Europe. Again, it

was impossible to prevent the receipt of presents

from native merchants and others who sold goods

to the Company. Throughout the whole period

of the Company’s monopoly there were always

suspicions and complaints under this head.

In addition to the foregoing, there was a Chaplain,

on a hundred a year, who read prayers every day
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and preached on Sundays. There was also a School-

master, on fifty pounds a year, who taught the

children in White Town. Tie was directed to teach

Portuguese and native children, provided they

were also taught the principles of Christianity

according to the Church of Eneland.

The administration of justice by the Collector of atninisuntion

Customs was of a primitive character. As far as

natives were concerned there was no difficulty. As

Magistrate in Black Town, he flogged, imprisoned,

or fined at discretion. “But Europeans were dealt

with in a different manner.. The Governor and

Council became the judges; and twelve men were

summoned to serve as jurors.

In the White Town the public peace was main- Native police.

tained by the Agent, as commander of the garrison.

In the Black Town if was kept by a native public

officer knownas the Pedda Naik. In the carly days

of the settlement, twenty native servants, known

as peons, sufficed to keep the peace. Subsequently

the number was increased to fifty. In return

the Pedda Naik was granted some rice-fields rent

free; also some petty duties on rice, fish, oil, and

betel-nut. The office of Pedda Naik soon be-

came hereditary alter native fashion. It also

drifted into native ways. The Pedda Naik and

his peons came to an understanding with the

thieves. They suffered thicves to cscape on con-

dition of receiving half of the stolen goods.

They imprisoned the people who were robbed, in

order to prevent their complaining to the Agent.
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The discovery led to a change. The Pedda Naik

was bound over to make good all losses by theft;

and the new system seems to have workcd satis-

factorily.

Morals, The neighbourhood of Black Town was not

conducive to the morals of the Fort. The younger

men would climb over the walls at night time,

and indulge in a round of dissipation, There

were houses of entertainment known as punch

houses. They are still called punch houses. They

took their name from the Indian drink concocted

by the convivial Factors at Surat. As already

shown, it was an essentially Indian drink called by

the Hindustani name which signifies “ five.”

avant 1rd Dr. Fryer visited Madras about the year 1674.

He thus describes the place and its surroundings :—

Weng ashore in T went ashore ina Mussooda, a boat wherein ten men

Mussoola, paddle, the two aftermost of whom are the steers-men, using

their paddles instead of a rudder: The boat is not strength-

ened with knee-timber, as ours are; the bended planks

are sowed together with rope-yarn of the cocoe, and

ealked with dammar (a sort of rosin taken out of the sea)

so artificially, that it yields to every ambitious surf, other-

wise we could not get ashore, the Bar knocking in pieces

all that are inflexible: Moving towards the shore, we let

St. Thomas, which Hes but three miles to the south of

Maderas, and Fort St. George in the midway Maderas river

in great rains opens its mouth into the sea; having fivst

saluted the banks of Fort St. George on the west: Towards

the sea the sand is cast up into a rampire, from whence

the fluid artillery discharges itself upon us, and we on the

shoulders of the blacks must force our way through it.

Landed, are well Though we landed wet, the sand was scalding hot, which
wetted at Fort +

st. Meorge, made me recollect my steps, and hasten to the Fort. As
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it looked on the water, it appeared a place of good foree.

The outwork is walled with stone a good heighth, thick

enough to blunt a cannon-bullet, kept by half a dozen

ordnance at each side the water-gate, besides an half-moon

of fire-guns. At both points are mounted twelve guns

eying the sea, Maderas, and St, Thomas; under these in

a line stand pallisadoes, reaching from the wall to the sea;

and hedge in at least a mile of ground. On the south

side they have cut a ditch of sufficient depth and breadth

to prevent scaling the wall, which is a quarter of a mile

in length afore it meets with a third point or bastion,

facing St. Thomas, and the adjacent fields; who suffer a

deluge when the rains descend the hills. From this

point to the fourth, where are lodged a dozen guns more

that grin upon Maderas, runs no wall, but what the in-

habitants compile for their gardens and houses planted

all along the river parallel with that, that braces the sea.

From the first pot a curtain is drawn with a parapet;

beneath it are two gates, and sally ports to cach for to enter

Maderas; over the gates five euns run out, their muzzels,

and tivo more within them on the ground,

* Over all these the Fort it self lifts up its four turrets,

every point of which is loaded) withiten guns alike: On the

south-east point is fixed the standard; the forms of the

bastions are square, sending forth curtains fringed with

battlements from one to the other; in whose interstitiums

whole culverin are traversed. The Governor’s house in

the middle overlooks all, slanting diagonally with the court.

Entering the garrison at the out-g@ate towards the sea, a

path of broad polished stones spreads the way to pass the

second guard into the Fort at an humble gate; opposite

to this, one more stately fronts the High-street; on both

sides thereof is a court of guard, from whence, for every

day’s duty, are taken two hundred men: There being in

pay for the Honourable East India Company of English

and Portuguez 700, reckoning the Montrosses and Gunners.

The Fort de-

seribed.
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“The streets are sweet and clean, ranked with fine mansions

of no extraordinary height (because a garrison-town) though

beauty, which they conciliate, by the battlements and

terrace walks on every house, and rows of trees before

their doors, whose Italian porticos make no ordinary con-

veyance into their houses, built with brick and stone.

‘“ Edifices of common note are none, except a small Chapel

the Portugals are admitted to say Mass in.

“Take the town in its exact proportion, and it is oblong.

«The true possessors of it are the English, instaled therein

by one of their Naiks or Prince of the Hindoos 90 years

ago, 40 years before their total subjection to the Moors ;!

who likewise have since ratified it by a patent from Goleonda,

only paying 7000 pagods yearly for royalties and customs

that raises the money fourfold to the Company; whose

Agent here is Sir Wilham Langhorn, a gentleman of inde-

fatigable industry and worth. He is Superintendent over

all the Factories on the Coast of Coromandel, as far as

the Bay of Bengala, and up Huygly river (which is one

of the falls of Ganges, viz., Fort St. George alias Maderas,

Pettipolee, Mechlapatan, Gundore, Medapollon, Balisore,

Bengala, Huygly, Castle Bazar, Pattana. He has his Mint,

and privilege of coining; the) country stamp is only

a Fanam, which is 3d. of gold; and their Casi, twenty

of which go to a Fanam, Moreover he has his Justiciaries ;

to give sentence, but not on life and death to the King’s

liege people of Jngland; though over the rest they may.

His personal guerd consists of 300 or 400 Blacks; besides a

band of 1500 men ready on summons: He never goes

abroad without fifes, drums, trumpets, and a flag with two

balls in a red field; accompanied with his Council and

Factors on horseback, with their Ladies in palenkeens,

1 Dr. Fryer is mistaken in his chronology. Madras was founded about

thirty-five years befor? his visit. He is also mistaken about the rent paid to

Golkonda, which was only twelve hundred pagodas,
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“The English here are Protestants, the Portugals Papists,

who have their several Orders of Fryers; who, to give

them their due, compass sea and land to make proselytes,

many of the natives being brought in by them.

“The number of English here may amount to three hundred ;

of Portuguez as many thousand, who made Fort St, George

their refuge, when they were routed from St, Thomas by the

Moors about ten years past, and have ever since lived under

protection of the English.

“Thus have you the limits and condition of the English

town: Let us now pass the pale to the heathen town,

only parted by a wide parade, which is used for a bazar,

or market-place.

“The Native town of Maderas divides itself into divers

jong streets, and they are checquered by as many transverse.

It enjoys some Choultries for Places of Justice ; one Exchange ;

one Pagoda, contained in a square stone-wall; wherein are

a number of Chapels (if they may be comprehended under

that class, most of them resembling rather monuments for

the dead, than places of devotion for the living), one for

every Tribe; not underone roof, but distinetly separate,

though altogether, they bear the name of one entire Pagoda.

The work is inimitably durables the biggest closed up with

arches continually shut, as where is supposed to be Ind their

Mammon of unrighteousness (they burying their estates

here when they die, by the persuasion of their priests,

towards their viaticum for another state) admitting neither

light nor air, more than what the lumps, always burning,

are by open funnels above suffered to ventilate: By which

custom they seem to keep alive that opinion of Plato, in such a

revolution to return into the world again, after their trans-

migration, according to the merits of their former living.

Those of a minuter dimension were open, supported by

slender straight and round pillars, plain and uniform up to

the top, where some hieroglyphical portraiture lends its

assistance to the roof, flat, with stones laid along like planks

upon eur rafters, On the walls of good sculpture were

Number of

English aud

Portugals,

Black Town,

Visited a Pagoda

or Heathen

Temple,
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many images: The floor is stoned, they are of no great

altitude; stinking most egregiously of the oil they waste

in their lamps, and besmear their beastly gods with: Their

outsides shew workmanship and cost enough, wrought round

with monstrous effigies; so that olewm et operam perdere,

pains and cost to no purpose, may not improperly be applied

to them, Their gates are commonly the highest of the work,

the others coucluding in shorter piles.

The English “Near the outside of the town the English Golgotha,
Tombs. 

:or place of sculls, presents variety of tombs, walks and

sepulchres; which latter, and they stand in a line, are an

open cloyster; but succinctly and precisely a Quedragone

with hemispherical apartitions; on cach side adorned with

battlements to the abutment of every angle, who bear up

a coronal arch, on whose vertex a globe is rivited by an iron

wedge spronting into a branch; paved underneath with a

great black stone, whereon is engraved the name of the party

interred. The buildings of less note are low and decent; the

town is walled with mud, and bulwarks for watch-places

for the English Peons; only on that side the sea washes it,

and the Tort meets it. On the north are two great gates

of briék, and one on the west, where they wade over the

river to. the washermen’s town.

The English “ Without the town grows their rice, which is nourished

sass: by the letting in of the water to drown it: Round about it
is bestrewed with gardens of the English; where, besides

gourds of all sorts for stews and pottage, herbs for sallad,

and some few flowers, as jassamin, for beauty and delight ;

flourish pieasant topes of plantains, cocoes, guiavas, a kind

of pear, jawks, a coat of armour over it like an hedge-hog’s,

guards it weigh y fruit, oval without for the length of a

span, within in fashion like squils parted; mangos, the

delight of India, a plum, pomegranets, bananas, which are a

sort of plantain, though less, yet much more grateful; betel,

which last must not be slipt by in silence: It rises out of

the greund to twelve or fourteen feet heighth, the body of

it green and slender, jointed like acane, the boughs tlaeey
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and spreading, under whose arms it brings forth from its

pregnant womb (which bursts whon her month is come) a

cluster of green nuts, like wallnuts in green shells, bat

different in the fruit; which is hard when dried, and looks like

a nutmeg.

“The Natives chew it with Chinam (lime of calcined

oyster-shells) and drach, a convolvulus with a leaf like the

largest ivy for to preserve their teeth, and correct an un-

savoury breath: If swallowed, it inebriates as much as

tobacco. Thus mixed, it is the only Indian cutertainment,

called Pawn.

“These plants set ina row, make a grove that might delude

the fanatic multitude into an-option of their being saered ;

and were not the mouth of that grand impostor hermetically

sealed up, where Christianity is spread, these would still con-

tinue, as it is my fancy they were of old, and may still be the

laboratories of his fallacious oracles: For they masquing the

face of day, beget a solemn reverence, and melancholy habit

in them that resort to them; by representine the more in-

ticinge place of zeal, a Cathedral, with all its pillars and

pillasters, walks and choirs; and so contrived, that whatever

way you turn, you have an even prospect.

But not to run too fav.out of Maderas before I give you

an aceount of the people; know they are under the bondage

with the Moors, were not that alleviated by the power of the

English, who commandas far as their guns reach: To them

therefore they pay toll, even of cowdung (which is their

chiefest fireing), a prerogative the Dutch could never obtain

in this kingdom, and by this means acquire great estates

without fear of being molested. Their only merchants being

Gentues, forty Moors having hardly cohabitation with them,

though of the natives 30,0U0 are employed in this their

monopoly.

«The country is sandy, yet plentiful in provisions; in all

places topes of trees, among one of which, on the top of a

withered stump sate perching a Chamelion, clasping with its

claws its rotfen station, filling himself with his aerial food,

What Pawn is,

Nature of the

people.

The country,
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a banquet which most other creatures else arise an hungered

from: Bat to be confirmed in the truth of what we have only

by tradition, I caused a Black who had a bow there, to fell

him with an earthen pellet, which when he bad, and after a small

time he revived, and making a collar of straw for his neck,

he carried him to my lodgings, where I dicted him a month

on the same provant. That he changes his colours at a con-

stant time of the day, is not to be contradicted ; but whether

he live by tre air alone, I will not stand to it, unless there

were a dearth of flies in the country: though for my part IT

never did see kim eat any, In shape he comes nearest a newt ;

with his lungs his body does agitate itself wp to its neck; he

crawls on all your, and has/a tail longer than his body, which

all together was no more than half afoot; he has teeth, and

those sharp.”

Dr. Fryer also furnishes the following curious

particulars respecting St Thomé :—

St. Thomas is a city that formerly for riches, pride, and

luxury, was second to none in India; but since, by the

mutability of fortune, it has abated much of its adored

excellencies.

«The sea on one side greets its marble walls, on the other a

chain of hills intercepts the violence of the inflaming heat ;

one of which, called St. Thomas his Mount, is famous for

his sepuléure (in honour of whom a chapel is dedicated, the

head priest of which was once the Metropolitan Bishop of

India), and for a tree called Arbor Tristis, which withers

in the day, and lossoms in the mght.

« About this Mouut live a cast of people, one of whose legs

is as bigs as ar. elephant’s; which gives occasion for the

divulging it to be a judgment on them, as the generation of

the assassins and murtherers of the blessed Apostle St.

Thomas, one of whom I saw at Fort St. George.

“Within the walls seven Churches answertoas many gates;

the rubbish of whose stupendous heaps do justify the trath

of what is predicsted in relation to its pristine state,

«The builders of it were the Portugals. ”
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Such was the condition of Madras between 1670

and 1677, as told by Dy. Fryer. It may now be as

well to glanee at the general daily life of the

English at Madras, as it is told in the Government

records,
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CHAPTER IV.

MADRAS UNDER GOLKONDA,

1670—1688.

HE Madras records were investigated by the

present writer seventeen yearsago. At that time

he publishec.a number of extracts in three volumes

under the title of “Madras in the Olden Time.”

The mass of these extracts has but little interest

outside the Madras Presidency. It will be easy to

indicate their subject matter by the following nar-

rative, which has been drawn up from the earlier

records, and in which a selection of the morc

interesting extracts will be found incorporated.

Sir William Langhorn was Governor of Madras

from 1670 to 1677. Tle was present at Madras

at the time of Fryer’s visit. Ile is indeed duly

noticed by Fryer. The times were stormy. Charles

the Second had been ten years on the throne of

England. There was an alliance between England

and France against the Dutch.

A French fleet arrived in India. A French

foree landed at St. Thomé, and took the place
by storm. The Muhammadan army of Golkonda,

under the command of a General named Bobba

Suhib, was endeavouring to recover St. Thomé

from the French.

Sir William Langhorn was thus hemmed around

with dangers. Ile dared not help the French lest
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he should provoke the wrath of Bobba Sahib.

Meanwhile, Bobba Sahib was angry because the

English would not join him with men and guns to

fight against the French. All this while a Dutch

flect was cruising off the coast of Coromandel. The

Dutch fleet had attacked the French at St. Thomé,

but was repulsed. It was daily expected that the

Dutch would attack Fort St. George.

At this juncture Sir William Langhorn resolved

in Council to propitiate Bobba Sahib by sending

him a present of scarlet broadcloth and looking-

glasses. Bobba Sahib, however, was still as angry

as ever. In after years Bobba Sahib had cause to

regret this exhibition of hostility, as will be seen by

the following extract from the consultations of

the Agency, dated 6th May 1678 :—

“ Bobba Sahib, formerly General of the King of Golconda’s

force against the French at St. Thomé, and in those days a

bitter enemy to the English, but now in disgrace and debt,

has been some days here trying all ways to borrow money,

and to have an interview with the Gevernor, which is refused

him by reason of his former unkindnesses when he was in

power, and he im despair quits the place for Pullimalee, intend-
. te * ayy 9?
ing to go to his own country.

A year and a half passed away, and the French

still remained in possession of St. Thomé. Within

that time they had established a camp at Triplicane,

the Muhammadan quarter of Madras; and fortified

it far more strongly than the English were fortified

at Fort St. George. Sir William Langhorn and his

Council were at one time contemplating the advis-

ability of abandoning Madraspatanam altogether ;

Bobba Sahib.

Proposed aban+

donment of

Madras,
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but afterwards decided on more energetic measures,

At a Consultation held on the 2nd February 1674,

it was recorded that the interests of the Honorable

Company, 2s well as the lives of the residents at

the Presidency, were staked upon the issue of

the siege. ‘Their enemies at sea and land were

within musket-shot; their walls were slight and

tottering; they were pestered with the great native

town close to them; and the Dutch Governor-

General was daily expected with a large flect.

Under these circumstances they resolved, after

mature consideration, to enlarge and strengthen

their fortificaticns as mutch as possible; but their

efforts in this direction do not scem to have much

increased their strength, or to have rendered

them more independent of the belligerent powers.

Four Frenchmen from Java were staying in Fort

St. George; and in May, the Dutch and Mussul-

mans peremptorily demanded their removal. For a

long time Sir William Langhorn refused to comply,

beeause of the English alliance with France; but

at last the Muhammadan army fairly laid sicge

to Fort St. George, and would hear of no further

delay. The Frenchmen, on their part, refused to

leave the place unless they were permitted to go

to St. Thomé, and there the Dutch and Muham-.

madans would not allow them to proceed. At last,

the President in Council resolved to send them.

under passports and an escort to Bijapore, another

Muhammadan kingdom in the Western Dekhan,

There they seem to have gone, loudly protesting,
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however, against the proceeding, inasmuch as

they were subjects of the King of France, a friend

and ally of the Crown of England.

For two years the French held possession of serene of he

St. Thomé. At length, on the 26th August 1674,

they surrendered to the Dutch, on the condition

that the garrison should be transported to Europe.

Fortunately for the Madras Agency, at that mo- Peace with tbe

ment the news arrived from Europe that in the pre-

ceding January peace had been concluded between

Englandand Holland. Butfor the happy peace, the

Dutgb would have followed up the capture of St.

Thomé with the siege of Fort St. George ; and there

can be little doubt that the fall of the place would

have followed, for the fortifieations were still but

weak, and there were only) two hundred and fifty

men in garrison.

Sir William Langhorn was a disciplinarian 10 sort mies

his way. We tried to promote public morals by lay- sees

ing down the following rules. As far as drinking

was concerned they were certainly liberal; but

those were the days of Merrie King Charles.

No one person was to be allowed to drink above

half a pint of arrack or brandy and one quart of

wine at one time, under a penalty of one pagoda

upon the housekeeper that supplied it, and twelve

fanams upon every guest that had exceeded that

modest allowanee. Drunkenness was to be punished

by a fine and the stocks. All persons addieved in

any way to the social evil were to be imprisoned

x
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at the discretion of the Governor, and if not re-

claimed were to be sent back to England. All

persons telling a lie, or absenting themselves from

morning or evening prayers, were to be fined four

fanams for each offence. Persons being out of

White Town after eight o’clock, would be punished ;

and any one committing the heinous offence of

getting over the walls of White Town upon any pre-

tence whatever, was to be kept in irons until the

arrival of tne ships, and then to be sent to Eng-

land to receive further condign punishment ou his

arrival, It was also ordained that all persons s\ear-

ing, cursing, banning or blaspheming the sacred

name of Almighty God should pay a fine of four

fanams for each offence; that any two persons

who should go out into the fields to decide a

quarrel between them by the sword or fire-arms

should be imprisonéd for two months on nothing

but rice and water; that any soldicr giving another

the lie shonld be made fast to a gun, and there

receive ten blows with a small rattan, well laid on

by the man to whom he had given the lie; and

that any officer who should in any way connive

at the offence, or at any mitigation of the punish-

ment, should forfeit a month’s wages.

Low atate of Notwithstanding these and other similar rules,

a public decorum was often outraged, Brawlings
were not unfrequent, and were by no means con-

fined to the barrreks, the punch shops, or the

warchouss, but even were to be occasionally heard
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in the Council chamber itself. One little cireum-

stance which took place during the meeting of

Council on 6th June 1676, is singularly illus-

trative of the disturbances which occasionally

arose. Nathaniel Keeble, buyer of jewels, uttered

some provocative words concerning the wife of

Mr. Iferries, a member of Council. Herries was

of course présent, and a fight took place in the

Council chamber. The combatants were soon

parted by the Governor and Council; but Keeble

had reccived a bloody nuse from the clenched fist of

the indignant husband, and swore to be revenged

upon him though he were hanged for it. MHerries

then swore the peace against Keeble, and the Gover-

nor ordered the latter to be confined to his chamber

until be had furnished security that he would

keep the peaco for the future, ‘The same day, how-

ever, Keeble broke from his arrest, leaped down

the Fort walls, and sprained his leg; and was

accordingly ordered to be confined in the “ Lock

house” until the arrival of the ships, when he

could be dispatched to England. The next day,

however, the whole matter was arranged. Natha-

niel Keeble sent in his humble submission and

promised amendment, and the Government merci-

fully forgave him. Incidents such as these are

sullicient to prove that, however strict rules might

be laid down, yet the times were as lawless in Fort

St. George as they were in Covent Garden or the

Strand. That they were not worse is abundant-

ly proved by the character of the Hterature and
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condition of the people of England during the reign

of the second Charles.

About this period a certain Reverend Patrick

Warner was Chaplain at Fort St. George. He

was much shocked at the low state of the morals

in the settlement. He was also alarmed at the

countenance which Sir William Langhorn had

given to the Roman Catholics. It appears that

the Portuguese had built and consecrated a new

church within the Fort, and that Sir William Lang-

horn had ordered salutes to be fired in honour

of the ecremony. Under these circumstances My.

Warner wrote the following letter to the Court

of Directors. It is dated 31st January 1676.

“ Right Wershipfals,

“Tt is my trouble that I have so little aequaimtance with

your Worships, because of this I could not take the conti-

dence of writing to you, nor had I anything worth the

writing, having then remained so short a while in this place ;

but now. having been a servant under you in the ministry of

the Gospel some considerable time, I have to my grief met

with that which maketh me, contrary to my inclination,

break off my silence, and give you the trouble of these lines.

« T have the charity to believe that most of you have se

much zeal for God, and for the credit of religion, that your

heads would be fountains of water, and eyes rivers of tears,

did you really know how much God is dishonoured, his

name blasphemed, religion reproached amongst the Gentiles,

by the vicious lives of many of your servants. Did I not

therefore complain of them, I should not be faithful either

to God or you, or to their own souls. Andif it be not a

desire to approve myself in some measure faithful unto all

those, God the searcher of hearts and tryer of reins will one
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day diseover, if it be not, I say, such a desire that moves

me to the present undertaking.

“Tt may be for alamentation to hear and see the horrid

swearing and profanation of the name of God, the woful and

abominable drunkenness and uncleanness that so much reign

and rage among the seldiery; and these not seeretly or

eovertly, but as it were in the sight of the sun, and men

vefuse therein to be ashamed, neither ean they blush.”

*% * Fe * %

“ Most ef those women are popish christians ; and if those

that marry them do not fall into the former inconveniences,

they hardly eseape being seduced by their wives and wives’

families into popery. There have not been wanting in-

stances of this also. Since [entered into this place, I have

constantly refused to celebrate any such marriages except

one that I was ureed into, and this not before she had

solemnly and before several witnesses renounced popcry,

and promised to attend upon ordinances with us; but she

had not been many weeks married when at the instiga-

tion of some popish priests here she perfidiously fell from

those promises.

“J wish your Worships may consider it be not requisite to

inhibit such marriages, for the children turn either infidels

or popish, I do also carnestly wish there may be more

inspection taken what persons you send over mto these

places; for there come hither some thousand murderers, some

men stealers, some popish, some come over under the notion

of single persons and unmarried, who yet have ther wives

in England, and here have been married to others, with

whom they have lived in adultery ; and some on the other

hand have come over as married persons, of whom there arc

strange suspicions they were never married, These and

other abuses there are among the soldiery. here are also

some of the Writers who by their lives are not a little

seandalony to the Christian religion, so sinful in their drunken-

ness that some of them play at cards and dice for wine that

they may drink, and afterwards throwing {he dice which

Drunk enness.

Pupery

Evil marriages,
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shall pay all, and sometimes who shall drink all, by which

some are forced to drink until they be worse than beasts.

Others pride themselves in making others drink till they be

insensible, and then strip them naked and in that posture

cause them to be carried through the streets to their

dwelling place. Some of them, with other persons whom

they invited, onee went abroad to a garden not far off,

and there consinued a whole day and night drinking most

excessively, and in so much that one of the number died

within a very few days after, and confessed be had con-

tracted his sickness by that excess. A person worthy of

credit having occasion to go the next day into the same

garden could mamber by the heads 36 bottles, and the best

of his judgment they were all pottles, for it is their frequent

custom to break bottles as soon as they have drunk the wine,

and this they have done sometimes within the walls of the

Fort, and withal, sing and carouse at very unseasonable hours.

And this their drunkenness is not alone, but in some attended

with its ordinavy concomitant uncleanpess.”

* * * * *

« They can find time and leisure for these things, but cannot

find any time or leisure for the worship of God, which ts

exceedingly neglected by all, notwithstanding your orders

to the contrary. I have sometimes, having waited lone

enough, been foreed at Jength to begin duty with only three

or four persons present, and when we bave done there hath

not been above twelve or thirteen in all; but who amongst

the Writers are most guilty in this, your Worships may know
by the enelosed list of their absence taken by me indifferently,

some appointed thereunto by the Governors; of others ne

aceount is taken.

“ But because it is no less a sin to condemn the just than

to justify the wicked, I must bear witness for most of the

young men, that they cannot, to the best of my knowledge,

be accused of the former enormities. There are but a few

of them that are guilty in the manner before described ;

whose names I would have inserted, that so I might clear the
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others, but that they have been lately sick, and some small

hopes there are that they may amend; they have given some

ground to expect it. But if they shall return with the dog

to the vomit, I will, if it please God to spare me so Jone,

give your Worships a more full account thereof by word of

mouth, upon my arrival with the next ships; for as you

have already been informed, I intend to return with them,

and I hope with your good leave so to do. Therefore what

I have written may in charity be supposed, not to proceed

from expectation of any advantage to myself, but from

respect’ to the glory of God, and their good, and the encour-

agement of sueceeding ministers.

“JT did write, what the last_year’s ships give an account, in

a letter to Captain Broockman, upon the eivil usage I met

with from the Governor and others of Council, and indeed

generally from all as to mine own person, which I do not

now retract, only I could wish they were more zealous.

When I have complained of those former abuses, I have

been told by several that persons here are a good deal more

civilised than formerly they have been. If it be so, there

is a ereat cause to admire the patience and long suffering

of God, but withal eause to fear thatif these things be not

reformed Te will not abways keep silence. The Governor

T understand hath refused to listen to any that would prevent

his firing of great guns, and then vollies of small shot by

all the soldiers in garrison, at the consecration of a popish

church within the walls; if he be therein acquitted by you

T have no more to say, bub pray that God himself would dis-

countenance that idolatry and superstition so much eounten-

anced by ethers, and preveut the hurt that may redound to

the place and to your interests thereby.

“One Mr. Mallory, formerly Surgeon’s mate in the Presi-

dent and now Surgeon’s mate in this place, and another,

Barnes, who formerly went to sea as master of some small

vessel, but having wasted the money entrusted to him, lives

now idly and out of any employment. These two are con-

stant companions with any of the voung men in whatever

Salute at a

Catholic Church,
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debaucheries they were guilty of, and it gives ground for sus-

picion that they may be guilty of enticing them thereunto.

“ There are some other things that I would humbly have

remonstrated to your Worships, but because I intend, if it

shall so please God, to see you with the next ships, at which

time if it be aeceptable it may more conveniently be done.

I do therefore at present forbear, only praying that God

would continue to prosper your undertaking and enable you

faithfally to design His glory therein, and lead you to the

reasonable means that may conduce to His glory, in the en-

couragement of godliness, and restraint of sin in these places

where your power reacheth. I am or desire to be,

Right worshipfuls,

Your faithful servant,

According to my station,

Parrick WaRyer.

Mapras,

January 31st 1676."

Sir William Langhorn left Madras in 1677.

He was succeeded by a gentleman named Mr.

Streynsham Masters. It was at this period that

Sivaji, the founder of the Mahratta empire, attain-

ed the height of his power. Ile had assumed all

the insignia of a great Raja; and, as already seen,

an English deputation from Bombay had been

present at his coronation, Suddenly he entered

upon. a campaign which is a marvel in history. It

was more than equivalent to marching an army

from Bombay to Madras. We set out from, his

country in the Western Ghats; marched through

the Dekhan from the north-west to the south-east ;

and entered the Peninsula and went to Tanjore. On

his way he passed by Madras. The entries in the
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diary or consultation books of the Madras Presidency

will show the general state of alarm :—

“tith May 1677,—Liavine this day received a messiee Sivaji, the Mat

anda letter from Sevaji Raja by a Brahmin aad two others

of his pedple, requesting some cordial stones and counter

poisons, we resolved to send hint some, together with a civil

fetter, by a messenger of our own, as a small present, to-

eether with some such fruit as these gardens afford, and

to bestow upon his Brahmin three, yards of broad cloth and

some sandalwood, not thinking it good to require the money

tor so small trifles, although offered in hiv letter ; considering’

how great a person be is, and-bow much his friendship does

already and may import the Honorable Company as be grows

more and more powerful and obvious to them.”

The value of the present thus sent to Sivaji is

stated in the reeords at Madras; the cost of the

whole was something like sixty pagodas.

A few days afterwards Sivaji sent for morc Deyartneo

cordials and medicines. The English gladly re-

sponded to his request. Indeed, Sivaji was the

terror of India. Madras was constantly alarmed

with ramours that he was about to attack the

English and Dutch settlements. Alter a while

the English were ¢gladdened by the news that the

Mahrattas had retired to their own country after

having some bloody battles with the Naik of

Mysore.

The Mysore ruler was at this period a sovercign Condition of

of the same type as Sivaji. ILis army, like the © ~

Mahratta army, was composed of bandits. They

committed atrocitics worse than those of the Mah-

rattas, The following extraet from the Consultation
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hook of January 1679 shows the general character

of their warfare :—

“Their custom is not to kill, but to eut off the noses with

the upper lips of their enemies; for which they carry an

iron instrumert with which they do it very dexterously, and

carry away all the noses and lips they despoyle their enemys

of, for which they are rewarded by the Naik of Mysore ac-

cording to the number, and the reward is the greater, if the

beard appear apon the upper lip. This way of warfare is

very terrible to all that those people engage with, so that

none care to meddle with them; they being also a resolute

people, and have destroyed many that have attempted them,

for though they kill them not outright, yet they die by

lingering deaths, if they make not themselves away sooner,

as for the most part they do that are so wounded, the shame

and dishonor of it being esteemed greater than the pain and

difficulty of subsisting.”

The account in the Madras records is fully con-

firmed by Dr. Fryer. THe refers to the Mysore

ruler as the Raja of Saranpatan, which is doubtless

the same as Seringapatam. The extract is curi-

ous i-—

“The Raja o* Saranpatan must not be slipped by in silence,

because his way of fighting differs from his neighbours; he

trains up his soldiers to be expert at a certain instrument to

seize on the noses of his enemies with that slight cither in

the field or in their camps, that a budget-fall of them have

been presented to their Lord for a breakfast ; a thing, because

it deforms them, so abashing, that few care to engage with

him; and this he makes use of, because it is against his

religion to kill any thing. He enjoys a vast territory on

the back of the Zamerhin.”

The following miscellaneous extracts will ex-

plain themselves. They also serve to illustrate the

character cf the early Madras records.
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Thursday, 28th Ovtober, 1650.—" The new church was

dedicated by virtue of commissions directed to the Govern-

roent, and to My, Richard Portman the minister, from his

Lordship the Bishop of London. The solemnity was per-

formed in very good order, and concluded with vollies of small

shot fired by the whole garrison drawn out, and the eannon

round the Fort. The church named St. Mary’s as at first

intended, and from this day forward all public service to be

there performed.

“Tt is observable that at the dedication of a new church

by the French Padres and Portuguese in 1675, Sir William

Langhorn, then Agent, had fired guns from the Fort; and

yet at this time neither Padre nor Portuguese appeared at the

dedication of our chureh, norso much as gave the Governor

a visit afterwards to wish him joy of it.”

Monday, 22nd March, 1680,—* It fell under consideration

whether it consisteth with our religion and interest to admit

of marriages between Protestants and Roman Catholics in

this place, and upon the debate resolved :—

“Ist, That it is not- against the law of God in Holy

Scripture, nor the laws of England, and hath frequently been

practised in England for Protestants to marry Roman

Catholics.

“2nd, That the Roman Catholics of this place, being the

offsprme of foreign vations chiefly Portuguese, and born

out of England, and not Hable to the laws of Eneland

provided against Roman Catholics, they always owning

themselves vassals to the King of Portugal.

“ 3rd, That it is our interest to allow of marriages with

them, especially our men with their women, to prevent

wickedness, and in regard there is not English women

enough for the men, and the common soldicts cannot main-

tain English women and children with their pay, as well as

they ean the women of the country, who are not so expensive

and not Jess modest than our ordinary or common people are,

and in matter of marriages we have already @ained by them

many hopeful children brought up in the Protestant religion.

Foundation ot
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Madras.

Marriages of
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“Tt is also further to be remembered that these Roman

Catholics of the Portuguese nation were invited hitherto

upon our first settlement; ground was given them to build

upon ; a church and French Priests were allowed, to encourage

them to come in and inhabit here; and they have been loyal

and serviceable in the defence of the place in time of war,

and are a great security to us on that account. Moreover,

our greatest income arises from the customs upon their

commerce.”

The Protestant feclings which prevailed at the

time were far too strong to permit these rules to be

earried out. Two Chaplains. were consulted by

the Governor and. Council. The following rules

were then added, for the maintenance of Protest-

antism :—

Thursday, 25th Mareh, 1650.— The marriages of Pro-

testants with Roman Catholies bene again taken into con-

sideration, the Honorable Company’s two Chaplains, Mr.

Richard Portman and Mr, Richard Elliot, were sent for inte

the Council, and upon the debate it is concluded, resolved,

and ordered,

“That upon the marriage of a Protestant with a Roman

Catholic, both the parties to be married shall solemnly promise

before one of the Chaplains of the place by themselves, or

some for them, before the Banns shall be published, and also

in the Chapel or Church by themselves in person, upon the

day of marriage and before the parties shall be married, that

ALL the ehildren by them begotten and born, shall be brought

up in the Provestant religion, and herem due care shall

always be taken by the overseers of the orphans and the

poor”

In 1680 the English settlement suffered much

from a Golkouda general, named Lingapa, wiio hado 3 D3
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been appointed to the command of the district.!

His object was to vaise the yearly rental from

twelve hundred pagodas to two thousand ; or rather

to threaten to raise it in the hope of procuring a

present for himself. The records ave too volumin-

ous for extract. A native officer entered Black

Town with drums beating and a flag flying, as

though he had been high in command. He de-

claved that he had been appointed to take the com-

inand of the town for the Sultan of Golkonda.

The Governor sent three files of soldiers after him

and brought him into the Fort. After a short exa-

mination the man was sent out of the town.

Tt was soon discovered that Lingapa was at the

bottom of these proceedings. Ife placed an em-

bargo upon the English settlement. For months no

goods or provisions were procurable from the sur-

rounding villages. Matters grew so serious that

the English garrison was forced to make raids into

the country to procure provisions and fuel. The

English Governor contemplated leaving Madras alto-

eether, and removing to the country of some Ilindu

Rajah further south. The embargo was broken

throngh, but Lingapa continued to be very trouble-
some. To make matters worse, he protected certain

objectionable ship captains, who carried ona trade

with India in defiance of the Company’s charter.

‘The Company had always regarded these interlopers

‘Lhe Sultan of Golkenda was a Shidh Muhamimadan. The nane of

Tangapa shows that he was a Hindu,

Embargo on

Madras,
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as pirates. The Governor of Madras was at Jast

forced to come to terms with Lingapa. Seven

thousand pagodas were sent to Lingapa, equivalent

to about three thousand pounds sterling. Matters

quieted down at once. Lingapa ceased to protect

the interlopers ; the yearly rent of Madras was again

fixed at twelve hundred pagodas. The Sultan of

Golkonda sent a firman to the Governor of Madras ;

and it will be seen from the following extract that

the firman was received with every honour :—

Monday, 12th November, 1053.—< This afternoon at. four

oelock, the Agent and Council (being attended with the

Factors and Writers, the Company’s Merchants and two com-

panies of soldiers) went fo the Hon’ble Company’s new Garden-

house to receive the King of Golconda’s firman; after

whieb, atthe drinking o: the King of Goleonda’s health, there

was fired three vollies of small shot, and thirty-one great guns,

When the ceremony was ended, the messenger that brought

the firman attended upom the Agent to the Fort, where after

drinking a health to Madana and Accana, the Chief Ministers

of State, there was one volley more of small shot fired, and

so the messenger was dismissed for the present.”

Not long afterwards there were internal troubles

at Madras. There was astrike about taxes amongst

the men who dyed the native cabicoes and were

known by the name of painters. The whole body

left the Company’s jurisdiction and went away to St.

Thomé. They threatened to murder all the native

servants of the Company who refused to join them.

They also stopped all provisions and goods coming to

the town. The Governor and Council took strong

ineasures. They entertained a hundred black Portu-
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guese to keep guard over the washers, to prevent

them following the evil example. The wives and

children of the mutineers were taken out of their

houses in Black ‘Town, and driven into the pagoda.

At last it was proclaimed by beat of drum that unless

the mutineers delivered themselves up within ten

days, all their houses, goods, and chattels within the

jurisdiction of the Company would be confiscated.

Hight days afterwards the ringleaders were arrested

at St. Thomé, and brought within the Company’s

territories. They wereat once committed to prison ;

the same evening all the rest came into the town

and made their submission.

Meanwhile a new Governor was appointed to Mr. William

Madras. His name was My. William Gyfford.
In after years, the Directors referred to him as “ our

too easy Agent Gyfford.” The origin of this epithet

involves a story.

At this period My..Josiah, Child was Chairman Mr, Josiah

of the Court of Directors. Child was a man of

mark, but hard and overbearing in his ways. ‘The

Court of Directors had been anxious to raise a quit

rent from all the houscholders in Madras, native

and European. They hoped by so doing to defray

the yearly charge for repairs and fortifications.

Mr. Masters had succecded in raising such a tax 3 Loca taxes.

not for, repairs or fortifications, but for promoting

the sanitation of Black Town. Ou his departure

all the native inhabitants of Black Town petitioned

against the tax; and ‘our too casy Agent Gyfford”

abolished the tax.



Posadndion of

the Direeteors,

Tnundation at

Madras,

oO BHaARLY RECORDS OF BRITISH INDIA.

On the 20th September 1682, the Directors

wrote to the Government of Madras as follows :-—

“ Our meaning as to the revenue of the town is that one

way or another, by Dutch, Portuguese, or Indian methods,

it should be brought to defray at least the whole constant

charge of the place, which is essential to all governments

in the world, People protected ought in all parts of the

universe, In some why or other, to defray the charge of their

protection and preservation from wrong and violence. The

manner of raising which revenue we shall leave to your

diseretion, us may be most agreeable to the humour of that

people.”

Meantime there had been a great inundation of

the sea at Madras. The cizeumnstance is described

in the folowing entry :—

Tuesday, 11th Tuly.— The sea having for about 10 days

past encroached pon this town, and we, hoping as it is usual,

that it would retreat again of itself, forbore any remedies

to keep it off; bet now that instead of its losing it mightily

gains ground upon us, and that without a speedy course be

taken the town will run an apparent hazard of being swal-

lowed up, for it has undermined even to the very walls, and

so deep that it has eaten away below the very foundation of

the town,—and the great bulwark next to the sea side, with-

out a speedy and timely prevention, will certaily, in a day

or two more, yield to its violence: it is therefore ordered

forthwith that the drum be beat to call all coolies, carpenters,

smiths, peons, and all other workmen, and that. sufficient

materials be provided, that they may work day and night to

endeavour to put a stop to its fury: for without effectual

means be used in such an eminent danger and exigency, the

town, garrison, and our own lives, considering all the fore-

going cirenmstanees, must needs be very hazardous aud in-

seenre,”?
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On the 81st May 1683 the Directors remarked

on the event in the following terms :—

“We take notice of the great inundation that endangered

our Town and Fort, and we would have you endeavour to

prevent such future accidents by laying sueh a deep and

strong foundation with chunam, as you mention, that may

be sufficient in all human probability to prevent damage by

any such accident hereafter. And in all other respects we

would have you to strengthen and fortify our Fort and Town

by degrees, that it may be terrible against the assault of any

Indian Prince and the Dutch power of India, if we should

happen to have any difference with them hereafter. But we

must needs desire you so to contrive your business (but with

all gentleness) that the inhabitants may pay the full charge

of all repairs and fortifications, who do live easier under our

Government than under any Government in Asia, or indeed

under any Government in the known part of the world.

Their saying they pay customs is a frivolous objection, and

relutes only to their security at sea under our Passes, and

under the guns of our Fort in port; but the strong fortifying

of the town, etc., and the raising new works is a seeurity to

their lives, houses, wives, and children, and all that belongs

to them.”

These orders were frequently repeated from home.

The results are sef forth in the following extracts

from the Madras Consultations :—

Monday, 4th January 1686.—* This morning the heads of

the several Castes appeared before the President and Council,

to be heard according to their desire ; and after begging pardon

for the great crime they had committed in raising such a

mutiny, delivered in their Petition, translate whereof is as

follows :—

“© 70 the Howble Gorernor and Council.

«The inhabitants of this town declare, that it is now forty

years and upwards, frem the foundation of this Fort, and

that they were invited to people and increase the town upon

Directors insist

on local taxation,

Petition of
Natives of

Madras,
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the word and favour of the English, under whom they have

till now lived, receiving many honours and favours without

paying any tribute or rent. Only in the time of the past

Governor Mr, Master, who imposed a tax upon arrack, and

upon paddy, and causing us to pay for cleansing the streets ;

also increasing the Choultry customs of goods imported and

exported ; also the rents of the fields of paddy, and ordered

that double custom should be received of tobacco which came

from other places, and because the owners could not pay said

custom, they carried their tobacco to St. Thomé, by which

means the Choultry hath been hindered of the customs for-

merly paid. Also the close siege this Town suffered, which

upon your Eonour’s arrival was taken off, whereby this

Town was newly revived from death to life, hoping that your

Honour would have relieved us from all tributes and rents;

but instead thereof we find you go about to impose and

increase other new tributes upon our houses, which ean in

no wise be, nor ought your Honour to do it. Wherefore we

beg your Honour for the sake of the most high God, and in

the name of the most serene King of England and of the

Hon’ble Company, that you will free this Town from so

heavy a yoke, as is this tax laid upon our houses, seeing we

are a poor people, and live upon our labour and trouble; this

Town having the fame, and is called place of Charity, and

we shall live confident in your favours and assistances, and

the whole Town lightened by your goodness, as they hope

from your Honour,

““¢Siened by the heads of the several Castes underwritten,

viz., chuliars, painters, tailors, husbandmen, coolies, washers,

barbers, pariahs, comities, oilmakers, fruiterers, shepherds,

potmakers, muckwas, patanava, tiaga, cavaree, nugabunds,

pally, goldsmiths, chitties, weavers.’

“Upon perusal of said Petition, the President and Coun-

cil told them, that it did not Ne in their power totally to

excuse them from contributing towards the charges of this

Garrison, in regard it was the Right Honorable Company’s

positive orders, they commanding to have the Black Town

walled round at the charge of the Inhabitants; and there
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was no remedy but that they must be conformable thereunto,

it being a very small matter, only three fanams a year for a

small house, six fanams for a middle size house, and nine fanams

for a great house, which could be no burthen to them. But

they continued very obstinate, and declared themselves un-

willing and unable to pay, for reasons given in their Petition;

and farther that it would breed a custom, and they feared it

would be increased hereafter. But it was still replied it

must be done, and they as positive on the other hand refused,

offering two of their heads, if that would satisfy, to excuse

them from this tribute and heavy yoke, as they call it.

After which they were one by one asked whether they would

leave the town, make war upon us, or submit to our orders

and government; to, which they every one answered they

would submit, but on a sudden all at once denied what they

had said, and that they would not pay do what we would to

them; which forced us to cause the drum to beat, and declare

our resolution that we would execute our orders declared to

them yesterday by beat of drum of pulling down their houses,

selling their lands, and banishing them the place. Which

when they perceived us so much in earnest, at last submitted,

promising to be obedient to our government, and that they

would take off the prohibition laid upon their people and our

prohibitions, and that all things should be at peace and quiet.

So they were dismissed, and after awhile, the shops were

opened, provisions brought in, and the washer-men, muckwas,

eatamaran-men, coolies, and servants returned to their several

businesses ; and now it only remains that they be obedient

in paying their contributions.”

There are various entries in the Madras Con- stave trasex

sultation Books respecting slaves. They are print- “ue
ed together in the present place, as they throw

considerable light upon the public opinion of the

time as regards slaves :—~

Monday, 18th September 1683.—* There being great

number of slaves yearly exported from this place, to the



Sh BARLY RECORDS OF BRITISH INDIA.

ereat, grievance of many persons whose children are very

commonly privately stolen away from them, by those who

are constant traders in this way, the Agent and Council,

considering the scandal that might acerue to the Government,

and the great loss that many parents may undergo by such

actions, have ordered that no more slaves be sent off the

shore again,”

Monday, 13th November 1683,—“ An Order in English,

Portuguese, Gentoo [%. ¢., Tamil], and Malabar, for the pre-

venting the transportation of this country people by sea and

making them slaves in other countries, was read and past and

ordered to be hung up in four publie places of this town.

The contents are as followeth :—

“ Whereas formerly there hath been an ill custom in this

place of shipping off this country people, and making them

slaves in other stranee countries, We, therefore, the present

Governor and Council of Fort St. George, have taken the

same into our serious consideration, and do hereby order that,

for the future, no such thing be done by any person whatso-

ever, resident in this place. And we do hereby also strictly

command, all our officers by the water side, whether they be

English, Portuguese or Gentoos 7. ¢., Tamil-speaking Hindus],

to do their utmost endeavours to prevent the same; or else

suffer such punishment, either in body or goods, as we shall

think fit to inflict upon them. And if any person, being an

inhabitant of this Town of Madraspatanam, shall hereafter

presume clandestinely to do anything contrary to this our

order, by shipping such slaves of this country and it be

proved against him,—he shall pay for every slave so shipped

off or seni away, fifty pagodas, to be recovered of him in the

Choultry of Madraspatanam ; one-third for the use of the

Honorable East India Company, one-third to the poor, and

one-third to the informer.”

Monday, 1st August 1683.— The trade in slaves grow-

ing great from tkis Port, by reason of the great plenty of

poor, by the sore famine, and their cheapness,—it is ordered

for the future that each slave sent off this shore pay one



MADRAS UNDER GOLKONDA, Sh

pagoda custom to the Right Honorable Company, and that

the Justices do receive no more for the usual fee for register-

ing and passport, than two fanams a head till the Council

shall think fit to alter it as formerly.”

Thursday, 29th September 1657 —« We do now order that

My. Fraser (who being Land Customer has the best oppor-

tunity for it) do buy forty young sound slaves for the Right

Honorable Company, and dispose them to the several Mussoo-

la Boats, two or three in each, in charge of the Chief man of

the Boat, to be fed and taught by them ; and to encourage their

care therein, it is ordered a short red broad cloth coat be

given to each Chief man; and that the Right Honorable

Company’s mark be embroidered with silk on their backs,

with the number of their rank and the boat, which are also

to be so numbered, whereby we shall have them at better

command, our business go more currently on, and easier

thereby discover their thieveries.””

Thursday, 2ud February 1688.— In consideration of the

several inconveniences that have happened by the exporta-

tion of children stolen from their parents, to prevent which

for the future,—it is ordered that no slaves shall be shipped

off or transported, except such who are first examined by the

Justices of the Choultry, and their several names registered

in a book for that purpose; for which the Justices are to

receive two fanams for each slave. And whosoever shall

offend against this same rule, and shall be convicted of

stealing people, are to pay for the liyst fault five pagodas,

and for the next to lose their ears in the pillory. And

this order shall be fixed upon the several gates and in the

Choultry.”

Monday, 14th May 1688.—“The custom by the export-

ation of slaves here, being now of little advantage to the

Right Honorable Company by their scarcity, and it having

brought upon us great complaints and troubles from the

country government, for the loss of their children and

servants spirited and stolen from them, which being likely to

increase, by the new government of the Mogul’s who are

Final prohibi-

tion of the slave

trade,
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very averse, and prohibit all such trade in his dominions, and

has lately expressed his displeasure therein against the Dutch

for their exporting of slaves from Metchlepatam. To prevent

which prejudice and mischiefs for the future, and we having

received a late letter from the Seer Lascar about it,—it is

agreed and ordered that, after the 20th instant, no person

inhabitant of this place, cither Christian or other, do directly

or indirectly buy or transport slaves from this place or any

adjacent Port (whereby the Government may be any ways

troubled or prejudiced) upon the penalty of fifty pagodas for

each slave bought and transported against this our order.

But in consideration that several persons in town have

formerly bought slaves which still remain by them, by reason

of their sickness or want of opportunity to transport them :—

It is agrecd that they be permitted to ship off such slaves,

provided they give a list of them to the Justices of the

Choultry, and produce them publicly there, to be duly ex-

amined and registered. And the better to prevent any

demands upon them hereafter, the Justices are ordered to

proclaim the same by beat of drum; that no person may

pretend ignorance thereof, and that all may come and make

their demands for children and slaves stolen, and upon due

proof, they be delivered to them free of charge.”

Meanwhile there had been a great change in the

political horizon. In 1685, the Sultan of Golkonda

was assailed by the Moghul Emperor Aurungzeb.
The details of the war are of no interest. The

Sultan, however, was in sore extremity; he called

upon the English at Madras to help him against

the Moghul. The point is only important from its

having elicited the following remarks from the

Court of Directors; they are evidently penned by

Mr. Josiah Child :—

“We know the King of Golconda is rich enough to pay

for any assistance you give him, either in diamonds or
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pagodas; and therefore we intend to be at no charge for his

assistance against the Mogul, but what he shall pay us for

beforehand, or put diamonds into your hands for the security

of our payment, both principal and interest.

“For the King of GOleonda’s writing to you, you may

acquaint him in a decent and friendly manner, that we are

none of his subjects; wherein we would have you be guided

by the old Proverb, ‘“suaviter in modo fortiter in re.” But

if nevertheless he pretend to any dominion over your city,

you may, when you are in a good condition, tell him in plain

terms that we own him for our good friend, ally, and con-

federate and sovereign and lord paramount of all that country,

excepting the small territory belonging to Madras, of which

we claim the sovereignty, and will maintain and defend

against all persons, and govern by our own laws, without any

appeal to any prince or potentate whatsoever, except our

Sovereion Lord the King, paying unto him the King of

Golconda our agreed tribute of 1200 pagodas per annum.

And if ever he break with youupon these terms, we require

you to defend yourselves by arms, and from that time renounce

paying him any more tribute... It being strange to us that

while he is oppressed by the Mogul on one hand, and by a

poor handful of Dutchmen on the other, you should make

yourselves so timorous and fearful of asserting our own King’s

just right and prerogative to that important place.”!

é ¢ . .

1 It may be as well to specify that a pagoda is equivalent to three rupecs

eight annas, and that its English value varied from seven shillings to half a

sovereign, A fanam was a small coin worth about twopence.
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CHAPTER V.

MADRAS UNDER THE MOGHULS.

1688-1720.

BOUT 1688 there was a great change in the for-

tunes of Madras. The Sultan of Golkonda.

was conquered by Aurungzeb, and consequently the

English settlement at Madras was brought under

the paramount power of the Great Moghul.

The change was effected at a remarkable crisis.

The English in Bengal had been allowed to esta-

blish a factory at Hughli. They had been prohibited

from building any walls or fortifications, like those

which they possessed at Madras; they had conse-

quently been exposed to the oppressions and exac-

tions of the Nawab of Bengal; and on one occasion,

Mr. Job Charnock, the Governor at Hughli, was

imprisoned and scourged by the Nawab.’ The result

was that James the Third made war upon the Em-

peror Aurungzeb. A squadron of English men-of-war

was sentinto the eastern seas to capture and destroy

the ships of the Moghul. Aurungzeb was soon in

alarm. Every complaint was redressed. The war

was brought to a close, but was never forgotten. It.

sufficed to keep the peace between the English and

the Moghul authorities for a period of seventy years.

1Orme’s Hindustan, Vol. 11. The Nawab of Bengal was afterwards

known as the Subahdar. Charnock is often spelé Channock.
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The light in which the war was regarded by the

Court of Directors may be gathered from the

following remarks, which appear in a general letter,

dated 27th August 1688 :—

“The subjects of the Moghul cannot hear a war with the

English for twelve months together, without starving and

dying by thousands, for want of work to purchase rice; not

singly for want of our trade, but because by our war we ob-

struct their trade with all the Eastern nations, which is ten

times as much as ours, and all European nations put together.

Therefore we conclude Fort St. George is now much more worth

and secure to us, than ever it was in the mean King of

Goleonda’s time; forhe had little at sea for us to revenge

ourselves upon; but now if new injurics should be offered

us, we have a fat enemy to deal with, from whom something

is to be got to bear our charges. Therefore we conclude that

the Moghul’s governors will never give us fresh provocations,

nor deny you St, Thomé, or anything else you shall reason-

ably and fairly request of him.

“No great good was ever attained in this world without

throes and convulsions: therefore we must not grudge at what

is past.”

The following extracts from the Consultation

Books will suffice to tell the story of one result of

the war in Bengal :—

Thursday, 7th March 1689,—“ Agent Charnock, his

Council and the several Factors and Writers to the number

of twenty-eight persons, being arrived from Bengal, who,

having from their disturbances and sudden surprising depart-

ure thence, laden the Right Honorable Company’s concerns

and remains in great confusion upon the several ships, of

which we have received neither Invoices nor Bills of Lading :

it is therefore ordered that each Commander shall give a

list of what they have on board.”

War betweeu

the Muglish and
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Monday, 7th October 1659,—" The “ Pearl” frigate arriv-

ing yesterday from Vizagapatam, and by her came Bengal

peons, who brought us several letters anda firman from the

new Nawab of Bengal, Ibrahim Khan, to the President, dated

8nd July, very kindly inviting us to return and resettlement,

with assurance of a just and fair usage to the Right Honor-

able Company's servants and trade, and upon the former

privileges, and to assist us in the recovery of our debts owing

to us in those parts; much blaming the late Nawal’s injustice

and cruelty to our people: which notwithstanding it is most

acceptable news to us as we doubt not it will also be to the

Right Honorable Company ; but our resettlement bemg a

matter of great weight and importance, it is ordered and

agreed that the Agent, ete., of the Bengal Council be sum-

mond to a Cowacil with us,”

Thursday, 10th Octobet.—* Agent Charnock and Council

being this day joined with us in Council, the Nawab’s letters

and firman from Bengal to the President were perused and

long debated on, and being coneluded to be a happy good

opportunity to return and settle in Bengal, that Government

being under that famously just and good Nawab Ibrahim

Khan, who has so kindly invited us to it, and faithfully en-

gaged our peace and safety, of his honour the Agent has had

long experience at Patna; . . . but the war continuing

still at Bombay . . . it is agreed that the General of

Surat be advisec. as soon as possible thereof, and copies of the

firman and letters sent him, with our opinion thereof, desiring

his advice and orders therein, and that a small vessel be fitted

for that purposc, the overland passage being very uncertain

and dangerous.”

During the latter years of the seventeenth century

Madras underwent a great change. It was no

longer a fortified factory ; it had become a sovereign

state. Accordingly other qualifications were neces-

sary in imen holding the higher appointments than



MADRAS UNDER THE MOGUULS. OL

had been necessary in the earlier days of the scttle-

ment. The following remarks in a general letter

from the Court respecting the appointment of a

Mr. Higginson to be Sccond Member of Council

are worthy of preservation. They are as applicable

now as they were tivo centuries ago. It is difficult

perhaps to say who penned them; but from all that

is known of Mr. Josiah Child, it might be safely

inferred that he was the author :—

* Let none of you think much or grudge at the speedy quatitcations

advancement of Mr. Higginson. We do not do it out of any Coun
partiality to him, for he has no relation here tospeak for him,

nor ever had the ambition to think of such a thing himself;

neither have we done it out of any ul feeling or disrespect to

any others now being of our Council, but sincerely as we

apprehend for the public good ; knowing him to be a man of

learning, and competently well read in ancient histories of

the Greeks and Latins, whieh with a good stock of natural

parts, only can render a man fit for Government and Political

Science, martial prudence, and other requisites for ruling over

a great city. This, we say, with some experience of the world

and knowledge of the laws and customs of nations, can alone

qualify men for such a Government, and for treaties of peace

or war, or commerce with foreign Princes. It is not being

bred a boy in India, or studying long there and speaking the

language, understanding critically the trade of the place, that

is sufficient to fit a man for such a command as the Second of

Fort St. George is, or may be in time; though all these

qualifications are very good in their kind, and essentially

necessary to the well carrying on of the trade; and little

science was not necessary formerly, when we were in the

state of mere trading merchants. But the case is altered

from that, since his Majesty has been pleased, by his Royal

Charters and duriug his Royal will and pleasure, to form us

into the condition of a Sovereign State in India, that we may
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offend, or defend ourselves, and punish all that injure us in

India as the Du‘ch do.

“The great trouble we labour under is, that you cannot

get out cf your old forms, and your eavilling way of writing,

or perverting or misconstruing, procrastinating or neglect-

ing our plain and direct orders to you; as if you were not a

subordinate but a co-ordinate power with us; which has and

will (till you conform to our known minds and intentions)

force us to make more changes in your Council than any-

thing else could have induced us to; of which we hope we

shall have no more hereafter, but that your well understand-

ing and performance of our orders will cause us to change the

style of our letters to you, as we hoped to have done before

this, for which we more earnestly desire a fib occasion than

you ean yourselves.”’

The Court of Directors at this period were

anxious to form a municipal corporation, in which

natives were mixed with Hnglish freemen. The

question is an interesting one. The following

paragraphs are extracted from the original instruc-

tions sent out from England :—

“ Tf you could contrive a form of a corporation to be estab-

lisbed, of the Natives mixed with some English freemen, for

aught we know some publie use might be made thereof ; and

we might give the members some privileges and pre-eminen-

cies by Charter under our seal, that might please them (as all

nen are naturally with a little power) ; and we might make

a public advantage of them, without abating essentially any

part of our dominion when we please to exert it. And it ts

not unlikely that the heads of the several castes, being made

Aldermen and some others Burgesses, with power to choose

out of themselves yearly their Mayor, and to tax all the in-

habitants for a Town Hall, or any public buildings for them-

selves to make use of,—your people would more willingly and

liberally disburse five shillings towards the public good, being

taxed by themselves, than sixpence imposed by our despotical
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power (notwithstanding they shall submit to when we see

cause), were Government to manage such a society, as to

make them proud of their honour and preferment, and yet

only ministerial, and subservient to the ends of the Govern-

ment, which under us is yourselves.

“ We know this can be no absolute platform for you. You Discretionary

may make great alterations according to the nature of the pews
place and the people, and the difference of laws, customs, and

almost everything else, between England and India; but this

will serve as a foundation from whence to begin your consi-

derations and debates concerning this affair, which will

require great wisdom and much thinking’ and foresight, to

create such a Corporation in Madras, as will be beneficial to

the Company and place, without the least diminution of the

sovereign power his Majesty has entrusted us with, and which

we are resolved to exercise there during his Majesty’s royal

pleasure and confidence in us.”

All this while, however, Madras was exposed to maaras in

great perils. The English were often threatened nee
by the Mahrattas. "They were also threatened by

the Moghuls, who had conquered the Sultan of

Golkonda and were. taking. possession of all his

dominions in the Dekhan and Peninsula as far

south as the river Koleroon.

The following extracts will serve to show the Retations
between the

early relations between the English and the Moghuls spaysh andthe

and Mahrattas. It should be explained that the"

Sivaji, here mentioned, was not the celebrated

founder of the Mahratta Empire; for he had died

as far back as 1680. The name was applied to

his son Ram Raja, who was gencrally known as

Sivaji, and sometimes as the “ New Sivaji.”

Saturday, 29th October 1687,.—« Waving received a letter moghuls capture
‘ oo . Golkonda.
from Potty Khan, commissioned hy the Mogul to be Souba- Madras submits

, to the Moghul.
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dar of this part of the country, and Governor of Chingleput

Fort as formerly, who advises us that the Mogul has certain-

ly taken Goleonda Castle, and the Sultan prisoner; and

that all the considerable Forts and Towns in this country

have already admitted the Mogul’s colours and government,

the Towns of Pulicat and St. Thomé, our nearest neighbours,

having also submitted thereto; he also intimating to us

the ceremony and solemnity that was generally performed

at the news of the conquest, implicitly desiring and expect-

ing the same from us; which being a matter of no great

weight or charge, and may oblige them, and the neglect

do us a prejudice :—It is agreed and ordered that the servant

that brought the letter be presented with perpetuanos, and

that 15 guns be fired, at the delivery of the President’s

letter to them, and 20 marealls of paddy given among the

poor, in respect to their customs in such cases.”

Applicstion of Saturday, 7th January 1688—This evening the Right

Guardsman. Honorable Company’s Chief Merchant acquainted the Presi-

dent that one of the Mogul’s Life Guards, sent down into

these parts to receive his rents, desired to wait upon him

to-morrow ; but doubting he might be too prying and in-

quisitive of the garrison, the President excused his coming

then, as being Sunday, and desired it may be at nine this

night. Three other-Members of Council were sent for and

were presenti at his coming, when after a long discourse of

the Court and Government, he declared the occasion of his

coming was, that he had received about a lakh of rupees

and 6000 pagodas for the Mogul’s account, and had left

it at Poonamallee; but in regard Sivaji’s flying army was

foraging those parts and robbing and plundering, desired

our assistance, supply him with 800 horses, 500 soldiers

and 00 peons to guard it as far as Kistna River; which

he pressed hard, and that it, would be most acceptable to

the King (Aurungzeb). But the Governor considering the

unreasonableness and dangerous consequence of undertaking

such a charge, or intermeddling with things of that nature,

returned him for answer, that we should be always ready to
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serve the Mogul, but that he well knew Sivaji’s forces,

and that he had lately taken three Forts and a hundred

Towns very near us, and done many other mischiefs in the

country, and that this place was also threatened by him, and

that he was within twenty-four hours of us: therefore we

could not spare our forces from our guard. Besides, that

three or four hundred horse would signify little to Sivaji’s

three or four thousand in the field, though we feared not

ten times so many here; but there it would turn the King

Aurungzeb’s money and our people into great danger.

Thereupon desired him (the Mogul’s Life Guard) te consider

well of it. Whereupon he desired permission to bring it

into ‘own; but hearing of our war in Bengal he requested

that the President would give him his.word and hand that he

and his treasure should be safe, and have liberty to carry it

away when he thought convenient, Which being agreed

to by all, he was told by the President that the Town was

free to all persons, and that no prejudice should be done to

him by the English, but that they should fare as we did,

and that he might choose what place he pleased to reside in ;

desiring him to seud no more people than necessary, and

those to be sober and civil. Whereupon he was dismissed

with rosewater and betel, and.seemed pleased with the dis-

course and the entertainment.”

Friday, 13th January. —* Letters last. night advise that

Sivaji’s forces had plundered Conjeveram, killed about 500

men, destroying the Town, and put the inhabitants to flight,

dispersing themselves about the country, and many of them

run hither; and about twelve this day came a letter from

Chingleput advising the Governor that they had certain

news from the Mabratta camp, that they had drawn out a

party of about 2000 horse and 500 foot under the command

of a General, to assault this place, giving them encourage-

went that the plunder should be theirown. Upon which

advice the Governor and Council ordered that the Portuguese

and Gentoos [i. ¢., Hindus] should be summoned to their

arms; one man from each family that had two therein, and

Mahbratta
ravages.
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two from each family that had six and many therein, from

15 to 60 yeers of age.”

Sunday, 6th May 1688.—* Letters from Mr. Chardin at

Golconda to the Governor, of April last, give the following

account. That the Mogul would free his son Shah Allum

from his long confinement, but the Prince generously refused

it except he would also enlarge Abul Hassan, the Sultan of

Goleonda, because he (the Prince) was instrumentally the

ruin of the Sultan; having formerly engaged his word that

neither the Mogul, nor he, should ever come with power to

trouble him ; and that be would rather choose to lose his life,

than break his faith and word with the Sultan of Golconda,

which was confirmed by hisfaith, That Sivaji’s troops, join-

ed with Siddee Masson’s, are within. six leagues of Golconda

burning and destroying all before them, they expect them

there in a little time. That Nabob Rowalloo Khan had sent

his jewels and treasure into the castle, and he and his family

are on the following thereof. That there are no soldiers in

the Fort (of Goleonda), nor provisions fit to withstand an

enemy, so that if the enemy comes, he may with great faci-

lity take the Fort. That the Dutch and the French are much

in the Mahratta’s favour, and all roads are full of robbers.

That the King of Persia. marcheth in person with a great

army after Sultan Akbar,’ to give him help, in case the

60,000 horsemen he hath already sent be not sufficient; and

sworn upon his beard that be will set him upon the Indostan

throne.”

Monday, 18th March.— Letters from the Mogul’s Dewan

[é. e., Finance Minister] wherein he descants upon the small-

ness of our rent and present, in consideration of the great

profits and revenues we made of the place, which now was

under the Mogul’s dominion, and therefore not to be as in

the Sultan of Golconda’s time. His chief design herein

being to get a great present from us, which being well con-

sidered of, it is resolved not to concede to, since it can do us

little kindness and may encourage their exactions.

1 Akbar was a rebel son of Aurungzcb, who had fled to Persia,
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“The Dewau’s messenger, a erent Moorman that was sent

with the letter and to discourse more particularly in this ocea-

sion, was sent for and civilly treated ; who, alter many stories

and magnifying his Master’s interest and power in the Mo-

gul’s Court and this country ; the President told him that we

were and should be very desirous to continue the Dewan’s

friendship, which we hope he would not deny us, in considera-

tion of the many great advantages our settlement and trade

brought to the country ; and that he was misinformed of our

profits by it, the Revenues not defraying half the charge we

were at in maintaining it and the poor; however it was our

own, given us by the grant of several sovereigns, and solely

raised and built by the Right Honorable Company’s charge

from a barren sand; which we should defend against all op-

posers of our right; and so dismissed the Moor with calmer

thoughts aud expectations than he brought.”

Monday, 4th December 1689.—“ Uaving reccived certain

advice that Rama Raja, king of the Mahrattas, is come over

land from his kingdom and army at Poona to the government

and castle at Ginjee, and that the French and Dutch have

already sent persons with considerable presents to congratu-

lute him into the country, cach reported to be to the amount

of nearly 1400 pagodas; and it being also expected that we

should likewise pay our respects to him in the same nature, as

well for the favourable assistance done the Right Honorable

Company at Bombay, us also for the protection of our Garri-

son and trade in his country; and though he may expeet to

he visited by one of our Council, yet lest that should give sus-

pieion to the Mogul government and army in these parts and

exasperate them against us, which they seem now inclined

to from the late news and troubles at Bombay :—we therefore

conclude it more safe and expedient that the Chief of Coni-

mere,! with a suitable retinue, do go and visit Rama Raja at

Ginjee, with a present from thence, wherein net much to ex-

ceed the amount of pagodas 600, Since the French cirenuim-

' Conimere was a osmalf Buglish fetory near Ginjeo ur diijecs Et was

withdrawn shortly afterwards.

G

Presents to the
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stances and ours in those parts are different, where they hav-

ing their chief residence and settlement in that government,

and lately built a considerable Fort at Pondicherry.”

alahrattas Tuesday, 10th December 1689.— ‘This day came news
besieze

Pondicherry. from Conimere that the Mahratias had besieged the French

at Pondicherry, demanding great sum of money from them,

notwithstanding they had lately received a considerable pre-

sent from them; and that the Conimere Government and the

Dewan’s peons have likewise been very pressing with our

merchants there for 1,000 or 500 pagodas a man loan from

them.”

Mogi The country between the rivers Kistna and Kole-

and Marat roon is known by the general name of the Carnatic.

Politically it was divided into. northern and a

southern region, which may be distinguished as

the Moghul Carnatie and the Mahratta Carnatic.

‘The Moghul Carnatic had been previously a province

of Golkonda; it had now become a province of
the Moghul; it meluded the English settlement

at Madras. The Mahratta Carnatic comprised the

southern region which. had.been conquered by

Sivaji the Mahratta; it included the French settle-

ment at Pondicherry.

Frontier fortes The frontier between Moghul and Mahratta do-

Jit minion was formed at this period by the celebrated

fortress of Ginjee or Jinji. This notable fortress

was seated on three precipitous hills or rocks about

six hundred feet high. They were connected

hy lines of works, and enclosed a large triangular

plain inside. For ages this fortress had been

regarded as the strongest in the Carnatic. It had

been the stronghold of the old Rajas of Chola.

In 1677 it had been captured by the first Sivaji.
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In 1689, as already seen, it was in the possession

of his son Ram Raja. It was the frontier fortress

of the Mahrattas against the Moghuls.

In 1690 Zulfikar Khan commanded the Moghul Zulfkar Khan,

army in the Carnatic. He laid siege to Jingi. A ‘he Cams

rebellion broke out in the Moghularmy. Mr. Elihu

Yale was Governor of Madras. He supplied Zulfikar

Khan with powder and rendered other services.

As a reward he obtained a firman from the Mo-

¢hul general, confirming the English Company in

the possession of all their settlements in Golkonda

territory and Jinji territory.

In 1691 the Mahrattas were still masters of Bnglish settle.

Jinji. Ram Raja was sovereign over the whole * Devi.

country from Jinji to the river Koleroon. So

firmly was his power established, that the English

purchased the site of Fort St. David' from the

Mahratta Raja.

In 1692 Zulfikar Khan was still besicging Jinji. Siogo of Jingt

He was accompanied by the youngest son of the

Emperor Aurungzeb, named Kambakhsh.? The

Moghul army before Jingi was in wretched

plight. In December 1692 the Moghuls were de-

feated by the Mahrattas; many of the Moghul

officers fled to Madras in disguise, and were well

entertained.

In January 1693 an English soldier in the Privations st

serv ice of Zulfikar Khan returned to M auras. He

i Fort St. David Was about, a hundred miles to the south of M: i tras, and
sixteen miles to the south of Pondicherry.

? This prince was known to our forefathers as Cawn Bux. Ju Herodo-

tus and Xenophon the uame appears as Cambyses.
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brought a budget of news from the Moghul camp.

Kémbakhsh had tried to go over to Ram Raja ;

he was seized and imprisoned by Zulfikar Khan.

The camp was reduced to starvation from want of

provisions. Zulfikar Khan made a peace for twenty-

four hours with Ram Raja, and then retired to

Wandiwash, leaving most of his baggage at the

diserction of the Mahrattas,

In 1694 there was more news from the Moghul

camp. Zullikar Khan was quarrelling with his

officers ; it was said that Aurungzeb had sent orders

to arrest him. The Moghul horse were plundering

the country. Zulfikar Khan sent ten camels load-

ed with rupees to Ram Raja; they were inter-

ecpted by another Moghul gencral named Daiid

Khan. The Moghul officers were waiting an oppor-

tunity to arrest Zulfikar Khan. The Mahrattas

had poisoned the water; they mixed milk hedges in

some of the tanks, which killed. abundance of people.

In 1696 the Mahrattas were increasing in

strength at Jinji. The English at Fort St. David

were warned to be on good terms with Ram Raja

and his officers. The Mahrattas would certainly

continue masters of the country, unless a consider-

able army was sent to reinforce Zulfikar Khan.

In the following March, Zulfikar Khan was in

such straits for money that he sent to Madras to bor-

row a hundred thousand pagodas, equivalent to above

thirty-five thousand pounds sterling. Mr. Nathaniel

Iigginson was Governor of Madras. He sent a pre-

sent, but declined to lend the money. It was feared
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that Zulfikar Khan would resent the refusal. Te,

however, distributed a small sum amongst his army,

and ostentatiously praised the liberality of the

English at Madras. Ilis only object. had been to

gain time; to amuse the soldiery with prospects of

pay.

In the following November, it was feared that

Zulfikar Khan would attack Madras. The follow-

ing extract from the ‘ Consultations” shows the

feeling which prevailed at Fort St. George :—

Thursday, 5th November 1696.—“1t may be objected that

it is very probable that the Nawab Zulfikar Khan cannot make

war against this place without the King’s {?. e., Emperor’s]

order. But it may be also considered that the Nawab hath

frequently done greater things than that, not only without

but avainst the King’s order. He has imprisoned Kambukhsh

the King’s sen; and though the King fora time did express

resentment, yet there followed no effect. He hath been fre-

quently ordered to take Ginjee, and it hath been in his power

to do it and destroy all the Mahrattas in the country ; but

instead of that it appears plaiw that he hath joined council

with them, and notwithstanding all the endeavours of his

enemies, his father Vizier Asad Khan still prevails at court to

keep the Nawab in his Goverument. And if he hath an

interest to defend himself against so potent enemies, he can

more easily baffle any complaints that we can make to the

King. And it is in his power, if he be so inclined, to trouble

and plague us, and to raise new impositions to the stopping

all business; and it will not bem our power to procure a

remedy at last, but by the same means that he and his officer

now aim at, that is by a more considerable present.”

In 1697 Zulfikar Khan had grown more for.

midable. Ile had defeated the Mahrattas near

Tanjore. In 1698 he captured Jinji.

Nawab expected

to artack

Madras,

Moghuls

capture Jinji,
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Zulfikar Khan was one of the most distinguished

grandees of his time. He was not only in com-

mand of the Moghul army in Jinji, but exercised

a powerful influence at court. He was the adopted

son of Asad Khan, the Vizier. He was inclined

to favour the English at Madras. He had already

granted firmans confirming them in the possession

of their territorial settlements in Golkonda and

Jinji. He now procured them firmans from the

Vizier in the Emperor’s name. The English were

told that the firmans were ready on the payment

of ten thousand pagodas, nearly four thousand

pounds sterling. There was some demur, but the

money was paid.

In 1701 Zulfikar Khan was succeeded by Daétid

Khan as Nawab of the Carnatic. The English

sent him letters and presents. A present valued at

seventeen hundred pagodas was given in public;

and a donation of three thousand rupees was given

in private. The proceedings are sufficiently ex-

plained in. the following extracts :—

Friday, (7th January 1706.—« Déid Khan being ordered

by the King (Aurangzeb) Nawab of the Carnatic and

Ginjee countries who has been several months on his

march from the King’s Camp. Two days ago we were

advised, by people that we keep in his Camp to give

us intelligence, that he was come to Areot above four

days’ march from henee. We have had several letters of

compliment from him, wherein he has desired sundry sorts

of liquors, which accordingly have been sent him; and it

being the custom of all Europeans to present all Nawabs and

Governors when they come first to their Government in

order to procure a confirmation of their privileges, besides at
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present we are carrying op a great investment here and at

Fort St. David, and have a great deal of money spread up

and down the country; further a few days ago we have

advice from Surat by Armenian letters that our affairs are

embroiled there ; all of which induces us to consider of a cou-

siderable present for the Nawab and Dewan and their officers,

and fitting persons to send with it; though before we heard

the news from Surat, we intended to have sent two Enelish-

men, but altered our resolution, not knowing but that the

troubles there may affect us here. So there being one Senor

Nicholas Manuch, a Venetian and an inhabitant of ours for

inany years, who has the reputation of an honest man,

hesides he has lived at the King’s Court upwards of thirty

years, and was a servant to one of the Princes, and speaks

the Persian language excellently well; for which reasons we

think him the properest person to send at this time with our

Chief Dubash Ramapah ; aud have unanimously agreed with

the advice of all eapable of giving it, to send the presents.”

The Nawab sent back the presents. It was dis- Nore demands

covered that he was ina rage. He was bent upon

having ten thousand pagodas like Zulfikar Khan.

Ife threatened to ruin’ Madvas and set up St.

Thomé in its room.

Mr. Thomas Pitt was Governor of Madras. He is Resotution of

said to have been the grandfather of the famous

Earl of Chatham. At any rate, he had the

Chatham spirit. He utterly refused to pay the

money. Ten thousand pagodas had been paid to

Zulfikar Khan on account of the firmans; but no

firmans were wantcd from Nawab Datd Khan.

A new Nawab might come every month, and de-

mand ten thousand pagodas in like manner.

Governor Pitt prepared to resist to the last; landed
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quotas of men out of the Europe ships; increased

the train bands; and raised a force of Portuguese.

Nawab Daitid Khan began to give in. His

officers expressed their fears that something would

happen to their good friends the English unless the

ten thousand pagodas were paid up. Governor Pitt

was obdurate. At last the Nawab condescended to

receive the present which he had previously refused.

The Nawab now beeame friendly and cordial.

The following extracts from the ‘“ Proceedings”

describe an entertainment that was given by Mr. Pitt

to the famous Nawab Dand Khan :—

Friday, 11th July 1701.—This day the Nawab sent us

word that to-morrow himself, the Dewan, and Buxie would

dine with us, and desired to know with what attendance we

would admit him We would fain have evaded it, but the

messenger he sent, pressing us so hard fora direct answer, we

sent him word that the honour was too great to desire it, and

greater than we expected; and if he pleased to come, he should

be very welcome, and we, be ready to receive him in the

Garrison with one hundred horse. So all imaginable prepara-

tion is ordered to be made, and Messrs. Marshall and Meverell

(two of the Council), attended with ten Files of Grenadiers,

ordered to meet and receive him at Mr. Ellis’s Garden to

conduct him into town.”

1 These three officials—the Nawab, the King’s Dewan, and the Buxie

or Bakkshi—wcre appointed to every province in the Moghul empire.

The Nawsb held the military command of the province, and enforced

obedience to the Jaws.

The King’s Dewan took charge of the revenues in the name of the

King, Padishah, or Emperor. He paid the salaries of all the higher officials,

including the Nawab. He remitted the surplus revenue to the Moghul

Court as the King’s due. Sometimes the Dewan algo held the post of Nawab.
The Buxie, properly Bakhshi, was Paymaster of the Army, but often

held the rank of General,

G
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Saturday, 12th July 1701—“ About twelve this noon, the

Nawab, the King’s Dewan, and Buxie were conducted into

town by Messrs. Marshall and Meverell; the streets being

lined with soldiers from St. Thomé Gate up to the Fort, and

the works that way manned with the Marine Company hand-

somely clothed with red coats and caps, and the curtain of the

Inner Fort with our Train Bands, all which made a very hand-

some appearance. The Governor, attended with the Council,

the Mayor, the Commanders of the Europe ships, and some of

the Prineipal Freemen, reecived him (the Nawab) a little way

out of the Gate of the Fort; and after embracing cach other,

the Governor presented him with a small bali of Ambergrease

cased with gold and a gold chain to it, and then conducted

him into the Fort and carried him up to his lodgings; when

after sitting some time, the Nawab was pleased to pass very

great compliments upon us, commending the place as to

what he had hitherto seen of it, and gave us all assurance of

his friendship ; after which the Governor set by him two

cases of rich cordial waters and called for wine, bidding him

welcome by firing 21 pieeesof Ordnance. Soon after the

Governor drank to him the Moghul’s health with 31 pieces of

Ordnance ; and the prineipal Ministers of State (our friends),

as also the Nawab, Dewan, and, Buxies, with 21 picces of

Ordnance each, all which healths the Nawab pledged in the

cordial waters. So, soon after, the Dinner being ready, which

was dressed and managed by a Persian inhabitaut, the Gov-

ernor conducted the Nawab into the Consultation room,

which was very handsomely set out in all respects, the dinner

consisting of about six hundred dishes, small and great, of

which the Nawab, Dewan, and Buxie, and all that came with

him, eat very heartily, and very much commended their enter-

tainment. After dinner they were diverted with the dancing

wenches. The Nawab was presented with cordial waters,

French brandy, and embroidered China quilts, all which he

desired. The Dewan, upon his promising us a Perwanna, had

a Ruby Ring. The Buxie had one likewise offered him, but

refused it, und seemed all day out of humour, vecasioned, as

The Dinner,
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we are informed, by some words that had passed this day

between the Nawab, Dewan, and him before they came hither.

“ About six in the evening they returned to St. Thomé;

the Governor and Council, and gentlemen in town, with the

Commanders of the Europe ships, waiting on them without

the Gate of the Fort, where they mounted their horses and

were attended by Messrs. Marshall and Meverell to the place

they received them, and at their going out of St. Thomas’s

Gate were saluted with 31 pieces of Ordnance.

« Messrs. Marshall and Meverell returning, acquainted the
Governor that the Nawab desired to-morrow morning to go

aboard one of the Europe ships, and in order thereto that six

Mussoolas [7. ¢., Mussoola boats] might be sent to Triplicane ;

which was accordingly done, and the English ships’ boats

ordered to attend him.”

Sunday, 12th July I701—*« About seven o’clock this

morning Messis. Marshall and Meverell went to Triplicane, in

order to wait on the Nawab aboard the English ships, and the

Commanders went off to reeeive him, but the Nawab havine

been very drunk over night, was not a condition to go, and

deferred it till to-morrow morning.

“The Breakfast we intended aboard ship for the Nawab

was sent to St. Thomé, which he aecepted very kindly.”

Tuesday, 15th July 1701.—“ This morning the Nawab

sent word to the Governor that he would make him a visit

at the Company’s Garden; whereupon Narrain was sent to

endeavour to divert him from it, which if he could not do,

that then to advise the time of his coming. So Narrain

about twelve at noon sent to the Governor to acquaint that

the Nawab was coming with a great detachment of horse

and foot with all his elephants, and what he meant by it

he could not imagine. So the Governor ordered immediately

to beat up for the Train Bands and the Marine Company,

and drew out a detachment of a hundred men under Captain

Seaton to attend him and those gentlemen of the Council

who went to the Garden to receive the Nawab, But Narrain
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seeing the Nawab coming in sucha manner, told him it

would create a jealousy in the Governor, and desired him

to halt until he sent the Governor word and received his

answer. But before the answer came, the Nawab was got

into a Portuguese Chapel very drunk and fell asleep,

and as soon as waked, which was about four o’clock in the

afternoon, he ordered his Camp to march towards the little

Mount, where he pitched his tents, and sent to the Governor

to excuse his not coming to the Garden, and desired him to

send a dozen bottles of cordial waters, which were sent him.”

About this time, the Emperor Aurunzeb took sxtraorainary

an extraordinary resolution against the different urine,
European settlements in India. Both he and his

subjects had suffered heavy losses from the depre-

dations of European pirates. Accordingly, he

ordered that compensation for these losses should

be made by the servants of the different European

Companics.

In the first instance, these demands were made mognat ideas of

on Surat and Bombay. Khafi Khan, the Moghul earpeans
historian, has drawn up a narrative from a Moghul

point of view. Tle, moreover, records his own ex-

periences of the English at Bombay. The narra-

tive may prove an interesting introduetion to the

story of the proceedings of the Moghuls in the

Carnatic, as told in the Madras records :—

“Every year one of the Emperor’s ships went from Surat Moghul ships.

to the house of God at Mecea. There was no larger ship at

Surat. It carried Indian goods to Mocha and Jedda. It

brought back to Surat fifty-two lakhs of rupees in gold and

silver, or more than half a million sterling. Ibrahim Khan

was captain. It carried eighty guns and four hundred

muskets, besides other implements of war.
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‘“'Phis royal ship had come within eight or nine days of

Surat, when an English ship eame in sight, of much smaller

size, and nothing a third or fourth of the armament. When it

came within gunshot, the royal ship fired a gun at her. By

ill luck the gun burst, and three or four men were killed by

its fragments. About the same time, a shot from the enemy

struck and damaged the mainmast, on which the safety of

the vessel depends. The Englishmen perceived this, and

being encouraged by it, bore down to attack, and drawing

their swords, jumped on board their opponent. The Christians

are not bold in the use of the sword, and there were so many

weapons on board the royal. vessel, that if the captain had

made any resistance they must bave been defeated. But as

soon as the English began to board, Ibrahim Khan ran down

into the hold. There were some Turki girls whom he had

bought in Mocha to be his concubines. He put turbans on

their heads and swords in their hands, and excited them to

fight. These fell into the hands of the enemy, who soon

became perfect masters of the ship. They transferred the

treasure and many prisoners to their own ship. When they

had laden their ship, they brought the royal ship to shore

near one of their settlements, and busied themselves for a

weck searching for plunder, stripping the men and dis-

honouring the women both old and young. They then left

the ship, carrying off the men. Several honourable women

threw themselves into the sea to preserve their chastity, and

some others killed themselves with knives and daggers.

“This loss was reported to Aurangzeb, and the news-

writers at Surat sent some rupees which the English have

coined at Bombay, with a superscription containing the name

of their impure King. Aurangzeb then ordered that the

English factors who were residing at Surat should be

seized. Orders were also given to Itimad Khan, Superintend-

ent of the port at Surat, to make preparations for besieging

the fort of Bombay. The evils arising from the English

vecupation of Bombay were of long standing.
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“The English were not at all alarmed at these threatenings,

But they were more active than usual in building bastions

and walls, and in blocking up the reads, so that in the end

they made the place quite impregnable. Itimad Khan saw

all these preparations, and came to the conclusion that there

was no remedy, and that a struggle with the English would

result only in a heavy loss to the customs revenue. He

made no serious preparations for carrying the royal order into

exceution, and was not willing that one rupee should be lost

to the revenue. To save appearances, he kept the English

factors in confinement, but privately he endeavoured to effect

an arrangement. After the confinement of their factors, the

English, by way of reprisal, seized upon every Imperial

Officer, wherever they found one, onssea or on shore, and

kept them all in confinement. So matters went on fora

long time.

« During these troubles I (Khafi Khan) had the misfor-

tune of seeing the English of Bombay. I had purchased

goods at Surat to the value of nearly two lakhs of rupees,

and had to convey them alone the sea shore through the

possessions of the Portuguese and English. On arriving at

Bombay, but while I was yet in the Portuguese territory,

T waited ten or twelve days for an escort. The merchant for

whom I aeted had been on friendly terms with an Englishman,

i. e., the Governor of Bombay, and he had now written to

the Englishman about giving assistance to the convoy. The

Englishman sent out his vakeel [2. e., messenger], very kindly

inviting me to visit him. The Portuguese captain and my

companions were averse to my going there with such valuable

property. I, however, put my trust in God, and went to the

Englishman. I told the vakeel that if the conversation

turned upon the capture of the ship, I might have to say

unpleasant things, for I would speak the truth. The vakeel

advised me to say freely what I deemed right, and to speak

nothing but the truth.

“ When Lentered the fortress (¢. ¢., at Bombay) I observed

that from the gate there was on each side of the road a

breparatlous of
the English.

Khafi Khan’s

visit to Bombay

Bombay Castle,
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line of youths of twelve or fourteen years of age, well-dressed,

and having excellent muskets on their shoulders. Every step

I advanced, young men with sprouting beards, handsome and

well-clothed, with fine muskets in their hands, were visible

on every side, As I went onwards, I found Englishmen

standing, with long beards, of similar age, and with the

same accoutrements and dress. After that IT saw musketeers,

young men well-dressed and arranged, drawn up in ranks.

Further on, I saw Englishmen with white beards, clothed

in brocade, with muskets on their shoulders, drawn up in

two ranks, and in perfect array. Next I saw some English

children, handsome and wearing pearls on the borders of

their hats. In the same way, on both sides, as far as the

door of the house where he (the Governor) abode, I found

drawn up in ranks on both sides nearly seven thousand mus-

keteers, dressed and accoutred as for a review.

« T then went straight up to the place where he was seated

on a chair. He wished me ‘good day,’ his usual form

of salutation, then he rose from his chair, embraced me, and

signed for me to sit down on a chairin front of him. After

a few kind enquiries, he enquired why his factors had been

placed in confinement. I gave him to understand that it

was’ on accouns of the capture of the royal ship. He

replied, ‘ those who have an ill-feeling against me cast upon

me the blame for the faults of others; how do you know

that this deed was the work of my men?’ 1 told him that

‘there were English on board that were in his service.’

He said those Englishmen had deserted him and turned

Mussulmans, and afterwards had gone away and joined the

pirates, I than‘xed him for his explanation.”

1 Khafi Khan translated by Professor Dowson in Elliot’s History of

India, Volume VII, The Professor has done good service in translating this

work. I had formeda poor opinion of Khafi Khan for the undeserved praise

he bestowed on Shah Jchan. But other contemporary writers of undoubted

integrity, have taken the same favourable view out of pity for the misfortunes

of that ill-fated sovercign. Professor Dowson’s translation proves that Khafi

Khan is at least honest, and not a court seribe. Many of the new facts he

has brought to light are confirmed by European authorities.
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The proceedings of the Moghuls at Madras were pemanas of ine
oghul on

of an equally violent character. The following “ever Pit.

extracts from a letter, addressed by Governor Pitt to

Nawab Daid Khan, explains the nature of Aurung-

zeb’s demand from a European point of view —

“To His Excellency Détd Khan.

“This morning our Moollah came to me, who shews me

the copy of an order said to be from the great Asad Khan,

charging all Europeans with piracy, and that by a writing

they are answerable for the same. We have been informed

that there was such a writing extorted from the English,

French, and Dutch at Surat, which amongst us is of no

value, being forced from us; nor will the same be regarded

more particularly by us, who have been so great sufferers

ourselves ; and besides, our King have not been at so little

charge as two hundred thousand pagodas to extirpate those

villains,

“ Your Excellency said to the Mooliah that you care not

to fight us, but are resolved if possible to starve us by stop-

ping all provisions. We can put no other construction on

this, than declasing a war with all Ewrope nations, and ae-

cordingly we shall act. Dated in Fort St. George, 6th

February, 1702.

Tuomas Prrr. ”

Next day Madras was in some trepidation. The Commotions at
ladras.

following extract from the ‘“ Consultations’ shows

the agitation which prevailed amongst the na-

tives :—

Saturday, 7th.— © This day the Nawab’s forces plundered

our out-towns of some straw and paddy, and drove away the

inhabitants ; and the poor people that lived in our suburbs

and Black-town, being so intimidated by the approach of the

Moors army, and the preparations we made for our defence,

several thousands deserted us; and the farmers of the

tobacco and betel complaining that they could not collect
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the revenues by reason of these troubles, and more parti-

cularly betel being stopped, which would in a few days oc-

casion great clamours amongst the inhabitants; so that for

the encourayement of all to steal it in, we have ordered that

the farmers cease from collecting these revenues till the

troubles are over,”

The following extract is taken from another

letter of Governor Pitt to Nawab Datid Khan :—~

« We have lived in this country nearly one hundred years,

and never bad any ill designs, nor can Your Excellency, or

any one else, charge us with any ; and it is very hard that

such unreasonable orders should be issued out against us only,

when they relate to all Muropeans, none excepted as I can

perceive; and whether it be for the good of your kingdom

to put such orders in execution, Your lxcellency is the best

judge.

«* We are upon the defensive part and so shall continue,

remembering the unspeakable damages you have not only

done us in our estates, but also in our reputation, which is

far more valuable to us, and will be most resented by thi

King of our nation. ””

The following extracts tell their own story :—

Thursday, 12th February 1702.—“ This day the Governor

summoned a General Council to acquaint them with what mes-

sage the Moollah had brought from the Nawab at St. Thomé,

which was such rhodomantade stuff that we could hardly give

credit to it. He demanded possession of our Mint; that his

people should come into our Town and view our Godowns, and

take an account of our estates; and that we should put one

hundred men of theirs in possession of the Black town ; and that

then he would write to the King (Aurungzeb) that we had

obeyed his order, and make an attestation in our bebalfs, unto

which we must wait an answer, Otherwise be would fall in

upon us,and make us surrender by force of arms, and cut us

all off. He also told the Moollah that if we were merchants,

what need had we of such a Fortification and so many Guns;

which is anargument whieh has been much used by the New
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Scompany’s servants, since their dropping into this country ;

and, as we have beeu informed, the same has been urged to

the King and the greaS men of the Kingdom at the Camp.

“Tt was agreed that no answer be returned to this message,

as not heing worth our taking totice of, but tacitly to defy

thetr threats.”

Wednesday, Sth April 1702,.—" The Nawali and his army

having lain here a considerable time, stopping all trade and

provisions, and very much tereasing the Company’s charges,

which has not only been very prejudicial to the Company in

their trade and revenues, Dut likewise to the whole place in

general; and finding now that they decline very much tn their

demands, which we impute to the advice they have that the

merchants’ demands at Surat are satisfied ; we have thought

fit, toprevent greater inconveniences, to employ our Selim

RBeagne, an inhabitant of this tawn, to offer them the sum of

tSjb00 Rupees ; provided they deliver up to our merchants the

goods and money they have seized belonging to this place and

Fort St. David; which sium of 18,000 Rupees, considering the

very long time they leave heen here, we believe will be no

mducement for him to come agam, or any of his successors

hereafter; and accordingly Tt iaerecd that the President pays

rhe said sum upon the terms aforesaid, and not otherwise.”

Sunday, dred Mag (702.—" The Nawab and King’s Officers

having kan before this place upwards of three months, and

interdieted all manner of trade and provisions coming into

this place; the latter growing dear make it uneasy to the

inhabitants; and there having been some overtures of ae.

commodation from the enemy, whieh the Governor has been

daily importuned by all sorts of people to accept of, oeca-

sions his summoning this General Council; whom he ae-

yuainted with every particular as entered alter this consulta-

jion, Which being debated, it was agreed much by the
majority that the proposals be aceepted of; and that the

same be negociated and settled by Chinna Serapa and Narrain,

acquainfing the Goyerter from time to time what progress

they make therem.”

Siege of Madras.

Pebrunry (oe

April.

The Ruglish

oiler terme.
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« Whereas by a late order from the King all trading and

provisions with the English has been interdicted at Fort

St. George and Fort St. David, we the Nawab and Dewan

do now reverse the said order, and do grant them free lberty

to trade in all places as heretofore they have done, without

let or molestation; and to confirm the same to our people, do

promise to give them our perwannas directed to all Foujdars.

Killadars, Corrodees, Deshais, Destramokys, Poligars, and

inhabitants of all places whereto they trade, to be carried by

our Chokdars.

“That whatever moneys, cte., have been taken away, either

upon the roads cr in towns, or in any place whatever, said

moneys, ete., shall be returned to the value of a cowry, and

our merchants set at liberty.

“hat the Villages, and all that has been taken from them,

shall be returned, and due satisfaction made for all damages

according to account.

“ And whereas their trade has been stopped by the King’s

order, goods and moneys seized, it is requisite that an order

from the King be procured to revoke the former, which we

oblige ourselves to do; and upen compliance with the afore-

said articles, twenty thousand Rapees is to be paid by the

English to the Nawab, and five thousand privately to the

Dewan; of which sums half is to be paid upon clearing the

Villages, returning the gram they have there seized, taking

off the stop on trade and provisions, and sending the Chobdars

to the aforesail officers with perwannas to all parts of the

country; whereby to order our trade to be as free as for-

merly, and to restore all goods which were scized, and now

fie in St. Thomé; and when the whole business is completed

the English to pay the other half”

Tuesday, 5th May 1702.—“ The siege raised ! ”

William the Third died on the 8th March 1702.

The news did not reach Madras until the following
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September, when Queen Anne was proclaimed with

the following ceremonies i—

Thursday, th Sepiember.—* lu pursuanee to an order

of Consultation, the flag was carly this morning hoisted, and

al eight o’clock was lowered, when there was two volleys

small shot and one hundred cannon discharged by the half

minute etass, for the death of our late gracious King Williant

the Third of blessed anemory. hen the flag was again

hoisted up, when the Mayor and all the Aldermen in their

gowns on horseback, with twelve Halberteers and a Company

of Grenadiers marching before them, proclaimed our gracious

Queen Aune at the Port Gate, Town Wall, Sea Gate, and

Choultry Gate, with many huzzas-and great demonstration

of joy, with three volleys small shot and one hundred and

one pieces of eannon discharged. And in the evening the

Governor, attended by all the Gentlemen of the Council,

with the Mayor end Aldermenand several other gentlemen

in palanquins and herseback, to the Company’s Bowling

Garden, where there was a handsome treat provided; all

Europeans of fashiow in the city being invited to the

same, where they drank the Queen’s health, and prosperity

ty Old England, with many others.”

The same vear a terrible disaster befell the Em-

peror Aurungzch :—

Wednesday, 4th November —* The President is advised

fron Masulipatam that the Moghul is pitching his Camp near

some great mountains, from which of a sudden came so great

fall of waters, that it swept away about 150,000 people, with

elephants, horses, camels, and baggage, he himself narrowly

escaping.” [This event is noticed by Elphinstone, who, how-

ever, reduces the number of people who perished to 12,000,]

>

Mr. Pitt was Governor of Madras from 1698 to

L769. During this period the native town was

agitated by interminable quarrels between the right

Destruction of a

Moghul Army,

Right and lett

handa.
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and left hand castes, about the streets in which they

were respectively to live and celebrate their wed-

dings. This antagonism between the two hands is

peculiar to Southern India. The details are far too

lengthy to be introduced here. It will suffice to

say that rules were laid down for the prevention of

all such disputes for the future.

The administration of My. Pitt is also distin-

guished by another circumstance. Te succeeded

in establishing friendly relations with the Moghul

Court at Delhi. The circumstances were peculiar.

Aurungzeb died in 1707. ‘The event was followed

by a terrible war between his sons. The elder

gained the victory, but was fearful lest a younger

brother should find a refuge in Madras, and make

his escape to Persia... Aecordingly a friendly letter

was sent to Mr. Pitt, by an influential official

named Zoudi Khan. The Moghul minister pro-

fessed great kindness forthe English and made a

tender of his services to the Madras Governor.

Mr. Pitt promptly asked for a firman confirming

all the privileges which had been eranted by

Aurungzeb. The request was acceded to with

equal promptitude. Shortly afterwards the prince

who had caused all this anxiety was slain in battle.

The new Padishah died in the beginning of 1712.

Fresh wars and revolutions broke out, which

had a bad effect upon trade. The following

extracts from a general Ictter sent by the Governor

and Council at Madras to the Court of Directors

in Loudon furnishes some curious partientars
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eespecting the changes in trade. The letter is dated

ith October 1712 :—

“Tn obedience io your commands we shall ley before your

Honours the best account we can get concerning the consump-

tion of broad eloth and other manufactures inthe Moehnl’s

dominions. The coarse red and eveen broad cloth is chietly

used among the soldiers and ordinary Moormen for saddles,

saddle cloths, sumpture cloth, covers, becs and cushtous, for

palankeens, carpets to sit upon, mantles to cover them from

the rain und sometimes covering for ther tents of pleasure,

Phe fine bread cloth as scarlet, avrora, some blue and yellow

is used for the inside of tents;for vests er mantles in the

rainy season among the great men; covering cloths for the

elephants and hackarys; cloth to hang round their drums ;

for shoulder and waist belts, seabhards to their swords and

dageers; for slippers and for covers, beds and pillows, and

for palankeens. ‘Lhe embossed cloth is used to hang round

the bottom on the inside of the great men’s tents three feet

high; for spreading te sit mpon, and cushions to lean

against ; and for cloths to caver the clephants and horses.

Perpetuanos are only used amony the menner sort of people

for caps, coats, and coveruigs cloths to sleep im during the

PAS.

“And now we are upon this subject, we must inform

your Honours that at least nine-tenths of the woollen manu-

faetures vended in these parts is among the Mocrs; the

Hindus making very little ov vo use of them. The greatest

consumption is in the Moghul’s camp, which, when at Lahore

or Delhi, is supplied wholly fron: Surat and Persia; but

when at Agra, partly from Surat and partly from Bengal

hy way cf Patna, from which ports the conveyance to the

camp is casy and safe. But what is disposed of hereabouts

is dispersed among the Nabob’s flying armies in the Carnatic

country, Bijapore and Golcondah, seldom reaching so far as

Aurungabad, becanse the carriage is verv changeable, and the

vouds are difficult and danverous ty pass, Whea Ring Shah

Maclras trade in

W12.
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Alum! came down to Goleondah with his amny im the year

1708 to destroy lis brother Kam Bakhsh, we immediately

found a quicker vent than ordinary for our broad cloth ;

and indeed for all other sorts of goods consumed amoung

them. And when Datd Khan was formerly Nawab of

these parts, he always kept a good body of horse in

pay, which obliged the neighbouring Governors to do the

same, being always jealous of each other. And among

these horsemen by mach the greatest quantity of our

broad cloth then imported was consumed, the trad»

from this place to their eamps being very considerable.

But now our Dewan, who is Subah of all this country,

seldom keeps above five hundred horse with him; and the

Government in general be mg crown mach weaker than in

Aurungzeb’s time, none ofthe great men keep up the

number of horse allowed by the King, but apply the money

to ther own use; and this has brought a considerable

dump to our trade in general, but more espectally upor

the sale of your manufactures. ) For we have not only lost

the cump trade, but the roads are become impassable for

want of these horsemcu_ to seonr them as usual; so that the

merchants are discouraged from eoming down with thet

money and diamonds to) buy up and carry away our Europe

and other gools as formerly ; and we cannot see any likeli-

hood of better times till the Government is well settled and

some active man employed on the Government of these

parts.”

The Madras records of a later date contain little

matter that will interest general readers. Between

the years 1717 and 1720 a Mr. Collet was Gover-

nor. At this period the English at Madras pos-

sessed. slaves in considerable numbers. Many kept

slave girls, and two charity schools were built for the

1 This King or Padishah is known in history by the name of Batuclur

Shah. Lie was the som and successor uf Aurungzcd,
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children of these slaves. There are many allusions

to these slaves in the records, but nothing of perma-

nent interest. A good understanding prevailed be-

tween the English at Madras and the Nawab of

Arcot, and on one ocvasion Mr. Collet had the

honour of entertaining the minister of the Nawab,

just as Mr. Pitt had entertained Dadd Khan.

Mr. Collet’s administration is also remarkable

fora change inthe marriage laws laid down by

Mr. Streynsham Masters. The following extracts

explain themselves :-—

Thursday, 2ad Apval 1719.—" The President represents

that the Portuguese priests of St. Thomé had very lately

taken the liberty to marry some English people belonging to

this city without leave; which practice he apprehended to be

of dangerous consequence ; many of the young Gentlemen in

the Company’s Service being of good familics in England,

who would be very much seandalized at such marriages as

were like to be contracted here, without the consent of the

President; particularly that one Craue, late chief Mate of

ship “ Falconbridge,” was married to 2 Frenechman’s daughter

of this place on Sunday last; and in erder to if renounced

the Protestant religion, which he had professed all his life till

within a few days before. The other was one Dutton, an

ordinary fellow, who was married a week before at St. Thomé

to Ann Ridley, whose father was formerly Governor of the

West Coast. Her small fortune being in the hands of the

Chureh, the minister, as one of her guardians, refused his

consent; on which they went to St. Thomé, and found a

priest to marry them there. The President adds that, to

show his resentment of such a practice, he had ordered the

Mettos not to suffer any of the Portugnese Padres belonging

to St. Thomé to come into the English bounds, He further

proposed to the Board to consider of some proper orders to

he given for preventing the like practices for the future.

Changes in

marriage laws,
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Alter some consideration, if was agreed that an order be pub»

ished in the English aud Portuguese languages, and put up

in writing at the Sea Gate and at the Portuguese Church,

that if any Christan inhabitant of Madvas shall be married

in this city, at St. Thome, or elsewhere, withoat leave from

the President; that if he be in the Company’s serviee he

shall be Hable to such penalty as we shall think fit; but if

the person so offerding shall not be in the Company’s service,

and only a free merchant or inhabitant of the ‘Pown, he shall

be expelled the Hnglish Government on the Coast of Coro-

mandel, Also any parent consenting tu, or promoting, such

marriage, without leave as aforesaid, shall be lable to the

like penalty of expulsion.”

Monday, bth Apri The President informs the Board

that on a full enquiry into the marriage of the Mate Crane,

mentioned in last Consultation, he finds that the said Crane

had been bred a Protestant, und eontinued to profess a Pro-

testant religion till within a few days of his marriage; and

then the woinan whom he married refused to have thie cere-

mony performed in the English Church, because all Roman

Catholies married there are oblived to. subseribe a declaration

that they will bring up their children in the Protestant reh-

gion, by an order of Council dated the 25th of Mareh 1680;

and that on her refusal there to comply with that obligation,

he had renouneed the Protestant religion and declared him-

self a Roman Catholic in order to marry her. The President

therefore proposed to the consideration of the Board, whe-

ther that order of Council, dated 25th of March 1680, should

be repealed or nob; which being freely debated, it was un-

aimonsly agreed. to repeal the general order, for the following

reasons.

“ Firsé, that the obligation is in its own natnre unjust, and

a violation of that natural right which all parents have to

educate their children in that religion they think most ac-

ceptable to God. Secondly, that such a promise can be no

obligation on the conscience of any person, being unlawful in

itself, Thirdly, that the requiring such a pronuse may be
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attended with i consequences, ais in the instanee now before

us; the woman refusme te be married in the English Church

for that reason only 5 the consequence ol! which was, Crane’s

renouncing the Protestant relision and declaring himsell a

Roman Cathohe.

*€ Ordered that the Secretary acquamt the TPonorable Com-

pauy’s Chaplain of the place in writing with the repeal of

the aforesaid order, and that he is nut any more ty require

such subseription”

‘Phe President also aequaats the Board, that the severe

methods which he fad taken to show Tis resentment to the

Portuguese priests of St. Thomd, for marrying any subject of

this Government without lis consent, had produced a very

vood effect; for that the Padre Governor at St. Thomé had

sent him a very submissive letter or address, wherein he

obliges himself, and these of dus fraternity subject to him,

not to marry any persons subjeet to this Guvernment for the

futare, without asking Ins preyrous consent.”

In the records of -this period there is entered a

eurious will, which serves to illustrate the ideas of

young Englishmen m those days. Charles Davers

was the fourth son of Sir Robert Davers, Baronet.

Ue arrived at Madras in 1717, being at that time

eighteen years of age; he died in 1720, aged twenty-

onc. LlLis salary was only jive pounds a year, yet it

would seem that he had engaged in several trading

adventures. [lis desire to have his name and

memory perpetuated is very striking. ‘The will

tells its own story :—

Vhursday, 22ud September 1720,—“Tn the name of God,

Amen. I, Charles Davers, now of Port 8t. George in East

India, Merchant, being of sound and perfect mind and

memory, do make and ordain this any last will and testament

momaaner und torn: followine.

Cortoig will,

i720.
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* Imprimis, IT recommend my soul to God who gave i,

hoping through the merits of a crucified Saviour to obtain a

joyful resurrection; and my boly I commit to the earth to

be decently interred; aud for all such worldly estates, as

these which it bas pleased God to bless me with, I give and

bequeath as fo:lows; viz.

“ Imprimis, I leave unto the Charity School of this place

200 payodas ; and desire the beys belonging to this School

may attend me to the place of burial. Item, I leave unto

the Master and Mistress of said School 20 pagodas each for

mourning, I wish all piety and learning may attend them,

and that they may infuse the same into the children, by the

help of our Blessed Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ, Amen.

“Ttem, I leave unto my friend Mr. Thomas Wricht

20 pagodas for mourning, | J wash all health may attend him

in this world and happiness m the next.

“Ttem, I leave 200 pagodas for a tomb to be erected in

the burial place in form as follows. Four large pillars, each

to be six covids high, and six covids distance one from the

other; the top to be arched, and upon cach pillar a cherubim ;

and on the top of the arch the efligy of Justice. My body

to be laid in the middle of the four pillars, with a handsome

stone atop of me, raised about four feet ; and this inscription

in the stone:—‘ Here lyeth the body of Charles Davers,

fourth son of Sir Robert Davers, Bart., who departed this life

the---—of——Aunno Domini-—aged—.’ The four pillars

to be encompcssed in with iron rails, which are to go from

pillar to pillar; and at every square, steps to be raised with

stones, so as people may read the inscription.

“Ttem, J leave the Flonorable Governor, Couneil, and

Sceretary of this place, each a gold ring of one payoda and

a half each valac, with these words to be engraved in them,

*Charles Davers, obiit,’ ete. To whom T wish all tranquil-

lity, health, and prosperity.

“Ttem, I leave unto Dr. Pitchers, the sum of 30 pagodas

in case I die of my present Ulness, and that T did not pay

him. hefore T died.
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“Item, L leave unto my friend, Mr. Paut Fosley, 20 pago-

das for mourning; to whom J wish all health in this world,

and happiness in the next.

“Item, I leave unto the Minister that attend me 20 pago-

dag for a ring.

“Ttem, I leave unto my friend Mr, John Maubers 20 pago-

das for mourning.

“Lastly, T leave my two trosty and deloved friends

Mr. George Sittwel and Mr. Cateshy Oadham, my two

executors of this my lust will and testament, and desire them

to see me carried to the place of burial in the manner follow-

ine, VIZ.

“ My corpse to be carried from the Town Hall at seven

o'clock at night. T desire thatall the free merchants of my

acquaintance to attend me in their palankeens to the place of

burial; and as many of the Company’s servants as I have

had any intimacy withiw my life-time ; that all that attend

ine may have searves and hat-bands deeent. I desire that

Mr. Main, and the Charity: boys, may go before my corpse,

and sing a hymn 5 my corpse to be carried by six Hughshinen

or more if oecasion ; the suinister and the rest of the gentle-

men following. 1 desire of the Honcrable Governor that T

may have as many great guns fired as Lam vears old, which

is now almost twenty-one. Ta case it ix custemary to pay the

great guns firing 1 desire you to de it. [desire the favour

of the Captain of the guard to attend me; and that you

present him with a gold ring the sane as the Governor and

Council. And now as to my Bsiate. DT have 1086 ounces of

silver, which my father sent me out this year. Tam con-

cerned with Mr. Thomas Theobalds in a respondentia bond in

the ‘George’ Brigantine. I have also an adventure with

Captain James Hurdis, the prime cost being 72 pagodas

and a half. Ihave at this time in my cscritore about 100

pagodas, besides clothes and linen; an account of which T

always keep in my eseritore. I desire of my two executors

to accept of 30 pagodas each for mourning; and each a ring

of 15 pagodas value, with my mame and time of death eu-

graved npon it,
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* After my corpse is buried, which I desire may be dove

very handsomely, the remainder of my estate IT desire may be

laid out in rice, and be given to the poor at the burial plaice,

as long as it lasts. This IT declare to be my Jast will and

testament,

Cuarrtes Davers.”?

Whilst Mr. Collet was Governor of Madras a

certain sea captain, named Alexander TWamilton,

paid a visit to Madras. Captain Hamilton was a

character in his way. From 1688 to 1723, a period

of thirty-five years, he was engaged in trading and

travelling by sea and dand between the Cape of

Good [lope and the Island of Japan. In 1727 he

published what he called “A new Account of the

dast Indies,” in two voluines octavo. Jils account

of Madras is an interesting supplement to the in-

formation supplied from: the Madras records. It is

eiven in lis own words :—

“Fort St. George or Madras, or, as the Natives eall it,

China Patam, is a colony and city belonging to the Eaglish

East India Company, situated in one of the most incommod.-

ous places I ever saw. It fronts the sea, which continually

rolls impetuously on its shore, more here than in any other

place on the coast of Chormondel. The foundation is in sand,

with a salt-wacer river on its back side, which obstructs all

springs of fresh-water from coming near the town, so that

they have no deinkable water within a mile of them, the

sea often threatening destruction on one side, and the

river in the rainy season threatening imundations on the

ether. The stn from April to September is scorching

hot; and if the sea-breezes did not moisten and cool the

air when they blow, the place could not possibly be mha-

bited. The reason why a Fort was built in that place is

not well accounted for; but tradition says, that the gentle-
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man, who received his orders to build a Fort on that coast.

about the beginning of Ring Charles IPs ren after his

Restoration, for protecting the Company’s trade, chose that

place to ruine the Portug@uese trade at St. Thomas. Others

again alledge, and with more probability, that the gentle-

man aforesaid, which I take to be Sir Wilham Langhorn,

had a mistress at St. Thomas he was so enamoured of, that

made him build there, that thet interviews might be the more

frequent and uninterrupted; hut whatever his reasons were,

it is very ill situated.t| The sail about the city is so dry and

sandy, that it bears no corn, und what fruits, roots and
herbage they have, ave brought to maturity by great pains

and much trouble. If itebe true, that the Company gave

him power to settle a colony many part of that coast that

pleased him best, Tv wonder that he choosed not Cabelon,

about six leagues to tbe southward, where the ground is

fertile, and the water good, with the convenieney of a point

of rocks to facilitate boats landing; or why he did not go

nine leagues farther northerly, and settle at Pohleat on the

banks of a good river, as the Dutely have done sinee, where

the read for shipping is made easy by some sand banks, that

reach three leagues off shore, and make the high turbulent

billows that come roiimestroms the sca spend their foree on

those hanks before they can reach the store. The soil is

good, and the river commodious, and convenient in all

seasons. Now whether one of these places had not been

more eligible, T leave to the ingentous and those concerned

{o comment on?

« However, the war carried on at Bengal and Bombay, by

the English against the Moghul’s subjects, from 1685 to 1689,

' Te owill have already been seen that this is mere Jocal seandal, The site

of the Fort was chosen in 1689 by a Mr. Day.

2 Lhamilton was muy aequainted with the local gossip; he knew nothing

of authentic history. Cobelon would uot bave been a filting site for an

mutish settlement : it was of the ufmost iimportanee to choose an ishind

to kecp of predatory horssmen. Awain, Polical, property Prlicat, was founded

hy the fateh some sears before the denglish founded Micdras, Af ome time

the Breit; Jidsetth af Patteai bab deft oo on account af the Duteh,

Prosperity of

Aad adrian

the wars,
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made Fort St. George put on a better dress than he wore

before; for the pezceable Indian merchants, who hate con-

tention and war, came flocking thither, because it lay far

from those inmcumberers of trade, and near the diamond

mines of Goleondah, where there are, many times, good

bargains to be made, and money got by our Governors.

The black merchants resorting to our colony, to secure their

fortunes, aud bring their goods to a safe market, made it

populous and rick, notwithstanding ifs natural inconven-

ieneics. The town is divided into two parts. One where

the Europeans dwell is called the White Town. Tt is walled.

quite round, and hus several bastions and bulwarks to defend

its walls, which can only -bevattacked at its ends, the sea

and river fortifying its sides. Itasabout 400 paces long,

and 159 paces broad, divided into streets pretty regular, and

Port St. George stood near its eenter. There are two

Churehes in it, one for the Hnelish and another for the

Romish service. The Governor superintends both, and, in

filling up vaeancies in the Romish Clinrch, he is the Pope’s

Legate a latere in soivitualities. There is a very good hospital

in the town, and the Company’s herse-stables are neat; but

the old colleve, where a greal many gentlemea factors are

obliged to lodge, is ill Kept in repair,

“Phey have a Town-hall, and underneath are prisons for

debtors. They are, or were a corporation, and had a Mayor

and Aldermen to be chosen by the free Burgers of the town ;

but that scurvy way is grown obsolete, and the Governor and

his Council or party fix the choize. The city had laws and

ordinanees for its own preservation, and a court kept in

form, the Mayor and Aldermen in their gowns, with maces

on the table, a clark to keep a register of transactions and

cases, and attornics and solicitors to plead in form, before

the Mayor and Avdermen; but, after all, itis but a farce,

for, hy experience, I found that a few pagodas rightly

placed, could turn the seales of justice to which side the

Governor pleased, without respect ta equity or reputation.

“Tn smaller matters, where the case, on both sides, is but

weakly supported by money, then the Court acts judiciously,
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according to their eonscienees and knowledge ; but often

against law and reason, fur the Court is bata Court of

conscience, and its decisions are very irregular; and the

Governor’s dispensing power of annulling all that the Court

transacts, puzzles the most celebrated lawyers there to find

rules in the statute laws.

“They have no martial law, so they cannot iniliet the

pains of death any cther ways than by whippme or

starving ; only for piracy they can hang; and seme of them

have been so fond of that privilege, that Mr. Yale hanged his

groom (Cross) for riding two or three days’ Journey off to

take the air; but, in England, he paid pretty well for his

arbitrary sentence. And oneefa later date, ez., the orthodox

Mr. Collet, hanged a youth whoeowas an apprentice to an

officer on board of a ship, and his master going a-pirating,

earvied his servant along with him; Dut the youth ran from

them the first opportunity he met with, on the Island of

Junk-Ceylon, and informed the master of a sloop, which lay

in a river there, that the pirates had a design on his sloop

and cargo, and went armed, im company with the master,

to hinder the approach of the pirates, and was the first that

fired on them—yet that mereiful may was inexorable, and the

youth was hanged.

“Phat power of executing pirates is so strangely stretehed

that if any private trader is injured by the tricks of a

governor, and ean find no redress ; if the injured person ig

so bold as to tulk of Lee fadionis, he is intallibly declared a

pirate.

“Tn the year 1719 F went on a trading voyage to Siam,

on the foundation of a treaty of commeree established in the

year 16584 between King Charles aud the Kine of Siam’s

ambassador at London; but, in 1718, My. Collet sent one

Powney his arsbassador to Siam, with full power to annul the

old treaty, and to make a new one detrimental to all British

subjects, exeept those employed by Collet himself. It was

stipulated, that all British subjects that bad not Collet’s letter,

should Le obliged to pay cight per cent. new eustoms, and

measurage for their ship, which come to about five hundred

Law at Madras,

Pirates,

Hamilton's
Voyage lo hus,



Viamiitows

erievance.

buliabilants of

Blick ‘Pown,

yeS EARLY RECORDS OF BRITISH INDIA.

pounds sterling for a ship of 300 tuns, to sell their cargoes te

whom they pleased, but the money to be paid into the King’s

cash that he might deliver goods for it at his own prices,

whether proper for their homeward markets or no. T coming

io Siam, sent my second supercargo up to the city, with orders

to try the market, and hire an house for the use of the carge

and ourselves. He coukl not get a boat to bring him back,

hefore the sh'p arrived at Bencock (¢. ¢., Bankok), a castle about

half-way up, where it is customary for all ships to put. their

guns ashore, So then being cbliged to proceed with the ships

to the city, [ understood the conditions of the new treaty of

commerce, which I would, by no means, adhere to, but desired

leave to be gone again. They used many persuasions to make

me stay, but to no purpose, unless ] might trade on the old

and lawful treaty. They kept me from the beginning of

August to the latter end of December, before they would let

me go, and then I was obliged to pay measurage before they

parted with me.

“JY wrote my grievance to Mr. Collet, complaining of

Powney’s villanous transactions, nof seeming to know that

they were done by Collet’s order, and let some hints fall of

hex talionis, 1 met with Powney conveniently, which so

vexed My. Collet that he formally went to the Town-hall, and

dechired me a rank pirate, though I and my friends came off

with above 3,000 loss.

“TY shonld not have been so particular but that I saw

some printed papers at London in 1725, that extolled bis

piety, charity, and justice in very high encomiums ; but. it

must have been done by some mereenary seribbler that did

not know him: but now heis dead, T will say no more of him,

“The Black Town at Madras is inhabited by Gentoos,!

Mahometans, and Indian Christians, viz., Armenians and Por-

tuguese, where there are temples aud churches for cach reli-

mon, every one being tolerated, and every one follows his

proper employment. It was walled in towards the land when

Governor Pritt ruled it. He had some apprebension that the

The Cann Cantoo is applied in Madras to the ‘Vamilspesking flindus

whe oveapy the whole of the Carustie phtin ju the Eastern Peninsula,
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Moghul generals in Goleonda might some time or other

plunder it, so laying the hazard and danger before the

imhabitants, they were either persuaded or obliged to raise

subsidies to wall their town, except towards the sea and the

White Town.'

“The two towns arc absolutely governed by the Governor, Governor

in whose bands the command of the military is lodged ; ,

but all other affairs belonging to the Company are man-

aged by him and his Council, most part of whom are

generally his creatures. And [ have been and am acquainted

with some gentlemen who have been in that post, as well

as some private gentlemen who resided at Fort St. George—

men. of ereat candour and honeur,—but they seldom continued

lone favourites at court.

“One of the gates of the White Town at Madras looks sea-ga'e.

towards the sea, and it is for that reason called the Sea-gate.

The gate-way being pretty spacious, was formerly the common

exchange, where merchants of all nations resorted about

eleven o’elock in the forenvon to treat of business in merchan-

dize; but that enstom is out of fashion, and the consultation

chamber, or the Governor’s apartment, serves for that use now,

which made one Captain’ Hard, a very merry man, say, ‘ that

he could never have believed that the Sea-gate could have

been carried into the consultation room if he had not seen it.’
“The Company has their mint here for coining bullion Mint, schools,

that comes from Europe and other eountries, into rupees,

which brings them in good revenues. The rupee is stamped

with Persian characters, declaring t the Moghul’s name, year
of his reign, and some of his epithets. They also coin

gold into pagodas of several denominations and value.

There are also schools for the education of children; the

English for reading and writing Knelish, the Portuguese

for their language aud Latin, and the Mahometuns, Gentoos,

and Armenians for their particular languages. And the

English Church is well endowed, and maintains poor gentle-

women in good housewifery, good clothes, and palanquins.

© Here is another tistance of Hamiltou’s ignorance, Ue was uot acquainted

with the siege of Madras by Nawab Daid Kon,
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“The diamond mines being but a week’s journey from

Fort St. George, make them pretty plentiful there; but few

great stones are now brought to market there, since that

great diamond which Governor Pitt sent to England. How

he purchased it Mr. Glover, by whose means it was brought

to the Governor, could give the best account, for he declared

to me that he lost 3000 pagodas by introducing the seller

to Mr. Pitt, having left so much money in Arcot as security,

that if the stone was not fairly bought at Fort St. George,

the owner should have free liberty to carry it where he

pleased fora market; but neither the owner nor Mr. Glover

was pleased with the Governor’s transactions in that affair.

‘Some customs and laws atthe mines are, when a person

goes thither on that affair, he chooses a niece of ground,

and aequaints one of the Moghul’s officers, who stay there for

that service, that he wants so many covets of ground to

dig in; but whether they agree for so much, or if the price

be certain, I know not. However, when the money is paid,

the space of ground is enelosed, and some sentinels placed

round it. Tse Moghul challenges all stones that are found

above a certain weight—lI think it is about sixty @rains ; and

if any stones be carried clandestincly away above the sti-

pulated weight, the person guilty of the theft is punished

with death. Some are fortunate, and get estates by digging,

while others lose both their money and labour.

“The current trade of Fort St. George runs gradually

slower, the trader meeting with disappointments, and some-

times with oppressions, and sometimes the liberty of buying

and selling is denied them; and I have seen, when the

Governor’s servants have bid for goods at a public sale,

some who had a mind to bid more durst not, others who had

more courage and durst bid, were brow-beaten and threatened.

And I was witness to a bargain of Surat wheat taken out

of a gentleman’s hands after he had fairly bought it by

auction; so that many trading people are removed to other

parts, where there is greater liberty and less oppression.

“The colony at Madras produces very little of its own

growth or manufacture for foreign markets. They had formerly
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a trade to Pegu, where many private traders got pretty good

bread by their traffie and industry ; but the trade is now

removed into the Armenians, Moors, and Gentoo’s hands, and

the English are employed in building and repairing: of ship-

ping. The trade they have to China is divided between them

and Surat, for the gold and some copper are for their own

markets, and the gross of their cargo, which consists in

sugar, sugar candy, alum, China ware, and some drugs, as

China reot, gallingal, &e., are all for the Surat market.

“Their trade to Persia must first come down the famous

Ganges, before it ean come into Fort St. Georee’s channels to

be conveyed to Persia. They never had any trade to Mocha

in the produets and manufactures of Coromandel before the

year 1713, and Fort. St. David supplies the goods for that

port, so that Fort St. George ig an emblem of Ilolland in

supplying foreign markets with foreign woods.

“The colony is well peopled, for there is computed to be

eighty thousand inhabitants in the towns and villages; and

there are generally about four or five hundred Kuropeans

residing there, reckoning-the gentlemen, merchants, seamen

and soldicry. Their rice is brought by sca from Ganjam and

Orissa; their wheat from Suratand Bengal; and their firewood

from the islands of Diu,,a slow petmnt of land that lies near

Masulipatam, so that any enemy that is superior to them

in sea forces may easily distress them,”

Population.

Captain Hamilton has left the following account s. rome

of the neighbouring scttlement at St. Thomé. It

is a curious supplement to the description of the

same town by Dr. Fryer :—

“St. Thomas is next, which lcs about three miles to the tegend or

southward of Fort St. George. The eity was built: by the

Portuguese, and they made the Apostle its godfather; but

before that it was called Meliapore. There is a little dry

rock on the Jand within it, called the Little Mount, where

the Apostle designed to have hid himself, till the fury of the

pagan priests, his persecutors, had blown over. There was a

St. Thomas.
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convenient cave in that rock for his purpose, but not one

drop of water to drink, so St. Thomas cleft the rock with

his hand, and commanded water to come into the elilt,

which command it readily obeyed; and ever sinee there is

water in that clift, both sweet and clear. When I saw it

there were not above. three gallons in il. He staid there a few

days, but his enemies had an account of his place of refuge,

and were resolved to sacrifice him, and in great numbers

were approaching the mount. When he saw them coming

he left his cave, and came down in order to seek shelter some-

where else and at the foot of the mount, as a testimony

that he had been there, he stamped with his bare foot on a

very hard stone, aud left the-print of it, which remains there

to this day a witness against those persecuting priests.

Lhe print of his foot is abont sixteen inches long, and, In pro-

portion, narrower at the heel and broader at the toes than

the feet now in use among us. He, fleeing for his life to

another larger mount, about two miles from the little one,

was overtaken on the top of it before he was sheltered, and

there they run him through with a lance and in the same

place where he was killed, he hes buried.

Church at “When the Portuguese first settled there, they built a

church over the cave and well on the Little Mount, and also one

over his grave on the Great Mount, where the lance that

killed the Apostle is still kept as a relic; but how the

Portuguese came by that lance is a question not yet well

resolved. In that church there is a stone tinctured with the
Apostle’s blood that cannot be washed out. Ihave often been

at both mounts, and have seen those wonderful pieces of

antiquity.

Companys * At the foot of the Great Mount the Company has

a garden, and so have the gentlemen of figure at Fort

St. George, with some summer-houses, where ladies and

gentlemen retire in the snmmer to recreate themselves when

the business of the town is over, and to be out of the noise

of spungers and impertinent visitants, whom this city is

often molested with,
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“The city of St. Thomas was formerly the best mart town beeay of |
‘ . . \. St. Thome,

on the Coromandel coast, but at present has very httle trade

and the inhabitants, who are but few, are reduced to great.

poverty. The English settling at Fort St, George were the

cause of its ruin, and there is Httle prospect of its reeovers.”

In 1727, some years after the visit of Captain Re-organisation

Tlamilton, the Mayor's Cowt at Madras was re- Co

organised by Royal Charter. It consisted of a

Mayor and nine Aldermen, with powcr to decide

all civil cases amongst the English inhabitants; but

there was always an appeal to the Governor and

Council. The change was earricd out with much

ceremony. All the gentlemen appeared on horse-

back on the parade, and moved in the following

procession to the Company’s garden-house :—

“Major John Roach on horseback at the head of a Com- Grotesque

pany of Foot Soldiers, with Kettle drum, Trumpet, and other “_—N
music. —

“The Dancing Girls with the Country music.

“The Pedda Naik on horseback at the head of his Peons,

The Marshall with his staff on horseback,

“The Court Attorneys on horse back.

“The Registrar carrying the old Charter on horseback.

“The Serjeants with their Maces on horseback -

“The old Mayor on the right band

and the new on the leit.

“The Aldermen two and two, all on

horseback,

Six halberdiers.

“The Company’s Chief Peon on horseback, with his Peous,

“The Sheriff with a White Wand on horseback.

«The Chief Gentry in the Town on horseback.”

The further history of Madras shows the rise of Political
. . ® ae relatluus.

political relations between the English and the

Native powers.
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Madras was included in the Moghul province of

Arcot. The English at Madras paid their yearly

rent of twelve hundred pagodas to the Nawab of

Arcot. The Nawab was subordinate to the Nizam

of the Dekhan, and paid a yearly tribute to the

Nizam.' The oxisting state of affairs may be

gathered from the following extract from a general

letter, dated 1733 :—

“Before this country was conquered by the Mogul, it

was divided into several circles under the government of

particular Rajahs, which descended from father to son. Their

revenues for the most part weve from the produce of the

land, and they therefore were always careful to keep up

the banks of the tanks, or reservoirs of water, and to cleanse

them of the mud; of which they were at the expense them-

selves, knowing that the land would produce more or less

aceording as they had a quantity of water. But the Moguls

who have now the government of the country, and are con-

tinued in those governments only during pleasure, do not

think themselves under the same obligation to be at that

expense for their successors.» By which means in process of

time the tanks are almost choked up, and great part of the

lands lie uneultivated for want of water. ‘This alone would

oceasion grain to be scaree and of course dear; to which if

we add the rapacious disposition of the Moguls, altogether

intent upon making the most of their governments while

they continue in them, we need not seek far for the reason

why, even within these ten years, the lands which are tenanted

are let for more than double what they were before.”

In 1738-39, the power of the Moghul King or

Padishah received a mortal blow from the Persian

! The Nawab of Arcot is sometimes known as the Nawab of the Carnatie,.

The Nizam of the Dekhan is better known in the present: day as the Nizam of

Hyderabad,



MADRAS UNDER TIE MOGHULS. 135

invasion under Nadir Shah.' From that date the

Moghul provinees began to grow independent of

the Moghul court at Delhi. The Nizam of the

Dekhan began to reign as a sovercien prinec, and

treated the Nawab of Arcot as his feudatory.

The Nizam of the Dekhan, better known as the

Nizam of Hyderabad, was perhaps the most distin-

euished man of his time. Dis real name was Chin

Kulich Khan. Ie is best known by his full title of

Nizam-ul-Mulk, or “ Regulator of the State.” Tle

had served in the armies of Aurungzeb. He had

filled important posts in the Court at Delhi. He

had been appointed to the goycrnment of all the

Moghul conquests in the Dekhan. He had engaged

in frequent wars against the Mahrattas of Poona

to the west, and those of Berar to the northward.

Ue was becoming an independent prince. Tis do-

minion extended from the river Godavari southward

to the river Kistna. Itwas bounded on the west

by the Mahrattas of Poona; on the north by the

Mahrattas of Berar; on the east by the Bay of

Bengal.

The Nawab of Arcot was a deputy of the Nizam.

His province lay to the south of the Nizam’s

dominions. It extended from the river Kistna south-

wards to the river Koleroon. It was bounded on

the north by the Nizam’s territory ; on the west by

the Mysore country; on the south by the Hindu

1 The invasion ‘of Ni adir Sli ah was 5 not directly fe It at a remote settlement
like Madras, excepting that i6 was followed by Mehratta invasions in the-

Dekhan and Carnatic. It has an important bearing upon the progress of

affairs in Bengal, and will be accordingly uoticed hereatter in dealing with
that Presidency.
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kingdoms of Trichinopoly and Tanjore ; on the cast

by the Bay of Bengal.

The Nawabs were becoming hereditary. The

appointment was made by the Nizam. The Ictters

of investiture were received from the Vizier at

Delhi. The Nawab paid yearly tribute to the

Nizam.

About 1740, Peninswar India was in a turmoil,

Chunda Sahib, a kinsman of the Nawab of Arcot,

vot possession of the Hindu kingdom of Trichinopoly

to the southward. The Nawab was angry because

Chunda Sahib would not give up Trichinopoly.

The Nizara was angry because the Nawab had

withheld all payment of tribute. The Mahrattas of

Poona’ collected chout and plunder in the terri-

tories of the Nizam. The Mahyattas of Berar

poured into the province of Arcot, and collected

chout and phinder in the territorics of the Nawab.

The Nawab of Arcot was killed in a battle against

the Mahrattas.

There was another complication. Subdar Ali,

the son of the dead Nawab, succeeded his father on

the throne of Areot, without any regard to the

Nizam. Ie bribed the Mahrattas to go away by a

promise of two millions sterling, and the cession of

the kingdom of Trichinopoly. The Mahrattas

took Trichinopoly. ‘They carried off Chunda Sahil

as a prisoner. Chunda Sahib was kept a prisoner

for several years by the Mahrattas, but was ulti-

1 Strictly speaking, the Poona Mahrattas kept their head-quarters; at

Satara, and did not return to Poona until some few years afterwards.
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mately released, and lived to play 2 promunent part

in history.

The Nizam was more angry than ever, The Marler of the

Nawab of Areot had defied hin. fe demanded

instant payment of arrears of tribute from the

Nawab. lle threatencd to dethrone the Nawab

unless the money was paid. ‘The Nawab was al-

ready at his wits’ end to pay the Mahrattas. Ie

prepared for extremities. Ile moved into the strong

fort at Vellore. He sent his women and treasures

to Madras. He levied contributions from every

town and fort in the Carnatic. A kinsman named

Mortiz Ali refused to pay his quota. The Nawab

was peremptory. Suddenly the Nawab was mur-

dered at Vellore at the instigation of Mortiz Ali.

Next morning Vellore was in a tumult. The Accession of the

Nawab’s officers clamoured for revenge. They were

quieted for a while by promises of arrears of pay.

Mortiz Ali was proclaimed Nawab. He went in

great state to Arcot, but public opinion was against

him. The Mahrattas at Trichinopoly declared

against him. The English at Madras refused to

give up the women and treasures of the murdered

Nawab. His army demanded instant payment. of

arrears. IIe disguised himself as a woman and

escaped to Vellore ina covered palanquin. A young

son of the late Nawab was proclaimed Nawab. The

boy was named Sayyid Muhammad.

In 1748 the Nizam of Ilyderabad marched to Intervention of

Arcot with a vast army of eighty thousand horse

and two hundred thousand foot. Ue found the
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Carnatie in anarchy. Every governor of a fort,

every commander of a district, called himself a

Nawab. Eighteen Nawabs paid homage to the

Nizam in one day. The Nizam was furious. The

next man who dared to call himself Nawab was to

be scoureed.

Anwarnddn, The Nizam apppointed a general of his own to

be Nawab of Arcot. The new Nawab was poisoned.

The Nizam appointed another Nawab named An-

war-ud-din. The people of the Carnatic made a

clamour. They did not-want a new comer. They

wanted a Nawab of the old family. New comers

neglected the tanks and oppressed the inhabitants.

The Nizam was willing to yield. He gave out that

Sayyid Muhammad was Nawab; that Anwar-ud-din

was only a guardian.

Murder of the In June 1744 there was a wedding at Arcot in
young Nawab.

Ansett the family of the Nawab. A band of Afghans

had long been clamouring for arrears of pay. On

the day of the wedding they clamoured again ; they

were turned out of the palace; they feigned great

contrition. In the evening the young Nawab was

sitting in the hall of the palace with Mortiz Ali

and other guests. Mis guardian was approaching

the palace to join in the festivitics. The young

Nawab went out of the hall into the vestibule to

receive his guardian on the steps. Ie was saluted

with feigned respect by the very Afghans who had

been so clamourous in the morning; suddenly

he was stabbed to the heart by the leader of the

Afghans. The murderer was cut to pieces on the
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spot. Mortiz An fled to Vellore. Anwar-ud-din.

dismissed the multitude. Both the kinsman and

the guardian were suspected of being concerned.

in the murder. The young Nawah was the last of

the dynasty. After his death Anwar-ud-din was

appointed Nawab by the Nizam.

At this evisis war broke out between Great Britain

and Franee. In 1745 an English flect appeared at

Madras. Dupleix was governor of the Frenelh set-

tlement, at Pondicherry, about a hundred miles to

the southward of Madras. There had always been

commercial rivalry between the English at Madras

and the French at Pondicherry. Dupleix was

alarmed at the Fnelish flect. Tle prevailed on the

Nawab to forbid all hostilities between the Mnelish

and French on the land. The Enelish flect made

a few captures of Freneh ships on the sea and sailed

away. In 1716 a Freneh fleet appearcd off Madras

under La Bourdonnais. The French broke the

orders of the Nawab and bombarded Madras. The

English surrendered the town of Madras and Fort

St. George under promise of ransom. ‘The Nawab

was quicted by the assurance that Madras should

be made over to him. Ie was disappointed. Me be-

came furious. Heattaeked the French and was de-

feated. In 17-48 the war was over. Madras was re-

stored to the English by the treaty of Ais-la-Chapelle.

In Europe there was peace between Great Britain

and France. In Peninsular India there was no

peace. The English and French at Madras and
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Peace in Enrpee:

war in India,
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Pondicherry could not quict down under the treaty

of Aix-la-Chapelle. They had both imported sol-

diers from Europe. There was cnmity in their

hearts. They only wanted an excuse for fighting.

They espoused the cause of rival Nizams and rival

Nawabs. They could not fight as hostile nations

because of the peace in Europe. They affected to

be friends. They only came into collision as sup-

porters of rival princes.

Dupleix had long been planning grand schemes.

He wanted to establish French influence in the

Carnatic; to found a Frenehempire in India under

the shadow of a Native power. He knew that the

people hankered after the family of the old Nawabs.

Ile procured the release of Chunda Sahib from the

Mahrattas. He set up Chunda Sahib as a rival to

Anwar-ud-din. At this moment news came that

the Nizam was dead at Hyderabad. He is said to

have been more than a hundyed years old.

The Nizam dicd in 1748. His death was followed

by a war for the succession. His eldest son was at

Delhi. Wis sceond son, Nasir Jung, was in prison

for rebellion. This second son escaped from his pri-

son and claimed the throne, A grandson, Muzafir

Jung, took up arms against his uncle. Dupleix

saw his opportunity. Le hoped to place a French

Nizam on the throne of Hyderabad and a French

Nawab on the throne of Arcot. He supported the

grandson against the uncle, just as he was supporting

Chunda Sahib against Anwar-ud-din.
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Fortune smiled on Dupleix. He gained his objcet

as regards setting up Chimda Sahib as a French

Nawab at Areot. Anwar-ud-din was slain in battle.

His troops fled in confusion. Ilfis son Muhammad

Ali escaped south to ‘Trichinopoly. THenceforth

Chunda Sahily, of the old Arcot dynasty, may be

distinguished as the French Nawab, in opposition

to Muhammad Ali, the son of the new comer, who

became known as the English Nawab.

Dupleix achieved a signal triumph. The French

marched to Areot..acecompanied by their native

allies. They enthroned Chunda Sahib as a French

Nawab of Arcot. They went to Pondicherry in

ercat glory. Dupleix was presented with cighty-

one villages by the new Nawab.

Dupleix had made a French Nawab of Arcot.

ITe had yet to make a French Nizam of Hyderabad.

Meantime the English had espoused the cause of

Muhammad Ali, who was still holding out at Tyi-

chinopoly.

Dupleix urged Chunda Sahib to attack Trichino-

poly; indeed the immediate capture of Trichinopoly

was of paramount importance. It would ruin the

English Nawab and fix the French Nawab firmly

on the throne. It would enable the confedcrate

forces tomarch into the Dekhan and placea French

Nizam on the throne of Hyderabad. But neither

the French Nawab nor the French Nizam had any

money. They delayed operations in order to squeeze

TOndu Rajas. Suddenly news came that the unele

of the Freneh Nizam had established himself on
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the throne of Ulyderabad, and was marching into

the Carnatie et the head of an overwhelming army.

The news was a crushing blow to Dupleix and his

native allies. The new Nizam, Nazir Jung, was

joined by all the Rajas and so-called Nawahs in the

Carnatic. Ele was also joined by the English and

the English Nawab; consequently he is best distin-

euished as the English Nizam. He passed Arcot,

and marched further south with three hundred

thousand horse and foot, cight hundred guns, and

thirteen hundred clephants.

The French took the field with their native

allies; but their cause was hopeless. To make

matters worse, the officers of the French battalion

broke out in mutiny. The French Nizam was

foreed to surrender. . ILis uncle, the English Nizam,

swore on the Koran not to hurt him. Ile went

to pay homage to his uncle, but was thrown into

irons. There was thus a complete revolution of

affairs. The English Nizam was established at

Hyderabad, and the English Nawab was established

at Arcot; whilst the French Nizam was a prisoncr

at’ Hyderabad and the French Nawab was a fugitive

at Pondicherry.

Dupleix was almost in despair. Suddenly there

was a change in the aspect of affairs. It was not a

revolution, such as might have occurred in a Euro-

pean court; it was an entire transformation like a

new secne in a pantomime.

Three turbulent Afghan chieftains raised an

uproar in the Nizam’s camp; the Nizam gallopped
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to the spot, and was shot dead. The French Nizam

was taken out of his prison and placed upon the

throne of ILyderabad.

This unexpected news soon reached Pondicherry. Trinmph of the

Dupleix and Chnunda Sahib were wild with jov.

They embraced one another like men escaped from

shipwreck. In December 1750 the French Nizam

of Hyderabad went to Pondicherry. [Le entered Gory ot pmpteis.

the city with Dupleix in the same palanquin. Ile

appointed Dupleix to the charge of all the Carnatic

country to the south of the Kistna. Ue appointed

Chunda Salih to be Nawab of Aveot under Dupleix.

The French Governor had realised his dream of

empire.

In January 1751 the French Nizam. returned to Prenat,

the Dekhan. Ile was accompanied by a French tet Bs

force under Bussy. ‘There was another revolution.

The three Afghans were again in discontent.

There was another uproar. (Phe french Nizam was

piereed through the brain with a javelin. Bussy

was not discomfited. There were several state pri-

soners at ITyderabad. ILe seteeted one that seemed

likely to suit his purpose, and took hin. out of the

prison, and proclaimed him Nizam of Ifyderabad

under the name of Salabat Jung.

Revolutions had followed one another with satabat mng,tne
french Nizam,

bewildering rapidity. It is difficult to realise the gisthe
Northern Circars

to the French,
political transformations. Dupleix had displayed

genius, enerey, taet, and audacity. ILis success

was marvellous. Salabat Junge was a French Ni-

zam in every sense of the word. Ie not ouly owed
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his throne to the French, but he was only maine.

tained on the throne by Bussy and his French

army. He found that not only his throne but his

life depended upon the support of a French force.

Ue ceded a territory six hundred miles in length

along the eastern coast of the Dekhan, as a perma-

nent provision for the maintenance of a French

army. ‘This territory, which rendered the French

all-powerful in the Dekhan, was known as the

Northern Circars.

! The fortunes of the French had reached their

genith. The Enelish had lost their footing in the

Dekhan; they all but lost their footing in the

Peninsula. ‘There was not only a French Nizam

of IHyderayad but a French Nawab of Arcot. The

English and their Nawab were still holding out

at Trichinopoly ; but the place was closely besieged.

by the French and their Nawab. The fall of Tri-

chinopoly was a mere, question of time; it would

have been followed by the ruin of the English and

the destruction of their Nawab. Such was the crisis

of the war; the moment when Robert Clive gained

name and fame.

Robert Clive was born in 1725; he came to

India in 1744. Ile wasa writer in the Company’s

service at Madras. Subsequently he served as a

volunteer in the war, and obtained a commission.

In August. 1751 he was a young Captain of twenty-

six. He saw, with the instinct of a soldier, that

nothing but the relief of Trichinopoly could save

the Enelish and their Nawab from destruction ;
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that the only way to relieve Trichinopoly was to

draw the enemy elsewhere. Ile proposed to cap-

ture Arcot, the old capital of the Nawabs. He led

a small force from Madras to Arcot. Tle marched

without econeern through a terrible storm of rain

and lightning. The garrison at Arcot was in alarm,

and fled at his approach. Ele entered Arcot and

occupied the fort. The cnemy did exactly what

Clive wanted them to do; they sent an army of ten

thousand men from Trichinopoly to recover Arcot.

Clive had only a hundred) and twenty Huropeans

and two hundred sepoys. — He held out at Arcot for

fifty days. He resisted every assault. He filled

up every breach as soon as it was made. He

sallied forth at night and harassed the besiegers.

He kept the enemy in constant alarm. IlLis prowess

spread far and wide.” The Mahrattas were struck

with admiration; and marched to his help. Thé

commander of the besieging army was more al-

armed than ever; he threatened, he offered bribes ;

he tried to carry Areot. by storm. All was in

vain. Ile was compelled to break up his camp,

and leave Arcot in the possession of Clive.

The story of the defence of Arcot is famous in Glory of clive.

history. The name of Captain Clive was on every

tongue. He was praised by William Pitt, the great

war minister of Eneland. Pitt declared that Clive

was a “heaven-born general.”

The defence of Areot changed the fortunes of tngtish Nowa
at Areot:

the war. The French were still all-powerful in the Hrench Nizain at

Dekhan. Their Nizam, Salabat Jung, was. still

K
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reigning at Hyderabad. But their cause was lost in

the Peninsula. They were compelled to raise the

sicge of Trichinopoly. Their Nawab surrendered to

a Hindu Raja and was put to death. The English

Nawab, Muhammad Ali, was placed on the throne

of Arcot. In the end Dupleix was ruined.. Chunda

Sahib perished. In’ 1754 peace was made between

the English and French in India; it was agreed that

the existing status should be maintained—a French

Nizaro at Hyderabad, and an English Nawab at

Arcot. Meanwhile Dupleix returned to France a

broken-hearted man.
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ENGLISIL IN BENGAL,

1640-1750,

FPMIE English found it far more difficult to settle mosh upsime.

in Bengal than in Madras. At Madras they

purchased a site for a settlement from a Hindu

Raja; they had built a factory and a strong fort

fifty years before the Moghuls invaded Peninsular

India. In Bengal the English found the Moghuls

already in possession ; consequently they had great

difficulty in establishing a trade; at last they were

allowed to establish factories, but were strictly pro-

hibited from. building fortifications of any kind.

The Moghuls were always jealous of Juropcans. Old hatred af the

Shah Jchan, the father of Aurunezeh, became :

Emperor in 1628. Llehad special reasons for hating

the Portuguese. They had established a scttlement’

at Hugh, on the river of the same name, about a

hundred and twenty miles from the Bay of Bengal.

They had refused to help him when he rebelled

against his father, and he never forgot the affront.

Muhammadans had other complaints against the Nussulinn

Portuguese. They are thus set forth by Ixbafi 0s.

Khan in a fair and impartial spirit:—

“The officers of the King of Portugal occupied several

ports, and had built forts in strong positions, They founded
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villages and acted very kindly towards the people, and did

not vex them with oppressive taxes. They allotted a separate

quarter for the Mussulmans who dwelt with them, and ap-

pointed a Kazi over them to settle all matters of taxes and

marriage. But the Muhammadan call to prayer and public

devotion were not permitted in their settlements: If a poor

Mussulman traveller had to pass through their possessions,

he would meet with no other trouble; but he would not

be able to say his prayers at his ease. On the sea the Portn-

guese are not like the English; they do not attack other

ships, provided the ships can show a pass from some Portu-

guese commandant. If no such pass can be produced they

will attack the ship. They will also attack the ships of

Arabia and Muskat, with which two countries they have

a long-standing enmity. If a ship from a distant port

is wrecked and falls into their hands, they look upon it as

their prize. - But their greatest act of tyranny is this. If a

subject. of these misbelievers dies leaving young children

and no grown-up son, the children are considered wards of

the State. They take them to their places of worship, their

churches, which they have built in many places; and the

Padres, that is to say the priests, instruct the children in the

Christian religion, and bring them up in their own faith,

whether the child be a Mussulman ora Hindu. They will

also make them serve as slaves.” }

When Shah Jehan became Padishah he received

bitter complaints against the Portuguese from the

Nawab of Bengal. They had fortified Hughli;

planted great guns on their walls and bastions;

carried on.a traffic in slaves; and sct the Nawab

and his officers at defiance. Shah Jchan was cx-

ceedingly angry; he remembered his old wrongs,

and exacted a terrible revenge. Hughli was sur-

rounded by a Moghul army; a bastion was blown

' See Professor Dowson’s translation of Khafi Khan in Elliot’s History of

India, volume vii,
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up by a mince; the shipping was sct on fire and

a large number of prisoners was seut to Agra.

Sons and daughters of the Portuguese were placed

in the imperial harem, or distributed amongst the

erandees. Many parents were forced by threats of

a crucl death to abandon Christianity and accept

the Koran.'

These horrors took place in 1682; one year Bnglishat Pips,

afterwards the English obtained permission to trade

in Bengal. The destruction of ILughli had not

frightened them; on the contrary, they hoped to

get the Portuguese trade into their own hands.

But the Moghuls were resolved that no Europeans

whatever should defy them for the future. No

English ships were allowed to enter the Hughli river;

none were allowed to go beyond the port of Piply.

In 1640 the English obtained further privileges fasts trie,

from the Moghul. One of the daughters of Shah

Jehan had been severely burned by her clothes catch-

ing fire. The factors at Surat were requested to

send a surgeon to Court. <A certain Dr. Gabricl

Boughton attended on the princess, and effected a

perfect cure. Shah Jehan was overjoyed, and told

Dr. Boughton to name his own reward. The patriotic

surgeon requested that the English Company might

be allowed to trade in Bengal without payment of

any duty.

1 According to Moghul story, Shali Jehan was worked upon by a favourite

wife, who was a zealous or fanutical votary of Iskun. Shah Jehan was himself

as lax and indifferent on religious matters as auy of his predecessors, The

facts stated inthe text are taken from Stewart's Uistory of Bengal; ocea-

sony other authorities are quoted,
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The boon was granted; Boughton obtained the

firman, and proceeded overland to Bengal. Ue

reached Piply, and saved an English ship from the

payment of duties. At that time Shah Shuja, the

second son of Shah Jehan, was Viccroy of Bengal.

Dr. Boughton paid his respects to the Viceroy.

{fe cured one of the ladies of the prince of some

sickness. The English were then permitted to build

a factory at Hughli, but without fortifications.

eneeforth De. Boughton was the hero of the Com-

pany’s service, and obtained a lasting name in the

early annals of British India.

The English made large profits by their trade in

Bengal. They built factories in other places be-

sides Tinughli, and sent home cargoes of silks,

cottons, and other commodities. Especially they

built a factory amongst the saltpetre grounds near

Patna. Saltpetre was in great demand in those

days, for civil war was beginning between Charles

the First and his Parliament, and saltpetre was

required for the manufacture of gunpowder.

None of the early records have been preserved.

at Caleutta. They were all destroyed in 1756,

when Caleutta was captured by the ruling Nawab.

Duplicates have doubtless been preserved in the

India Office, but have never been rendered available.

It is, however, possible to glean a few facts from

the histories of Stewart, Holwell, and others.

In 1656 there was a fratricidal war between the

four sons of Shah Jchan for the possession of the

imperial throne, Shah Shuja, Viecroy of Bengal,



ENGLISH IN BENGAL. ‘ D1

took a part in the war, but was uttcrly defcated.

The fate of this prince throws some light upon the

existing state of affairs. Ie bribed some Portuguese

pirates to carry him with all his family and treasures

from Dacca to Arakan. The King of Arakan was

« half-barbarous pagan. At first he treated the

imperial prince with hospitality and respect. After

a while he began to hanker after the prince’s jewels.

Then he wanted to take one of Shah Shuja’s

daughters as a wife. The blood of the Moghul fired

up at this insulting demand, It is needless to dwell

on a sad story. The prinee was despoiled of all his

treasures, and he and all his household were brutally

murdered.

These wars for the suecession broke out at the

death of every Moghul sovereign, and often whilst

the sovereign was still alive. They were always

attended with bloodshed, and productive of much

misery. The country was laid, waste and plundered.

The people were at the merey of every band of

horsemen, whether marching to victory or flying

for their lives. Lajas withheld their tribute;

Zemindars kept back the rents. There was no one

to keep the peace or protect the inhabitants. Law-

lessness and rapine reigned supreme.

Bengal did not escape the general anarchy. The

Kine of Arakan, secing that no attempt was made

to avenge the murdered prince, invaded Bengal

with an army of Mughs. ‘There were many Portu-

gucse pirates in his servic3; they were the scum

of Goa and Malacca. In former times they had

Moghw! wars for

the succession.

Tnvasion of
Bengal by the

King of Arakan,
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supplied the slave market at Hughli; they still

carried on the work of kidnapping and plunder in

every creek and channel of the Sunderbunds. Some-

times their galleys penetrated to Dacca, and they

became the terror of Lower Bengal.

Other destroying agents were at work, which

can searcely be realised in the present day. The

Raja of Assam was plundering Bengal to the north-

ward of Dacca. The Raja of Cooch Behar was

engaged in other directions. All the Moghul

soldiers of the provinee were far away to the west-

ward ; they were engaged in the terrible strugele

which was convulsing Hindustan.

In 1658 the fratricidal war was over. Aurungzeb

ascended the throne of the Moghuls the same year

that saw the death of Oliver Cromwell. The cele-

brated Amir Jumla, the friend and adherent of

Aurungzeb, was appointed Viecroy of Bengal. Ic

laboured hard to restore order in Bengal. He in-

vaded Assam as far as the Chinese frontier, but lost

the greater part of his army. He perished of the

disease which attacked him during that ill-fated

expedition.’

Meanwhile, Aurungzeb was anxious about

Bengal. In time of peace the province yielded a

yearly revenue of half a million sterling to the im-

perial treasury, after payment of all salaries and

expenses. In 1664 a kinsman of Aurungzcb, named

\ The story of the Moghul invasion cf Assam belongs to general history.

Tt will be told in Voi IV, Part 2, of the author’s History of India.
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Shaista Khan, was appointed Viceroy of Bengal.'

This Muhammadan grandce has been praised to

the skies as a pattern of excellence by courtly scribes.

In reality he was an oppressor of the Moghul type,

crafty and unscrupulous to the last degree.

Shaista Khan punished the King of Arakan, and Pranishment of

suppressed the Portuguese pirates, but he effected 4

his purpose by clever perfidy rather than by force of Buppression of
Ortuzuese

arms. THe tempted the pirates to joi him with pts

their galleys by the promise of double pay. He

employed them in destroying the flect of Arakan.

Having thus got them im his toils, he dismissed them

from his service, and left them to starve and die.

The English at Hugh bitterly complained of Conn ante

the oppressions and exactions of Shaista Khan.

Indeed, during the rcign of Aurungzeb, the Nawabs

of Bengal were very extortionate. That sovercign

kept a very sharp eye on the revenue. The Nawab

was not allowed to colleet the revenue, and only drew

his regular salary; consequently he was greedy of

presents and bribes. The collection and disburse-

ment of the revenues was the duty of an officer

appointed direct by the Padishah and known as the

King’s Dewan. Every Dewan knew that his place

and promotion depended on the amount of surplus

revenue which he yearly remitted to the imperial

treasury. Any collusion with the Nawab under

the searching eye of Aurungzeb was liable to be

followed by yuin and confiscation.

1 Shaista Khan was uncle to Aurnngzeb. He is the same man that had

such a narrow escape from Sivaji. the Mahratta, See anfe. page 15.
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Shaista Khan ignored the grant of freedom from

duty which the English obtained from Shah Jchan.

This was according to Moghul custom ; no sovercign

or governor was liable for the engagements of

his predecessor. Shaista Khan insisted on the

payment of the dutics. The English at Hughh

found it expedient to commute the payment by a

yearly present of three thousand rupees to the

Nawab.

Some idea of the contemporary state of Hindustan

and Bengal may be gathered{rom Tavernicr’s Travels.

Tavernicr was a Wrench jeweller; he went from

Agra to Dacea in 1665-66, and there had an adven-

ture with the Nawab Shaista Khan. From Dacca

he went to Tughli, where he made acquaintance

with the English and Dutch factorics. 'The follow-

ing extracts from the itinerary of the journcy will

speak for themselves! :—

25th November 1665.—“1, deparicd from Agra towards

Bengal.”

Ist December. —© 1 met a hundred and ten waggons, every

waggon drawn by six oxen, and in every waggon fifty thousand

rupees. This is the revenue of the province of Bengal, with all

charges defrayed, and the Governor’s purse well filled, comes

to fifty-five lakhs of rupees.”

Qnd December —“ Crossing a field of millet, I saw a

rhinoceros feeding upon millet canes, which a little boy of

nine or ten years old gave him to cat. When I came near

the boy, he gave me some millet to give the rbinoceros ;

who immediately eame to me, opening his chops three or

four times; I put the millet into his mouth, and when he

had swallowed it, he still opened his mouth for more.

1 Tavernier’s Travels in India, Book I, Chap. 8.
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5th December. —“ I arrived at Auruugabad.'! Formerly this

village had another name; but being the place where Aurung-

vel gave battle to his brother Sultan Shuja, who was

Governor of all the province of Bengal, Aurungzeb,

memory of the victory he had won, gave it his own name,

and built there a very fair house, with a garden, and a little

mosque.”

Oth Decender.—“ I saw the river Ganges. Monsicur Ber-

nier, the King’s physician, and another person whose name

was feck pes with whom I travelled, were amazed to see

that a river that had made such a noise in the world was

no broader than the river Seine before the Louvre, believing

before that it had been aswide as the Danube above Belgrade.

There is also so little water mit from March to June or July,

when the rains fall, that it will not beara small boat. When

we came to Ganges, we drank every one of us a glass of

wine, mixing some of the river water with it, which caused

aeriping. But our servants that drank it alone were worse

tormented than we. The Tollanders, who bave a_ house

upon the bank of the Ganges, never drink the water of this
river until they have boiled it. But for the natural in-

habitants of the country, they areso accustomed to it from

their youth that the Kme pad the Court drink no other.
You shall see a vast number of camels every day whose busi-

ness only it is to fetch water from the Ganges.”

¥th Deeember—* Larrived at Allahabad. It is a great

city, built upon a point of land where the Ganges and Jumna

mect. There is a fair castle of hewn stone, with a double

moat, where the Governor resides. He is one of the greatest

lords in India; and being very sickly, he has always about

him ten Persian physicians. He had also in his service

Claudius Malic of Bourges, who practises surgery and physic

both together. This was he that advised us not to drink

of Ganges water, but rather to drink well water. The chief

of these Persian uy physicians, whom this Governor hires with

1 This vill age ust not be confounded with the city of Aurangabad i in the
Dekhan, the head-quarters of the Viceroy of the Moghul Dekbun.

Aurungabiad,

River Ganges,
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his money, one day threw his wife from the top of a battle-

ment to the ground, prompted to that act of cruelty by some

jealousies he had entertained. He thought the fall had killed

her, but she had only a rib or two bruised ; whereupon the

kindred of the woman came and demanded justice, at the feet

of the Governor. The Governor sending for the physician,

commanded him to be gone, resolving to retain him no longer

in his service. The physician obeyed, and putting his maimed

wife in a palanquin, he set forward upon the road with all his

family. But he was not gone above three or four days’ journey

from the city, when the Governor finding himself worse than

he was wont to be,’ sent to recall him; which the physician

perceiving, stabbed his wife, his four children and thirteen

female slaves, and returned again to the Governor, who said

not a word to him, but entertained him again into his service.”

Sth December. — I crossed the river in a large boat, having

stayed from morning till noon upon the bank side expecting

Monsieur Maille to bring mea passport from the Governor.

For there stands a daroga upon each side of the river, who

will not suffer any person to pass without leave, and he takes

notice what sort of goods-are transported, there being due

trom every waggon four rupees, and from every coach one, not

accounting the charge of the boat, which you must pay

beside.”

11th December.— 1 reached Benares. It isa large city,

and handsomely built, the most part of the houses being

either of brick or stone, and higher than in any other eities

of India; but the iuconveniency is, that the streets are very

narrow. ‘here are many inns in the town ; among the rest

one very large, and very handsomely built. In the middle of

the court are two galleries, where are to be sold calicuts,

silks, and other sorts of merchandise. The greatest part of

the sellers are the workmen themselves, so that the mer-

chants buy at the first hand. These workmen, before they

expose anything to sale, must go to him that has the stamp,

to have the King’s seal set upon their hnen and silks,

otherwise they would be fined and lambasted with a good
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cudgel, This city is situated upon the north side of Ganges

that runs by the walls, and into which there falls also another

river, some two leagues upward towards the west. In

Benares stands one of the idolators’ principal pagodas.”

21st December—“ 1 arrived at Patna. It is one of the

vreatest cities of India, upon the bank of Ganges, toward

the west, not being less than tio leagues in length. But

the houses are no fairer than in the greatest part of the other

cities of India, being covered with bamboo or straw. The

Holland Company have a house there, by reason of their trade

in saltpetre, which they refine ata great town called Choupar,

which is also situated upon Ganges, ten leagues above Patna.

« Coming to Patna, we metothe Hollanders in the street

returning from Choupar, who stopped our coaches to salute

us. We did not part till we had emptied two bottles of

Shiras wine in the open street, which is not taken notice

of in that country where people meet with an entire freedom

without any ceremony.

“TJ stayed eight days at Patna.”’

Ath January 1666.—“ Teame to Rajmahal. It is a city

upon the right hand of Ganges; and if you go by land, you

shall find the highway, for a league or two, paved with brick

to the town. Formerly the Governors of Bengal resided here,

it being an excellent country for hunting, besides that it was

a place of great trade. But now the river having taken

another course, above a good half league from the city, as

well for that reason as to keep in awe the King of Arakan,

and several Portuguese banditti, who are retired to the mouths

of Ganges, and made excursions even as far as Dacca itself ;

both the Governor and the merchants have removed them-

selves to Dacea, which is at present a large city and a town

of great trade.”

Cth Sanuary.—© Six leagues from Rajmahal, I parted from

Monsieur Bernier, who was going to Cossimbazuar and thence

to Hughli by land.”

7th January.—<1 saw such a vast number of erocodiles,

that I had a great desire to shoot ut one, to try whether the
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vulgar report were true, that a musket shot would not picree

their skin. The bullet hit him in the jaw, and made the

blood gush out; however he would not stay in the place, but

plunged into the river.”

8th January.—© [saw again a great number lying upon the

bank of the river, and made two shots at two with three

bullets at a time. As soon as they were wounded, they

turned themselves upon their backs, opening their throats, and

died upon the spot.”

13th January.—* I came to Dacca. It is a great town,

that extends itself only in length, every one coveting to

have a house by the Ganges side. The length of this town

is above two leagues. And indeed from the last brick bridge

to Dacea, there is but one continued row of houses separated

one from the other, inhabited for the most part by carpenters,

that build galleys and other small vessels. These houses are

properly no more than paltry huts built up with bamboos,

and daubed over with fat earth, Those of Dacea are not

mueh better built. The Governor’s palace is a place enclosed

with high walls, in the midst whereof is a pitiful house built

only of wood. He generally lodges m tents, which he causes

to be seb up in a great court of that enclosure. The

Hollanders finding that their goods were not safe in the

ordinary houses of Dacca, have built them a very fair house;

and the English have another, which is reasonably hand-

some. The church of the Austin Friars is all of brick, and

is a very comely pile.

“ When I travelled last to Dacca, the Nawab Shaista Khan,

who was then Governor of Bengal, was at war with the

King of Arakan, whose naval force consists generally of

200 galeasses, attended by several other smaller vessels.

These galeasses run though the Gulf of Bengal, and enter

into the mouth of Ganges, the sea flowing up higher than

Dacca. Shaista Khan, uncle to Aurungzeb, the present

Moghul, and the best head-piece that ever was in all his

territories, found out a way to corrupt several of the Kine

of Avakan’s captains, so that of a sudden forty galeasses,
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commanded by Portuguese, came and joined themselves with

him. To engage more firmly all the new multitude to his

service, he gavea larger pay toall the Portuguese officers, and

to the soldiers proportionably. But those of the country

had no more than their ordinary pay doubled. It is an in-

credible thing to see how swiftly these galeasses cut their

way in the water. Some are so long that they carry fifty

oars of a side, but they have but two men to an oar:

There are some very curiously painted, and upon which there

is no cost of gold and azure spared. The Hollanders have

some of their own to trauspcrt their goods; and sometimes

they are forced to hire others, whereby many people gct a

vood livelihood.”

Lith January —* Being the next day after my arrival at visits the

Dacea, I went to wait upon the Nawab, and presented him Nawab
with a garment of cloth of gold, laced with a gold needlework

lace of point of Spain, with a searf of gold and silver of the

same point, and a very fair emerald jewel. Towards evening,

heing returned to the Hollander’s house where I lodged, the

Nawab sent me pomegranates, China oranges, two Persian

melons, and three sorts of pears.”

15th Jannary.— I showed my goods to the Nawab, and

presented him with a watch ina Gold cuamelicd case, with a

pair of little pistols inlaid with silver, aud a very fair pros-

pective glass. What I eave to the father and the son, a

voung lord about ten years old, stood me in about five

thousand livres.”

16th January.—*T treated with the Nawab about the

prices of my goods: and at length I went to his steward to

take my letter of exchange to be paid at Cossimbazar. Not

but that he would have paid me my money at Dacca; but the

Wollanders, who understood things better than I did, told

aie it was very dangerous to carry money to Cossimbazar,

whither there was no going but over the Ganges by water,

the way by land being full of bogs and fens. And to go by

water ig no less dangerous, by reason that the boats which

hey nse are very apt to fip over upon the least sterm, and
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when the mariners perceive that you carry money alone with

you it is an easy thing for them to overset the boat, and

afterwards to come and take up the money that lies at the

bottom of the river.”

20th Fanuary.—@ 1 took leave of the Nawab, who desired

me to come and see him again, and caused a pass to be

delivered me, wherein he gave me the title of one of the

gentlemen of his house, which he had done before, when he

was Governor of Ahmedabad, when I went to him, to the

army, in the province of Deccan, into which the Raja Sevaji

was entered. By virtue of these passes-I could travel over

all the countries of the Great Moghul, as being one of his

household.”

21st January.—@ The Hollanders made a great feast for

my sake, to which they imvited the English and some

Portuguese, together with the Austin Friars of the same

nation.”

22nd January.—«1 made a visit to the English. The

President of the English factory at Dacea was Mr. Prat.”

29th January. —“1 left Dacea in the evening. The

Hollanders bore me company for two leagues with their

little barques armed, nor did we spare the Spanish wine all

that time.”

20th February.— ¥ arrived at Hughli, where I stayed tilt

the 2nd of Mareh, during which time the Hollanders bid

me very welcome, and made it their business to shew me all

the divertisements which the country was capable to afford.

‘We went several times in pleasure-boats upon the river, and

we had a banquet of all the delicacies that the gardens of

Jéurope could have afforded us; salads of all sorts, colewarts,

asparagus, peasc ; but our chiefest dish was Japan beans, the

Hollanders being very curious to have all sorts of pulse and

herbs in their gardevs, though they could never get artichokes

to grow in that country.”

Tavernicr had a grievance against Nawab Shaista

Khan. The bill of exchange was stopped, and pay-

nent was refused until he deducted twenty thousand
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viupecs from the suni total. Tavernier had also

evievanees against the Emperor Aurungzeb, and

some of the grandees at Delhi. The fact is only

worth mentioning as an instance of the oppressive

conductof the Nawab, and the difficulties in the way

vf trading in India in the seventeenth eentury.

About 1680 Aurungzch began to persecute the Peretti

Hindus. He was determined to make them

Muhammadans. He carried on persecuting wars,

and turned Hindu temples into Mussulman mosques.

fe collected the hatefuk tax known as the Jezya;

this was a capitation tax levied from all who

refused to become Muhammadans; it had been

abolished in India by the celebrated Akbar.

Shaista Khan was ordered to carry out this work Je dennis

of persecution in Bengal. He levied the Jezya

upon Hindus; and demanded it from Europeans.

The English and Dutch refused to pay Jezya.

Shaista Khan let then off on the condition that

they brought him a yearly present of Persian horses.

Hitherto the English settlements in Bengal were The Hatch

superintended by the Governor of Madras. In

1677 Governor Masters wrote to Shaista Khan from

Madras, that if he continued his oppressions, the

English would certainly withdraw from Bengal.

In 1681 the Direetors withdrew Bengal from the

supervision of Madras, and appointed the Agent at

ltuehli to be Governor of all the factories in

Bengal.

Mr. Job Channoek was the most noted of the mean

English Governors of Lluehli, Ile was eruelly

1h,
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treated by Shaista Khan; on one occasion he was

scourged. At last, as already told in the Madras

records, he left Bengal with all the Company’s

servants and effects and went away to Madras.'

Shortly afterwards Shaista Khan left Bengal.

Ibrahim Khan was appointed Nawab in his room;

he was the same man who is glorified in the Madras

records as “the famously just and good Nawab

Ibrahim Khan.” * We invited the English to return

to Bengal. Mr. Channock returned, but not to

Hughli. Ye was resolved to keep away from

Hughli. THe built a factory in the village of

Chutanuttee, about twenty miles nearer the sea.

This was the germ which was afterwards to grow

into the City of Palaces.

The religious zeal of Aurungzcb scems to have

reached the cars of the Sultan of Turkey. Both

were Sunnis. The Sultan wrote to Aurungzeb beg-

ging him to forbid his subjects from selling saltpetre

to Christians, as it was often burnt for the destruc-

tion of good Muhammadans. Aurungzeb issued

the necessary prohibition, and the English lost for

a while their saltpetre trade at Patna.

The “famously just and good Nawab Ibrahim’’

turned out to be a very weak ruler in Bengal. In

1696 the Hindu Rajas westward of the Hughli

broke into cpen rebellion. The Raja of Burdwan

was at the head of the rebels. The Nawab did

nothing to stop the outbreak. Te said that a civil

1 See ante, page 90.

2 Thid.
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war was a dreadful evil; that many people were

always slaughtered; and that if the rebels were let

alone, they would soon disperse themselves.

The rebellion was not a formidable affair. The szimasnan

so-called army of the Raja of Burdwan was routed semen
by fifty English soldicrs in front of the factory at

Chutanuttee. But Aurungzcb was very angry at

the Tlindu rebellion. He recalled the Nawab, and

appointed one of his own grandsons to be Viceroy

of the three united provinces—Bengal, Behar, and

Orissa. The name of the grandson was Azim-u-

shan.

The Hindu rebcllion was lucky for the Huro- rortitestion of

peans. The Nawab had told them to defend them-

selves, and they had runup walls and bastions round

their respective factories. This was the origin of

the three European forts or towns, namely, the

English at Caleutta, the French at Chandcrnagore,

and the Duteh at Chinsura. Both Chandcrnagore

and Chinsura were in the immediate neighbourhood

of Wughli; accordingly both were about twenty

miles from Caleutta.

Azim-u-shan, the new Viccroy of Bengal, was rosin bo

like the run of Moghul princes. Tle was idle, fond “inde.

of pleasure, and ready to grant anything for money.

By a suitable present the English obtained a

evant of the three villages of Chutanuttee, Govind-

pore, and Kalicotta. The importance of this grant

is liable to be overlooked. It raised the English

to the condition of a Zemindar, similar to the posi-

tion which they already filled at Madras. They paid
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a yearly rent of Rs. 1,195 for the three villages ;

this amount had been paid to the King’s Dewan by

the Zemindars who had previously held the villages.

They administered justice amongst the natives .of

the three villages after the manner of Zemindars.

In other words, they fined, whipped, and imprisoned

at will, in the same way that the Justices at Madras

punished offenders in Black Town.

The Moghul Governor at Hughli did not: like to

sec the English acting as Zemindars. He wanted to

send a Kazi to Calcutta to. administer justice in ac-

cordance with Muhaminadan law. But the English

made another present tothe Viceroy, and the Gov-

ernor of ILughl was told to leave the English

alone.

Aurungzeb died in 1707, Azim-u-shan, the

young Viceroy, went away from Bengal to take a

part in the war for thesuccession. He left a deputy

behind to serve both as Nawab and as King’s

Dewan. The new Nawab is best known by his

title of Murshed Kuli Khan. The city of Mur-

shedabad is named after him to this day.

The main object of the new Nawab was to

collect revenue and remit a large surplus to Delhi.

He hoped by so doing to gain favour with the

Moghul court. ILis proccedings are thus described

by Stewart :—

“ Murshed Kuli Khan began to put in practice a system of

the greatest oppression upon the Zemindars or Hindu land-

holders; which, although it much augmented the revenue of

the State, rendered his nume dreaded and detested throughout

the provinces.
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“Tn order to make a full investigation of the value of the

lands, he placed the principal Zemindars in close confinement,

aud gave the collection into the hands of exper Aumils, or col-

lectors, who received the assessments from the farmers and paid

the amount into the public treasury. He also ordered the

whole of the lands to be re-measured; and having ascer-

tained the quantity of fallow and waste ground belonging

to every village, he caused a considerable proportion of it to

be brought into cultivation ; for which purpose the collectors

were authorised to make advances of money to the lower order

of husbandmen, to purchase stock, and to reimburse them-

selves by a certain portion of the produce.

“ When he had thus entirely dispossessed the Zemindars of

all interference in the collection, he assigned to them an allow-

ance, either in land or money, for the subsistence of their

families, called xantar; to which was added the privilege of

hunting, of cutting wood in the forests, and of fishing in the

lakes and rivers: these immunities are called dunkar and

Juther)

“The only persons who were exempted from these despotic

regulations were the Zemmdars of Bhirbhum and Kishna-

ghur, The first was a popular and virtuous character, named

Assud Allah, an Afehan chief, who, with his followers, under-

took to defend this territory against the wild Hindu moun-

taineers of Jeharcund. This person dedicated half his income

to charitable purposes, either in supporting the religious and

learned, or in relieving the distresses of the poor and needy :

he was besides attentive to all the duties of his religion, and

deviated not from the ordinances of the law. To have attack-

ed such a character would have exposed the Nawab to great

opprobrium, and would have incited against him the popular

clamour, and possibly would have injured him in the esteem

of every devout Mussulman.

“Phe other Zemindar owed his security to the nature of his
country, which was full of woods, and adjoining to the

1 “The liter: i mening of " these three words is, the busines 8s “of bread, ‘woud,
and water,
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mountains of Jeharcund, whither, upon any invasion of the

district, he retired to places inaccessible to his pursuers, and

annoyed them severely in their retreat: the country was

besides unproductive; and the expenses of collection, and of

maintaining it, would have exceeded the amount of the revenue.

“These two Zemindars, therefore, having refused the sum-

mons to attend at the court of Murshedabad, were permitted

to. remain on their own estates, on condition of regularly

remitting their assessment through an agent stationed at

Murshedabad.

“The Rajas of Tipperah, Cooch Behar, and Assam, whose

countries, although they lad been overrun by the Muham-

madan arms, had never been ‘perfectly subdued, and who

therefore continued to spread the umbrella of independence

and to stamp the coin in thei own names, were so impressed

with the idea of the power and abilities of Murshed Kuli

Khan, that they forwarded to him valuable presents, con-

sisting of elephants, wrought and unwrought ivory, musk,

amber and various other articles, in token of their submis-

sion: in return for whieh, the Nawab sent them dresses of

honour, known as khilluts, by the receipt and putting on of

which they acknowledged his superiority. This interchange

of presents and compliments became an annual custom during

the whole time of his government, without either party

attempting to recede from, or advance beyond, the implied

line of conduct.

* Murshed Kuli Khan devoted two days in the week to the

administration of justice, presiding in person in court: and

so impartial was he in his decisions, and so rigid in the

execution of the sentence of the law, that he puthis own

son to death for an infraction of its regulations; and his

decisions thereby became celebrated throughout Hindustan,

This, however, must be considered as respecting Muham-

madans; for in the colleetion of the revenues he allowed hig

officers to be guilty of great eruclty and oppression; and

wherever any person opposed his will, he marked him ag the

victim. of his revenge.
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* Murshed Kuli Khan continued to make the collections Despotie powers,

through his Aumils by displacing the Zemindars, with

a few exceptions, where he found the latter worthy of trust

and confidence. He admitted no charges for troops, but

those paid and mustered by himsclf. Two thousand cavalry

and four thousand infantry, under the command of Nazir

Ahmad, who had been originally « private soldier, were found

sufficient to enforce the payment of all the revenues of

Bengal: for so severe were his reeulations, and such the

dread of his power and resolution, that his commands were

implicitly obeyed; and it was sufficient for him to send a

single messenger to sequester a Zemindari, or to seize on a

culprit at the greatest distance.

“Such were the respect and dignity kept up by the Rajas refused

Nawab at his court, that, in his presence, no person was sue
allowed to salute or speak to another; nor were any of his

officers or Rajas allowed to sit before him.

‘He prohibited the Zemindars, and other Hindus of Zeminaars pro-
oye oy B oo. hibited palan-

opulence, from riding in palanquins; obliging them to make quina,

use of an inferior kind of conveyance, culled a dooly, or

chowpaleh. Whoever deviated, in the smallest degree, from

his general regulations was certain to experience the effects

of his resentment.

“Tn the affairs of government he showed favour to no one 5 Reasons for

and always rewarded merit wherever he found it. He em- ana only
ployed none but Bengalli Hindus in the collection of the

yevenues, because they were most easily compelled by

threats or punishment to disclose their malpractices and

their confederates ; and their pusillanimity secured him from

any insurrection or combination against the State. In the

few instances in which he found that they had defrauded

him, or had made away with the revenue and were unable to

make good the deficiency, he compelled the offender, with his

wife and children, to become Muhammadans.

“Raja Oudy Narain, whose family had long enjoyed the Storr of Raja

Zemindari of the district of Rajeshahi, was so distinguished

by his abilities and application, that the Nawab entrusted
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him with the superintendence of the greater portion of the

collections, and placed under his orders Gholam Muhammad

Jemadar, with two hundred horse, who in a short time

became a great favourite of his principal; but in consequence

of his pay having been kept back for many months, the

Jemadar’s people mutinied, and the Nawab, without in-

quiring minutely into the matter, ordered a chosen detach-

ment to quell the disturbance. A conflict ensued in the

vicinity of the Raja’s house, in which the Jemadar was

killed and many of his people put to death. This circum-

stance so hurt and terrified Oudy Narain, that he pat an end

to his own existence.

“The Zemindari of Rajeshahi was in consequence taken

away from the family, and conferred on Ramjewun and

Kanoo Kenoor, two Zemindars who resided on the eastern

side of the river, in consideration of their having been more

punctual in the payment of their rents than the other

Zemindars of Bengal.

«The Nawab, however, never placed confidence in any

man ; he himself examined the accounts of the exchequer every

day; and, if he discovered any of the Zemindars or others

remiss in their payment, he placed either the principal or his

agent in arrest, with a guard over him, to prevent his either

eating or drinking till the business was settled: and in order

to prevent the guards from being bribed or negligent in

their duty, he placed spies over them, who informed him

of the smallest: deviation from his orders.

“ A principal instrument of the Nawab’s severity was

Nazir Ahmad, to whom, when a district was in arrear, he

used to deliver over the captive Zemindar to be tormented by

every species of cruelty, as hanging up by the feet, bastinado-

ing, setting them in the sun in summer; and by stripping

them naked, and sprinkling them frequently with cold water

in winter.

“ But all these acts of severity were but trifles compared

with the wanton and cruel conduct of Sayyid Reza Khan, who

was married to Nuffisah Begum, the grand-daughter of the
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Nawab, and who had been appointed Deputy Dewan of the

province. In order to enforce the payment of the revenues,

he ordered a pond to be dug, which was filled with every-

thing disgusting, and the stench of which was so offensive

as nearly to suffocate whoever approached it: to this shocking

place, in contempt of the Hindus, he gave the name of

Bikoont, which, in their language, means Paradise; and

after the Zemindars had undergone the usual punishments,

if their rent was not forthcoming, he caused them to be

drawn, by a rope tied under the arms, through this infernal

pond, He is also stated to have compelled them to put on

loose trowsers, into which were introduced live cats. By

such eruel and horrid methods he extorted from the unhappy

Zemindars everything they possessed, and made them weary

of their lives.”

The proceedings of Murshed Kuli Khan as regards

the English are also described by Stewart. The

following extracts are interesting’:—

“ Murshed Kuli Khan was sensible that Bengal owed pemands of

much of its wealth to its external commerce: he therefore See nthe
gave every encouragement to foreign merchants, especially to Tnglishe
the Moghuls and Arabians, from whom be only exacted the

prescribed duties of 2 per cent., and did not permit the

custom house officers to take more than their regulated fees;

but he was too keen a politician not to observe with jealousy

the fortified factories of the Europeans, and the great advan-

tages which the English had over the merchants, in con-

sequence of the firman and nishans, which they had obtained

(he said) by means of bribery. and corruption, and which

permitted them to trade, either duty free, or for the paltry

consideration of 3,000 rupees per annum.?

“When, therefore, Murshed Kuli Khan felt himself per- tne Govemor
. . sets aside the

fectly secure in his government, he set at nought the privileges of the
. . Hnglish,

orders of the prince Shuja, and of the emperor Aurungzeb; 1713.

and demanded from the English, either the same duties

1See ante, page 154.
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that were paid by Hindu subjects, or a constant renewal

of presents, both to himself and to all inferior depart-

ments. Such conduct, of course, irritated the English

agents, who wrote a detail of their grievances to the Directors

of the Company in England, and solicited permission to send

an embassy to Debli, to complain to the emperor Farrukh Siyar

of the Nawab’s conduct. ‘Their suggestion was approved of

by the Company; and orders were sent to the governors of

Madras and Bombay to unite their grievances in the same

petition with those of Bengal.

The nomination of the ambassadors was left to Mr.

Hedges, the governor of Calcutta, who selected, for this

purpose, Mr. John Surman and Edward Stephenson, two of

the ablest factors in the Bengal service, joining to them an

Armenian named Khoja Serhaud, who understood both the

English and Persian languages, and who had been for many

years the principal merchant in Calcutta. Mr. William

Hamilton also accompanied the embassy as surgeon.

« At that period the government of Calcutta were very

ignorant of the politics and intrigues of the court of Dehli;

and the ambassadors had no other lights to direct their pro-

ceedings, than such as they obtained from the Armenian, who,

although he had never been at) Dehli, had procured a certain

degree of information from some of his countrymen, whose,

extensive commercial concerns led them over every part of

India ; and who was very solicitous to be admitted into this

honourable commission in hopes of acquiring a large profit

by the goods he should carry, free of charges and duties, m

the train of the embassy. The presents designed for the

emperor and his officers consisted of curious glass-ware,

clock-work, brocades and the finest manufactures of woollen-

cloths and silks, valued, altogether, at 30,0002, which Khoja

Serhaud, in his letters to Dehli, magnified to 100,0002., and

gave such a description of the varieties which were coming,

that Farrukh Siyar ordered the embassy to be escorted by the

governors of the provinces through whose territories it might

pass. The train proceeded on the Ganges from Calcutta to
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Patna, and thence by land to Dehli, where they arrived on

the 8th of July, 1715, after a march of three months.”

Copies of all the letters received by the Governor Records of the |

of Caleutta from the envoys at Delhi have been“ TM*

preserved at Madras. Before selecting extracts, it

may be as well to offer a few explanations.

Farrukh Siyar was reigning as Padishah, or em- Farrukh Sigar,

perorat Delhi. Ife was fretting under the domination th te syids.

of two brothers, his Vizier and Chief Amir, who had

placed him on the throne. Their names were

Abdulla and Ifusain, but they are best known as

the two Sayyids.

A powerful grandee, named Chan Dauran, was Kus Dauran

hostile to the two brothers, aud was consequently Wes!

intriguing against them.

The first extract from the letters deseribes the Extracts tom

reception of the envoys at Dellu, and their being “"*

presented with certain nondescript vestments and

ornaments, called scerpaws, culgees, and congers.

It will be scen from what follows that they courted

both the Vizier Abdulla and Khan Dausan :—

Delhi, Sth July W715 .—We passed the country of the Reception of the
Snglish embassy

Jauts with success, not mecting with much trouble, except at Delhi.

that once in the night rogues came on our camp, but, being

repulsed three times, they left us. We arrived at Farrukalad

the 3rd instant (July), where we were met by Padre Stephanus,

bringing two seerpaws, which were received with the usual

ceremony by John Surman and Khoja Serhaud. The 4th,

we arrived at Baorapoola, three coss from the city, sending

the Padre before te prepare our reception, that, if possible,

we might visit the King the first day, even befure we went to

the house which was got Jor us. Accordingly the 7th, in the

morning, we made our entry with very good order; there
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being sent a Munsubdar of two thousand, with about 200

horse and peons, to meet us; bringing likewise two elephants

and flags. About the middle of the city, we were met by the

Sallabut Khan Bahadur, and were by him conducted to the

palace, where we waited till about twelve o’clock till the King

came out. Before which time we met with Khan Dauran

Bahadur, who received us very civilly, assuring us of his pro-

tection and good services. We prepared for our first. present,

viz., 1,001 gold mohurs, the table clock set with precious

stones, the unicorn’s horn, the gold eseritoire, the large piece

of ambergreese, the astoa and chelumgie Manilla work, and

the map of the world, These, with the Honorable the

Governor’s letter, were presented, every one holding some-

thing in his hand as usual. John Surman received a vest

and culgee set with precious stones; and Serhaud a vest and

cunger set with precious stones likewise, amid the great

pomp and state of the Kings of Hindoostan. We were very

well received; and on our arrival af our house, we were enter-

tained by Sallabut Khan (Khan Douran’s deputy) with dinner

sufficient both for us and our people. In the evening he visited

us again and stayed about two hours. The great favour Khan

Dauran is in with the King gives us hopes of success in this

undertaking. He assures us, of his protection, and says the

King has promised us very great favours. We have received

orders first to visit Khan Dauran as our patron; after which

we shall be ordered to visit the Grand Vizier and other

gyandees. We would have avoided this, ifwe could, fearing

to disoblige the Vizier; bat finding it not feasable, rather

than disoblige one who has been so serviceable, and by whose

means we expect to obtain our desires, we comply with it.”

From the next extract it will be seen that the

envoys were acting under the advice of a certain

Zoudi Khan. This was the very grandee who

wrote to Governor Pitt at Madras! :—

«© Dethi, 17th July :—We have lately sent to Your Honor the

good news of | our safe arrival here, the visit of the King, and

1 See ante, page 116.
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the civil treatment we met with, all which will, without doubt,

be very weleome news. We have since visited several grandees

as the Vizier (Abdulla Khan) and Khan Dauran ; where we

were received with all the respect that could be expected, and

gives me some hopes that all will end well; but what gives me

the most encouragement (for I am well acquainted with these

nobles: as long as they are expecting to get anything they are al-

ways complaisant), is that the method we are at present taking

is consistent and with the advice and counsel of Zoudi Khan.

We visited that gentleman the 11th current, and met with

the same treatment he has always given to Englishmen, with

the highest acknowledgments of the favours he has received

from them, that as yet he had never been able to retaliate

any of them, but hoped he had now an opportunity of doing

something. He pressingly advised us to do nothing without

the advice, counsel, and order of Khan Dauran (and the

main instrument of our affairs) Sallabut Khan; that the turn

of affairs at the Durbar obliged us to it. This, which he

told us by word of mouth, he wrote me when I sent Your

Honor’s letter to him. We are convinced he advises like a

friend, and were intent on the method, but at the same time

very cautious how we any ways disoblige the Vizier; we

being very sure that Zoudi Khan was very intimate there,

sent and advised him when we intended to visit, that he

would use his interest for our better reception, intending to

manage the Durbar by his means. He assured us that we

might be satisfied as to the important Durbar. The good

prospect we have of our affairs makes Khoja Serhaud very

good-humoured, and at present tractable, in hopes he shall

obtain his promised reward and considered that everything

is come to its crisis. J take particular care that he remains

so, and as much as possible persuade every one with me to

do the like; which I fear gains me but little good will. But

as passion must now be curbed, except we expect to be

laughed at, we must be very circumspect in our actions and

counsels,”
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Breach betwen The next extract shows something of the pro-
the Emperor aud

the two Sayvids. opess of the breach between the King, or Emperor,

and the two Sayyid brothers :—

“ Delhi, 4th August—Three days after our arrival here

the King left the city, under pretence of visiting a sacred

place, about six coss from thence, But the true reason

(we are of opinion) was to clear himself of a kind of

confinement, which he thought he suffered whilst in the

Fort. Afterwards on the petition of his grandees to

return to the city, the time of the rains being improper

for travelling, he showed himself resolved to proceed either

to Lahore or Ajmeer. Neither could all the arguments

used avert his intended journey. This. startled us, and con-

sidering with how great trouble and risk we had brought the

present thus far, and how to carry it on at this time of the

year, we were something atastand. At last we concluded

to give the gross of our present in, notwithstanding the King

was abroad. But in delivering some of the fine clocks, they

were ordered to be returned and kept in good order till he

came back to the city, he having now determined only to

visit a sacred place about forty coss from Delhi; after which

he would return. This stopped our presenting the remainder

of our goods, but we concluded that it was necessary to at-

tend his Majesty in this tour. We now continue in the

camp, leaving Mr. Stephenson and Mr. Phillips to take care

of what goods remain in the city ; and in case that the King

should proceed further, that they may concert measures to

bring the goods after us. We are in this interval preparing

petitions to be delivered to his Majesty, hoping we shall do

something for our Honourable Masters that has not been yet

obtained. The patronage and management of this negotia-

tion is in the hands of the greatest favourite at Court,

Khan Dauran, and under him Sayyid Sallabut Khan. Withall,

we being no ways unmindful of an old friend Zoudi Khan,

without whose advice, we enter upon nothing. But he being



ENGLISH IN BENGAT. 175

at present in so low a station is not able to obtain the King’s

ear. Ilowever we are satisfied that in whatever lies in his

power, he does and will assist us, but particularly in the

Vizier’s Durbar,

“ Fusain Ali Khan is lately gone into the Dekhan

country, having the entire command of all that part of

his kingdom. Your Honors have undoubtedly heard

how great he has made himself even to vie with

the command of his imperial Majesty, as lately appeared in

the disputes between himself and Amir Jnmlat whilst at

Court, when he obliged his antagonist, contrary to the King’s

desires, to remove from Court to Patna, whereby, through the

interest of Husain, and his.own, mismanagement, he is quite

ruined, Wherefore we humbly recommend a very good cor-

respondence with Husain. Otherwise, whatever we shall be

able to do here will be of very little service before him.”

New intrigues came to light. Datid Khan, the

same man who besieged Madras in Governor Pitt’s

time, bad been appointed Nawab of Guzerat. He

received secret orders from the Emperor to cut off

Husain. It will be seen from the following extracts

that the English envoys at Delhi had some inkling of

what was going on :—

“ Delhi, 31st August.—We have advices here that Husain

Ali Khan and Datd Khan? are come to a rupture in Bur-

hanpur, so that it is likely a battle will ensue, the latter

having engaged many of the Dekhan country to his party.

Jt is whispered at this Court that this is a design Jaid

to involve Husain Ali Khan in trouble, and retrench his

grandeur, which of late has not been very pleasing.

1 This Amir Jumla was one of the Emperor’s favourites. He is distinct

from the Amir Juinla who was Vieeroy of Bengal under Aurungzeb.

* The name of Daadis spelt in various ways in the old records,— Dawood,

Daoud, Daood, Ke. For the sake of uniformity it has been spelt throughout

the present volume in the modern mode. ft secs to be eqnivalcut to the

David of the Jews,

Husain sent to
be Viceroy of

the Dekhan.

Dadd Khan

ordered to cut

off Husain.

Expected
rupture.
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“The King, proceeding no further than Paniput,' returned

to the city on the 15th, but, being a little disordered in his

health, has not made any public appearance. So that we

have not had an opportunity to deliver the remaining part of

our present, or commence our negotiation, which shall be done

by the Ist proximo.”

« Dethi, 6th October—We designed to have presented our

petition on the first good opportunity ; but His Majesty’s in-

disposition continuing, and Mr. Hamilton having undertaken

to cure him, it has been thought advisable by our friends, as

well as by ourselves, to defer delivering it till such time as it

shall please God that His Majesty in some measure returns

to his former state of health... Which advice, we intend to

follow, considering that, whilst he isin so much pain, it can

be but a very indifferent opportunity to beg favours of him.

The first distemper the Doctor took him in hand for, was

swellings in his groin, which, thanks be to God, he is in a fair

way of curing; but within these few days last past he has

been taken with a violent pain, which is likely to come toa

fistula ; it hinders His Majesty from coming out, so naturally

puts a stop to all manner of business, wherefore we must have

patience perforce.

* Your Honors will have heard of the death of David

Khan in the Dekhan, slain in a battle with Husain Ali.

(This was a desperate conflict, in which a matchlock ball

struck Daid_ Khan at the moment when victory had declared

onhis side.) This has given a great deal of uneasiness to this

Court, it being quite otherwise laid by the King and his favour-

ites; and that which was designed for Husain Ali’s ruin,

has proved a great addition to his former glories. The King

at first seemed to resent it to his brother Abdulla, who not

taking it so patiently as he expected, he has altered his

resolution to sending Husain Ali Khana seerpaw and other

marks of favour. We have advised in our letters to the

1 Phe shrine of a Mubammadan saint of (great repute, and famous in

history as the scene of two of the greatest battles ever fought in India; viz.,

that which overturned the Afghan dynasty and established the Moghul

emperors in 1526 ; and that which nearly crushed the Mahrattas in.1761,
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Governor and Council of Madras to have particular regard to

the friendship of that great Amir; otherwise whatever we

shall be able to do here for that coast will be of little service,

unless backed with his favour.”

After this a marriage was arranged between the

King and the daughter of the Raja of Marwar,

or Jodhpur. It was somewhat delayed by the ill-

ness of the King. Dr. Hamilton, the surgeon to

the envoys, succeeded in effecting a cure. The fol-

lowing extract tells part of the story :—

“ Delhi, 7th December.—We write Your Honors the wel-

come news of the King’s recovery. As a clear demonstration

to the world, he washed himself the 23rd ultimo, and accord-

ingly received the congratulations of the whole Court. As a

reward for Mr. Hamilton’s eare and success, the King was

pleased on the 30th to give him in public, viz, a vest, a

culgee set with precious stones, two diamond rings, an ele-

phant, horse, and 5,000 rupees ; besides ordering at the same

time all his smail instruments to be made in gold, with gold

buttons for his coat and waistcoat, and brushes set with

jewels. The same day Khoja Serhand received an elephant

and vest as a reward for his attendance on this occasion.

“We have esteemed this as a particular happiness, and

hope it will prove ominous to the success of our affairs, it

being the only thing that detained us hitherto from deliver-

ing our general petition. So, pursuant to the orders we

received from Khan Dauran, the King’s recovery was suc-

ceeded by the giving in the remainder of our present (reserv-

ing a small part only till the ceremony of his marriage should

be over) ; and then delivered our petition to Khan Dauran,

by his means to be introduced to his Majesty. Sallabat

Khan, who has all along managed our affairs under Khan

Dauran, being at that instant, and some time before, much

indisposed, we were obliged to carry it ourselves ; not without

taking care to have his recommendation annexed. Since the

delivery, Khoja Serhaud has been frequently with Khao
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Dauran, to remind him of introducing it to His Majesty ; but

has always been informed, no business can go forward till the

solemnization of the King’s wedding is over, when he has

promised a speedy dispatch. All offices have been shut up

for some days, and all business in the kingdom must naturally

subside to this approaching ceremony, so that we cannot re-

pine at the delay.

“The Rajputs are likely to receive ‘great honor by this
wedding ; the King having consented to all their desires in

respect. to the ceremonials; and this evening goes on his

throne attended by his whole nobility on foot, to receive his

spouse. All the Fort and street through which he passes

will be made resplendent with innumerable lights; and in

fine all will appear as glorious as the riches of Hindoostan

and two months indefatigable labour ean provide.”

The following extracts show the disturbed state

of public affairs :—

“ Delhi, 8th January 1716.—As to the course of our nego-

tiations, we can give but avery slender account of their

progress; for, although our affairs are fallen into the patron-

age of one of the most able men in this Court to dispatch

them, if he pleases, yet his dilatory methods of proceeding

are such as must make us pursue our designs with patience

for the present, Our petition is returned, after having passed

the examination of the books; the next that follows will be

the King’s signing; after which we shall take care to give

Your Honors a particular account of it.

“ We have lately been surprized with the King’s designs

of departing from this place, but, God be thanked, he is delayed

for some days at least. We shall make the best use we ean

of the delay, if possible, to effect our business before his

departure, but which we cannot rely on.

“Two nights ago Amir Jumla arrived in this place from

Behar, attended by about eight or ten horsemen, much to the

surprise of this city; for it is but at best supposed that he

has made an elopement from his own camp for fear of hig
soldicrs who mutinied for pay. The particulars of all which
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we are not yet acquainted with, nor what reception he is

like to meet with from his Majesty.”

“ Delhi, 10th March —Your Honors will doubtless have stotiny of the

heard by flying reports the troubles that have possessed this Deki
place for the past month, occasioned by the coming of Amir

Jumla and all his forces, as it is said without the King’s

order. All the Tartars mutinously joined to demand their

pay, which they gave out they would force either from the

Vizier or Khan Dauran. This was certainly the grounds of

gathering forces on all sides, the Vizier himself having not

less than 20,000 horse, all which continually filled the streets

and attended him when he went to the King. Khan Dauran

and therest of the Amirs, or grandees, with their forces and

all the King’s household troops, kept. guard round the Fort for

about twenty days. The Vizier was obstinately bent not to pay

the Tartars anything, without very particular examination and

accounts to be made up for the plundering the town of Patna ;

which conditions the Tartars did not think to comply with

till such time as they found the Vizier was not to be bullied ;

when they seemed to be willing to come to a composition,

which was effected by breaking their party, and the King’s

orders for Amir Jumla’s procedure for Lahore. The King

ordered Chin Kulich Khan’ to go and see Amfr Jumla out

of the city ; divesting him ofall his posts at Court, as also

of his titles, Jaghir, etc., with his glorious additional titles,

which are ordered for the future never to be used. It

is the general observation of this city that {his has only been

a scheme laid, if possible, to entrap the Vizier, and take away

his life; but he has been so continually on his guard that

nothing could be effected. So once more all is calmed, much

to his (the Vizier’s) honour, and the entire disgrace of all

Tartars in general; they being almost all turned out of ser-

vice, a few great ones excepted. Amir Jumla is now twenty

coss off this place on his way to Lahore, at present without any

command post. But it is reported he will enjoy the former

1 This was the man who afterwards became famous as Subahdar, or

Viceroy, of the Dekhan, under the name of * Nizam-ul-Malkh.’
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by the King’s favour. These troubles occasioned the shut-

ting up all the cutcherries for this month, so that no busi-

ness could possibly go on; in which ours met the same fate

with the rest, being just in the same state as a month ago.

Khan Dauran very frequently promises that he will make an

end with all possible expedient; but he is such a strange

dilatory man, and withal inaccessible, that we have occasion

to summon the utmost of our patience. There is no help for

it, for, with all this dilatoriness, he is the only reigning man

in the King’s Durbar, so that we hope he will at last con-

sider, and for his own honour, see us handsomely despatched

with all full grant to all our petitions.

“The great rebel Guru (Bandu, the Sikh) who has been for

these twenty years so troublesome in the province of Lahore,

is at length taken with all his family and attendance by the

Subahdar, or Viceroy, of that province. Some days ago they

entered the city laden with fetters, his whole attendants which

were left alive being about 780, all severally mounted on
camels, which were sent out of the city for that purpose, besides

about 2,000 heads stuck upon poles, being those who died by

the sword in battle. He wae carried into the presence of the

King, and from thence to a close prison. He at present has

his life prolonged with most of his officers, in hopes to get an

account of his treasure in several parts of his kingdom, and

of those that assisted him, when afterwards he will be exe-

cuted for the rest, There are one hundred each day beheaded.

It is not a little remarkable with what patience they under-

go their fate, and to the last it has not been found that one

has apostatised from the new formed religion.’ ’

“ Dethi, 21st March.—We have frequently complained to

Your Honors of the strange dilatoriness of our patron Khan

Dauran. He is never known to sit out in public, and return

answers to any manner of business; so that what can be said

to him in the way from his apartment to his palankeen, is

1 This religion was a sort of compound of Hinduism and Mubammadan-

ism, in which the leading doctrines of both were reconciled by a strauge kind

of compromise.



ENGLISH IN BENGAL. 181

all that can be got; which is so very little for a man of

a great business, that many days pass before an opportu-

nity can be had even for the least answer ; and that his own

servant, Sayyid Sallabut Khan, who has the management of

our affairs under him, and is as intimate as any one with

him, can do as little that way as other people. Wherefore the

main part of all our business has been managed by notes.

This has been a great oecasion of the dilatoriness of our affairs ;

all which we were obliged to bear with abundance of pa-

tience ; still having very fair promises that our business should -

be done to our satisfaction. Nay, Khan Dauran himself very

often, both by word of mouth, and in several notes, promised

to doit. A few days ago when Serhaud went to pay his

respects as usual to Khan Dauran, and put him in mind of

our petition, he was very surprisingly-asked what petition?

‘Have not I done all your business?’ To which Khoja

Serhaud answered; but the time and place not allowing of a

further explanation, he got into his palankeen and went

away. This strange forgetfulness made us, in very pathetic

terms, enquire of Sallabut Khan what we might expect after

so many promises of having our business effected to our satis-

faction. When we had so long and patiently waited, and been

at so great an expence, to be thus answered was very surpriz-

ing, and what we did not nor could not expect in the Jeast.

We were answered that daily experience might convince us

of the strange carriages and forgetfulness of that great man.

Still bidding us not to despond, but that everything would

go very well after so many fair promises as we before had

received. This gave us but small satisfaction and the rather

made us the more inquisitive, which gave us this further

light, véz., that Khan Dauran had been advised by his own

officers that it was not his business to persuade the King

to sign our petition, but that it was better to get the Vizier

to advise the King what things were proper to be granted us,

‘We were in hope that im case we would have got those peti-

tions granted us by the means of Khan Dauran, that after-

wards the Vizier would not gainsay it, as at least by a little

bribery it might have passed. There have been several
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endeavours made to get an opportunity to speak with Khan

Dauran, so as to convince him; but none has been procurable.

We fear the petition in this interim may be gone in, and will

come out signed by the Vizier as before mentioned.

“‘ Yesterday the King, contrary to the advice of the Vizier,

and purely on his own will, went out a hunting and all the

grandees to their tents. The place at present mentioned is

about eighteen coss off; but God knows what may be the de-

signs of it, or where he will march to. This obliges us to follow

him to-morrow or next day, leaving Mr. Edward Stephenson

and Phillips behind to take care of the Honourable Company’s

effects here. Should the petition come out signed as above

mentioned, we shall be obliged to make a new address to the

Vizier; whieh will not only protract this negotiation, but

must lay us open to a denial, and at the best very expensive.

We shall advise Your Honors as soon as we have any hopes

of success, which God send, or what we shall be obliged to

recede from.”

« Delhi, 20th April.—Whilst the King was encamped four-

teen coss from Delhi in order to hunt, there happened a quarrel

between the people of Khan Dauran and Mahmud Amil

Khan, as they came from the Durbar; which, after their

masters got into their tents, ended in-a downright fight,

wherein they fired with small arms, bombs and great guns for

about two hours, notwithstanding the King’s repeated com-

mand to forbear, yet was it at last made up after about a

hundred men were killed and wounded. The King was highly

displeased with the liberty they took, and resented it to both

of them. But at present all is made up, and His Majesty

again reconciled to them.”

The story of the further delays that ensued may be

passed over in silence. Suddenly the news reached

Delhi, that the English at Surat had removed to

Bombay, in order to escape from the oppression of

the Nawab of Surat. The Court at Delhi was

alarmed lest the English should again make war on
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the Moghul ships. Every demand was granted. A

firman was made out and signed. The following

extract describes the farewell audience :-—

© Dethi, 7th June 1717 <The 23rd ultimo, John Surman Farewell audi-

received from his Majesty a horse and cunger, as was pre-

appointed; and the 30th ultimo we were sent for by Khan

Dauran to receive our dispatches, which we had accordingly ;

a serpaw and culgee being given to John Surman, and

serpaws to Serhaud and Edward Stephenson, as likewise to

the rest of our companions. We were ordered to pass, one

by one, to our obeisance; then to move from the Dewan.

We did so. But when it came to Mr. Hamilton’s turn, he

was told the King had granted him a vest as a mark of his

favour, but not for his dispatch. So he was ordered up to

his standing again. Whilst he was performing this, the King

got up. We were highly surprised at this unexpected mo-

tion, not having the least notice of it till that minute, either

from our patron or any of authority ; it being near a twelve-

month since Mr. Hamilton had been in private with His

Majesty, and in all this time not the least notice taken. We

were very much concerned at his detainment, and the more

because we were assured, of his. firm aversion to accepting

the service, even with all its charms of vast pay, honour, &e.;

that if the King did detain him by force, if he outlived the

trouble of his esteeming imprisonment, he might be endea-

vouring at an escape, which every way had its ill consequences.

“To free cur Honorable Masters from any damages that Troubles of the
. . . English doctor.

might accrue to them from the passionate temper of the King,

our patron Khan Dauran was applied to for leave, twice or

thrice; but he positively denied to speak or even have a

hand in this business, till our friend Sayyid Sallabut Khan

had an opportunity to Jay the case open to him, when he

ordered us to speak to the Vizier, and, if by any means

we could gain him to intercede, that he would back it.

“We made a visit to the Vizier the 6th instant, and

laid the case open to him in a petition from Mr, Hamilton,



Death of
Hamilton: in-
scription on his

tomb,

184 EARLY RECORDS OF BRITISH INDIA.

of how little service he could be without any physic,

language or experience in the country medicines, or their

names; besides which the heart-breaking distractions of

being parted for ever from his wife and children would be

insupportable, and entirely take away his qualifications for

the King’s service; that under the favour of His Majesty’s

clemency, with the utmost submission, he desired that he

might have leave to depart with us. From ourselves we

informed the Vizier that we should have esteemed this a very

great honour, but finding the Doctor under these troubles

not to be persuaded, we were obliged to lay the case before

His Majesty, and we humbly desired he would use his inter-

cessions to the King, that His Majesty might be prevailed

upon to dispatch him. The good Vizier readily offered to

use his utmost endeavours; and since the case was so, the

business was to gain the Doctor’s dispatch without displeasing

the King; and he ordered a petition to be drawn up to His

Majesty in the same formas that given to himself. It was

sent him, and the Vizier was as good as his word; writing

a very pathetic address to His Majesty, enforcing Mr. Hamil-

ton’s reasons and backing them with his own opinion, that

it was better to let him go. The King returned an answer,

which came out the 6th, as follows: ‘Since he is privy to my

disease, and perfectly understands his business, [ would very

fain have kept him, and given him whatsoever he should

have asked. But seeing he cannot be brought on any terms

to be content I agree to it; and on condition that after he

has gone to Europe and procured such medicines as are not

to-be got here and seen his wife and children, he return to

visit the Court once more, let him go.’ We hope in God the

troublesome business is now blown over.”

The English mission to Delhi, and story of Dr.

Hamilton’s success in curing the great Moghul, were

long remembered at Calcutta. Hamilton died soon

after his return to Bengal. The news of his death

was sent to Delhi, but the Emperor, Farrukh Siyar
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would not believe it. He sent an officer of rank to

make enquiries at Calcutta. The tombstone of the

dead surgeon is still to be seen. It bears an English

epitaph, together with a Persian inscription, which

has been thus translated :—

* William Hamilton, Physician in the service of the Eng-_

lish Company, who had accompanied the English ambassadors

to the enlightened presence, and having made his own name

famous in the four quarters of the earth by the cure of the

Emperor, the asylum of the world, Muhammad Farrukh Siyar,

the victorious; and, with a thousand difficulties, having ob-

tained permission from the Court which is the refuge of the

universe, to return to his country ; by the Divine decree, on

the fourth of December 1717, died in Calcutta, and is buried

here.”

Within two or three years of the departure of the Bloody quarrels

English mission from Delhi, the reign of Farrukh

Siyar was brought to a troubled close. The two

brothers found it impossible to trust the sovereign

whom they had placed on the throne. They sur-

rounded the palace with their armies. During the

night the wildest ramours were spreading through

Delhi. Husain had brought up an army of

Mahrattas from the Dekhan; it was said that the

Mahrattas were plundering the city. The Muham-

madans turned out in a panic and massacred hun-

dreds of Mahrattas. At early morning the tumult

was over.

All that night a tragedy had been going on in Murder of the

the palace. Farrukh Siyar refused to teave the Pacpukt Sian
harem. It was no time for respecting the harem.

Abdulla Khan ordered a band of Afghans to force
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the doors. Farrukh Siyar was half dead with fear.

The women filled the air with shrieks and screams;

they tried in vain to screen him. He was dragged

from their arms and thrust into a dungeon. <A hot

iron was drawn across his eyes; henceforth he was

unfit to reign. A child was taken out of the state

prison and placed upon the throne. The kettle-

drums were sounded at the palace gate. The can-

non boomed through the morning air. All men

knew that Farrukh Siyar had ceased to reign ; that

another Emperor was reigning in his stead. Delhi

was tranquil, Two months afterwards, Farrukh

Siyar was murdered in his dungeon. His remains

were buried in the famous tomb of Humayun.

The state of Calcutta at this period is best

gathered from the narrative of Captain Hamilton,

the same man who has described Madras and Fort

Saint George in 1720, or thereabouts. Captain

Hamilton furnishes not. only a curious account of

Calcutta, but notices all the English settlements

in Bengal, beginning with Piply. The following

extracts appear authentic :—

“ Piply les on the banks of a river supposed to bea branch

of the Ganges, about five leagues from that of Ballasore;

formerly it was a place of trade, and was honoured with

English and Dutch factories. The country produces the same

commodities that Ballasore does; at present it is reduced to

beggary by the removal of the English factory to Hughly and

Calcutta, the merchants being all gone. It is now inhabited

by fishers, as are also Ingellie, and Kidgerie, two neighbouring

islands on the west side of the mouth of Ganges. These

' Scott’s History of the Successors of Aurungzeb,
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islands abound also in tame swine, where they are sold very

cheap, for I have bought one-and-twenty good hogs, between

50 and 80 pound weight each, for seventeen rupees, or forty-five

shillings sterling. Those islands send forth dangerous sand

banks, that are both numerous and large, and make the navi-

gation out and in to Hughly River both troublesome and

dangerous ; and after we pass those islands, in going up the river

the channel for shipping is on the east side, and several creeks

run from the channel among a great number of islands,

formed by different channels of Ganges, two of which are

more remarkable than the rest, viz., Coxe’s and Sagor Islands,

where great ships were obliged to anchor to take in part of

their cargoes, because several places in the river are too shallow

for great ships to pass over, when their whole cargoes are aboard.

«There are no inhabitants on those islands, for they are so Coxe’s and

pestered with tigers that there could be no security for

human creatures to dwell on them; nay, it is even dangerous

to land on them, or for boats to anchor near them, for in the

night they have swimmed to boats at anchor, and carried

men out of them; yet among the Pagans, the Island Sagor

is accounted holy, and great numbers of Jougies go yearly

thither in the months of November and December, to wor-

ship and wash in salt-water, thongh many of them fall

sacrifices to the hungry tigers.

Sagor Islands,

“The first safe anchoring place in the river, is off the mouth Anchorage at

of a river about twelve leagues above Sagor, commonly

known by the name of Rogue’s River, which had that ap-

pellation from some banditti Portuguese, who were followers

of Sultan Shuja, when Amir Jumla, Aurungzeb’s general,

drove that unfortunate prince out of his province of Bengal ;

for those Portuguese, having no way to subsist, after their

master’s flight to the kingdom of Arakan, betook them-

selves to piracy among the islands at the mouth of the Ganges;

and that river having communication with all the channels

from Chittagong to the westward, from this river they used to

sally out, and commit depredations on those that traded in the

river of Hughly.

Rogue’s River.
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“ About five leagues farther up, on the west side of the river

of Hughly, is another branch of the Ganges, called Ganga. It is

broader than that of Hughly, but much shallower, and more

incumbered with sand banks; a little below the mouth of it
the Danes have a thatched house, but for what reasons they

kept a house there, I never could learn.

** Along the river of Hughly there are many small villages

and farms, intersperst in those large plains, but the first of

any note on the river’s side is Calculta, a market town for

corn, coarse cloth, butter, and oil, with other productions of

the country. Above it is the Dutch Bankshall, a place where

their ships ride when they cannot get farther up for the too

swift currents of the river.Calculta has a large deep river

that runs to the eastward, and so has Juanpardoa ; and on the

west side there is a river that runs by the back of Hughly

Island, which leads up to Radnagur, famous for manufacturing

cotton cloth, and silk romaals, or handkerchiefs. Buffundri

and Trefindi, or Gorgat and Cottrong, are on that river,

which produce the greatest quantities of the best sugars

m Bengal.

* A little higher up on the east side of Hughly River, is

Ponjelly, a village where a corn mart is kept once or twice in

a week ; it exports more rice than any place on this river ; and

five leagues farther up on the other side, is Tanna Fort, built

to protect the trade of the river, at a place convenient

enough, where it is not above halfa mile from shore to shore ;

but it never was of much use, for in the year 1686, when the

English Company quarrelled with the Moghul, the Company

had several great ships at Hughly, and this Fort was manned

in order to hinder their passage down the river. One 60.

gun ship approaching pretty near the Fort, saluted it with

a broadside, which so frightened the Governor and his myr-

midons, that they all deserted their post, and left their

castle to be plundered by the English seamen. About a

league farther up on the other side of the river, is Gov-

ernapore, where there is a little pyramid built for a land-

mark, to confine the Company’s Colony of Caleutta, or Fort
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William. On that side, and about a league farther up,

stands Fort William.

*“ The English settled at Caleutta about the year 1690, after

the Moghul had pardoned all the robberies and murders com-

mitted on his subjects. Mr. Job Channock being then the Com-

pany’s Agent in Bengal, he had Liberty to settle an emporium

in any part on theriver’s side below Hughly; and for the sake

of a large shady tree chose that place, though he could not

have chosen a more unhealthful place on all the river; for

three miles to the north-eastward, is a salt water lake that

overflows in September and October, and then prodigious

numbers of fish resort thither; but in November and Decem-

ber when the floods are dissipated, those fishes are left dry, and

with their putrefaction affect the atx with thick stinking

vapours, which the north-east winds bring with them to

Fort William, that they cause a yearly mortality. One year I

was there, and there were reckoned in August about twelve

hundred English, some military, some servants to the Com-

pany, some private merchants residing in the town, and some

seamen belonging to shipping lying at the town ; and before the

beginning of January there were four hundred and sixty

burials registered in the elerk’s book of mortality.

“Mr. Channock choosing the ground of the colony, where

it now is, reigned more absolute than a Raja, only he wanted

much of their humanity, for when any poor ignorant native

transgressed his laws, they were sure to undergo a severe

whipping for a penalty, and the execution was generally done

when he was at dinner, so near his diniug-room that the

groans and cries of the poor delinquent served him for

music.

“The country about being overspread with Paganism, the

custom of wives burning with their deceased husbands, is

also practised here. Before the Moghul’s war, Mr. Channock

went one time with his ordinary guard of soldiers, to see a

young widow act that tragical catastrophe; but he was so

smitten with the widow’s beauty, that he sent his guards to.

1 This name is somtimes spelt Charnock.
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take her by force from her executioners, and conducted her

to his own lodgings. They lived lovingly many years, and

had several children. At length she died, after he had set-

tled in Caleutta ; but instead of converting her to Christianity

she made him a proselyte to Paganism; and the only part of

Christianity that was remarkable in him, was burying her

decently. He built a tomb over her, where all his life

after her death, he kept the anniversary day of her death by

sacrificing a cock on her tomb, after the Pagan manner ;

this was and is the common report, and I have been credibly

informed, both by Christians and Pagans, who lived at

Calcutta under his Agency, that the story was really true

matter of fact.

“ Fort William was built an irregular tetragon, of brick and

mortar, called puckah, whichis acomposition of brick-dust,

lime, molasses, aud cut herp; and when it comes to be dry, is

as hard and tougher than firm stone or brick, The town

was built without order, as the builders thought most con-

venient for their own affairs; every one taking in what ground

best pleased them for gardenmg, so that in most houses you

must pass through a garden into the house; the English

building near the river’s side, and the natives within-land,

«The Agency continued tillthe year 1705. Then the old and

new Companies united, and then it became a split Government,

the old and new Companies’ servants governing a week about,

which made it more anarchical than regular. Sir Edward

Littleton was Agent and Consul for the new Company at

Hughly when this union of the Companies was made; and

then he was ordered to remove his factory to Calcutta, and,

being of an indolent disposition, had left his accounts with

the Company run behind. He was suspended, but lived at

Caleutta till 1707, when he. died there. He was the only

President or precedent in the Company’s service that lost an

estate of seven hundred pounds per annum in so profitable a

post in their service.

“ Phis double-headed Government continued in Calcutta till

January 1707. Then Mr. Weldon arrived with the Company’s
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commission to setile it at Bombay and Fort St. George,

which were under the management of a Governor and

Council, which those of the direction in England took to be

a better way to promote their own creatures, as well as their

own interest. His term of governing was very short, and

he took as short a way to be enriched by it, by harassing the

people to fill his coffers.

“Yet he was very shy in taking bribes, referring those Scandals about

honest folks, who trafficked that way, to the discretion of =~

his wife and daughter, to make the best bargain they could

about the sum to be paid, and to pay the money into their

hands. I could give many instances of the force of bribery,

both here and elsewhere in India; but am loth to rnffle the

skin of old sores.

“ About fifty yards from Fort William stands the church Divine service.

built by the pious charity of merchants residing there, and

the Christian benevolence of sea-faring men, whose affairs

call them to trade there ; but Ministers of the Gospel being

subject to mortality, very often young merchants are obliged

to officiate, and have a salary of 504. per annum added to

what the Company allows them, for their pains im reading

prayers and sermons on Sundays.

“The Governor’s house in the Fort, is the best and most Governor's

regular piece of architecture that I ever saw in India. And =~

there are many convenient lodgings, for factors and writers,

within the Fort, and some store-houses for the Company’s

goods, and the magazines for their ammunition.

“The Company has a pretty good hospital at Calcutta, Hospital,

where many go in to undergo the penance of physick, but faheponds,.
few come out to give account of its operation. The Company

has also a pretty good garden that furnishes the Governor’s

table with herbage and fruits; and some fish-ponds to serve

his kitchen with good carp, calkops, and mullet.

“ Most of the inhabitants of Caleutta that make any toler-

able figure have the same advantages; and all sorts of

provisions, both wild and tame, being plentiful, good and

cheap, as well as clothing, make the country very agreeable,
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notwithstanding the above-mentioned inconventencies that

attend it.

“On the other side of the river are docks made for repairing

and fitting their ships’ bottoms, and a pretty good garden

belonging to the Armenians, that had been a better place to

have built their Fort and Town in for many reasons. One

is, that, where it now stands, the afternoon’s sun is full in

the fronts of the houses, and shines hot on the streets, that

are both above and below the Fort; the sun would have sent

its hot rays on the back of the houses, and the fronts had

been a good shade for the streets.

“ Most gentlemen and ladies in Bengal live both splendidly

and pleasantly, the forenoons being dedicated to business,

and after dinner to rest, and in the evening to recreate them-

selves in chaises or palankins 1m the fields, or to gardens, or

by water in their budgeroes, which isa convenient boat that

goes swiftly with the force of oars. On the river some-

times there is the diversion of fishing or fowling, or both ;

and before night they make friendly visits to one another

when pride or contention do not spoil society, which too

often they do among the ladies, as discord and faction do

among the men. And although the ‘Conscript Fathers’ of the

colony disagree in many points. among themselves, yet they

all agree in oppressing strangers who are consigned to them,

not suffering them to buy or sell their goods at the most

advantageous market, but of the Governor and his Council,

who fix their own prices, high or low, as seemeth best to their

wisdom and discretion: and it is a crime hardly pardonable

for a private merchant to go to Hughly, to inform himself of

the current prices of goods, although the hberty of buying

and selling is entirely taken from him before.

“The garrison of Fort William generally consists of two or

three hundred soldiers, more for to convey their fleet from

Patna, with the Company’s saltpetre, and piece goods, raw silk

and some opium belonging to other merchants, than for the

defence of the Fort ; for, as the Company holds their colouy in

feetail of the Moghul, they need not be afraid of any encimics
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coming to dispossess them. And if they should, at any time,

quarrel again with the Moghul, his prohibiting his subjects

to trade with the Company would soon end the quarrel.

“ There are some impertinent troublesome Rajas, whose ter- Transit duties

ritories lie on the banks of the Ganges, between Patna and Ieagas.
Cossimbazaar, who pretend to lay a tax on all goods and mer-

chandize that pass by, or through their dominions on the

river, and offen raise forces to compel payment; but some

forces from Fort William in boats generally clear the

passage, though I have known some of our men killed in

the skirmishes.

“ Tn Calcutta all religions are freely tolerated but the Pres- Different

byterian, and that they brow-beat. The Pagans carry their

idols in procession through the town, The Roman Catho-

licks have their Church to ledge their idols in, and the

Mahometan is not disconntenanced; but there are no pole-

mics, except what are between our High-church men and

our Low, or between the Governors party and other private

merchants on points of trade.

“The colony has very little manufactory of its own, for the Injustice of the

Government, being pretty arbitrary, discourages ingenuity Governors,
and industry in the populace; for, by the weight of the

Company’s authority, if a native chances to disoblige one of

the upper-house, he is liable to arbitrary punishment, either

by fine, imprisonment or corporal sufferings. I will give one

instance, out of many that I knew, of the injustice of a

Governor of the double-headed Government in the year 17(6.

« There was one Captain Perrin, master of a ship, who took story of Captain

up about five hundred pounds on respondentia from Mr. Ralph emnor Sheldon.
Sheldon, one of the Governors, on a voyage to Persia, payable

at his return to Bengal. Perrin, having dispatched his affairs

in Persia sooner than he expected, called at Goa on his way

home, and bought a Surat-built ship very eheap, and carried

her to Calicut and took in a quantity of pepper for the Bengal

market; and having brought in lis other ship good store of

Persian wines, called at Fort St. George to dispose of what

he could there, but, finding no encouragement from that

N
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market, carried it to Bengal. On his arrival he compli-

mented Mr, Sheldon with the offer of his pepper and wine,

but he declined meddling with that bargain farther than

with as much of the pepper, at the current price, as would

balance his account of principal and respondentia. Accord-

ingly Perrin delivered so much pepper, and, on the delivery,

required his bond up, but the Governor told him, that he

being a fellow troubled with the spirit of interloping in

buying goods, and taking freights where he could best get

them, he would keep that bond as a curb on him, that he

should not spoil his markets for the future. Poor Perrin used

all his rhetoric to get his bond up, but to no purpose; and

the Governor, moreover, gave his wine a bad name, so that he

could not dispose of that either; and.all this oppression was

in order to strain him, that he might be obliged to sell his

new purchased ship, at a low price, to him and his associates ;

which, at last, he was obliged to do, holding a quarter part

in his own hands, to secure the command of her to himself,

which after all he could hardly do. Perrin made his com-

plaint to me, but I was in no condition to assist him, because

I, having three or four large ships at Bengal, was reckoned a

criminal guilty of that unpardonable sin of interloping. How-

ever I advised Perrin to comply with his inexorable master, on
any terms of agreement whatsoever ; which he endeavoured to

do, that he might at least keep the eommand of his ship,

where he was so much concerned, and had hardly done it

but by accident. One day, meeting me on the green near

the Fort, he stopt me to relate his griveances, and begged

that, if he was turned out of his own ship, he might have an

employ in one of mine, which I promised he should.

* Sheldon espied us, out of a window, holding a long con-

fabulation, and being impatient to know about what, sent a

servant to call Perrin; and he, obeying the summons, was

interrogated about what our discourse was; and he told. the

promise I had made him. Sheldon told him that he was

as capable to employ him as I could be. Perrin answered

that he knew that, but wished that he would be as willing
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too; so Sheldon promised that he should command his own

ship to Persia.

“But the wine still lay unsold, though it was scarce then Story of the |

in Bengal; but the name thatit got, first at Fort St. George,

and afterwards in Fort William, stuck so fast to it, that

none of it would go off at any price ; so I advised him to carry

it off in the night, in my boats, on board of one of my

ships, and I would try if I could serve him in selling it;

which aceordingly he did, and two gentlemen of the Council,

_ being that season bound for England, coming one day to

dine with me, I treated them, and the rest of my company,

with that Persian wine, which they all praised, and asked me

where I got it. J told them that, knowing that good wines

would be scarce ab Bengal that year, I had provided a good

quantity at Surat, from whence I had come that season.

Every one begged that I would spare them some chests,

which I condescended to do asa favour; and next day sent

them what they wanted, at double the price the owner de-

manded for it, while he had it; and so got off above a hun-

dred and twenty chests, which enabled Mr. Perrin to satisfy

most of his creditors.?

“The Company’s colony is limited by a land-mark at; Territory and
. . population of

Governapore, and another near Barnagul, about six miles the Company's
settlement,

distant ; and the salt-water lake bounds it on the Jand side.

It may contain, in all, about ten or twelve thousand souls ;

and the Company’s revenues are pretty good, and well paid.

They rise from ground-rents and consulage on all goods im-

ported by British subjects; but all nations besides are free

from taxes.

“ Barnagul is the next village on the river's side, above Barnagu.

Caleutta, where the Dutch have the house and garden.

“ There are several other villages on the river sides, in the Danish colony.

way to Hughly, which les twenty miles above Barnagul, but

none remarkable, till we come to the Danes’ factory, which

1Jt must be bome in mind that Captain Hamilton was an interloper,

and therefore a natural enemy of the Company, and very prone to believe

anything evil concerniug them.
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stands about four miles below Huaghly; but the poverty of the

Danes has made them desert it, after having robbed the

Moghul’s subjects of some of their shipping, to keep them-

selves from starving.

« Almost opposite to the Dane’s factory is Bankebanksal,'

a place where the Ostend Company settled a factory, but, in

the year 1723, they quarrelled with the Fouzdar or Governor of

Huaehly, and he forced the offenders to quit their factory, and

seek protection from the French at Chandernagore, where

their factory is, but, for want of money, are not in a capacity

to trade. They have a few private families dwelling near the

factory, and a pretty little church to hear Mass in, which

is the chief business of the French in Bengal.

“About half a league farther up is Chinsura, where

the Dutch emporium stands, It is a large factory, walled

high with brick. And the factors have a great many good

houses standing pleasantly on the river’s side; and all of

them have pretty gardens to their houses. The settlement at

Chinsura is wholly under the Dutch Company’s Government.

Tt is about a mile long, and about the same breadth, well in-

habited by Armenians and the natives. It is contiguous to

Hughly, and affords sanetuary for many poor natives, when

they are in danger of being oppressed by the Moghul’s Gov-

ernor, or his harpies.

“Hughly is a town of a large extent, but ill built. It

reaches about two miles alone the river’s side, from Chin-

sura before mentioned to Bandel, a colony formerly set-

tled by the Portuguese, but the Moghul’s Fouzdaar governs

both at present, This town of Hughly drives a great trade,

because all foreign goods are brought thither for import,

andall goods of the product of Bengal are brought hither

for exportation. And the Moghul’s custom-house is at this

place. It affords rich eargoes for fifty or sixty ships yearly,

1 'The term “ Banksoll” has always been a puzzle to the English in India

It is borrowed from the Dutch. The “Soll” is the Dutch or Danish “ Zoll,”

the English “Toll”? The Bauksoll was thus the place on the “ bank” where

all tolls or duties were levied on landing goods.
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besides what is carried to neighbouring countries in small

vessels; and there are vessels that bring saltpetre from

Patna, above fifty yards long, and five broad, and two and a

half deep, and can carry above two hundred tons. They come

down in the month of October, before the stream of the

river, but are obliged to track them up again, with strength of

hand, about a thousand miles. To mention all the particular

species of goods that this rich country produces is far beyond

my skill; but, in our Kast India Company’s sales, all the

sorts, that are sent hence to Europe, may be found; but

opium, long pepper and ginger are commodities that the

trading shipping in India deals in, besides tobacco, and many

sorts of piece goods that are not-merchantable in Europe.

* Now this being my farthest travels up the famous Ganges,

I must advance farther on the report of others, and so I begin

with Cossimbazaar, about hundred miles north of Hughly,

where the English and Dutelx have their respective factories,

and, by their Companies’ orders, the seconds of Couneil ought

to be chiefs of those factories. The town is large, and much

frequented by merchants, which never fails of making a

place rich. The country about it is very healthful and frnit-

ful, aud produces industrious people, who cultivate many

valuable manufactories.

“Murshedabad is but twelve miles from it, a place of much

greater antiquity, and the Moghul has a mint there. It was,

in former times, the greatest place of trade and commerce

on the Ganges, but now its trade and grandeur adorns

Cossimbazaar.

« About forty or fifty miles to the eastward of Murshedabad,

on another channel of the Ganges, is Malda, a large town,

well inbabited and frequented by merchants; the English

and Dutch had factories there, but whether they are con-

tinued still, I know not.

“Patna is the next town frequented by Europeans, where

the English and Dutch have factories for saltpetre and raw

silk. It produces also so much opium that it serves all the

countries in India with that commodity. It is the place of

Cossimbazar.

Murshedabad.

Malda,

Patna.



Beuares.

Dacca.

198 EARLY RECORDS OF BRITISH INDIA.

residence of the Viceroy of Bengal, who is always of the blood

royal. The town is large, but the houses built at some

distance from one another. The country is pleasant and

fruitful; and the town lies in 26 degrees of latitude to the

northward of the equator.

« Benares lies about a hundred miles farther up the river,

celebrated for its sanctity by all persons over India, where

paganism prevails. Here are seminaries and universities for

the education of youth, and to initiate them inte the mys-

teries of their religion. Aurungzeb restrained the priests from

showing the madness of their zeal, for they found out some

weak dotards, who, for ostentation, would go to the top of a

high tower, and leap down where divers pointed weapons were

placed in the spot they were to fall on, and among them they

ended their silly lives. It is still in so much veneration that

T have known young and old Banyans go from Surat thither

over land, out of devotion, which is computed to be a distance

of four bundred miles. The priests fill brass and copper pots,

made in the shape of short-necked bottles, with Ganges water,

which they consecrate and seal up, and send those bottles,

“which contain about four English gallons, all over India, to

their benefactors, who make them good returns, for whoever is

washed with that water just before they expire, are washed ag

clean from their sins as a new-born babe.

“T have ventured so far into this ¢exra-?ncognita on the

Ganges, that I dare venture no farther, but must yisit Dacca,

which lies under the tropic of Cancer, on the broadest and

eastermost branch of Ganges. The city is the largest in

Bengal, and it manufactures cotton and silk the best and

cheapest. The plenty and cheapness of provisions are in-

credible, and the country is full of inhabitants, but it breeds

none of tolerable courage, for five or six armed men will

chase a thousand. Yet, about two centuries ago, Dacca had

its own Kings, but when Jchangir, the Emperor of the Moghuls,

over-ran Bengal with a victorious army, a detachment of

twenty thousand men was sent down to Dacea, on whose

approach the poor Bengal King surrendered his kingdom,
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without once drawing his sword in its defence, and so it

easily became amuexed to the Moghul’s dominions.

“That branch of the Ganges disembogues into the sea at cnitiagong.

Chittagong, or, as the Portuguese call it, Xatigam, about fifty

leagues below Dacca; and this place confines the Moghul’s

dominions to the eastwards. The distance between Sagor, the

westernmost channel of the Ganges, and Chittagong eastern-

most, is about a hundred leagues, the maritime coast being

divided into many smallislands made by the currents of the

Ganges, but very few are inhabited, because they are so pestered

with tigers that there is little safety for other inhabitants; and

there are also many rhinoceroses on those islands, but they are

not so dangerous neighbours as the tigers, yet, when provoked,

they will assault any living thing, Nature has endued him

with two particular rarities out of her stores. One is a large

horn placed on his nose. he second is a coat of mail to defend

him from the teeth or claws of other fierce animals. His

tongue is also somewhat of a rarity, for, if he can but get

any of his antagonists down, he will lick them so clean that he

leaves neither skin nor flesh to cover their bones; but he is

seldom known to be an aggressor, except when he meets with

an elephant; then he sharpens his horn and assaults, though

he is much inferior to the elephant in) bulk and strength, being

no bigger than a very large ox, yet he often overcomes in

spite of the elephant’s teeth.

“ Sundiva is an island four leagues distant from the rest, sundiva.

and so far it lies in the sea; it is about twenty leagues in circum-

ference, and has three fathoms water within a mile of the

shore, and it may serve to shelter small ships from the

raging seas, and winds of the south-west monsoons. I was

eredibly informed by one that wintered there, that he bought

580 pounds weight of rice for a rupee, or half a crown,

eight weese for the same money, and sixty good tame poultry

for the same, and cloth is also ineredibly cheap. It is but

thinly inhabited, but the people simple and honest,

“ The religion of Bengal by law established, is Mahometan; a hundred

yet for one Mahometan there are above a hundred Pagans, 3
pagans to one

luasulinag,
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and the public offices and posts of trust are filled promis-

cuously with men of both persuasions.

“The Hindus are better contented to live under the Moghul’s

laws than under pagan Princes, for the Moghul taxes them

gently, and every one knows what he must pay, but the

pagan Kings or Princes tax at diseretion, making their own

avarice the standard of equity; besides there were formerly

many small Rajas, that used, upon frivolous occasions, to

pick quarrels with one another, and before they could be made

friends again, their subjects were forced to open both their

veins and purses to gratify ambition or folly.”

Such were the European, settlements in Bengal

as they appeared to a ship captain in the carly

years of the eighteenth century. Of the Moghul

government of the Nawab, Jamilton knew no-

thing. He says that a prince imperial resided at

Patna as Viceroy of Bengal. But there had been

no Viceroy of Bengal resident in the province since

the death of Aurungzeb in 1707. At the time of

Hamilton’s voyages up the River Hughli, Murshed

Kuli Khan, or one of his successors, must have

been Nawab of Bengal, residing at Murshedabad.

Murshed Kuli Khan died in 1724. He was

succeeded in turn by a son-in-law and grandson.

Neither of these two Nawabs were men of any cha-

racter. In 1742 the grandson was overthrown by

a rebel, named Aliverdi Khan. This man isa type

of the adventurers who were abroad in those days.

Aliverdi Khan is said to have been originally

a hookah-bearer to the Nawab. He was ultimately

made deputy governor of Behar. At this period

he conquered most of the Ilindu Rajas in Behar,
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either by foree or treachery. One story will serve

as an illustration of his administration.

There was a once famous Raja in Behar, known

as the Raja of the Chukwars. He had a town,

named Samba over against Monghyr. The English

knew him well, for he levied duties on all goods

going up or down the river between Calcutta and

Patna, and there had been many a fight between

the English escort and the Raja and his followers.

IIe was, in fact, one of those petty Rajas who col-

lected, or tried to collect, arbitrary imposts on all

eoods passing through their neighbourhood. No

doubt these imposts were a kind of black mail.

This Raja of the Chukwars had always set the

Moghuls at defiance; he would pay neither tribute

nor homage to Aliverdi Khan. He died about

1730; his son succeeded to the Raj. The son sub-

mitted to Aliverdi Khan and, paid a yearly tri-

bute. Both sides feared treachery. Accordingly it

was agreed that when the Raja paid his yearly

tribute, he should be accompanied by thirty fol-

lowers and nomore. In like manner it was agreed

that the officer who received the tribute should also

have only thirty followers, This rule was strictly

observed for four years in succession.

On the fifth year, when the tribute was about

to be paid, the Company’s servants at Calcutta

were sending goods and treasure to Patna under

the charge of an escort of soldiers. The goods

were in charge of a young merchant named Iol-

well. TIohvell and the Major commanding the

Raja of the

Chuk wars,
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escort saw a boat passing by, and called on it to stop

as they wanted some fish. The boat came up

with six baskets on board. Instead of fish, they

contained the bleeding heads of the Raja and his

thirty followers. All had been murdered by the

treachery of the officer of Aliverdi Khan. It

turned out that an ambuscade had been set by the

order of Aliverdi Khan; that the Raja and_ his

thirty followers had all been treacherously attacked,

murdered, and beheaded; that the heads had becn

sent away to Patna to satisfy Aliverdi Khan, That

same night the Raja’s town of Samba was sacked

aud burnt by the forces of Aliverdi Khan.

Meanwhile the foree of the Moghul empire was

fast wasting away. Farrukh Siyar was little better

than a pageant. His successors fooled away their

time with concubines and bufioons, and left the

administration in the hands of corrupt and unseru-

pulous ministers. The empire of Akbar and Au-

rungzeb was only held together under their feeble

successors by the force of old routine and the

prestige of aname. In 1738-39, the empire received

a mortal blow. Nadir Shah of Persia advanced

with a large army upon Delhi. The story of the

invasion of Nadir Shah reveals the fact, that the

Moghul empire was rotten to the core. It fur-

nishes such a terrible picture of the defenccless

state of Hindustan, and is so often referred to in

1 Holwell's Tracts, My. Holwell states that he himself was an eyo-wit.

ness, having been with the English boats at the time,
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the later records, that it cannot be passed over in

silence.

The Persian empire was founded by the Sufi finan connect

dynasty in the beginning of the sixteenth century, °f Sty Sh

on the ruins of the great Tartar empire created

in the fourteenth eentury by Timur. The Sufi

dynasty lingered on for two centuries, and was

then overthrown by an Afghan invasion shortly

after the death of Aurungzeb in the beginning

of the cightcenth century. The Afghan conquest

of Persia is one of the most horrible stories of

rapine and outrage in the annals of the world.

Amidst the general anarehy, a frecbooter assumed

the sovereignty of Persia, under the name of Nadir

Shah. Ile founded a new Persian empire which

threatened to rival that of Darius. We conquered

all the region to the eastward,—Bokhara, Kabul, and

Kandahar.

It was natural that Nadir Shah should have Causes of the

overrun Kabul and Kandahar. Le searecly wanted « 14

to invade India; he was drawn into it by the sense-

Jess conduct of the Moghul and his ministers. ITe

sent ambassadors to Delhi; he received no eon-

gratulations, and no replies. Js ambassadors were

not even dismissed ; they were kept waiting on at

Court. Ile was surprised; he grew exasperated.

The way was open before him; the passes had

ceased to be guarded. Jn former times, a yearly

subsidy of twelve Jakhs of rupees had served to

block up the passes. Part of the money was dis-

tributed to the hill tribes; the remainder was spent
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on garrisons. The worthless Vizier at Delhi kept

back the money for his own use. The posts were

abandoned. The army of Nadir Shah moved on

unchecked towards Delhi. Meanwhile no reports of

the threatened danger reached the doomed capital ;

or if any warnings were received, they were wholly

disregarded until there was no possibility of repelling

the invasion.

At last the news arrived at the Moghul Court that

Nadir Shah was coming. A vast mob of Hindu-

stanis was gathered together to resist the Persian

invaders. Nadir Shah gamed an casy victory. There

was no real opposition. The two leading Moghul

grandees were quarrelling for the post of Amfr-ul-

Umra, literally Amir of Amirs, otherwise the chief

of all the grandees.. One bribed Nadir Shah to

return to Persia by a payment of two millions ster-

ling; and was rewarded for his success by being ap-

pointed to the coveted post... The disappointed rival
was so exasperated that in sheer revenge he opened

up a communication with Nadir Shah; told him

that the two millions sterling was a mere drop in the

ocean when compared with the vast riches which

were accumulated in the city and palace at Delhi.

Tn this manner, out of the meanest spite and malice

against the Emperor and his ministers, he prevailed

on Nadir Shah to advance and plunder Delhi.’

iThis is the story told by the Mussulman author of the Siyar-ul-

Mutakherin. Chin Kulich Khan, the Nizam of the Dekhan, is said to have

been the man who purchased the return of Nadir Shab; whilst Sddut Khan,

the Nawab of Oude, is said to have been the traitor.
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The story of what followed is horrible. Nadir

Shah went to Delhi. He took up his quarters in

the palace. Eis Persian troops were scattered over

the city. Suddenly it was noised abroad that Nadir

Shah was killed. The Hindustanis rose wp and

began to murder the Persians. Tundreds were

slaughtered in the panic. The news reached Nadir

Shah. He called together his forces. Te ordered

a general massacre. The mosque is still pointed

out in the principal street of Delhi, known as the

Chandni Chouk, where Nadir Shah took his seat.

whilst the massacre was gomg on. The murders

and outrages that were perpetrated in Delhi, under

the eye of the conqueror, are beyond description.

Whenever the Persians found a dead comrade, they

desolated the whole neighbourhood, butchered the

people, and committed unspeakable atrocities. In

the evening Nadir Shah proclaimed a general par-

don. The dead bodies were. thrown up in vast

heaps with the beams and rafters of the ruined

houses, and the whole was set on fire. There was

no distinction between Mussulman and Hindu.

The spoil was beyond all computation. Besides the

general plunder, the hoarded wealth of generations

was carried off from the imperial palace at Delhi.

The peacock throne vanished for ever.

The capture and sack of Delhi by Nadir Shah

heralded the downfall of the Moghul empire. The

governors of provinces asserted their independence

of the Moghul Emperor, and ceased to remit reve-

nue to Delhi. The Mahrattas had long ceased to

Massacre,

outrage, and

spoliation.

Breaking ap of
the Moghul

Empire.
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fear the Moghul power; they had established do-

minions in Malwa and Berar. But hitherto they

had been kept tolerably quiet, as far as Delhi was

concerned, by the yearly payment of stipulated

shares of the imperial revenue, under the name of

chout. After the sack of Delhi by the Persians,

there was no chout forthcoming to keep the Mah-

rattas quiet, and they soon began to help them-

selves. They began to plunder the Dekhan and

the Carnatic, and they soon began to plunder

Behar, Bengal, and Orissa.

When Nadir Shah invaded Hindustan, the grand-

son of Murshed Kuli Khan was Nawab of Bengal,

Behar, and Orissa. The court of Murshedabad

was a sink of iniquity and centre of oppression.

There was no hope of redress from Delhi; the court

and capital of the Moghul were so prostrate that no

heed was paid to Bengal. At last a conspiracy was

formed against the Nawab.at Murshedabad ; and

the conspirators opened up a secret communication

with Aliverdi Khan, the deputy Nawab of Behar,

who was residing at Patna.

It would be difficult for any European pen to

describe the open and avowed depravity of Mur-

shedabad during the generation which preceded the

rise of British power. One incident is told, which

was said to have driven the conspirators into

rebellion; but it fails to convey an idea of the

open and flagrant debauchery of the Nawab. The

Seits or Setts were Hindu bankers settled at Mur-

shedabad. They were the Rothschilds of India.
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Their enormous wealth gave them unbounded infin-

ence. Ii there was one man more than another

who might hope to escape from the oppression of

the Nawab, it was Juggct Seit, the head of the

family.

A son or grandson of Juggut Seit was married tastesiness of

in great state at Murshedabad. There were ru-

mours about the beauty of the bride; and the

Nawab demanded that she should be sent to the

palace and her face unveiled in his presence. The

old Hindu banker prayed» to be spared this terrible

indignity. The Nawab was deaf to all his prayers ;

threatened to surround his house with horsemen and

carry off the bride by force. ‘The banker submitted

to the shame; he revenged the affront by promot-

ing the conspiracy in favour of Aliverdi Khan.

It would be useless to dwell on the progress of conspiracy.

the intrigue between Murshedabad and Patna. It

was reported at the time that the Nawab had sent

his submission to Nadir Shah; that the conspiracy

was undertaken under a show of punishing the

Nawab for his want of fidelity to the Moghul; and

it is very probable that the return of Nadir Shah

to Persia, and utter prostration of Delhi, encou-

raged Aliverdi Khan to make an attempt on the

government of Bengal.

In 1741-42, Aliverdi Khan marched an army retettion an

from Patna to Murshedabad. The Nawab came Ali sar,
out to meet the rebel, but his generals were trai-

tors. His artillery would have sufficed to crush the

rebellion; but the guns were only loaded with
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powder. Under such circumstances the Nawab

was soon killed, and then all the generals and

grandees went over to Aliverdi Khan.

_ In this fashion, Aliverdi Khan usurped the throne

of Bengal. The Moghul Court at Delhi had been

paralysed by the invasion of Nadir Shah, and had

neither the power nor the will to interfere. Before

that invasion the Moghul court had been compelled

to make disgraceful treaties with the Mahrattas.

After the invasion it was confidently asserted

that the court at Delhi got_rid of the Mahrattas

by telling them to go and collect ehout in Bengal.

It is impossible to unravel the intrigues of this

period. One thing is certain, that before Aliverdi

Khan was fairly established upon the throne at

Murshedabad, the Mahrattas began to invade the

provinces of Behar and Orissa. These Mahratta

invasions were repeated almost every year from

1742 to 1750. It is needless to dwell on the murder,

plunder, and outrage that ensued. The people fled

from their houses, and crossed the Ganges in shoals,

in order to escape to the jungles. The markets

were deserted; the lands were untilled; and the

whole country was a ruin. In 1750 there was

peace. Orissa was abandoned to the Mahrattas,

and the Nawab agreed to pay a yearly tribute, or

chout, for Bengal and Behar.

The great European event at this period was the

war between England and France. News of the

breaking out of the war reached Calcutta in 1744.

The English at Caleutta and the French at Chander-
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nagore were compelled to live in peace. The Nawab

strictly prohibited all hostilities between the two

nations within his territories; and he was strong

enough to be implicitly obeyed.

But whilst there was peace in Bengal there was Pewe between

war in Madras. In Southern India, as already [7geoTM dis

seen, the English and French had gone to war

witha will. In 1748, the war had been brought to

a close in Europe by the peace of Aix la Chapelle.

But not even the peace.in, Europe could stop the

war between the English and French in Southern

India, Rival Nizams were fighting for the throne

at Hyderabad. Rival Nawabs were fighting for

the throne of the Carnatic. English and French

fought on opposite sides. At last, as already stated,

peace was concluded in 1754 between the English

at Madras and the French at Pondicherry. The

French had established their own Nizam at Hydera-

bad. The English had established their own Nawab

in Carnatic territory.

The principal authorities for the sketch of Bengal are Stewart’s History

of Bengal, Orme’s Hindustan, Holwell’s Tracts, and the Siyar-ul-Mutakherin,
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Synchronistical Table of

DELHI.

oe “7

Sack and massacre at Delhi by Nadir Shah. . . . | 1738-89 |

Assassination of Nadir Shah in Persia. . . . of L749

Abmad Shah Abdali founds an Afghan Empire. . oy

First Afghan invasion of Hindustan under Ahmad Shah
Abdali. . . . . . . . . . »

Death of Mohammad Shah, Emperor of Delhi . . -; 1748

Aiwap Suan, son of Muhammad Shah, sueceeds . : . ”

Growing influence of the Mahrattas: intrigues at Delhi for
the post of Vizier : : ; : . . . ”

Ghazi-u-din, Vizier at Delhi, exercises great influence, deposes |

and blinds AHMAD SHaw ‘ ; . . . .|) L754

ALAMGHIx IT succeeds to the throne at Delhi, aged sixty-six . ”

Second Afghan invasion under Ahmad Shah Abdali, who

enters Delhi, plunders Mathura, and makes Nujib-u-daula,
the Rohilla Afghan, guardian of Alamghir IT. . -| 1737

Ghazi-u-diu returns to Delhi, supported) by the Muhraitas .| 1758

Shahzada, eldest son of Alamghir I, flies from Delhi to Bengal
to escape from the Vizier : 0

Alamghir II murdered by Ghazi-a-din for intriguing with the
Afghans : : : : : . : . -| 1759

Shuhzada in Bengal proclaims himself Emperor under the title
of Shah Alam . |

Ghazi-u-din places a puppet prince on the throne at Delhi :

Third Afghan invasion: Ahmad Shah Abdali places Jewan

Bakht, eldest son of Shah Alum, on the throne at Delhi

under the guardianship of Najib- u-daula, the Rohilla
Afghan

”

Wars between the Afghans and Mahrattas . . . -| 1760

Total defeat of the Mahrattas by the Afghans at Paniput -| 1761

{

|

|

|

|

|

|
|
|
|

|

|
|

|
|

|
|



ENGLISH IN BENGAL.

British Indian History.

Bencat,

Aliverdi Khan ueurps the Nawabship 0 of Bengal, Behar, and

Orissa

Mahrattas begin yearly invasions

Grant of chout to the Mahrattas

Native contractors of the Company, like Omichund, replaced
by Native agents or gomastas . ‘

Death of Aliverdi Khan: succession of his grandson Snraj-u-
daula as Nawab . ; ; . . . April

Capture of Calcutta by Suraj-u-daula , . June

Clive and Watson recover Calcutta ! ; . January

Chandernagore captured . ; . y . . March

Battle of Plassey : : ; f . . May

Meer Jaffier set up as Nawab by the English

Colonel Forde sent to the Dekhan

Defeat of the Dutch

Appearance and flight of the Shahzada

Shazada proclaimed Emperor under the title of Shah Alam

Clive returns to England

Defeat of Shah Alam and the Nawab Vizier of Oude

Shah Alam at Patna

Meer Jaffier deposed

Meer Cossim Ali Khan Nawab

Breach between the Nawab and the English

Massacre at Patna .

Meer Jaffier Nawab

Battle of Buxar; defeat of Shah Alam and the Nawab Vizier
of Oude .

Lord Clive accepts the Dewani of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa

from fhe Emperor Shah Alam : . . .

211

1750

1758



State of Calcutta,

1750-56,

Mahratta ditch.

CHAPTER VII.

CALCUTTA AND ITS CAPTURE.

1750—56.

LL this while the English settlement at Cal-

cutta was like an oasis of European civil-

isation in a desert of Hinduism and Islam. The

English factory, with its warehouses, workshops,

offices, and outlying houses, covered about a hun-

dred acres on the bank of the Hughli. The native

town consisted of three.or four large villages, more

or less remote from the Hnglish factory, and from

each other. Some houses may have been built of

brick and chunam; some were made of clay and

whitewashed; the bulk were hovels of mud and

straw. There were pagodas, mosques, tanks, and

two or three churches. But Calcutta was not a

metropolis. The English factory was only an em-

porium of the English trade in Bengal. Native

villages near the factory were growing into a city

under the stimulus of manufacture and trade.

The English at Calcutta were never attacked by

the Mahrattas. As far back as 1742, the native in-

habitants had been in great alarm, and obtained

permission to dig a ditch at their own expense round

the Company’s bounds, viz., from the northern part

of Chutanuttee to the southern part of Govindpore.
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It was known as the Mahratta ditch, and would

have sufficed to protect the settlement against the
flying parties of light Mahratta horse. It ran

along the ground now occupied by the Circular Road.

If completed, it would have described a semicircle

of seven miles. But the Mahrattas never came,

and after six months the work was abandoned.

The Mahratta ditch only extended three miles; but;

as far as it went, it served as a boundary of the

English settlement at Calcutta on the land side.

The population of Calcutta in the middle of the Popmation.

eighteenth century is involved in some mystery.

In 1752, it was estimated at four hundred thousand

souls; probably it was little more than half that

number! The European element did not number

more than two or three hundred souls. As com-

pared with the native clement, it was probably

little more than one in a thousand.

Between 1752 and 1876, the European element has

increased from two or three hundred to nine thousand

souls, It has converted the group of native villages

into a city of palaces. The roads, the streets, the

squares, and the markets, are all European. The

villages of mud and straw have grown into a metro-

polis of brick and stone. The outlying village of

Chowringhee, with the surrounding marshes and

1 Mr, Holwell, who filled the post of Englixh Zemindar of Calcutta in

1752, calculated that there were fifty thousand houses within the Cempany’s

pounds, each containing on the average about eight inmates, Mr. Beverley,

in his Report on the Census of 1876, points out that this estimate is

empirical, ‘The fifty thousand huts and hovels were not likely to contain on

an average more than four or five inmates each.

Caleutta of

1752 and 1876

compared,
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rice-fields, has become the aristocratic quarter of the

European population. The swamp and jungle which

separated Chowringhee from the river, has been

formed into the large grassy plain known as the

Maidan. The old city has passed away; the Jand-

marks have disappeared. Yet it is still possible to

picture Calcutta as it was in 1750;—when the British

empire was about to dawn; when Robert Clive

was making a name in the Madras Presidency ;

when Warren Hastings was landing in Bengal for

the first time.

The European element in Calcutta was strictly

commercial. All rank, excepting that of soldicrs

and officers in the garrison, was expressed in busi-

ness terms. The Company’s scrvants were divided

into the four grades of writers, factors, junior

merchants, and senior merchants.’ The Governor

was originally known as the Agent of the Court

of Directors. This commercial term of “ Agent”

has outlived the growth of empire; to this day

it is applicd to the representatives of the Viceroy

at the courts of Native Princes. The Gover-

nor presided over a Council of ten or twelve

members. Some were absent from Calcutta; they

served as Chicfs of inland factories at Dacea, Cossim-

bazar, and Patna; those who remained at Caleutta

formed a Board with the Governor as President.

Salaries were absurdly low ; they were only fractions

of the realincome. The Company’s servants traded

1 The writers were originally termed “apprentices,” but the latter name

had fallen into disuse.
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on their own account in the eastern seas. They

derived large perquisites, such as commissions and

presents, from native merchants and contractors.

They began to live in a liberal style. The Directors

in England grew angry and suspicious. They sent

out strict orders against extravagance. Nothing

was really done to check the growing evil.

The outward life of the English at Caleutta was Trade at

all of the business type. They bought, they sold,

they overlooked, they kept accounts, they wrote lct-

ters, they regulated establishments and expenditure.

Large ships from. Europe brought woollen goods,

cutlery, iron, copper, and quicksilver. The same

ships carried away cotton piece-coods, fine muslins,

silks, indigo, spices, and Indian rarities. Smaller

ships, chartered by the Company’s servants, were

sent to different ports in the eastern seas as private

adventures. Public auctions or outerics were held

for the sale of goods;.and buying and selling at.

outery was one of the execitements of Caleutta

life. European commoditics were despatched to re-

mote factories. Native manufactures were reecived

in return. But the sale of European commo-

dities was never on a very extensive scale; and

during the decline of the Moghul empire there wasa

ereat falling off in the trade. On the other hand,

the export business of providing Indian commodi-

ties and manufactures for the home markets was

greater than ever. There was a general demand

for Indian cottons and muslins throughout the Bri-

lish Isles. It was not until a later period in the
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century that Manchester began to appear as a for-

midable rival to Bengal.’

Social life, whether at Calcutta or at the factorics

up country, was much the same in character. The

Company’s servants lived together in the factory ;

they boarded together like members of one family

or firm. This practice was falling into disuse at

Calcutta; marriages with English women had broken

up the establishment into households. It was still

kept up at the subordinate factories, where the Eng-

lish lived in greater-isolation...'The mornings were

devoted to business. Then followed the mid-day

dinner and the afternoon siesta. In the cool of the

evening they took the air in palanquins, or sailed on

the river in budgerows. They angled for mango

fish, or shot snipe and teal. The evening wound up

with supper. There were quarrels, scandals, and

controversies. Possibly there were some excesses.

There was always the show of religion and decorum

which characterised the carly half of the eighteenth

century. The Chaplain read prayers every morn-

ing, and preached on Sundays. There were intervals

1 The old trade rivalries between English and India manufacturers are now

forgotten, Between 1780 and 1790 the Court of Directors were thrown into

alarm at the superiority of the muslins manufactured by Manchester.

About the same time the calico printers in England were taking alarm

at the improvements in the printing of Indian eslicoes imported into England

by the East India Company. They were petitioning Parliament to prevent

the emigration of artists to India; to prohibit the exportation of' plates,

blocks, and materials for the printing business; and also to lay such addi-

tional duty upon goods printed in India as would be sufficient to put the

white piece-goods printed ia England on an equal footing with Indian goods

at foreign markets, ,
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of excitement apart from the daily business. Ships

brought news from Europe; from the outer pre-

sidencies; from the far-off settlements in China,

Sumatra, Pegu, and other remote quarters. Above

all, every ship that came from Madras brought

tidings of the war between the French and English

in Southern India—the victories of Clive and

gradual defeat of all the schemes of Dupleix.

The native population at Calcutta lived in the native tite

same isolated fashion as in the present day. , The ¥ehammadan,

Hindus were not so well off, but their Hinduism

was more rampant, for as yet they had not profited

by European education or yielded to the influences

of civilisation. They worshipped their household

gods. They made their pujas before the idols in

the pagodas. ‘They saerificed goats at Kali Ghat.

They celebrated their festivals, with flags, flowers,

swectmeats, and sacred readings. They dragged

about their idol cars with shouts of praise and vic-

tory. They bathed in the Ganges with rites and

invocations. They feasted crowds of Brahmans.

They performed their usual ceremonies at births,

deaths, and marriages. They perpetrated horrors

in the name of religion, which have passed away

under the pressure of British rule. The sick and

aged are no longer launched upon the Ganges to

perish in the sacred waters. The living widow has

ceased to mount the pile with her dead husband,

and perish in the flames within sight of the English

settlement. Men no longer swing themselves on

iron hooks to appease avenging deities. Parents
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no longer sacrifice a child to the alligators at.

Saugor. The Mussulmans were the same then as

they are now. ‘They went to prayers in the mosque,

celebrated the Muharram, fasted at the Rama-

dhan, and rejoiced at the Eed. They have lost

their political ascendancy, but their religion is

unchanged.

Within the limits of the Mahratta ditch the

English Governor and Council reigned supreme.

At one time, the Moghul authorities outside would

have liked to interfere in matters of revenue; they

never cared much about the. administration of

justice. As far as natives were concerned, the

English were free to exercise the powers of life and

death. They had nothing to fear from Hueghli,

Murshedabad, or Delhi; and the time had not come

for them to have anything to fear from Westminster

Hall.

The administration, of justice, wherever English-

men are concerned, has always been a matter of

paramount importance. Wherever there is an

English element, there is a development of English

courts of justice and forms of law. In the earlier

history of the English settlements in India, the

Governor exercised a paternal authority as the

agent of the Court of Directors—the local head of

the Company’s establishment. In course of time

the authority of the Governor proved insufficient,

The servants of the Company were engaged in

private trade; they quarrelled amongst themselves ;

they had causes against natives; they wanted to
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settle their disputes ina court of law. Accordingly

a Mayor’s Court was formed at cach of the three

English Presidencies, consisting of a Mayor and

ninc Aldermen. It decided all civil cases, subject

to an appeal to the Governor and Council. It held

courts of quarter sessions for the trial of all criminal

cascs. It might pass a capital sentence; it could

not inflict a capital punishment without a royal

warrant from England.

The administration of justice amongst the Admintstration

Hindu population was a very different affair. Tt amps te

followed Moghul forms. Under Moghul rule, the

Zemindars administered justice as well as collected

the revenue. Under the English rule at Calcutta,

a servant of the Company was appointed Zemindar ;

he performed the same conflicting duties, revenue

and judicial, as those which were performed under

the Moghul government. The English Zemindar

administered justice afters the manner of native

Zemindars. Ile sentenced offenders to be whipped,

fined, or imprisoned at his own will and pleasure ;

and the punishment was carried out without further

parley. In cases of murder he did not condemn

the murderer to be hangec a“ Possibly a public
hanging, without judge or jury, might have raised

an outcry amongst the enemies of the Company in

England. Accordingly the Zemindar ordered the

murderer to be whipped; and this sentence was

carried out so severely as to cause the death

of the murderer. But the sentence was never

carried out until it) had been confirmed by the
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President. With the exception of capital cases,

the power of the Zemindar was unlimited. He

condemned thieves and other culprits to work in

chains on the roads. It might be for life; it might

be for a fixed period. There was noappeal. In civil

cases concerning property, there was an appeal to

the Governor and Council. Muhammadans do not

appear to have sought redress at the court of the

English Zemindar. Probably they had a Kazi of

their own.

Revenue of the The English Zemindar also collected the reve-
Hn glish aw J \ mt . . .

Caleutta, nues from the native inhabitants dwelling within

the Company’s bounds. A quit-rent of three

rupees was raised from every beega of land be-

longing to the Company which was occupied by

native householders. Duties were levied on all

goods that were earried into Calcutta from the

1 That « murderer should have been whipped to death under any circum-

stances, by the order of any Englishman, appears incredible. Iappend the

exact words in Mr. Holwell’s letter to the proprietors of East India stock, and

the public :—“ The Zemindar acts in a double capacity, distinct, and independ-

ent of each other (with very few exceptions); the one as Superintendent and

Colleetor of your revenues; the other as Judge of the Court of Cutcherry, a

tribunal constituted for the hearing, trying, and determining all matters and

things, both civil and criminal, wherein the natives only, subjects of the

Moghul, ave concerned, He tried in a summary way, had the power of the lash,

fine, and imprisonment ; he determined all matters of menim and fauum ; and in

all criminal eases proceeded to sentence and punishment immediately after

hearing, except where the crime (as murder) requires the lash to-be inflicted

until death, in which case he suspends execution of the sentence until the facts

and evidence are laid before the President, and his confirmation of the sentence

is obtained. He has also the power to condemn thieves und other culprits to work

in chains upon the roads, during any determinate space of time, or for life. In

all causes of property, an appeal lay to the President and Council against his

decrees.”——See Holwell’s India Tracts, page 120. It should be added that

Mr. Holwell filled the post of Zemindar of Caleutta from 1752 until 1756,

when Calcutta was captured by Suraj-u-daula.
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interior, or out of Caleutta into the interior. Other

taxes were farmed out to natives for yearly block

sums. Some farmers bought the privilege of col-

lecting taxes at certain fixed rates on every article

exposed for sale in the several bazars. Other farmers

bought the monopoly of some trade, such as glass-

making, vermillion manufacture, ship-caulking,

chest-making, and the manufacture of fireworks ;

and no one could work at any of these callings

without buying the license of the farmer. Others,

again, bought the sole right of selling certain

commodities, such as tobacco, bang, old iron, dam-

mer, and oakum; and no one else could deal in

these goods without a license from the farmer.

Offenders against any of these monopolies were

punished by fine or imprisonment. One farmer

bought the right to levy a yearly tax of six annas

on every beast of —burden. Another bought a

similar right to levy fecs on ferry boats ;—sixteen

cowries on every passenger; forty cowrics for every

parcel of greens; eighty cowries for every cow,

calf, or horse. The fines levied in the Zemindar’s

Court formed another source of revenue. There

were also various fees which were paid to the

Zemindar. There was a commission of five per

cent. on all sums recovered by the decree of the

Zemindar; on the sale of all houses, boats, and

sloops; and on all mortgage bonds registered by

the Zemindar. There was a fee on every new

sloop, varying from fifty rupees to a hundred,

according to the burden; a fee of four rupees and
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four annas on every slave registered by the pur-

chaser; a fee of three rupees from each party on

every marriage; and similar fees, varying in

amount, on arbitration bonds, on re-measurements

of lands in settlement of disputes between house-

holders, and other miscellaneous matters.’

The total amount of revenue collected at,

Calcutta in the middle of the last century was

ridiculously small, when compared with the collec-

tion in the present day. In 1876, the municipal

taxation in Calcutta,amounts to twenty-six lakhs

of rupees per annum, or about two hundred and

sixty thousand pounds sterling, In 1755, the year

before the capture of Caleutta by Suraj-u-daula, the

whole revenue coliceted by the English Zemindar

scarcely exceeded a single lakh of rupees, or about

ten or twelve thousand pounds sterling. The proceeds

under each head were often absurdly small. The

rent-paying lands extended over two thousand acres,

or nearly five thousand five hundred beegas; the

yearly quit-rent thus amounted to about sixteen

thousand rupecs, or less than two thousand pounds.

The bazar duties produced about twelve thousand

rupees per annum; the glass-making farm about

five hundred rupees; the vermillion farm about

two hundred rupees; the ship-caulking farm

about five hundred rupees; the tobacco farm about

one hundred and twenty rupees; the bang farm

1 See Holwell’s despatch, dated 15th December 1752, on the office of the

Zemindary and state of the Company’s revenues. Reprinted in Holwell’s Tracts.

Most of the information given hereafter as regards Calcutta is taken either

from Holwell or from the records in the Home Office.
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about seventeen hundred rupees; the chest-maker’s

farm about seventy-five rupees; the dammer and

oakum farm about seven hundred rupees; the

beasts of burden farm about two hundred rupees ; the

ferry-boat farm about one hundred and fifty rupees.

The poverty of the people of Calcutta, and of tien-ral use of

Bengal generally, may be inferred from the fact

that many of the duties were collected in cowries,

whilst many bazar transactions were in cowries. A

rupee, generally valued at two shillings sterling, is

equal to sixteen annas; an anna is about equal to

three. half-pence, and one anna is also equal to

about three hundred cowries. In the present day

two or three onions may be bought for ten cowries

in the Calcutta bazars ; so may a teaspoonful of salt,

or three or four chillies, or a_picce of saffron, or a

few herbs. A small handful of, rice may be bought

for twenty or thirty cowrics.

The police of Calcutta..consisted of a native me Kotwa,

force under a Kotwal. The duties of the Kotwal mace”
have been compared to those of a Mayor in England

in the olden time. They might be better described

as those of an ordinary superintendent of police,

combined with certain magisterial powers; but the

working of this branch of the administration is

somewhat obscure. The Kotwal patrolled the

town at night, and maintained peace and order at

all times. The office of Kotwal was a Mussulman

institution."

Madras, as already seen, was originally rented from a Hindu Rajah,

Accordingly, the police duties were performed by a Hindu official, known as

the Pedda Naik.
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From 1750 up to 1756 the English at Calcutta

lived in peaceful security. Calcutta continued to

be the head factory and seaport. There were three

or four other factories in the interior, which were

subordinate to Calcutta. On the north-east there

was a factory for the muslin manufactures at Dacca.

On the north-west there was a factory at Cossimbazar

in the neighbourhood of Murshedabad, the capital

of the three provinces. Beyond Cossimbazar there

was another factory at Patna, the capital of Behar.

The water communication ran from Calcutta up the

river Hughli past Cossimbazar and Monghyr to the

city of Patna. Beyond Patna were the cities of Al-

lahabad, Agra, and Delhi; but they were little known

to the English. News-letters brought intelligence

from time to time of the revolutions which were

transpiring at the court of Delhi, or the intrigues

and assassinations that were carried on at Murshed-

abad during the declining years of Aliverdi Khan.

But these were only matters of interest so far as

they were likely to interfere with the ordinary

course of trade in Bengal and Behar.

About this period, the Company ordered a

change to be made in the mode of carrying on

business in India. Prior to 1753, it had been the

custom for the Company’s servants to procure piece-

goods and other native manufactures through native

merchants by regular contracts. Amongst all the

Calcutta merchants, the most wealthy and influ-

ential was a Hindu named Omichund. This man

had devoted himself during forty years to the
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accumulation of riches. His fortune was estimated

at four millions of rupees, or more than four hun-

dred thousand pounds sterling. His house was di-

vided into various departments like a palace. His

retinue of armed men resembled that of a prince

rather than that of a merchant. He traded all

over Bengal and Behar. He established so great

an influence at the court of Murshedabad by

presents and services, that he proved a useful

mediator to the English President and Council at

Calcutta in all times of difficulty. The conse-

quence was, that Omichund was. largely employed

by the English at Caleutta. He provided more of

the Company’s investments than any other con-

tractor; but he took advantage of his position to

increase his profits. For years, the manufactures

he supplied deteriorated in quality and increased in

price. Accordingly, in 1753, the Company aban-

doned the system of dealing with native merchants.

They sent Gomastas, or native agents, to provide

investments at the different cloth markets in the

provinces, which were known by the name of

Aurungs. The result was, that Omichund lost a

lucrative branch of his business, and was vexed

beyond measure. Subsequently, he was stispected

of being mixed up with the misfortunes that ulti-

mately befel Caleutta; but the nature and extent

of his intrigues have never been fully ascertained.

In April 1756 Aliverdi died, and was succeeded Sura}-u-danl

by a grandson, the notorious Suraj-u-daula. The ~~

young Nawab is described by European and native

P
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authorities as everything that is bad. Above all,

he hated the English with all the virulence of a

young prince invested. with despotic power, and

utterly ignorant of European nations. The story

of his proceedings has become nearly obsolete.

Tt will suffice to say that his wrath against the

English was stirred up by a variety of causes.

Another war was expected between Great Britain

and France; and he was told that the English at

Calcutta were strengthening those fortifications in

order to fight the French at.Chandernagore.. He

had reason to be offended with some people at his

court; and they had gone to Calcutta, and thence

escaped his vengeance. Butrapacity seems to have

been his ruling motive. He had formed exaggerated

notions of the wealth of Calcutta; and no doubt

tales were told of the riches of the English, as ex-

travagant as the thousand and one stories of the

Arabian Nights, and. as unreal as the fabled trea-

sures of ancient Maharajas.

Capture of the In the first instance the young Nawab vented

at vossinbas- his wrath on the English factory at Cossimbazar, in

the immediate neighbourhood of his capital at

Murshedabad. He surrounded the English fac-

tory at Cossimbazar with his soldiers, plundered

it of all its money and goods, and threw the

English traders into prison. In June 1756, he

marched against Calcutta with an army of fifty

thousand men, and a train of artillery.

Capture of The English at Calcutta were a mere handful

of men; there were scarcely five hundred men,
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including mixed races, in all the settlement; of

these, only a hundred and seventy were Huro-

pean soldiers, and scarcely ten of these soldiers

had seen any service beyond parade. The fighting

began on Wednesday, the fifteenth of June. On

Saturday, the women were carried to the ships, and

many of the English escaped at the same time,

including Mr. Drake, the Governor. The remain-

der surrendered to the Nawab on Sunday afternoon.

The story of what followed aroused the horror nowers
narrative of the

of Europe. The prisoners, to the number of a s22ty,of the
hundred and forty-six, were assembled in a verandah,

which had been built im the front of the barracks

for the convenience of the European soldiers. At

one end of the barracks was the common dungeon

of the garrison, known as the Black Hole. The

story of what followed is best told by Mr. Holwell,

one of the English prisoners who survived the

night. In the absence of Mr. Drake, Mr. Holwell

had been treated as the Acting Governor. This

narrative tells his own personal experiences as well

as what he saw of the sufferings of others. It

was written as a letter to a friend, and is given

almost word for word! :—

“The confusion which the late capture of the East India pimoutty in
. . +, + writing the

Company’s settlements in Bengal must necessarily excite in narrative.

the city of London, will, I fear, be not a little heightened by

the miserable deaths of the greatest part of those gentlemen,

who were reduced to the sad necessity of surrendering them-

selves prisoners at discretion in Fort William.

} « Letter from J. L. Holwell, Esq., to William Davis, Esq., from on board

the Syren sloop, the 28th of February 1757.”—Priated in Holwell’s Tracts,
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Importance of “ By narratives made public, you will only know that of
Hoiwell’s . :

uarrative, one hundred and forty-six prisoners, one hundred and twenty-

three were smothered in the BlackHole prison, in the night

of the 20th of June, 1756. Few survived capable of giving

any detail of the manner in which it happened; and of these

T believe none have attempted it. For my own part, I have

often sat down with this resolution, and as often relinquished

the melancholy task, not only from the disturbance and

afHiction it raised afresh in my remembrance, but from the

cousideration of the impossibility of finding language capable

of raising an adequate idea of the horrors of the scene I

essayed to draw, But as I believe the annals of the world

canvot produce an incident like it in any degree or propor-

tion to all the dismal circumstances attending it, and as my

own health of body and peace of mind are once again, in a

great measure, recovered from the injuries they suffered from

that fatal might, I caunot allow it to be buried in oblivion ;

though still conscious that, however high the colouring my

retentive memory may supply, it will fall infinitely short of

the horrors accompanying this scene. These defects must,

and I doubt not will, be assisted by your own humane and

benevolent imagination; in the exercise of which I never

knew you deficient where unmerited distress was the object.

‘tranquillity of “The sea-air has already had that salutary effect on my

vorageto constitution I expected ; and my mind enjoys a calm it has
Bugland. been many months a stranger to, strengthened by a clear

cheerful sky and atmosphere, joined to an unusual pleasant

gale, with which we are passing’ the equinoctial. I cau now,

therefore, look back with less agitation on the dreadful night

I am going to deseribe; and with a grateful heart sincerely

acknowledge, and deeply revere, that Providence which alone

could have preserved me through that aud all my succeeding

sufferings and hazards.

See tne “| Before I conduct you into the Black Hole, it is necessary

crerng ofthe you should be acquainted with a few introductory cireum-

stances. The Nawab and his troops were in pessession of the

Yort before six in the evening. I had in all three interviews
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with him: the last in Durbar! before seven, when he repeated

his assurances to me, on the word of a soldier, that no barm

should come to us; and indeed I believe his orders were only

general. That we should for that aight be secured ; and that

what followed was the result of revenge and resentment in the

breasts of the lower Jemadars,? to whose custody we were

delivered, for the number of their order killed during the siege.

Be this as it may, as soon as it was dark, we were all, without

distinction, directed by the guard over us, to collect ourselves

into one body, and sit down quietly under the arched veranda

or piazza, to the west of the Black Hole prison, and the bar-

racks to the left of the court of guard; and just over against

the windows of the governor’s easterly apartments. Besides

the guard over us, another was placed at the foot of the

stairs at the south end of this veranda, leading up to the

south-east bastion, to prevent any of us escaping that way.

On the parade (where you will remember the two twenty-

four pounders stood) were also drawn up about four or five

hundred gun-men with lighted matches.

“ At this time the factory was in flames to the right and left

of us; to the right the armory and laboratory; to the left the

carpenter’s yard: though at this time we imagined it was the

Company’s cloth warehouses... Various were our conjectures

on this appearance ; the fire advanced with rapidity on both

sides; and it was the prevailing opinion that they intended

suffocating us between the two fires: and this notion was

confirmed by the appearance, about half an hour past seven,

of some officers and people with lighted torches in their

hands, who went into all the apartments under the easterly

curtain to the right of us; to which we apprehended they

were setting fire, to expedite their scheme of burning us.

On this we presently came'to a resolution of rushing on the

guard, seizing their scimitars, and attacking the troops upon

the parade, rather than be thus tamely roasted to death.

But to be satisfied of their intentions, I advanced, at the

1 The Durbar was the Assembly of the chief men at Court.

2 An officer of the rank of Sergeant,

Factory in

flames.
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request of Messrs. Baillie, Jenks and Revely, to see if they

were really setting fire to the apartments, and found the

contrary; for in fact, as it appeared afterwards, they were

only searching for a place to confine us in; the last they

examined being the barracks of the court of«guard behind us.

“ Here I must detain you a little, to do honour to the

memory of a man to whom I had in many instances been

a friend, and who, on this occasion, demonstrated his sen-

sibility of it in a degree worthy of a much higher rank. His

name was Leech, the Company’s smith, as well as clerk of

the parish; this man had made his escape when the Moghuls

entered the Fort, and returned just as it was dark, to tell me

he had provided a boat, and-would ensure my escape, if I

would follow him through a passage few were acquainted

with, and by which he had then entered. (This might easily

have been accomplished, as the guard put over us took but

very slight notice of us.) I thanked him in the best terms

I was able; but told him it was a step I could not prevail

on myself to take, as I should thereby very ill repay the

attachment the gentlemen and the garrison had shewn to me ;_

and that I was resolved to share their fate, be it what it

would: but pressed him to secure his own escape without loss

of time; to which he gallantly replied that “then he was

resolved to share mine, and would not leave me.”

“To myself and the world I should surely have stood

excused in embracing the overture above-mentioned, could 1

have conceived what immediately followed; for I had scarce

time to make him an answer, before we observed part of the

guard drawn up on the parade, advance to us with the officers

who. had been viewing the rooms. They ordered us all to

rise and go into the barracks to the left of the court of guard.

The barracks, you may remember, have a large wooden plat-

form for the soldiers to sleep on, and are open to the west by

arches and a small parapet-wall, corresponding to the arches of

the veranda without. In we went most readily, and were

pleasing ourselves with the prospect of passing a comfortable

night on the platform, little dreaming of the infernal apart-

ment in Yeserve for us. For we were no sooner all within the
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barracks, than the guard advanced to the inner arehes and

parapet-wall; and, with their muskets presented, ordered

us to go into the room at the southernmost end of the barracks,

commonly called the Black Hole prison; whilst others from

the Court of Guard, with clubs and drawn scimitars, pressed

upon those of us next to them. This stroke was so sudden,

so unexpected, and the throng and pressure so great upon us

next the door of the Black Hole prison, there was no resisting

it; but like one agitated wave impelling another, we were

obliged to give way and enter; the rest followed like a

torrent, few amongst us, the soldiers excepted, having the

least idea of the dimensions or nature of a place we had

never seen: for if we had, we should at all events have rushed

upon the guard, and been, as the lesser evil, by our own choice

cut to pieces.

“ Amongst the first that entered were myself, Messrs.

Baillie, Jenks, Cooke, T. Coles, Ensign Scot, Revely, Law,

Buchanan, and others, I got possession of the window nearest

the door, and took Messrs. Coles and Seot into the window

with me, they being both wounded (the first I believe mor-

tally). Therest of the above-mentioned gentlemen were close

round me. It was now about eight o’elock.

Eight o’clock.

“Figure to yourself, my friend, if possible, the situation of the situation.

a hundred and forty-six wretches, exhausted by continual

fatigue and action, thus crammed together in a cube of about

eighteen feet, in a close sultry night, in Bengal, shut up to

the eastward and southward (the only quarters from whence

air could reach us) by dead walls, and by a wall and door

to the north, open only to the westward by two windows,

strongly barred with iron, from which we could receive

scarce any the least circulation of fresh air.

* What must ensue appeared to me in lively and dreadful

eolours, the instant I east my eyes round, and saw the size

and situation of the room. Many unsuccessful attempts

were made to force the door; for having nothing but our

hands to work with, and the doot opening inward, all en-

deavours were vain and fruitless,

Despair.
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“ Observing every one giving way to the violence of pas-

sions, which I foresaw must be fatal to them, I requested

silence might be preserved, whilst I spoke to them, and in

the most pathetic and moving terms which occurred I

begged and intreated that as they had paid a ready obedience

to me in the day, they would now for their own sakes, and

the sakes of those who were dear to them and were interested

in the preservation of their lives, regard the advice I had

to give them. I assured them the return of day would give

us air and liberty; urged to them that the only chance we

had left for sustaining this misfortune and surviving the

night was the preserving a calm mind and quiet resigna-

tion to our fate; intreating them to curb, as much as pos-

sible, every agitation of mind and body, as raving and

giving a loose to their passions could answer no purpose,

but that of hastening their destruction.

«This remonstrance preduced a short interval of peace,and

gave me a few minutes for reflection: though even this pause

was not a little disturbed by the cries and groans of the

many wounded, and more particularly of my two companions

in the window. Death, attended with the most cruel train

of circumstances, I plainly perceived must prove our inevit-

able destiny. I had seen this common migration in too

many shapes, and accustomed myself to think on the sub-

ject with too much propriety to be alarmed at the prospect,

and indeed felt much more for my wretched companions than

myself.

“ Amongst the guards posted at the windows, I observed

an old Jemadar near me, who seemed to carry some com-

passion for us in his countenance; and indeed he was the

only one of the many in his station who discovered the least

trace of humanity. I called him to me, and in the most

persuasive terms I was capable, urged him to commise rate the

sufferings he was a witness to, and pressed him to endeav our

to get us separated, half in one place, and half in another;

and that he should in the morning receive a thousand rup ees

for this act of tenderness. He promised he would attempt it,

and withdrew; but in a few minutes returned, and told me
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it was impossible. I then thought I had been deficient in my

offer, and promised him two thousand. He withdrew a

second time, but returned soon, and (with, I believe, much

real pity and concern) told me it was not practicable; that

it could not be done but by the Nawab’s order, and that no

one dared awake him.

“During this interval, though their passions were less

violent, their uneasiness increased. We had been but few

minutes confined before every one fell into a perspiration so

profuse you can form no idea of it. This consequently

brought on a raging thirst, which still increased, in propor-

tion as the body was drained of its moisture.

“ Various expedients were-thought of to give more room

and air. To obtain the former, ib was moved to put off their

clothes. This was approved as a happy motion, and in a

few minutes I believe every man was stripped (myself,

Mr. Court, and the two wounded young gentlemen by me

axcepted). Fora httle time they flattered themselves with

having gained a mighty advantage; every hat was put in

motion to produce a circulation of air; and Mr. Baillie pro-

posed that every man should sit down on his hams. As they

were truly in the situation of drowning wretches, no wonder

they canght at every thing that bore a flattering appearance

of saving them. This expedient was several times put in

practice, and at each time many of the poor creatures, whose

natural strength was less than others, or had been more

exhausted, and could not immediately recover their legs, as

others did, when the word was given to rise, fell to rise no

more ; for they were instantly trod to death, or suffocated,

When the whole body sat down, they were so closely wedged

together that they were obliged to use many efforts before

they could put themselves in motion to get up again.

“ Before nine o’clock every man’s thirst grew intolerable,

and respiration difficult. Our situation was much more

wretched than that of so many miserable animals in an ex-

hausted receiver; no circulation of fresh air sufficient to

continue life, nor yet enough divested of its vivifying par-

ticles to put a speedy period to it,

Perspiration,

Expedients for

relief,

Nine o’clock.
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“ Efforts were again made to force the door, but in vain.

Many insults were used to the guard, to provoke them to fire

in upon us (which, as I learned afterwards, were carried to

much greater lengths, when I was no more sensible of what

was transacted). For my own part, I hitherto felt little pain

or uneasiness, but what resulted from my anxiety for the

sufferings of those within. By keeping my face between two

of the bars, I obtained air enough to give my lungs easy play,

though my perspiration was excessive, and thirst commenc-

ing. At this period, so strong a volatile effluvia came from

the prison that I was not able to turn my head that way

for more than a few seconds of time.

“ Now every body, excepting those situated in and near the

window, began to grow outrageous, and many delirious ;

WATER, WATER, became the general ery. And the old Jema-

dar, before mentioned, taking pity on us, ordered the people

to bring some skins of water, little dreaming, I believe, of

its fatal effects. This was what I dreaded. I foresaw it

would prove the ruin of the small chance left us, and essayed

many times to speak to him privately to forbid its being

brought ; but the clamour was so loud it became impossible.

The water appeared. Words cannot paint to you the univer-

sal agitation and raving the sight of it threw us into. I had

flattered myself that some, by preserving an equal temper

of mind, might outlive the night; but now the reflection

which gave me the greatest pain, was, that I saw no possibi-

lity of one escaping to tell the dismal tale.

“Until the water came, I had myself not suffered much

from thirst, which instantly grew excessive. We had no

means of conveying it into the prison, but by hats forced

through the bars; and thus myself, and Messrs. Coles and

Seot (notwithstanding the pains they suffered from their

wounds) supplied them as fast as possible. But those who

have experienced intense thirst, or are acquainted with the

cause and nature of this appetite, will be sufficiently sensible

it could receive no more than a momentary alleviation; the

cause still subsisted. Though we brought full hats within the

bars, there ensued such violent struggles, and frequent contests,
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to get at it, that before it reached the lips of any one, there

would be scarcely a small tea-cup full leftin them. These

supplies, like sprinkling water on fire, only served to feed and

raise the flame.

“Oh! my dear Sir, how shall I give you a conception of Ravines.

what I felt at the cries and ravings of those in the remoter

parts of the prison, who could not entertain a probable hope

of obtaining a drop, yet could not divest themselves of ex-

pectation, however unavailing! And others calling on me by

the tender considerations of friendship and affection, and who

knew they were really dear to me. Think, if possible, what

my heart must have suffered at seeing and hearing their

distress, without having it in my\power to relieve them; for

the confusion now became general and horrid. Several

quitted the other window (the only chance they had for life)

to force their way to the water, and the throng and press

upon the window was beyond bearing ; many forcing their

passage from the further part of the room, pressed down those

in their way, who had less strength, and trampled them to

death,

“Can it gain belief, that this scene of misery proved enter- Diversion of tho

tainment to the brutal wretehes without? But so it was; =“
and they took care to keep us supplied with water, that they

might have the satisfaction of seeing us fight for it, as they

phrased it, and held up hghts to the bars, that they might

lose no part of the inhuman diversion.

“From about nine to near eleven, I sustained this cruel Eleven o'clock.

scene and painful situation, still supplying them with water,

though my legs were almost broke with the weight against

them. By this time I myself was very near pressed to

death, and my two companions, with Mr. William Parker

(who had forced himself’ into the window), were really so.

“ For a great while they preserved a respect and regard to rank ana

me, more than indeed I could well expect, our circumstances femoies.

considered ; but now all distinction was lost. My friend

Baillie, Messrs. Jenks, Revely, Law, Buchanan, Simson, and

several others, for whom I had a real esteem and affection,
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had for some time been dead at my feet, and were now

trampled upon by every corporal or common soldier, who,

by the help of more robust constitutions, had forced their

way to the window, and held fast by the bars over me, till

at last I became so pressed and wedged up, I was deprived of

all motion.

Determined now to give every thing up, I called to them,

and begged, as the last instance of their regard, they would

remove the pressure upon me, and permit me to retire out of

the window to die in quiet. They gave way; and with much

difficulty I forced a passage into the centre of the prison; where

the throng was less by the many dead (then I believe amount-

ing to one-third) and thenumbers who flocked to the windows ;

for by this time they had water also at the other window.

“In the Black Hole there is a platform' corresponding

with that in the barracks: I travelled over the dead, and

repaired to the further end of it, just opposite the other

window, and seated myself on the platform between Mr.

Dumbleton and Capt. Stevenson, the former just then ex-

piring. I was still happy in the same calmness of mind

I had preserved the whole time ; death I expected as unavoid-

able, and only lamented its slow approach, though the moment

I quitted the window, my breathing grew short and painful.

“ Here my poor friend Mr. Edward Eyre came staggering

over the dead to me, and with his usual coolness and good-

~ nature, asked me how I did! but fell and expired before I had

time to make him a reply. I laid myself down on some of

the dead behind me, on the platform; and recommending

myself to heaven, had the comfort of thinking my sufferings

could have no long duration.

“My thirst grew now insupportable, and difficulty of

breathing much increased; and I had not remained in this

situation, I believe, ten minutes, when I was seized with a

1 This platform was raised between three and four feet from the floor, open

underneath: it extended the whole length of the east side of the prison, and

was above six feet wide.
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pain in my breast, and palpitation of my heart, both to the

most exquisite degree. These roused and obliged me to get

up again; but still the palpitation, thirst, and difficulty of

breathing increased. I retained my senses notwithstanding,

and had the grief to see death not so near me as I hoped 3

but could no longer bear the pains I suffered without attempt-

ing a relief, which I knew fresh air would and could only

give me. I instantly determined to push for the window

opposite to me; and by an effort of double the strength I ever

before possessed, gained the third rank at it, with one hand

seized a bar, and by that means gained the second, though

I think there were at least six cr seven ranks between me and

the window.

“In afew moments my pain, palpitation and difficulty of Thirst increased

breathing ceased ; but my thirst continued intolerable. I called yaier
-aloud for “ wWaTER For Gop’s SAKB:” had been concluded dead ;

but as soon as they heard me amongst them, they had still the

respect and tenderness for me, to ery out, ‘ GIVE HIM WATER,

Give aim waTER !” nor would oneof them atthe window attempt

to touch it until I had drank. But from the water I found no

relief; my thirst was rather increased by it; so I determined

to drink no more, but patiently wait the event; and kept my

mouth moist from time to time by sucking the perspiration strange refresh-

out of my shirt-sleeves, and catching the drops as they fell, men
like heavy rain from my head and face: you can hardly ima-

gine how unhappy I was if any of them escaped my mouth.

“JT came into the prison without coat or waistcoat; the

season was too hot to bear the former, and the latter tempted

the avarice of one of the cuards, who robbed me of it when

we were under the veranda. Whilst I was at this second

window, I was observed by one of my miserable companions

on the right of me in the expedient of allaying my thirst by

sucking my shirt-sleeve. He took the hint, and robbed me

from time to time of a considerable part of my store.

This plunderer, I found afterwards, was a worthy young

gentleman in the service, Mr. Lushington, one of the few

who escaped from death.
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I mention this incident, as I think nothing can give you a

more lively idea of the melancholy state and distress we were

reduced to.

“ By half an hour past eleven the much greater number

of those living were in an outrageous delirium, and the

others quite ungovernable; few retaining any calmuess but

the ranks next the windows. By what I had felt myself,

I was fully sensible what those within suffered ; but had only

pity to bestow upon them, not then thinking how soon I

should myself become a greater object of it.

“They all now found that water, instead of relieving, rather

heightened their uneasinesses; and, Arr, Arr, was the general

ery. Every insult that could:be devised against the guard, all

the opprobrious names and abuse that.the Nawab of Bengal,

or the new native Governor. of Caleutta,! could be loaded

with, were repeated to provoke the guard to fire upon us,

every man that could, rushing tumultuously towards the

windows with eager hopes of meeting the first shot. Then

a general prayer to heaven, to hasten the approach of the

flames to the right and left of us, and put a period to our

misery. But these failing, they whose strength and spirits

were quite exhausted, laid themselves down and expired quietly

upon their fellows: others. who had yet some strength and

vigour left, made a last effort for the windows, and several

succeeded by leaping and scrambling over the backs and

heads of those in the first ranks; and got hold of the bars,

from which there was no removing them. Many to the

right and left sunk with the violent pressure, and were soon

suffocated ; for now a steam arose from the living and the

dead, which affected us in all its circumstances, as if we were

forcibly held with our heads over a bowl full of strong volatile

spirit of hartshorn, until suffocated ; nor could the effluvia of

the one be distinguished from the other, and frequently,

when I was forced by the load upon my head and shoulders,

to hold my face down, I was obliged, near as I was to the

window, instantly to raise it again to escape suffocation. °

1 Raja Monikchund, appointed by the Nawab to be Governor of Calcutta.
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“JT need not, my dear friend, ask your commiseration, when Half-past eleven

T tell you that in this plight, from half an hour past eleven in the morning.
till near two in the morning, I sustaied the weight of a

heavy man, with his knees on my back, and the pressure of his

whole body on my head. A Dutch serjeant, who had taken his

seat upon my left shoulder, and a blaek christian soldier bear-

ing on my right; all which nothing could have enabled me long

to support, but the props and pressure equally sustaining me

all around. The two latter I frequently dislodged, by shift-

ing my hold on the bars, and driving my knuckles into their

ribs; but my friend above stuck fast, and as be held by two

bars, was immoveable.

«When I had bore this conflict above an hour, with a train suicidal tempta-

of wretched reflections; and seeing no glimpse of hope on “en
which to found a prospect of relief, my spirits, resolution, and

every sentiment of religion gave way. I found I was unable

much longer to support this trial, and could not bear the

dreadful thoughts of retiring into the inner part of the prison,

where I had before suffered so much. Some infernal spirit,

taking the advantage of this period, brought to my remem-

brance my having a small clasp penknife in my pocket, with

which I determined instantly to open my arteries, and finish

a system no longer to be borne. .I had got it out, when

heaven interposed, and restored me to fresh spirits and resolu-

tion, with an abhorrence of the act of cowardice I was just

going to commit: I exerted anew my strength and for-

titude ; but the repeated trials and efforts I made to dislodge

the insufferable incumbrances upon me at last quite exhausted

me, and towards two o’clock, finding I must quit the window,

or sink where I was, I resolved on the former, having bore,

truly for the sake of others, infinitely more for life than the

best cf it is worth.

‘Tn the rank close behind me was an officer of one of the Mr. and Mrs.

ships, whose name was Carey, who had behaved with much oy.
_ bravery during the siege (his wife, a fine woman though

country-born, would not quit him, but accompanied him into

the prison, and was one who survived), This poor wretch
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had been long raving for water and air; I told him I was

determined to give up life, and recommended his gaining my

station, On my quitting, he made a fruitless attempt to get

my place; but the Dutch serjeant who sat on my shoulder

supplanted him.

“ Poor Carey expressed his thankfulness, and said he would

give up life too; but it was with the utmost labour we forced

our way from the window (several in the inner ranks appear-

ing to me dead standing'). He laid himself down to die:

and his death, I believe, was very sudden; for he was a short,

full, sanguine man: his strength was great, and I imagine,

had he not retired with me, I should never have been able to

have forced my way.

“I was at this time sensible of no pain and little uneasi-

ness: I can give you no better idea of my situation than by

repeating my simile of the bow! of spirit of hartshorn. I

found a stupor coming on apace, and laid myself down by

that gallant old man, the Reverend Mr. Jervas Bellamy, who

lay dead with his son the lieutenant, hand-in-hand, near the

southernmost wall of the prison.

“When I had lain there some little time, I still had

reflection enough to suffer some uneasiness in the thought,

that I should be trampled upon, when dead, as I myself had

done to others, With some difficulty I raised myself, and

gained the platform a second time, where I presently lost all

sensation: the last trace of sensibility that I have been able

to recollect after my lying down, was my sash being uneasy

about my waist, which I untied and threw from me.

“Of what passed in this interval to the time of my resur-

rection from this hole of horrors, 1 can give you no account;

and indeed, the particulars mentioned by some of the gentle-

men who survived (solely by the number of those dead, by

which they gained a freer accession of air, and approach to

the windows) were so excessively absurd and contradictory

as to convince me very few of them retained their senses; or

} Unable to fall by the throng and equal pressure round.
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at least, lost them soon after they came into the open air, by

the fever they carried cut with them.

“In my own escape from absolute death the hand of heaven Carried to the

was manifestly exerted: the manner take as follows: When mince
the day broke, and the gentlemen found that no intreaties

could prevail to get the door opened, it occurred to one of

them (I think to Mr. Secretary Cooke), to make a search for

me, in hopes I might have influence enough to gain a release

from this scene of misery. Accordingly Messrs. Lushington

and Walcot undertook the search, and by my shirt discovered

me under the dead upon the platform. They took me from

thence; and imagining I had some signs of life, brought me

towards the window I had first possession of,

“ But as life was equally dear to every man (and the stench recovery of

arising from the dead bodies was grown intolerable) no one

would give up his station in or near the window: so they

were obliged to carry me back again. But soon after Cap«

tain Mills (now captain of the Company’s yacht), who was in

possession of a seat in the window, had the humanity to offer

to resign it. I was again brought by the same gentlemen,

and placed in the window.

* At this juncture the Nawab, who had received an account Relerse

of the havock death had made amongst us, sent one of his ontered.
Jemadars to inquire if the Chief survived. They shewed

me to him: told him I had appearance of life remaining, and

believed I might recover if the door was opened very soon.

This answer being returned to the Nawab, an order came

immediately for our release, it being then near six in the

morning.

«The fresh air at the window soon brought me to life; and Restoratio.

a few minutes after ‘the departure of the Jemadar, I was

restored to my sight and senses. But oh! Sir, what words

shall I adopt to tell you the whole that my soul suffered at

reviewing the dreadful destruction round me? I will not

attempt it; and indeed, tears (a tribute I believe I shall

ever pay to the remembrance of this scene, and to the

memory of those brave and valuable men) stop my pen.

Q
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“The little strength remaining amongst the most robust

who survived made it a difficult task to remove the dead piled

up against the door; so that I believe it was more than

twenty minutes before we obtained a passage out for one at a

time. .

«*T had soon reason to be convinced the particular inquiry

made after me did not result from any dictate of favour,

humanity, or contrition; when I came out, I found myself in

ahigh putrid fever, and, not being able to stand, threw

myself on the wet grass without the veranda, when a mes-

sage was brought me, signifying I must immediately attend

the Nawab. Not being capable of walking, they were obliged

to support me under each arm} and on the way, one of the

Jemadars told me, as a friend, to make a full confession

where the treasure was buried in the Fort, or that in half an

hour I should be shot off from the mouth of a cannon.' The

intimation gave me no manner of concern; for, at that junc-

ture, I should have esteemed death the greatest favour the

tyrant could have bestowed upon me.

“ Being brought into his presence, the Nawab soon observed

the wretched plight I was in, and ordered a large folio volume,

which lay on a heap of plunder, to be brought for me to sit

on. I endeavoured two or three times to speak, but my

tongue was dry and without motion. He ordered me water.

As soon as I got speech, I began to recount the dismal

catastrophe of my miserable companions. But he stopped me

short, with telling me, he was well informed of great treasure

being buried or secreted in the Fort, and that I was privy to

it; and if I expected favour, I must discover it.
“Turged every thing I could to convince him there was

no truth in the information; or that if any such thing had

been done, it was without my knowledge. I reminded him

of his repeated assurance to me, the day before; but he

resumed the subject of the treasure, and all I could say

seemed to gain no credit with him. I was ordered prisoner

under the General of the Household Troops.

1A sentence of death common in Hindostan,
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* Amongst the guard which carried me from the Nawab, severe treat-

one bore a large Mahratta battle-axe, which gave rise,

imagine, to Mr. Secretary Cooke’s belief and report to the

fleet, that he saw me carried out, with the edge of the axe to-

wards me, to have my head struck off. This I believe is the

only account you will have of me, until I bring you a better

myself. But to resume my subject: I was ordered to the

camp of the General’s quarters, within the outward ditch,

something short of Omichund’s garden (which you know

is above three miles from the Fort) and with me Messieurs

Court, Walcot, and Burdet. The rest, who survived the fatal

night, gained their liberty, except Mrs. Carey, who was too

young and handsome. The dead bodies were promiscuously

thrown into the ditch of ‘our unfinished ravelin, and covered

with the earth.

“ My being treated with this severity, I have sufficient

reason to affirm, proceeded from the following causes. The

Nawab’s resentment for my defending the Fort, after the Gov-

ernor, &c., had abandoned it ; his prepossession touching the

treasure; and thirdly, the instigations of Omichund' in re-

sentment for my not releasing him out of prison, as soonas I

had the command of the Fort: a circumstance, which in the

heat and hurry of action, never once occurred to me, or I had

certainly done it; because I thought his imprisonment unjust.

But that the hard treatment I met with, may truly be attri-

buted in a great measure to his suggestion and insinuations,

T am well assured, from the whole of his subsequent conduct;

and this further confirmed to me, in the three gentlemen

selected to be my companions, against each of whom he had

conceived particular resentment; and you know Omichund

can never forgive.

ment,

I

Reason for the
Nawab’s cruelly.

«< We were conveyed i in a hackery? to the camp the 21st of Farther eaffer

June, in the morning, and soon loaded with fetters, and
stowed all four in a seapoy’s tent, about four feet long, three

wide, and about three high ; so that we were half in, half out.

1A great Hindu merchant of Calcutta.

? A coach drawn by oxen.
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All night it rained severely. Dismal as this was, it appeared

a paradise compared with our lodging the preceding night.

Here I became covered from head to foot with large painful

boils, the first symptom of my recovery; for until these

appeared, my fever did not leave me.

Tron fetters, “On the morning of the 22nd, they marched us to town

in our fetters, under the scorching beams of an intense hot

sun, and lodged us at the dock-head in the open small

veranda, fronting the river, where we had a strong guard

over us. Here the other gentlemen broke out likewise in

boils all over their bodies (a happy circumstance, which, as

I afterwards learned, attended every one who came out of the

Black Hole).

Embark for “ On our arrival at this place, we soon were given to under-

stand, we should be embarked for Murshedabad,' where I think

you have never been ; and since I have brought you thus far,

you may as well take this trip with us likewise. I have

much leisure on my hands at present; and, you know, you

may chuse your leisure for perusal,

Sufferings onthe = We set out on our travels from the dock-head the 24th

in the afternoon, and were embarked on a large boat

containing part of the plunder. She bulged ashore a little

after we set off, and broke one of her floor timbers: however,

they pushed on, though she made so much water she could

hardly swim. Our bedstead and bedding were a platform of

loose unequal bamboos laid on the bottom timbers: so that

when they had been negligent in bailing, we frequently

waked with half of us in the water. We had hardly any

clothes to our bodies, and nothing but a bit or two of old

gunny-bag, which we begged at the dock-head to defend

us from the sun, rains, and dews. Our food only rice, and

the water along-side, which, you know, is neither very clean,

nor very palatable, in the rains; but there was enough of it

without scrambling.

“In short, Sir, though our distresses in this situation,

covered with tormenting boils, and loaded with irons, will be

Poor diet a pre-
servation.

1 The cnpital of Bengal,
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thought, and doubtless were, very deplorable, yet the grate-

ful consideration of our being so providentially a remnant of

the saved, made every thing else appear light to us. Our

rice-and-water diet, designed as a grievance to us, was cer-

tainly our preservation; for, could we (cireumstanced as we

were) have indulged in flesh and wine, we had died beyond

all doubt.

“ When we arrived at Hughly Fort, I wrote a short letter pptication to

to Governor Bisdom {by means of a pencil and blank leaf of Chissura,
a volume of Archbishop Tillotson’s sermons given us by one

of our guard, part of this plunder) advising him of our

miserable plight. He had the humanity to dispatch three

several boats after us, with fresh provisions, liquors, elothes,

and money ; neither of which reached_us. But, ‘Whatever is,

is right.’ Our rice aud water were more salutary and proper

for us.

* Matters ridiculous and droll abundantly occurred in the Ridiculous

course of our trip. But these I will postpone for a personal sneldent
recital, that I may laugh with you, and will only mention,

that my hands alone being free from imposthumes, I was

obliged for some time to turn nurse, and feed my poor dis-

tressed companions.

“When we came opposite to Santipore, they found the Refractory

boat would not be able to proceed further, for want of ,

water in the river; and one of the guard was sent ashore to

demand of the Zemindar! of that district light boats to

carry prisoners of State under their charge to Murshedabad.

The Zemindar, giving no credit to the fellow, mustered his

guard of pykes, beat him, and drove him away.

“This, on the return of the messenger, raised a most: Attack on the

furious combustion. Our Jemadar ordered his people to Pennines
arms, and the resolution was to take the Zemindar and carry

him bound a prisoner to Murshedabad. Accordingly they

landed with their fire-arms, swords, and targets; when it

occurred to one mischievous mortal amongst them, that the

1 A renter or proprietor of land.
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taking me with them, would be a proof of their commission

and the high offence the Zemindar bad committed.

“ Being immediately lugged ashore, 1 urged the impossi-

bility of my walking, covered as my legs were with boils, and,

several of them in the way of my fetters; and intreated, if I

must go, that they would for the time take off my irons, as it

was not in my power to escape from them ; for they saw I was.

hardly able to stand. But I might as well have petitioned

tigers, or made supplication to the wind. I was obliged to

crawl. They signified to me, it was now my business to obey,

and that I should remember, I was not then in the Fort of

Caleutta. Thus was I marched in a scorching sun, near

noon, for more than a mile and half; my legs running in a

stream of blood from the irritation of my irons, and myself

ready to drop every step with excessive faintness and un-

speakable pain,

“ When we came near the Cutcherry of the district, the

Zemindar with his pykes was drawn up ready to receive us;

but as soon as they presented me to him as a prisoner of State,

estimated and valued tothem at four lakhs of rupees, * he con-

fessed himself sensible of his mistake, and made no further

show of resistance. The Jemadar seized him, and gave

orders to have him bound and sent to the boat: but on_his

making a further submission, and promising to get boats from

Santipore to send after us, and agreeing to pay them for the

trouble he had caused, he was released, and matters accommo-

dated.

*T was become so very low and weak by this cruel travel

that it was some time before they would venture to march me

back; and the ‘hard-hearted villains,’ for their own sakes,

were at last obliged to carry me part of the way, and support

me the rest, covering me from the sun with their shields. A

poor fellow, one of our Under-Gomastas of Santipore, seeing

me at the Cutcherry, knew me, and, with tears in his eyes,

presented me with a bunch of plantains, the half of which

my guard plundered by the way.

1 50,0002,
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“ We departed from hence directly, in expectation of boats Re-embarkation,

following us, but they never came; and the next day (I

think the last of June) they pressed a small open-fishing-

dingy, and embarked us on that, with two of our guard only ;

for in fact, any more would have sunk her. Here we had a

bed of bamboos, something softer, I think, than those of the

great boat; that is, they were something smoother, but we

were so distressed for room that we could not stir without

our fetters bruising our own, or each other’s boils; and were

in woeful distress indeed, not arriving at Murshedabad until

the 7th of July in the afternoon. We were all this while

exposed to one regular succession of heavy rain, or intense

sun-shine, and nothing to defend \us from either.

“But then do not let me forget our blessings; for by smati mercies

the good-nature of one of our guard, we now and then lat-

terly gota few plantains, onions, parched rice, with jageree,

and the bitter green, called Curella: all which were to us lux-

urious indulgences, and make the rice go down deliciously.

“On the 7th of July, early in the morning, we came in Humanity of

sight of the French factory. I had a letter. prepared for of the French
Mr. Law the Chief, and prevailed on my guard to put Simbavar,
to there. On the reccip6 of my letter, Mr. Law, with
much politeness and humanity, came down to the water-side,

and remained near an hour with us. He gave the guard a

gentecl present for his civilities, and offered him a consider-

able reward and security, if he would permit us to land for

an hour’s refreshment: but he replied his head would pay

for the imdulgence. After Mr. Law had given us a supply

of clothes, linen, provisions, liquors, and cash, we left his

factory with grateful hearts and compliments.

“ We could not, as you may imagine, long resist touching over-indulgenco,

our stock of provisions; but’ however temperate we thought

ourselves, we were all disordered more or less by this first

indulgence. A few hours after I was seized with a painful

inflammation in my right leg and thigh.

L Molasses.
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“Passing by our fort and factory at Cossimbazar, raised

some melancholy reflections amongst us. About four in the

afternoon we landed at Murshedabad, and were conducted to,

and deposited in an open stable, not far from the Nawab’s

palace in the city.

“This march, I will freely confess to you, drew tears of:

disdain and anguish of heart from me; thus to be led like a

felon, a spectacle to the inhabitants of this populous city! My

soul could not support itself with any degree of patience; the

pain too arising from my boils, and inflammation of my leg,

added not a little, I believe, to the depression of my spirits.

“ Here we had a guard of Moors placed on one side of us,

and a guard of Hindus on the other; and being destined to

remain in this place of purgatory, until the Nawab returned

to the city, I ean give you no idea of our sufferings. The

immense crowd of spectators, who came from all quarters of

the city to satisfy their curiosity, so blocked us up from

morning till night, that I may truly say we narrowly escaped

a second suffocation, the weather proving exceeding sultry.

“The first night after our arrival in the stable, I was

attacked by a fever; and that might and the next day, the

inflammation of my leg and thigh greatly increased ; but all

terminated the second night in a regular fit of the gout in

my right foot and ankle; the first and last fit of this kind

T ever had. How my irons agreed with this new visitor I

leave you to Judge: for I could not by any intreaty obtain

liberty for so much as that poor leg.

«“ During our residence here, we experienced every act of

humanity and friendship from Mons. Law and Mynheer Vernet,

the French and Dutch Chiefs of Cossimbazar, who left no

means unessayed to procure our release. Our provisions were

regularly sent us from the Dutch Tanksal’ and we were

daily visited by Messrs. Ross and Ekstone, the Chief and

Second there; and indeed received such instances of commiser-

ation and affection from Mynheer Ross as will ever claim

my most grateful remembrance.

1 Phe Dutch mint near Murshedabad,
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“The whole body of Armenian merchants too were most Mention of
. . . . Warren

kind and friendly to us; we were not a little indebted to Hastings.

the obliging good-natured behaviour of Messrs. Hastings and

Chambers, who gave us as much of their company as they

could. They had obtained their liberty by the French and

Duteh Chiefs becoming bail for their appearance. This

security was often tendered for us, but without effect.

“The tith of July the Nawab arrived in the city, and with Better news.

him Bundoo Sing, to whose house we were removed that

afternoon in a hackery ; for I was not able to put my foot

to the ground. Here we were confirmed in a report which

had before reached us that the Nawab, on his return to

Hughly, made inquiry for-us when he released Messrs.

Watts and Collet, &c., with intention to release us also; and,

that he had expressed some resentment for having so hastily

sent us up to Murshedabad. This proved a very pleasing

piece of intelligence to us; and gave us reason to hope the

issue would be more favourable to us than we expected.

“Though we were here lodged in an open bungalow only, Hope of release.

yet we found ourselves relieved from the crowd of people which

had stifled us at the stable, and once more breathed the fresh

air. We were treated with much kindness and respect by

Bundoo Sing, who generally passed some time or other of

the day with us, and feasted us with hopes of being soon

released.

“The 15th we were conducted in a hackery to the Killa, 1 Conducted to

in order to have an audience of the Suba, and know our fate, palace.

We were kept above an hour in the sun opposite the gate ;

whilst here we saw several of his ministers, brought out dis-

graced, and dismissed from their employs, who but a few

minutes before we had seen enter the Killa in the utmost

pomp and magnificence.

“ Receiving advice that we should have no audience or No audience,

admittance to the Nawab that day, we were deposited again

at our former lodgings, the stable, to be at hand, and had the

mortification of passing another night there.

1 The seat of the Nawab or Suba’s residence in the city of Murshedabad.
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“The 16th in the morning an old female attendant on the

widow! of the late Aliverdi Khan paid a visit to our guard and

discoursed half an hour with him. Overhearing part of the

conversation to be favourable to us, I obtained the whole

from him; and learned, that at a feast the preceding night

the Begum had solicited our liberty, and that the Nawab had

promised he would release us on the morrow. This, you will

believe, gave us no small spirit; but at noon all our hopes

were dashed by a piece of intelligence from the guard

implying that an order was prepared, and ready to pass the

seal, for returning us in irons to Raja Monikchund,

governor of Allynagore, the name the Nawab had given to

Calcutta.

“T need not tell you what athunderclap this proved to us

in the very height of our flattering expectations; for I was,

as to myself, well convinced I should never have got alive out

of the hands of that rapacious harpy, who is a genuine

Hindu, in the very worst acceptation of the word; there-

fore, from that moment, gave up every hope of liberty.

“ Men in this state of mind are generally pretty easy ; it

is hope which gives anxiety. We dined and laid ourselves

down to sleep; and for my own part, I never enjoyed a

sounder afternoon’s nap.)

“Towards five the guard waked me with notice that the

Nawab would presently pass by to his palace of Mooteejeel.

We ronsed, and desired the guard would keep the view clear

for us. When the Nawab came in sight, we made him the

usual salaam ; and when he came abreast of us, he ordered his

litter to stop, and us to be called to him. We advanced;

and I addressed him in a short speech, setting forth our

sufferings, and petitioned for our liberty. The wretched

spectacle we made must, I think, have made an impression on

a breast the most brutal; and if he is capable of pity or con-

trition, his heart felt it then. I think it appeared in spite

of him in his countenance. He gave me no reply: but

ordered two of his officers to see our irons cut off, and to

} The dowager princess, grandmother of Suraj-u-daula.
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conduct us wherever we chose to go, and to take care we

receive no trouble nor insult ; and having repeated this order

distinctly, directed his retinue to go on. As soon as our legs

were free we took boat and proceeded to the Dutch Tanksall,

where we were received and entertained with real joy and

humanity.

* Thus, my worthy friend, you see us restored to liberty, at

a time when we could entertain no probable hope of ever

obtaming it. The foundation of the alarm at noon was this:

Moneloll, the Nawab’s Dewan, and some others, had in the

morning taken no small pains to convince the Nawab that,

notwithstanding my losses at Allynagore, I was still possessed

of enough to pay a considerable sum for my freedom; and

advised the sending meto Monikehund, who would be better

able to trace out the remainder of my effects, To this, I was

afterwards informed, the Nawab replied: ‘It may be; if he

has any thing left, let him keep if: his sufferings have been

great; he shall have his liberty.? Whether this was the

result of his own sentiments, or the consequence of his pro-

mise the night before to the old Begum, I cannot say; but

believe, we owe our freedom partly to both.

* Being myself once again at liberty, it is time I should

release you, Sir, also from the unpleasing travel I have led you

in this narrative of our distresses, from our entrance into that

fatal Black Hole. And, shall it after all be said, or even

thought, that I can possibly have arraigned or commented too

severely on a conduct which alone plunged us into these un-

equalled sufferings? I hope not.”

The Black Hole was demolished in 1818. The

accompanying extracts from a letter, signed “ Asia-

ticus,”’ which subsequently appeared in the Asiatic

Journal of Bengal, will be read with interest.

Explanations,

Conclusion,

Demolition of

the Black Hole
in 1818,

“The formidable Black Hole is now no more. Early in appearance of

the year 1812 I visited it. It was situated in the old fort

of Calcutta, and was then on the eve of demolition. Since

that time the fort has come down, and on its site have been

the Black Mole
in 1812,
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erected some extensive warehouses for the Company. I

recollect. forming one of a party in Caleutta, for the purpose

of paying a last visit to this melancholy spot. It presented,

on entering, the appearance of an oven, being long, dark,

and narrow. One window (if I recollect right) was the

utmost, and this secured by bars. The escape of even the

small number who survived the horrid fate of the rest is

surprising, and can only be accounted for by the accident of

their being near. the window, and the night air, which in

Bengal is commonly damp, allaying the fever which con-

sumed the rest.””

List of the The following is a list of the persons who

Black foe, perished in the Black Hole on the night of Sunday,
the 19th of June 1756; appended to Holwell’s

Narrative. Sixty-nine soldiers are omitted from

the list, as their names are unknown. It is supple-

mented by a list of the survivors.

VICTIMS.

Members of Council.

id Baillie } Esgqrs, ; | The Reverend Jervas Bellumy,
° 9

Gentlemen in the Service.

Mr, Jenks. | Mr. Harod.

» Revely. » FP. Johnstone.

» Law. » Ballard,

» Coastes, Ens, Mil. » N. Drake.

» VYalicourt. » Carse.

oy deb. » Knapton.

» ‘Toriano. » Gosling.

» EH, Page. » Bing.

» 5S. Page. » Dod.

» Grub. » Dalrymple.

» Street.

Military Captains.

Clayton. Witherington.

Buchanan.
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Lieutenants.

Bishop. Simson,

Hays. Bellamy.

Blagg.

Ensigns.

Paceard. C. Wedderburn,

Seot. Dumbleton, Kus, Mil.

Hastings.

Serjeants, &e.

s Mat Abraham,
" teiMajor, : tyesQuartermaster-Ser =e Carthage of militia,

‘ & j Bleau,

Sea Captains.

Hunt. Porter,

Osburne. W. Parker.

Puruell, survived the night, Caulker,
but died next day. Bendall,

Carey. Atkinson.

Stephenson. Leech,
Guy. &e., &e.

LIST OF THOSE WHO SURVIVED THE BLACK-HOLE PRISON.

Mr. Holwell. Capt. Mills.

» Court, » Dickson,

» Seeretary Cooke, 2 Moran.

» Lushington. » John Meadows.

» Burdet. And 12 nilitary and militia blacks

Ens. Walcot, and whites, some of whom

recovered when the door
Mrs, Carey.

was open.
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CHAPTER VIII.

FIRST GOVERNMENT OF CLIVE,

A. D. 1757 To 1760.

HE news of the disasters at Calcutta soon

reached Madras. There was dismay at the

capture of Calcutta. There were cries for ven-

geance on the murderers of Englishmen. Captain

Clive had been away to England. We had return-

ed with the commission of Lieutenant-Colonel from

King George the Second. He had joined Admiral

Watson in an expedition against Gheriah, a nest of

Hindu pirates on the western coast of India. Ie

had helped in the destruction of Gheriah. He had

returned to Madras to hear of the capture of Cal-

cutta and tragedy of the Black Hole. Colonel

Clive and Admiral Watson were soon on their way

from Madras to Caleutta. In January 1757 the

English fleet reachedCaleutta, The native Gov-

ernor of Caleutta, who had been appointed by the

Nawab, fled in a panic. After a very little fighting

the English flag was hoisted over Fort William.

Caleutta was recovered on the second of Janu-

ary 1757; from this date Robert Clive was Governor

of the English settlements in Bengal. Mlaving

recovered possession of the settlement of Calcutta,
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it was time to punish the Nawab for the massacre

of Englishmen, and force him to make some com-

pensation for the severe losses which had been

sustained by the Company and the inhabitants

of Caleutta, On the 10th of January the English

attacked and captured the native town of Hughli.

These movements aroused the young Nawab. He

appeared in the neighbourhood of Calcutta with an

army of forty thousand men. He feigned friend-

ship: he promised redress; but it was difficult to

believe him. Every demand made by the English

was delayed or evaded. The presence of his army

was a menace to the English at Calcutta; and some

of his people were beginning to enter the Company’s

bounds.

On the 4th of February Clive brought matters

to a crisis. He called on the Nawab to withdraw

his army. The Nawab refused. Clive had little

more than two thousand men, but two-thirds were

Europeans. He attacked the Nawab’s camp at early

morning. His success was marred by a fog, but it

sufficed to frighten the enemy. The Nawab retreat-

ed from Calcutta and began to make overtures of

peace.

There were objections to making a peace with

the Nawab. Watson thought that he had not been

sufficiently punished ; and that the Nawab was

only amusing the English in order to cover his

retreat. The English generally were burning to

avenge the atrocity of the Black Hole. But Clive

was conscious of other dangers. Great Britain was

Defeat of the

Nawab by Clive,

February 1757.

Objections to

peace.
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on the eve of a war with France. The Nawab might

form a league with the French at Chandernagore.

If the Nawab’s army was supported by a French

force the English Company might find itself in

danger. Under such circumstances Colonel Clive

thought it would be best to make peace with the

Nawab, secure compensation, and restore the Com-

pany’s settlement to its old footing, rather than

endanger the safety of the settlement by protracted

hostilities for the sake of revenge.

Clive therefore began to negotiate with the Nawab.

He found no difficulty as far as promises were

concerned. The Nawab was ready to promise any-

thing. We engaged to restore all the goods that had

been taken from the English factories; he would

pay for all that were lost or damaged ; he fixed the

day on which full compensation was to be made.

He granted all former privileges, and permitted the

English to fortify Caleutta. . A treaty was soon con-

cluded ; the only question was whether the Nawab

would fulfil its obligations.

Peace having been made with the Nawab, the

next question was how to deal with the French at

Chandernagore. Clive proposed a neutrality in

Bengal. But the French governor of Chandcr-

nagore could not pledge himself to a neutrality ;

he was bound to obey all orders he might receive

from Pondicherry ; should he be told to attack the

English, he would have no option.

This answer was perplexing ; the English in Bengal

had real grounds for alarm. French influence had
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inereased in India. M. Bussy had set up a Nizam

at Hyderabad, and was all powerful in the Dekhan.

He had obtained the cession of a large territory for

the maintenance of a French forec; the new

French dominion extended six hundred miles along

the coast of Coromandel. It was certain that if

M. Bussy jomed the French at Chandernagore,

the Nawab would court his friendship; and if the

French supported the Nawab, there was every rea-

son to fear that Calcutta would be overwhelmed.

Accordingly Clive asked the Nawab for permis-

sion to attack the French at Chandcrnagore. At

first the Nawab refused. Then he was alarmed at

rumours that the Afghans at Delhi were about to

invade Bengal; and he naturally wanted Clive to

help him to keep the Afghans out of Bengal. At

last he gave the required permission to Clive to

attack the French. In March Chandernagore was

captured by the English,

Clive was now bent upon rooting the French

out of Bengal. Some fugitives from Chander-

nagore had fled to Cossimbazar, and found refuge

in the French factory under M. Law. Clive de-

manded the surrender of the refugees. But the

Nawab had already begun to lean towards the

French. He had given money and arms to the

French refugees. When Clive became more press-

ing, the Nawal gave the French more money, and

sent them away up country towards Patna, under

pretence of banishing them from his dominions.

To crown all, authentic reports were received by

R

Capture of

Chandernagore.

The Nawab
inclines tuwards

the French,
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Colonel Clive that M. Bussy was marching a large

force towards Bengal; it was also discovered that

the Nawab was sending friendly letters and pre-

sents to M. Bussy.’

By this time Clive found that he could not trust

the Nawab. Mr. Watts, a Company’s servant, was

sent to reside at Murshedabad. He reported that

the Nawab was not only intriguing with the French,

but evading the fulfilment of the treaty. The

conduct of the Nawab was suspicious and threaten-

ing. One day he would tcar up Clive’s Ictters

and threaten to put Mr. Watts to death; the next

day he would bee pardon of Mr. Watts. Ie sent

an army to Plassey, under the command of his

prime minister, with the evident object of threaten-

ing the English at Calentta. | Clive requested him to

withdraw the army. In reply the Nawab sent a.

further reinforcement to Plassey under the com-

mand of Meer Jaffier.

Clive was now placed in a most difficult and trying

position. He was hurried on by force of circum-

stances into a.line of action which no one had fore-

seen. Onrecovering possession of Calcutta he would

have been content with a certain amount of redress

and compensation. All he wanted was to inflict

such a punishment on the Nawab as would prevent

him from making any future attempt on Calcutta.

2 The determination of the Nawab to break with the English was

obvious in other directions. English merchants going to the Factories up

country were arrested and sent back by the Nawab’s orders. This was

contrary to treaty, but the merchants were told that the Nawab would

not regard the treaty.-See Verelst’s Bengal, page 17.
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But the war with France introduced new compli-

cations. The Nawab had been inclined to pit the

French against the English; he had given an un-

willing consent to the English capture of Chander-

nagore ; he was inviting the French in the Dekhan

to drive the English out of Bengal. The capture

of Chandernagore had silenced the French for a

while; but nothing short of the destruction of the

Nawab would prevent a renewal of the struggle

between the French and English in Bengal.

The state of Bengal in 1757. thus bore a strong French and Bs.

resemblance to the state of the Carnatic a few

short years before. lad there been a Dupleix in

Bengal, he would have supported Suraj-u-daula as

a French Nawab, and gone to war with the English.

In like manner Clive was prepared to set up an

English Nawab in Bengal, to counteract any joint

efforts that might be made by the French in the

Dekkan and Suraj-u-daula to,drive the English out

of Calcutta.

Fortune played into the hands of Clive. The Native conspire

grandees at Murshedabad were already disgusted *“*

with the insolence of the Nawab. Many of them

were alarmed at his threats. At last they formed

a conspiracy to dethrone him. Jugget Seit, the

Hindu banker, was a leader in the conspiracy ; so

was the prime minister who commanded the army

at Plassey; so was Meer Jaffier who had joined the

army at Plasscy. The conspirators were timid after

the manner of Bengalees; they wanted Clive to

help them ; they made overtures through Omichund,
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the Hindu' contractor who had formerly served the

Company.®

Clivemakes | = Yt is needless to dwell upon the plot. Clive

comspiators. made sebret terms with the conspirators. Mr.

Watts escaped from Cossimbazar. The Nawab

marched all his forces to Plassey, whilst Clive

moved up from Calcutta. Clive and the Nawab

met at Plassey. The battle was fought in June

1757, just a twelvemonth after the loss of Caleutta.

Meer Jaffier had promised to go over to Clive ; but he

only looked on and did nothing. Clive utterly

routed the Nawah’s army. ‘The Nawab fled away,

a helpless fugitive. Subsequently he fell into the

hands of his enemies, and was put to death by a

son of Meer Jaflicr.

Clivomales Movs Clive went on to Murshedabad and placed Meer

Presents and Jafficy on the throne. The new Nawab was profuse

with presents and promises. The treasures of Suraj-

u-daula had been -estimated at forty millions

sterling. Inreality they only amounted to a million

and a half. Meer Jaflier engaged to pay a million

to the Company ; three-quarters of a million as

1 See ante, page 224. Omichund subsequently threatened to divulge the

whole plot to the Nawab, unless he was paid about three hundred thousand

sterling. Clive duped him with a sham copy of a treaty, purporting to

have been made between the Company and Meer Jaifier, stipulating that

the money should be given to Omiehund, The real treaty contained no such

clause, This trick, by which Clive personally profited nothing, has done

more harm to his reputation than any other charge that has been brought

against hin.

2 Mecr Jaffer and Meer Cossim have become such current names in the

Government records as well agin the Parliamentary debates, that it would

be inexpedient to change them into modern spelling; otherwise they

should be styled Jafiv Mir and Mir Kazim, or Awir Jaffir and Amir Kazim.
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compensation to the inhabitants of Caleutta, native

and European ; also presents to Clive and members

of Government. Half the money was paid down

at onee, and the remainder was promised at an

early date. Boats went down the river from Mur-

shedabad to Caleutta Jaden with treasure to the

ralue of eight hundred thousand pounds sterling.

Few events in history bave created a greater Joy and ériemph

revulsion of fecling than the victory at Plassey.

The people of Caleutta had been depressed, not

only by the capture of the Factory, but by the

utter loss of all their worldly goods. But now the

disgrace was forgotten in the triumph ; the poverty

was forgotten at the sight of the treasure. Orme says

that the whole scttlement was intoxicated with

joy; quarrels were forgotten and enemies became

friends.

Clive reccived a vast money reward from Meer weatn of ciive.

Jaffier. Large as it was, the time came when he

expressd his surprise that he had not taken more.

Ife had placed Mcer Jaffier on the throne of the

three provinces at a time when the trembling

grandee might have expected death and destruction

for his maction at Plassey. Tor the moment, the

grandees at Murshedabad regarded Clive as the

symbol of power, the arbiter of fate, the type of

omnipotence who could protect or destroy at will.

One and all were cager to propitiate Clive with

presents; such has been the instinct of orientals

from the remotest antiquity. They are ever ready

to propitiate men in powcr with flattevies and
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presents, just as they seek to avert the wrath or

implore the protection of deity by praises and

sacrifices. Clive refused to accept any present,

saving what came from the hands of Meer Jaffier.

In due course Clive returned to Calcutta. He

soon had cause for anxiety. The new Nawab

began to enter upon a dangerous course of policy.

Hitherto the Nawabs of Bengal, and of every other

province under Moghul rule, had employed Hindu

ministers and renters in preference to Muham-

madans. The Hindus were acheck upon the kins-

men and retainers of the Nawab. They were more

subservient and amenable to the Nawab. Mcer

Jafficr reversed this state of things; he sought

to remove the Hindu prime minister, and some

of the more powerful of the Hindu governors,

and replace them by his own kinsmen. ‘The

result was that four different rebellions broke out

at the same time. To make matters worse the

Nawab of Oude was threatening to invade Behar

and take possession of the three provinces of Ben-

gal, Behar, and Orissa.

The Nawab of Oude played an important part

in the subsequent history of British India. His

name was Shuja-u-daula. His territories extended

from Behar to the neighbourhood of Delhi; from

the banks of the Jumna to the mountains of Nepal.

Clive was once more driven on by the force of cir-

cumstances. He had set up a new Nawab, who

was equally incapable of keeping the peace in

Bengal, or of keeping invaders out of the province.
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Unless he interfered in the administration of

affairs, Bengal would go to rack and ruin, and the

Company’s settlements be swamped in the general

anarchy. ILe suppressed the rebellions within the

three provinces by guarantecing the safety of the

Hindu officials. The prime minister cscaped to

Calentta and was taken under English protection.

Clive especially guaranteed the ITindu governor of

Behar, named Ram Narain. This man ruled the

country between Bengal proper and the dominions

of the Nawab of Oude. By giving him a guarantee,

he was kept from deserting Meer Jafficr and going

over to the Nawab of Oude. The fear of an inva-

sion, however, was soon over; the Nawab of Oude

was called away by troubles in the North-West.

Meer Jaffier was forced to respect the guarantees

of Clive, but he was very jealous of the inter-

ference. Clive, however, could not help his position.

He already saw that, he had .no alternative but to

exercise a paramount power or abandon the coun-

try. If Behar was invaded from without, the

Nawab had no one to look to but Clive. Mean-

while, had the rebellions of the Hindu governors

continued in the provinces, they would have laid the

country open to invasion.

Meer Jailier was well aware of his weakness.

He knew that he was helpless without Clive. Still

his mortification was none the less. Before the

eapture of Calcutta, no Englishmen appeared at

Murshedabad, except as supplicants for trading

privileges. Since the battle of Plassey, the Engtsh

Difficult position

of Clive.

Authority of

the Nawab

exercised by

Clive.
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were lords and masters. The Hindu grandecs were

making their court to Clive, just as the Mnelish

merchants during the previous century had heen

aceustomed to make their court to the Nawab and

his great: men.

The victories of Clive had made him famous in

India, before he went to Bengal. Before the battle

of Plassey, the Mahrattas of Poona offered to help

him against the Nawab of Bengal. After the battle,

as will be seen hereafter, he received flattering

overtures from the Moghul court at Delhi.

Whilst Clive was trying to keep the peace in

Bengal, the French were making war in the South-

em Peninsula, The declaration of war in 1756

between Great Britain and France had revived the

old struggle between the English and French in the

Carnatic. A large Isrench foree landed at Pon-

dicherry under the ill-fated Count Lally. Clive

soneht to create a diversion, by sending an expe-

dition under Colonel Forde to drive the Irench out

of the Dekhan. The story of the expedition has

lost its interest. It will suffice to say that French

influence in the Dekhan was ruined by Lally.

He recalled Bussy from the Dekhan. The conse-

quence was that Forde suceceding in expelling the

Freneh from the Dekhan. Subsequently Lally laid

siege to Madras, but was compelled to raise it. Ile

was next utterly defeated at Wandewash by Sir

Eyre Coote. Pondicherry was taken by Coote and

Lally returned to France, where he was condemned

to death, and most unjustly executed.
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Meantime the English in Bengal had troubles of 7

their own. In the beginning of 1759 there was a ®

storm from the north-west. At Delhi, the Kine, or

Padishah, was entirely in the hands of his Vizier, and

was in danger of his life. Ilis eldest son, known

as the Shahzada, fled from Delhi to escape from

the Vizier. After many adventures and wander-

ings, the Shahzada appeared on the border of Behar.

lfc gave out that his father, the King, had given him

the government of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa. He

was soon at the headof a large army.

he Shahzada
hreatens

engal,

Clive marehed. to the frontier and soon disposed Defeated by
ive.

of the Shahzada. Meor Jafficr expressed much

gratitude for this service. The Vizier at Delhi was

equally pleased at the overthrow of the rebel prince.

He sent the letters or sunnuds of investiture to

Meer Jafficr, as Nawab of Bengal, Behar, and

Ovissa. Ile also sent a title of honour to Clive;

subsequently the Nawab gave a jaghive to Clive for

the maintenance of the title. It was given out

that the grant of the jaghire was an act of grati-

tude on the part of the Nawab for the defeat of the

Shahzada.’

1 This title led to the celebrated acquisition known as Clive’s Jaghire. In

India under the Moghuls it was customary to give a grant of land with a

title; the recipient farmed out the lands at a comparatively high annual

rate, and paid a smaller yearly quit-rent into the imperial treasury. After the

battle of Plassey, the Nawab had ceded a large territory on the bank of the

river Hughli to the English Company, The Company paid a quit-rent of thirty

thousand pounds to the Nawab, and farmed out the lands for a hundred

thonsand pounds. The Nawab mace over this quit-rent to Clive, which was

heneeforth known as Colonel Clive’s jaghire.
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1n 1759 Clive was involved in hostilities with the

Dutch. A Dutch armament suddenly arrived from

Batavia and sailed ap the Wuehh River, Tt tuned

out that whilst Meer Jafficr had been flattering

Clive, he had been intrigning with the Dutch at

Chinsura; and the Dutch had arranged to help him

with a fleet against the English. There was no war

between Great Britain and Tolland, and consequent -

ly it was difficult for Clive to decide how to act 5 yet

it was obvious that the Dutch armament at Batavia

threatened Caleuttags. that ifthe armanent effected

& junction with the Dutch foree at Chinsura, the

two combined might overwhelm Calcutta. Clive

took upon Limsel! all the responsibilities of a war ;

he fought against the Dutch, as it were with a

halter round his neck. Me barred the advance of

the Dutch; he left them to begin the attack ;

he then routed them utterly. He compelled the

Dutch to acknowledge themselves the aggressors

and to pay compensation for all losses and damages.

The Dutch government in Europe made loud com-

plaints, but they had no remedy. Clive had beaten

them both at diplomacy and at arms.

The complicity of Mecr Jaffier in the Dutch

expedition was beyond all doubt. Indeed it might

be conjectured that Clive got his jaghire, not because

he had defeated the Shahzada, but because AMecr

Jaflicr was in mortal terror lest Clive should punish

him for his intrigues with the Dutch. It seems far

more likely that the jaghire was given as a peace-

offering than as an act of gratitude.
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In 1759-60 the Shahzada again threatened Behar,

supported by the Nawab of Oude. Clive sent a

force against the invaders under the command of

Major Calliaud. The first administration of Clive

was drawing toa close. Tle embarked for England

in February 1760. Tle was in the zenith of his

fame at the early age of thirty-five.

The policy of Clive at this period may he gathered 1

from a remarkable letter which he addressed to

William Pitt, dated the 7th of January 1759.’ IIc

told Pitt that no trust-or reliance could be placed

upon the Nawab, and stillless upon the heir apparent

to the throne at Murshedabad. A. strong European

foree in Bengal was therefore indispensable, and.

Clive thought that two thousand European soldicrs

would put an end to all alarm. If the Nawab or

his successor proved troublesome, such a force would

enable the English toasstume the sovereignty of the

country. It would be casy fo obtain letters of con-

firmation from the Court at Delhi by engaging to

send a yearly tribute to the King, as His Majesty’s

share of therevenue of the province. The people of

the country would rejoice at the change of rulers.’

1 See Malcolm’s Life of Clive, volume IJ, page 119.

2 Clive estimated the gross revenues of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa at three

or four millions sterling. In the early years of the reign of Aurangzeb, the

imperial share of the revenue of Bengal amounted to fifty-five lakhs, or more

than half a million sterling, In 1665-66 Tavernier saw this amount of money

being carried in hard cash from Bengal to Delhi, (See ante, page 151.)

Neither Tavernier, nor any one else, could estimate the gross revenue,

Forty years later, when Nawab Murshed Kuli Khan was trying to in-

gratiate himself with the Moghul Court at Delhi, he sent more than a million

sterling to the imperial treasury as the king’s share of the revenue of

Bengal.

Clive returns to

England, 1760.

Polley of Clive:

his ictter to Pitt.
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Clive further told Pitt that the Vizier at Delhi

had already sounded him on this point. The Vizicr

had offered Clive the post of Dewan, or Collector of

the revenue of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa. Origin-

ally the post of Dewan had been distinct from that

of Nawab or Nazim. The Dewan was the financial

minister who collected the revenue in the name of

the Emperor; paid all the official salaries from

that of the Nawab Nazim downwards; and remitted

the surplus to the imperial treasury at Delhi. The

Nawab Nazim was the military commander of the

provinee, who was supposed to keep the peace, and

help the Dewan to colleet the revenuc. But the

two posts of Dewan and Nawab Nazim had become

united in one man ever since the days of Murshed

Kuli Khan. Clive declined the separate post of

King’s Dewan. It would have excited the jealousy

of Meer Jaffier, and he had not a sufficient Euro-

pean foree in Bengal to enable him to carry out the

measure in the teeth of the Nawab."

Strange to say, Clive’s scheme for the govern-

ment of Bengal resembles one which had been

drawn up twelve years previously by a Colonel James

Mill. In all probability Clive never saw _ it.’

Colonel James Mill had lived twenty years in India.

He projected the conquest of the three provinces

1 Tt will be seen hereafter that the post of King’s Dewau was subsequently

accepted by Clive in behalf of the English Company.

No historian, as far as Tam aware, has referred to Mill’s scheme. It lies

buried in an appendix to Bolt’s Affairsin Bengal, The original is very diffuse,

like most English in the eighteenth century, The remarks in the text give

all the pointsein Mill’s memorandum,
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of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa, under the flag of the

Emperor of Germany. In 1746 he submitted his

scheme to Francis of Lorraine, the husband of

Maria Theresa.

«The Moghul empire,” says Colonel Mill, “is

overflowing with gold and silver. She has always

been fecble and defenecless. It is a miracle that

no European prince with a maritime power has

ever attempted the conquest of Bengal. By a

single stroke infinite wealth might be aequired,

which would counterbalance the mines of Brazil

and Peru.

“The policy of the Moghuls is bad; their army

is worse; they arc without anavy. The empire is

exposed to perpetual revolts. Their ports and

rivers arc open to foreigners... The country might

be conquered, or laid under contribution, as easily

as the Spaniards overwhelmed the naked Indians

of America.

“A rebel subject, named Aliverdi Khan, has torn

away the three provinces of Bengal, Behar, and

Orissa from the Moghul empire. Ue has treasure

to the value of thirty millions sterling. is yearly

revenue must be at least two millions. The pro-

vinces are open to the sea. Three ships with fifteen

hundred or two thousand regulars would suffice for

the undertaking. The British nation would co-

operate for the sake of the phinder and the promo-

tion of their trade. The Last India Company

should be left alone. No Company can keep a
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secret. Moreover, the English Company is so dis-

tracted as to be incapable of any firm resolution.”

It has been said that Clive conquered Bengal for

the sake of the late Company. From his letter to

Pitt it would seem that he did nothing of the kind.

Ife wished all conquests in India to be transferred

to the British nation; and he suggested to Pitt that

the surplus revenue might be appropriated to the

payment of the national debt.

Pitt coneurred with Clive as regards the prac-

ticability of the sclieme, but he saw difficulties in

the way. The Company's charter would not expire

for twenty years. The Judges had been already

consulted, and decided that the conquests in India

belonged to the Company and not to the Crown.

Moreover, if the conquests were transferred to the .
Crown, Pitt was of opinion that they might en-

danger the public liberties. It is a curious co-

incidence thata single century should have preciscly

intervened between the day when Clive penned his

letter, and the day when the direct government of

India was assumed by the Crown.

1 Only eight weeks were wanting to complete the century. Clive wrote

on the 7th of Jannary 1759. The proclamation of the Queen’s assuming

the direct Government of India was made on the 5th of November 1858.
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CALCUTTA RECORDS: CHANGING NAWABS.,

1760 ro 1763.

PPXILE departure of Clive from Bengal was followed Crveal state of

by what may be termed the revolutionary

period. Clive had foreseen that the existing status

could not last. He had propounded his scheme of

government to Pitt ; but the famous war minister had

raised objections. Some-decided step was absolutely

necessary. Delay might be attended with serious

danger. Hindustan was swarming with adventurers,

Mahratta and Afghan. A helpless Nawab with

a rabble army would never repel the warlike bands

from the north-west who were carving out prinei-

palities in India. An English foree could hold

Bengal against all comers; butthere was no money

to pay for it. The revenues of the Nawab were

swallowed up by his rabble following; and it was

impossible to expect that the Company should

provide for the defence of Bengal out of their

profits as merchants. ortunatcly Mahrattas and

Afghans were at war against cach other in the

Upper Provinces, or Bengal might have been

overwhelmed at any moment, and all the advan-

tages gained by the battle of Plassey might have

been sacrificed at a single blow.
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Clive was succeeded for a few months by Mr.

Tfolwell as Governor of Caleutta. Holwell was the

man who had written an account of his sufferings

in the Black Hole. Te was naturally spiteful

against all Nawabs, and especially so against Nawab

Jafficr. Ife was succeeded by Mr. Vansittart, a

well-meaning man, who was soon called upon to take

serious action.

The Shahzada and Nawab of Oudh were turn-

ing up again under novel circumstances. The King

of Delhi had been murdered by the Vizier. The

Shahzada proclaimed himself King under the name

of Shah Alam, and appointed the Nawab of Oudh

to be his Vizier. They raised an army and began

to threaten Behar.

The dethronement of Nawab Jafficr was thus per-

haps a political necessity; a stronger man was wanted

for the place. Mcer Cossim was pitched upon; he

had married a daughter of Nawab Jaflier, and was

known to be a soldier of capacity. There was no

difficulty as to terms. The Calcutta Council ex-

pected a donation of twenty lakhs of rupees to be

distributed amongst themselves. Meer Cossim was

ready to promise payment, but Vansittart refused

to take the money. Indeed so large a sum, equal

to more than two hundred thousand pounds ster-

ling, could seareely have been forthcoming out of

an empty treasury, with a dangerous enemy on the

frontier.’

1Mr, Mill, and every historian after him, says that Mr. Vansittart took

che money and distributed it. It will be seen hereafter that the charge was

a calumny as far as Vansitlart and Warren Hastings are concerned.
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Nawab Cossim was placed upon the throne with- Installation of

out the slightest opposition. Meer Jaffier yielded

to his fate, and gave up the post to his son-in-law.

The people of Bengal cared nothing about the

change of Nawabs, and thus the English could

already depose and set up Nawabs at will.

The English and Nawab Cossim took the field Invasion

against the King and Nawab Vizier. The details

of the military operations are of no moment. It

will suffice to say that the enemy was utterly routed.

The Nawab Vizier fled;baek to Oudh. Shah Alam

surrendered to the English, and took up his abode at

Patna, the capital of Behar.

The records in the Lome Office at Calcutta begin Records of the

about this period. The letters which passed be- 6"

tween the Governor and Council at Caleutta and the

Cowrt of Directors at London form the most valu-

able portion. The Governor and Council at Cal-

cutta reported the progress of events. In reply the

Court of Directors reviewed what had happened and

passed their orders. These records are diffuse but

intelligible; they tell the actual state of affairs; at

the same time they show that neither the Board at

Calcutta, nor the Directors at London, were able to

read between the lines.

It is obvious from the records, assisted perhaps Designs of Meer

by a knowledge of after events, to sec that from the

first, Mecr Cossim was bent on emancipating him-

self from the English. He did his best to with-

draw from all intercourse with English. He put a

stop to all money disputes with his allies by ceding

S
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three districts,’ yielding a yearly revenue of half a

million sterling. Ue was under the impression

that this revenue would satisfy the English once

and for all, as it would suffice to maintain

an English force in time of war, and to fill the

coffers of the Company in time of peace. ILe left

the English to administer the affairs of these three

districts as they pleased. Ie thus entered upon the

undisturbed possession of the remainder of the

three provinees. Moreover, he moved his capital

from Murshedabad to Monghyr. Murshedabad was

not much more than a himdied miles from Cal-

cutta. Monghyr was nearly three hundred miles.

At Monghyr Nawab Cossim could train and dis-

cipline an army without observation; and it will

appear from the sequel that he formed an army at

Monghyr that fought against the English with an

obstinate bravery far exceeding that of any native

army encountered by Clive.

All this while Shah Alam was living in a very

anomalous position at Patna. Te was nominally

a rebel when he was defeated by Clive and Nawab

Jaffier. He was nominally a King when he was

defeated by the English and Nawab Cossim. In

reality he had hitherto been a puppet in the hands

of the Nawab Vizier of Oudh; and now he had sur-

rendered himself to the English and Nawab Cossim,

1 The three districts were Burdwan, Midnapore, and Chittagong. For

some years no change was wade in the native administration of the three

districts. The Company’s servants merely took the nett collections from the

zewindars, or farmers of the revenue, and left the native zemindars to collect

the revenues after their own fashion, and administer justice in their own way,
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and was living on their bounty at Patna. But forall

this Shah Alam was King, and might have mounted fnelsh propose

the throne at Delhi, if he could only have got there, 4 ' Beli

The state of Delhi at this period is beyond any-

thing that can be imagined from European ex-

periences. The anarchy and confusion was not

brought about by the struggles of internal parties

but by conflict between foreign enemics. Tor years

Delhi had been a bone of contention between Mah-

rattas and Afghans. In 1759 the Vizier, supported

by Mahrattas, had murdered the King, the father of

Shah Alam. Since then the Vizier had been driven

out of Delhi by the Afghans under Ahmad Shah

Abdali. In January 1761, the Afghans under Ah-

mad Shah Abdali bad crushed the Mahrattas at

Panipat. The defeat was followed by a massacre

of Mahrattas, which left Ahmad Shah Abdali

undisputed master of Hindustan.

Ahmad Shah Abdali was anxious to place Shah Afghan infos

Alam upon the throne of Delhi. He raised a son of tine at bethi.

Shah Alam to the throne, until Shah Alam should

himself arrive at Delhi. Shah Alam was then most

anxious for the English to conduct him to Delhi.

What the English thought of this proposal may be

gathered from the following extract of a general

letter sent by Mr. Vansittart and Council at Calcutta

to the Court of Directors.

The President and Board at Calcutta are thus speak- rstracts trom
Calcutta records.

ing, as it were, to the Court of Directors in London:—

“The first thing that occurs under the head of Country King Shah Alam
. . + returns towards

Powers is the Proclamation of Shah Alam (formerly known Delhi; fails to
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by the name of the Shahzada) as King of Delhi. He res

mained at Patna till the begmuning of June, and was ex-

tremely desirous of having a body of English forces accom-

pavying him to his capital; but as we were uncertain of

Colonel Coote’s regiment coming down from the coast,! and

the security of your possessions in Bengal was first to be

regarded, we found it impossible to spare a sufficient detach-

ment for undertaking so distant and so important a service.

The King, therefore, being pressed by his relations at Delhi

to proceed thither with all expedition, and Shuja-u-daula, the

Nawab of Oude, whom he has appointed his Vizier, having

advanced to the borders of this Province to meet him, he

determined, not to wait longer for our assistance. The Na-

wab Meer Cossim supplied him with considerable sums, of

money during his residence at Patna, and at the time of

his departure caused Sicea Rupees to be struck in his

name throughout these provinces; of which having advised

the President, it was agreed that the Siccas in the name

of Shah Alam should also be struck in our Mint on the

15th of July, which was accordingly done, the usual notice

being first given. Shah Alam is not, however, as yet gener-

ally acknowledged. The late Vizier [at Delhi} has en-

gaged some of the chiefs of the empire in his party, and has

formed a considerable army to oppose the King and Shuja-u-

daula on their way to Delhi. These last were by our freshest

advices about ten days’ march on this side of Agra, which

was in the hands of the late Delhi Vizier, so that upon the

whole the event of this affair is very doubtful.?

“We hope, however, that none of the contending parties

will return this way, and that Bengal will continue to enjoy

a state of tranquillity.”

1 'The “coast”? always refers to the Coromandel Coast; in other words, to

the Madras Presidency. Thus the Calcutta letter means that the Governor

and Council were uncertain whether Colonel Coote would bring up his

European regiment from Madras, Had they been assured on this point, an’

English force would even at this early period have been sent to Delhi to

place Shah Alam on the throne, What the result would have been, few can

divine.

2 General letter to Court, 12th November 1761, paras, 56 to 71,
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It ultimately turned out that neither the English pesignsor

nor Nawab Cossim would help Shah Alam. At the sou the King.

same time both were anxious to get what they could

out of him. The name of Padishah, or King, was

still held in profound respect throughout Hindu-

stan; and his sign manual sufficed for the grant of

provinces. Meer Cossim had “been made Nawab

of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa by English prestige. He

was anxious to get letters of investiture from the

King, under the King’s seal. Lt would not only

confirm his right tothe three provinees, but

render him independent) of the English. He would

be Nawab, not by the nomination of foreigners,

but by the favour of the King. Shah Alam, on the

other hand, insisted upon the payment of the old

annual tribute as the imperial share of the revenue

of the three provinees. He would not give the

letters of investiture without some guarantee that

the imperial share would be paid. In the end

Nawah Cossim agreed to pay the King an annual

tribute of twenty-four lakhs, or two hundred and

forty thousand pounds sterling; and by this large

sacrifice of revenue secured the letters of investi-

ture.

Mr. Vansittart heard that Nawab Cossim had Designs of the

got letters of investiture for Bengal, Behar, and ‘Kine.

Orissa, and naturally followed the example. He

asked the King for letters of mvestiture for the

jaghire lands granted by Nawab Jafficr, and for the

three districts ceded by Meer Cossim; he also

asked for similar letters investing Mahomed Ali,
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the English Nawab of Arcot, with the government

of the Carnatic.' Mr. Vansittart evidently thought

that the request for the letters was a very simple

one; but he was told that no letters of investiture

would be granted, unless the imperial share of the

revenues of the Carnatic, as wellas that of the three

districts in Bengal, was sent to the King. Ile was

evidently taken aback by the refusal. It will be

secn hereafter that the Directors were equally

offended with the King; they thought the King

ought to have granted the letters of investiture

out of gratitude to the English. The following

extract from the Ictter to the Court already quoted

sufficiently details the facts :—

“ By the Nawab Cossiin’s letter to the President, which he

laid before the Board the 12th October, we are advised of his

having reecived from Shah Alam the Sunnuds [i. ¢., letters

of investiture] for the three provinces.

The Engl “ We directed Major Carmac and Mr. McGuire, and after-

Se for other wards Colonel Coote and Mr. McGuire, to apply, as soon as
Tals, . . 4

Shah Alam should be acknowledged King, for Sunuods for

the Company’s possessions and privileges in Bengal, viz. :-—

« The zemindari of the pergunnahs or lands about Cal-

entla granted by Meer Jaffier.

* The jachires of the districts of Burdwan, Miduapore,

and Chittagong, granted by the present Nawab, and

tle confirmation of the freedom of our Mint.

Also for Seam’ « We direeted also application to be made at the same time
or the Nawsb

at Arcot. for the Sunnuds for the Provinces of Arcot in the name of

the Nawab Mahomed Ali Khan, with whom we have been

so long allied. These requests were made by Major Carnac,

who was detached by Colonel Coote to escort the King to

the borders of the Province ; and the King wrote upon the

1 See ante, page 146.
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papers of requests that they should be granted whenever a

proper tribute was remitted. The Major transmitted to us

copies of the said papers of requests with the King’s -super-

scription, and advised us at the same time that the King had

offered to confer on the Company the Dewani of Bengal on

condition of cur being answerable for the Royal Revenues ;

but as we were sensible that our accepting of this post would

cause jealousy and ill-will between us and the Nawab, we

thought it more prudent to decline it. ””?

The next move of Nawab Cossim betrays the Designs of
awab Cossim

same desire to get rid of English interference which iia ginaces.

he had shown ever since-he,became Nawab. Clive

had put an end to rchellions by giving guarantees

of protection to Hindu grandces. Mr. Vansittart

withdrew the guarantees. The subject was one of

bitter controversy at the time. The general letter

may be left to tell its own story :—

“Tn your commands of the 13th March 1761,? you have Non-interference

favoured us with your opinion in general as to our conduct Naveab’s gers

with the country government. We are very happy in the as regards Ran

confidence you are pleased to express in our management,

and shall endeavour to conform to those views of economy

and good order you therein recommend. Our sentiments

with respect to protecting the servants of the country gov-

ernment agree perfectly with yours. ‘Those who have re-

ceived such protections have proved in general false friends

to us, of which the transactions of Roy Doolub and Nund-

comar, mentioned in our advices of last season, may be

1 This offer of the Dewani is a repetition of the offer already made to Clive,

In 1765 i6 was accepted by Clive, as will be seen in the account of his second

administration of Bengal, It was offered in 1761 on the condition that

the English would conduct Shah Alam to Delhi.

2 Not at Calentta.

3 Roy Doolub was the Hindu Prime Minister of Meer Jaffer; Nundeomar

was the Hindu Governor of Hughli. The lives of both, as well as that of

Ram Narain, had been guaranteed by Clive,
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esteemed a proof. Those two, however, do remain under

our protection, but we shall take care that the number of

them does not increase. Our Select Committee’s address

of the 29th Deeember 1759, which you take notice of,

does not mention the particulars of the engagements that

subsisted between Ram Narain [Nawab of Behar or Patna];!

nor can we find them anywhere. We could, therefore, con-

strue them no otherwise than as justice and equity and the

constitution of the country would admit. We supposed

them accordingly to be of this nature, that he should have

the protection of the English as long as he should daly

give an account of his administration to the Subah® of Mur-

shedabad, and be answerable. to him for the revenues of the

Behar Province according to their real produce, or at least

according to the terms agreed with the late Nawab Jaffer

Ali Khan, which were extremely easy. Upon this footing

we were determined still to support him, and sent orders

accordingly to Major Carnae early in the month of March,

which orders we afterwards repeated several times, and en-

deavoured to the utmost of our power to bring him to an

adjustment of his accounts with the Nawab [4. e., Subahdar

of Bengal]; but more than four months having elapsed,

and none of his accounts. delivered in, the Nawab grew ex-

tremely uneasy, and insisted on dismissing Ram Narain,

and placing another in the administration of the affairs of

the Behar Province in his room, which we thought improper

longer to oppose; and we were accordingly acquainted on

the 10th of August that Rajbullub was appointed to that

Government, Ram Narain continues with the Nawab at

Patna, and we are informed that since he was turned out

he has paid some part of the balance due from him.

1 Ram Narain is styled Nawab in the records. Properly speaking, he was

Naib, or Deputy Nawab,

2 This was the name sometimes given to the Nawab. Properly, Subah

was the name of the province; the Governor was known ag Subahdar. The

term “Subah of Murshedabad” is identical with that of Nawab of Bengal,

Behar, and Orissa,
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“Tt is with great concern that we must request your perusal major Carnac

of so large a number of pages in our Consultation Book filled quote wished to
entirely with disputes which began at Patna between Major Vorain, Guverme
Carnac and the Nawab (Meer Cossim), and continued after- aginst Meo

. Cossim.

wards between Colonel Coote and the Nawab; complaints

and remonstrances made by the Nawab in consequence ; and

dissents of nine of the Members of the Board from the

opinion of the majority on those subjects. In the Proceed-

ings of the Select Committee you will see the beginning, the

continuation, and we hope the end of these dissensions, which

have been by so much the more disagreeable as m some

instances the great object of the Company’s interest and the

tranquillity of the country seems to be-losé in unbecoming

personal invectives. By the exammation which has been

made since into the Nawab’s complaints laid before the Board

the 26th June, we imagine his fears on this head to have

proceeded from his uneasiness at our protection of Ram

Narain, and from the jealousy which many ill-disposed people

made it their business to excite in him by giving him secret

intelligence that we had a design to procure the Dewani for

the Company. 1

“ Ag we all have the highest respect for the character of Regrets the

Colonel Coote, and a due sense of how much the Company Cobonl Coote,
owe to hig services, it has been a matter of particular concern

to as that anything should have happened in the course of

these disputes to give him uneasiness. We shall avoid repeat-

ing here anything that might tend to inflame the minds

afresh. ”

The miscellaneous incidents recorded in the Miccettaneous
incidents.

general letter call for no preliminary explanation ;

the extracts may be left to speak for themselves :—

“By two vessels which have sailed lately for Pegu, the prouptes in

President wrote to the King (of Burma), and sent a trifling Burma,

present in order to obtain leave for the timbers to be brought

1 The new Nawab, Meer Cossim, had already found out the design which
Colonel Clive communicated to Mr. Pitt. See ante, page 267.
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away from the Negrais. It would be much more agreeable

to us, if an opportunity offered, to assert our rights after a

different manner, and demand satisfaction for the massacre

of Mr. Southby and the people who were with him; but it

is vain to make such demands without being well able to

enforce them.

Pistressamongst ‘There being a great number of French families, chiefly

in Bengal. women and children, dispersed at Chandernagore, Chinsurah,

and Serampore, who, having spent what little they had left

after the capture of their settlement, were reduced to the

utmost distress, we could not help giving some attention to

the representation which was made to us; and we hope you

will approve of our resolution to divide amongst them for

their subsistence the sum of one thousand Arcot rupees per

month.

State ot affaivs * We have this year had no disputes with the Dutch Gov-

wie onment in Bengal ; but upon a vacue report brought here
from out of their settlements upon the coast of a probability

of a war between England and Holland, they sent a deputa-

tion from their Council with a letter proposing our entering

into a neutrality in the Ganges. We wrote them in answer

that they were too hasty in giving eredit to a report so ill-

founded; but, in case of such an event, our conduct must be

guided by the orders of our superiors.

Remonstrance “ Being informed 6f some unwarrantable proceedings of the

Pesyecting the Dutch upon the West Coast of Sumatra since the capture of

your settlements there, and imagiuing that a representation

from hence, when their possessions are so much in our power,

may have weight with the General and Council at Batavia,

we have wrote a remonstrance to them, which we shall send

through the hands of the gentlemen of Bencoolen, and hope

it may be of use in preventing any interraption being given

by the Dutch in the re-establishment of your settlements.

They have indeed been suffered too long to tyrannize in that

part of India.

Deputaciou of «The Nawab continues still in the Behar Province, and we
Mr, Warren

Hastingsto — _haye reason to suspect that some busy persons have been



CALCUTTA RECORDS: CHANGING NAWABS. 983

endeavouring to form out jealousies between us, and to fill Nawab Meer

him with apprehensions that we are not well inclined towards of the twenty

him, Our desire to preserve the tranquillity of the country,

and to discover the authors of this jealousy, have induced us

to depute Mr. Hastings on a visit to the Nawab to make

him those assurances on our part, to advise him to be careful

whose reports he trusts to, and to punish with severity any of

the people about him whom he finds to be endeavouring to

create a misunderstanding between us. Instructions for this

purpose being prepared, Mr. Amyatt proposed another clause

should be added, directing Mr. Hastings to demand of the

Nawab to pay to the Company the sum of twenty lakhs of

rupees, which he offered at the-time the treaty was made him,

to present to the gentlemen of the Select Committee then in

Calcutta. Messrs. Carnac, Johnstone, and Hay joined with

Mr. Amyatt in this clause; but the President ' objected to it,

and refused to join in it, because himself and the other gentle-

men of the Select Committee did absolutely reject this offer,

as he (the President) has often since mentioned, and particularly

in consultation 12th January 1761. . He gave it therefore as

his opinion that neither the Company, nor he, nor any other

person, have any just claim upon the Nawab on account of

the said offer.2. The reasons of the several Members of the

Board in support of their respective opinions are entered on

the minutes of the consultations of the 22nd ultimo.®

“The President, referring to the 96th paragraph of your pisputes in the

commands of the Ist April 1760,—where you are pleased to Cateutta Cound
direct that all applications to, or disputes with, Country

Powers should pass through his authority alone—observed to

the Board on this occasion that he thought his opinion in such

a case ought to have more weight than the common voice of

a Member of the Board. This, however, was not admitted,

1 Mr. Henry Vansittart.

2 ‘This paragraph contradicts the statement of Mr, Mill, who asserts that

the twenty lakhs were actually divided,

3 Separate letter, dated 18th April 1762, uot classified like the others, Tu

same volume as general letter for 1761.



984, EARLY RECORDS OF BRITISH INDIA.

and we are to request your directions on this subject. Also

that you will explain to us more particularly on what occasion

it is your meaning that Colonel Coote and Major Carnae

should be Members of the Board, ‘as this also was a matter

of debate in consultation the 22nd ultimo.

Charge of “On the 27th April we received from Mr. Johnstone, then
treavhery against 2 . -
Ham Churn: at Jelagore, a packet of letters intercepted by one of his
suspected for- : :

gery. so Servants which contained some letters under the seal of Ram

Churn, formerly the Banian of Colonel Clive, then of Colonel

Calliaud, and now of My. Vansittart. These letters were

addressed to Kunder Khan, the chief of the rebellious zemin-

dars in the Patna Province. Jn the same packet were letters

under the seal of Kunder Khan to Ram Churn in answer to

fore-mentioned, and some letters to other persons referring to

the same. Some circumstances appeared on the first enquiry

which made us suspect they were forged. We used our

utmost endeavours to come to a certainty by either discover-

ing the authors of the invention or the reality of the corre-

spondence, but could not succeed so fully as we could wish,

Time perhaps may bring it to light. In the meanwhile, we

have sent you our proceedings in this enquiry in a separate

book of consultations, which eonelude with the opinions of

the different members upon) the whole. It may not be

improper in this place to observe to your Honors, that the

manner of doing business in this country seems to be pur-

posely contrived to evade all enquiry; for the letters are never

signed, and are put under a cover which is secured only with

paste, and sealed with a seal which any engraver can counter~

feit. Thus, on the one hand, a guilty man has it in his power

to deny letters really his own; and, on the other, an innocent

man is subject to be accused of baving wrote letters which he

never saw. In such cases it is only from circumstances and

the views and interest of the person accused that a judgment

can be formed,

Bequests of Omi ‘The late Omichund having left a considerable part of his

Pagdalen and fortune to be laid out in charities in all parts of the world, his

executor, Huggoor Amul, has requested us to remit by this
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conveyance the sum of fifteen hundred current rupees, or pounds

sterling one hundred and seventy-five, to the Governors of

the Magdalen House, and the ike sum to the Governors of

the Foundling Hospital, for the uses of those charities re-

spectively ; and further, that we would receive into your cash

the sum of thirty-seven thousand five hundred current rupees,

there to remain for ever, and the interest to be remitted

annually to the before-mentioned charities.”?

Meanwhile news of the proclamation of Shah Despatches froma
. . the Court of |

Alam as King of Delhi had reached the Court of birectorsreview-
ing events,

Directors, and they proceeded to express them-

selves to the following effect :— —

© Governor Hutchinson (Governor of St. Helena) informs us News of Shah

that the Lord Anson left Bengal the 23rd of March, and oid St, Helena,
brought the news of the Shahzada’s being proclaimed Iimperor ;

that a faction, of which the late Delhi Vizier is at the head, had

set up a nephew of the Shahzada to oppose him ; and that it was

therefore supposed a detachment of the forces at Calcutta will

join and march to Delhi with the troops the Shahzada can

raise, and place him upon the throne.?

* Although the Lord Anson has not yet arrived with your circumstances

advices, yet we have great-reason, from the care Mr. Hutchinson Divcetors would
: . . have helped Shah

always takes to send us any material intelligence he can Alum,

collect upon the arrival of our shipping, that what we have

quoted from him as before mentioned is fact. We own, if

your endeavours for setting the Shahzada upon the throne of

his ancestors could be carried into execution without risk to

the Company, and at a moderate expense, it may secure him

in our interest, and be the means of settling the peace and

quiet of the kingdom; but, as a transaction of this kind

depends upon many circumstances and unforeseen events, and

you have most probably already embarked in this under-

taking, we are entirely at a loss to give you any directions,

1 Separate letter dated 8th April 1761.

2 Despatch, dated London, 30th September 1761. Postscript, dated 7th

October 1761.
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or even our sentiments thereupon, in other than these general

terms, that we hope you have acted, and will act, with the

utmost caution on considering all circumstances with that

prudence and-attention which an affair of such a serious and

important nature requires.

“This is the third revolution in Bengal wherein the very

being of the Company has been, and from their consequences

may still be, at stake. Your advancing Jaffier Ali Khan

to the Nawabship in the room of Suraj-u-daula was un-

doubtedly a necessary measure, as well for the good of the

country in general as the interest of tne Company in par-

ticular. Your afterwards deposing Jaffier Ali Khan and set-

ting Cossim Ali Khan in his\ room, we hope was done

also with the same view. Upon this presumption and con-

fidence that no other motives whatever had any influence

upon you, we must look upon the measures pursued upon

this occasion to be unavoidable. At the same time we cannot

help observing that it is to the great regard the Company

have always had to a faithful observance of their agreements,

they have acquired and hitherto preserved a reputation with

the Natives of India. We would have wished, therefore, the

situation of affairs would have admitted keeping terms with

Jaffier Ali Khan; that even the least handle for a pretence

might not have offered to prejudiced people to make use of

to throw any reflections upon this transaction.

“Tt is strongly reported that Colonel Calliaud, with the

Chuta Nawab (i. ¢., Meer Cossim)! signed a paper offering

a reward of Rs. 50,000, or some such sum, to several black

persons to assassinate the Shahzada. It is further reported

that this paper was carried to Mr. Amyatt, the then chief

of Patna, for him to sign, which he refused as a most

infamous measure. It is also added that this very paper is

in the hands of a Sayyid in Bengal. We have always had

the highest opinion of Colonel Calliaud, and have given

many proofs of our regard to his merit and services. But this

1 Meer Cossim was called Chuta Nawab, or Little Nawab, before he was

placed upon the throne of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa,
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is an imputation of so extraordinary and serious a nature

that we think it highly necessary it should be cleared up, as

well in vindication of Colonel Calliaud’s character, as the

honor, good name, and interest of the Company, which are

essentially interested therein. We, therefore, positively direct

that you make the most strict and impartial enquiry into

this affair; aud, should it be possible that Colonel Calliaud

is guilty of such a crime (which we heartily hope will not

be the case), he is immediately to be dismissed our service

and sent to England by the first conveyance that offers.

But, should he be at Madras, and he proves guilty of what

is here laid to his charge, you are to siguify these our orders

to our President and Council there, which are on no pretence

to be evaded.

* Tf Colonel Calliaud should, contrary to our hopes, be found Punishment if

culpable, you are to make our resentment of so high a crime “_
as public as possible, even to the Shahzada himself; that all

the world may know how jealous we are of the honor and

reputation of the Company; and that we shall always, to the

utmost of our power, preserve the same unsullied by the

severest resentment against any of our agents, of whatsoever

rank or station, who shall violate the same.

“Should any other Europeans, either in our gervice, or otnerkuropeana,

residing under our protection, be concerned in or accessory be ence re

to the crime imputed to Colonel Calliaud, they are also, ““*TM°"

upon being found guilty, in like manner to be sent home

immediately ; and, should any Natives of India be concerned

therein, they are to be treated with the utmost severity.

“In our letter of the 30th September last we gave you our complaintsof

sentiments in general upon the late revolutions in Bengal, the heavy cost of
since which we are further informed of the Shahzada’s defeat,

his throwing himself upon your protection, and the immense

expense of his maintenance out of the Company’s money, of

no less than one thousand rupees a day, and of some views of

1 Jt, will suifice to say that the necessary explauations were furnished, and

that Colonel Calliaud was fully and honourably acquitted of the charges

brought against him.
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placing him upon the throne of Delhi. It is alleged, indeed,

that care will be taken that the Nawab defrays the said daily

expense, which we hope will be the case, or at least that

some other certain means be fixed upon to reimburse that

expense and all other expenses on his account.1 Upon a view

of the frequent revolutions, the great designs proposed to be

executed, and the consequent heavy expenses too justly to be

apprehended, we are filled with the utmost anxiety lest the

events should turn out to the prejudice of our affairs; and, in

particular, the scheme of assisting the Shahzada, we hope

has been well considered, and, if entered upon, carried out

with that prudence as may leave no room to impeach your

conduct.?

“Tt is from a quiet situation of affairs only in Bengal that

we can hope to have the benefit of the large revenues we are

at present in possession of, A permanent tranquillity, there-

fore, must be the constant object in view; for, extensive as

our territories and revenues are, they must be exhausted by

the army, which, by your treaty with the present Nawab, is

to be paid out of the produce of them.

«“ The three districts granted to the Company by the treaty

with the present Nawab, you say, willin time of peace, under

proper regulations, produce an annual revenue of fifty lakhs

and ‘upwards. This is a noble object and well worth your

utmost care and attention, more especially at this time, when

our wants are so great and our expenses so heavy. We shall

accordingly depend upon your taking such prudent measures

as may secure to us the quiet possession of those territories,

and the collection of the revenues to as large an amount as

may be consistent with the ability of the inhabitants, and

1 The amount was paid by Nawab Cossim. The money was probably

spent for the purpose of securing letters of investiture of the post of Nawab

of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa.

2 General letter from 19th February 1762.

3 This was the estimated revenue of the three districts of Burdwan, Mid-

napore, and Chittagong, which had been ceded to the Company by Meer Cossim

on his accession. Fifty lakhs, roughly stated, are equivalent to about half

a million sterling.
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that humane levity which we would always have observed on

such occasions.

“It gives us pleasure to observe that the King of the

Burmas, who caused our people at the Negrais to be so

cruelly massacred, is since dead, and succeeded by his son,

who seems to be of a more friendly and humane disposition.

However, the intention of withdrawing all the remaining

people and effects from thence is a right measure, especially

as the country is so much involved in troubles as you represent

it. We have reason to think the late King would not have

proceeded to such a cruel extremity without some provocations,

The President and Council of Fort St. George, under whose

more immediate cognisance-the affairs of that country fall,

appear by their last advices to be making some enquiries into

the causes of the King’s indignation against the English

We therefore defer giving our sentiments thereon until we

have the final result of those enquiries. We cannot omit

observing, however, that it has been alleged the people belong-

ing to some of the country ships had taken part with the

Peguers and bebaved ina hostile and violent manner. We

hope by this time our President and Council have gone through

the enquiry ; and, if they find any truth in this allegation, that

the persons concerned have been duly censured, for we will

never suffer our affairs to be embroiled by the indiscretions

and bad conduct of private persons residing in India under

our protection. You will be informed from Fort St. George

whether any persons belonging to Calcutta have been any

way guilty in this affair, and we shall expect you will resent

this behaviour as it shall appear to deserve.

“Tt is very disagreeable to us to find so many pages in your

diaries filled with dissents and disputes in the transacting

some interesting part of our affairs pointed out in your letter

of the 12th November 1761. We have read and re-considered

the whole very attentively, and must express the great dissa-

tisfaction it has given us to find our interest and the general

welfare lost in these warm altercations.”

1 Separate letter of 66 paras., dated 17th December 1762.
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Further The foregoing extracts may appear somewhat
despatches to

the Court of — tedious to modern readers, but they reveal the en-

ormous difficulties under which the English laboured

during this troubled period. The Court of Directors

were anxious that the conduct of their servants

should be governed by right principles, ‘but they

were hasty in their conclusions. Meantime the

President and Board at Calcutta were despatching

further information to the Court of Directors. The

extracts from the general letters to England tell

their own story :—

Results ofthe “ We acquainted Your Honors in our address of the Sth

Warren Hastings April that Mr. Hastings was gone on a deputation to the

" Nawab with a view chiefly to confirm the friendship between

us, and remove some little apprehensions that we had reason

to imagine he had received from some false reports that had

been industriously spread in the eountry ; and with further

instructions from the majority of the Board to make a de-

mand of the twenty lakhs he had offered the President and

the other gentlemen present of the Select Committee at

the time of concluding the treaty for making him Nawab.

To the first of Myr. Hastings’ instructions, the Nawab

answered that the little disputes which fell out between

his people and ours, and .which would sometimes unavoid-

ably happen, did not weaken his confidence in our friend-

‘ship, upon which he rested his chief dependence. To the

second, he absolutely refused to comply with the demand

for twenty lakhs, urging that he had fulfilled all his engage-

ments, and was under no obligation to give such a sum or any

sum to the Company or any person whatever. For further

particulars we beg leave to refer your Honors to our corre-

spondence with Mr. Hastings during his absence, and the

memorial delivered to him by the Nawab, entered in Consal-

tation of the 14th June.!

1 General letter, Fort William, 30th Octeber 1762.
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“Tn Consultation of the 4th October, the President sent to Proposedallianes

the Board a letter which he had received from Mr. Verelst Munipur against
at Chittagong, containing an invitation which had been made Burma
to him and his Council by the Rajah of Meckley! to assist

him in obtaining redress for some grievance he complained to

have suffered from the Burmas, and enclosing a paper of

articles of alliance which the Rajah had tendered to be

executed between him and us for this purpose; which letter

and articles of alliance being taken into consideration, if was

the opinion of the Board that the articles were very favour-

able, and that the opportunity would be no less so if we could

with propriety come into the scheme for obtaining reparation
from the Burmas for the repeated ill-treatment of our factory

at Negrais; but, as it was judged necessary and proper, before

we proceeded further, to call for the opinion of Colonel Coote

and Major Carnac upon the subject, the Secretary was ordered

to summon them to the next consultation.

* At our next consultation the Colonel (Coote) being indis- application of

posed could not attend, but the President and Major (Carnac) help to recover
being both present, the consideration of this affair was pees
resumed, when the President laid before the Board translates

of some letters which he had received from the King and

Shuja-u-daula, earnestly soliciting the assistance of a large

body of troops to enable the King to gain possession of the

capital. This application, we are informed by a letter from

Mr. Ellis to the President laid before the Board at the same

time, has been, owing to a powerful alliance made by the

former Vizier, Ghazi-ud-din Khan,? against Shuja-u-daula,

As we cannot yet foresee what revolutions and troubles may be

produced from this alliance, and how far they may affect Bengal,

we judged it improper for the present to detach any Europeans

to so distant a quarter as Meckley (2. ¢., Munipui); but it

being likeiwse thought prudent not to Jose the opportunity of

contracting an alliance with the Rajah of Meckley, it was re-

Solved to detach a force of six Companies of Sepoys, commanded

1 Meekley is a province about 250 miles to the eastward of Chittagong,
and Moneypoor (é. e. Munipur) is the capital of the said province.

2 Ghazi-u-diu was the Vizier who put to death the father of Skah Alam,
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by three Officers, to take a post there, and under the

direction of Mr. Verelst or one of his Council, make them-

selves acquainted with the strength, nature, and dispositions

of the Burmas, and of this intelliveuce to send us advice, but

to proceed to no hostilities without our positive directions,

We are hopeful that this undertaking will open to us a road

for obtaining satisfaction for the many injuries we have

suffered from the Burmas; and, in case nothing disturbs our

tranguillity to the northward, we shall certainly embrace it.

Reply to Shah “Tn answer to the King’s application for troops, the Presi-
Alam: Mr. Van- : : : . :

sittart proposes dent has wrote him a complimentary letter, informing him of
beeing the King | | . .

at Monghyr. his intended journey up the country, and that he will again

pay his more immediate respects to him when he arrives at

Monghyr. When the President arrives there, he purposes

conferring with the Nawab on this subject; and, having by

this means gained time to be further informed of the views

and connections of the several chiefs, we shall pursue such

measures as shall seem most proper for preserving the tran-

quillity of these provinces, and securing the Company’s

possession and interests under our care.

Mr. Vansictart “ With this view, as well as for the sake of a change of air,

ne aleer Cossin. the President set out a few days past for Monghyr, where he
will have an interview with the Nawab, and concert with

him the most necessary measures for obtaining those salutary

ends. This meeting, which the Nawab has frequently urged

and requested, will, we are hopeful, have the effect. of remov-

ing entirely all those idle reports which a few busy people

have industriously propagated about the country, with the

design of alarming and making him uneasy ; as likewise those

mutual jealousies which it has not failed to cause between our

people and the government in most parts of the country to

the interruption of the private trade.

Further enqu “In our address of the Sth Apri] 1762 by the Godolphin,
riea about Ram : :

Charn; implicae we informed you of an enquiry we had had before us concern-
tion of Nund- . . .

coomar in the ing a parcel of letters stopped on the road to Cuttack, aud said
furgery.

“ee to bea correspondence between Ram Churn and Kunder Khan ;

and in our packet by that ship we transmitted our proceedings



CALCUTTA RECORDS: CHANGING NAWABS. 993

at length in the said enquiry. We remarked to Your Honors

in our said address that several strong circumstances appeared

to give reason to believe that the whole packet was a forgery.

Fresh circumstances appearing since to confirm the said belief,

we entered into a further examination of this matter, our pro-

ceedings wherein are likewise transmitted in the Godolphin’s

packet. This further examination has fully convinced us that

the letters were forged : and there is great reason to think that

Nundocoomar was contriver thereof, with a design of ruining

Ram Churn. We cannot say there are such direct proofs as to fix

the crime upon him with an absolute certainty; nor, indeed, is it

possible there should be positive proofs while he and his Mun-

shi (the only persons supposed to be present when the letters

were forged) have resolution enough to persist in denying it.

“The before-mentioned Nundeoomar is the same person pangerous

who was convicted some time ago of carrying on a corre. Nundooour.
spondence with the Burdwan Rajah of a nature inconsistent

with his duty and hurtful to your interest. We find also

that the same Nundcoomar was instrumental in carrying on

a correspondence between the Shahzada and the French

Governor General before the capture of Pondicherry. This in-

formation was given to the President, and by him being laid be-

fore the Board, was proved by such positive evidence as to leave

po room to doubt of the fact. The least we could conclude

upon such crimes was, that Nundcoomar, being a person

improper to-be trusted with his liberty in your settlement, and

capable of doing mischief if he was permitted to go out of

this provinee, either to the northward or towards the Dekhan,

should therefore be kept confined to his own house under so

strict a guard as to prevent his writing or receiving letters.”

Subsequently the Court of Directors reviewed despatices trom
the Directors.

the events above recorded at considerable length,

and expressed. themselves to the following effect! :—

“T§ gives us great pleasure to find that the country en- Highly gratifiea
T | with the generalJoy: sa perfect tranquillity. Weear nestly recommend that you tranquility and

a General letter with headings, Loudon, 8th Maret - 1763, 128 paras.
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use your best endeavours to keep it so, as the only means to

secure to us the advantages we may hope for, and which

we have in some degree experienced by the investment you

have made; and in the agreeable assistance you have given

Madras and Bombay to furnish money for our China ships

which were to be despatched from them; and as your senti-

ments respecting the conduct to be held towards the Country

Government, and adopted by you, coincide so fully with our

orders, we shall not enlarge on this subject.

« From the general view you have given us with respect to

:your transactions with the Shahzada who has been proclaim-

ed King at Delhi, as well as from the several proceedings

on the same subject, which»appear at large in your Select

Committee’s Diary, we observe Major Carnae and Colonel

Coote were both very solicitous to have engaged in the pro-

ject of accompanying the King to the eapital with a body

of our forces. However, we are better pleased that the

King left the province without our being obliged to engage

in such a hazardous enterprise; and, had Colonel Coote’s

regiment arrived before the urgency of the King’s affairs

required his [%. ¢., the King’s] moving forward to the capital,

yet we should have hoped you would not, even then, have

been tempted to engage in. so distant an undertaking, but

have contented yourselves with the right step you have taken

in treating that Prince with all due respect during his stay

in the Province of Bengal, and escorting him with a proper

force to the borders. For, in short, our sentiments are, that,

if we can secure our present possessions and privileges in

Bengal, preserve the peace of the province, and the Nawab

in the government, and prevent the borders from being

invaded or disturbed by the neighbouring Rajahs or other

Powers, we shall be fully satisfied, and think our forces judi-

ciously employed in answering these principal points. For

we are by no means desirous of making further acquisitions,

or engaging our forces in very distant projects, unless the

most absolute necessity should require it to answer one or

other of the principal views before mentioned.
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“The Sunnuds being sent by the King to the Nawab for

the three provinces is a very agreeable circumstance. But

although you do not mention in the general advices any com-

plaints that the Nawab made on his being obliged to pur-

chase those grants at a much greater expense to him after

the King passed the borders, than he would have had to pay

for them while the King was at Patna, if the Nawab had been

properly supported in his pretensions by our Commanding

Officer then there, yet something of this appears in your

diaries ; and if true, surely our force and influence were not

so effectually applied as they might have been, And, al-

though we are unwilling to pass a censure on any particular

person on this point, yet we hope.to have no occasion in

future even for a doubt that the interest of a Prince! we are

so closely connected with by treaty has been slighted. For,

if the difficulties are multiplied upon him, and his power

and influence not supported by us when he wants our assist-

ance, he must suffer by such measures, as our interest must

likewise do in the end.

* Your refusal of the Dewani of Bengal offered by the

Nawab Meer
Cossim ought to
have been better

supported in

claiming the

Sunnuds for

Bengal, Behar,

and Orissa from

Shah Alam.

Approve of the

refusal of the

Kine was right, and we are well satisfied with the just and Dewani offeredJ y Shah Alam:

prudent reasons you give for declining that offer. However, ingratitude of
it seems something extraordinary to us that, at the time the

King makes this advance, he should return the applications

made to him for the Sunnuds td confirm our privileges and

possessions in Bengal, in so loose and unsatisfactory a manner,

and even to require a present before he passes the order in

due form, The great services we had rendered His Majesty,

and the generous treatment he met with from us, as well as

from our ally the Nawab, during his stay at Patna, surely

claimed a more distinguished treatment, and at least a full

grant of our requests, without such an expensive demand

annexed. The time and manner of the refusal seems like-

wise very extraordinary; your applications being returned

at the very juncture Major Carnac was escorting him to the

River Karamnassa, or borders of the province, a service which

1 By Prince is meant the Subabdar or Nawab in Bengal,

e King.
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must then be fresh in the King’s memory; and therefore

there is reason to apprehend the King is not so cordially

attached to us as we might have expected. However, if you

judge the obtaining such Sunnuds to be absolutely neces-

sary, you have, we doubt not, continued your application

to have them perfected. It was a prudent consideration in

you to add to your applications on this subject our ally the

Nawab of Arcot, which we suppose you have or will con-

tinue to do when you think it proper to move again in

this affair; and if the King should succeed in his preten-

sims to the throne, the sooner the grants are obtained,

the less we apprehend will be the expense attending it.

Surprised at the We cannot comprehend on what grounds the majority of

demand of twenty the Council, contrary to the remonstrances made by the Pre-
Nawab, sident against it, could venture to authorise Mr. Hastings

to demand of the Nawab in our name twenty lakhs of rupees,

upon the bare pretence that he had made an offer of that

sum to Mr, Vansittart and the Select Committee at the time

of making the treaty for his accession, and which had been

then so properly and sohonorably refused. We rejoice at the

just and spirited refusal he gave to that unwarrantable

demand.

Full apologiesto “ And that we may vindicate ourselves in the mind of the

Nesan ithe’ Nawab from such unfavourable impressions which this demand,

etny or other unfavourable circumstances, must naturally have left

upon him, we direct that the President in your name do in

the most respectful manner by letter acquaint him that

we are truly sorry that the conduct of any of our servants

has given him umbrage, or created in him a moment’s distrust

of the sincerity of our friendship; that we totally disapprove,

and shall properly resent, all such misbehaviour; and to

assure him that it is our most earnest wish, and our posi-

tive orders to you (which we strictly direct), that our

servants join him in every reasonable measure for his support

and welfare, and observe every engagement entered into

2 Separate letter, dated London, 13th May 1763.
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with him. You will acquaint him, likewise, that we shall

have the honor to give him these assuranees by letter the

next opportunity; the ship Pst being upon the point of her

departure, we have not leisure to do it now.”

Tt will be seen from the foregoing records that Woak capacity

Mr. Vansittart. was a man of good intentions. Het.

had refused to receive any of the money offered

by Meer Cossim; yet Mill’s History, on very

doubtful evidence, says that the twenty lakhs were

paid at the time, equivalent to two hundred

thousand pounds sterling, and that Mr. Vansittart

received five lakhs, or fifty thousand pounds. But

whilst Mr. Vansittart proves himself to have been

strictly honourable, it is certain that he lacked the

capacity and strong will of Clive. It is a grave

question whether he was justified in abandoning

Ram Narain to the tender mercies of the Nawab;

as a matter of fact, the Hindu grandee was deprived

of all his wealth and put to death. Clive was

bitterly incensed at the violation of his guarantee ;

he declared -that it set every Hindu in the three

provinces against the English.



Bengal

gomastas.

Private trade,

Extension of
private crade

inlaud,

CHAPTER X.

CALCUTTA RECORDS: PRIVATE TRADE.

A.D. 1763.

HE next batch of Calcutta records refers to

events quite as revolutionary as those connect-

ed with the change of Nawabs. It refers to proceed-

ings which were unquestionably lawless; but the

lawlessness was not that of Europeans, but that

of their native agents or gomastas. This quarrel,

so petty in its rise, led to the most lamentable

results; to a war between the English and the

Nawab, which led to the dethronement of Meer

Cossim and the restoration of Meer Jaffier.

The servants of the English Conrpany derived

their chief wealth from their private trade. Their

official salaries were almost nominal. They had

carried on this private trade in the eastern seas

from the earliest days of the British settlements

in India. Every one traded in some way or other,

from the governor of a settlement to the lowest

servant of the Company, not excluding the chaplain

and schoolmaster.

Hitherto this private trade had been confined to

the seaports. When the English became masters in

Bengal, they sought to extend itinland. They began
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to deal in country commodities, such as salt, betel-

nut, and tobacco. They claimed to be free of all

duties of every kind, by virtue of the privileges

which had been guaranteed in unqualified language

by existing treaties. .

When the English Company originally obtained

from the Moghul the privilege of trading duty free,

the officers of the Nawab insisted upon searching

every boat and every person in the boat. Subse-

quently it. was agreed that whenever the boat

showed the English flag and Company’s dustuck or

permit, no search was to be made, and all goods

in the boat were to be passed duty-free.

After the battle of Plassey, the English had

grown all-powcrful in Bengal. The grandees bent

before them; the natives regarded them with re-

spectful awe. No one yentured to offer resistance.

Those who had the best reason to hate them were

the foremost to flatter and propitiate them, and

only plotted against them in dark and secret ways.

So long as Nawab Jaffier was reigning, every native

of position sought the favour and protection of the

English. When Jaflier was deposed, he refused to

stay at Murshedabad. He begeed that he might

go either to Mecca or Calcutta; he could not, he

said, be safe in Bengal excepting under English

protection.’ There are no traces of any complaint

of the harshness or injustice of the English; their

honesty and good faith in all commercial dealings

1 Malcolm’s Life of Clive, Vol. II, page 268, note. When deposed, the

Nawab wanted bis case to be referred to the jadzment of Clive.
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had won general confidence. The Vizier at Delhi,

as already seen, was ready to entrust the collection

of the revenues of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa to

the English Company as represented by Clive.’

It was not the English, but the native servants

of the English, that terrified the people of Bengal.

The employment of native agents or gomastas

was already familiar to the English. In 1753 the

Company had ceased to employ native contractors,

and had dealt direct with weavers and artisans

through the medium. of these gomastas. The ser-

vants of the Company employed gomastas in like

manner to carry on the inland trade. The gomas-

tas were entrusted with the English flag and

Company’s dustuck; they bought and sold duty

free. Under such circumstances, the inland trade

of Bengal soon grew into a vast monopoly in the

hands of the servants of the Company and their

gomastas. .

The monopoly was bad enough; the conduct of

the gomastas was far worse. Native servants of

European masters are generally inclined to be pre-

tentious and arbitrary towards their own country-

men. It is easy to understand how they would

conduct themselves in remote districts, when in-

vested with the emblems of authority, and when the

English name was regarded with awe. Bengallees

of no character or position, who had been seen at

Calcutta walking in rags, were sent out as the

1 See ante, page 268.
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gomastas of English merchants, factors, or writers.

They assumed the dress of English sepoys, lorded

it over the country, imprisoned ryots and mer-

chants, and wrote and talked in an insolent man-

ner to the Nawab’s officers. Nawab Cossim com-

plained that the gomastas plundered his people,

injured and disgraced his servants, and exposed his

government to contempt. The gomastas, he said,

thought themselves the equals of the Company.

In every district, village, and factory they bought

and sold salt, betel-nut, ehee, rice, straw, bamboos,

fish, ginger, sugar, tobacco, opium, and other native

commodities. They forcibly took away the goods

of ryots and merchants for a fourth part of their

value, and obliged the ryots to give five rupees for

articles which were not worth one.’

Nawab Jaffier never ventured to make such com-

plaints. He depended solely upon the English for

support; he was the nominee of the English ; with-

out them he was nobody and nowhere. Nawab

Cossim had taken warning by his example to sever

himself as much as possible from the English. Te

had withdrawn to Monghyr, secured letters of in-

vestiture from the King, disciplined his army,

wreaked his vengeance on the grandees who had

been protected by the English in the time of

Nawab Jaffier, and was in every respect prepared for

the collision. He still made a show of friend-

ship towards Governor Vansittart and Warren

1 Verelst?s View of Bengal.

Pretensions of

Nawah Cossim,
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Hastings, a member of the Board. He ordered his

officers not to hinder the gomastas of his friends,

butto thwart the gomastas of his enemies. He

raised the question of whether the Company’s ser-

vants had the right to carry on the inland trade

duty free. No doubt he had the abstract right to

levy duties as an independent ruler; but he had

abandoned this right by treaty; and no exception

whatever had been made as regards the duties on

inland trade. It would have been expedient for

the English servants of the Company to have

abandoned that right, but in so doing they would

have sacrificed the bulk of their incomes for the

public service, and this was the point on which the

question mainly turned.

The records may now be left to tell the progress

of the struggle :—

« The President having laid before the Nawab the complaints

of the gentlemen of Chittagong, Dacca, and Luckipore, con-

cerning the stoppage of several of their boats at different

chokeys (i. ¢., custom houses), also received from him a

multitude of complaints from his (the Nawab’s) officers in

several parts of the country against the English gomastas,

but particularly those at Rungpoor, Silhet, Rangamutty,

and other distant parts of the country, employed chiefly in

the trade of salt, tobacco, betel-nut, and some few other

articles of inland trade, which he urged we were restrained

from before the troubles. The Nawab enlarged much upon

the detriment his revenues suffered by the authority exercised

by our gomastas in carrying on their trade in those distant

parts, where we had no government to restrain them, and

his was too weak to do it; urging finally that he thought we

had no right to deal in those articles.



CALCUTTA RECORDS: PRIVATE TRADE. 303

“ The President and Mr. Hastings being of opinion that the Discnsston in
. ‘ ” . the Board: all

trade in such articles ought not to be carried on to the preju- the Directors

dice of the revenues of the Country Government, and that Calcutta
rules should be laid down for the conduct of our gomastas

and the officers of the Government, respectively, proposed to

the Nawab articles for this purpose. The Nawab declined

binding himself by these articles, but represented again in

a letter to the President, just before his departure from

Monghyr, the grievances before mentioned; and the Presi-

dent wrote him an answer concerning the regulations before

proposed, and some other articles, and assuring him that

the inland trade should be carried on upon that footing

only, and our gomastas to be subjected in the manner

therein mentioned to the officers of the Government. The

rest of the gentlemen of the Council at Calcutta did not

approve of the articles proposed in the letter before mentioned

from the President and Mr. Hastings, nor of the President’s

letter to the Nawab, which had been transmitted them from

the factory at Dacca, aud determined, therefore, to call all the

members of the Board to Caleutta, excepting those at Patna

and Chittagong, whose great distance would make it incon-.

venient, that they might consider this affair. Certain it is,

the officers of the Country Government have made a very ill use

of the concessions made in their favour, and the restraints laid

upon our agents and gomastas, as they have in many places

stopped our trade entirely, and grossly insulted our agents

and gomastas. ‘The members of the Board called down on

this occasion being arrived, we shall take this affair into con-

sideration tomorrow, and lay down such rules for carrying on

the inland trade, and for the conduct of our gomastas towards

the Country Government, as shall appear most equitable and

expedient for removing the grievances of both parties. In the

meantime the President has represented strongly to the Nawab

the insolence of his officers, and told him that till fall and

sufficient regulations are agreed on, our trade in any articles

must not be interrupted ; and if any attempts are made to the

contrary, we shall use our own force to remove all such ob-

structions.”
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Under the foregoing circumstances a full Board of

all the members of Council was held at Calcutta.

The proceedings began in February 1763 and lasted

till the following April. The following extracts

from a letter sent to the Court of Directors, dated

18th April 1763, will explain the nature and scope

of the Consultations :—

« Previous to our entering upon business, motions were made

for summoning Major Adams and Major Carnac to sit at the

Board on this occasion; which motions being approved by

the majority, those gentlemen were accordingly summoned.

* Major Adams, being then at the cantonments near Ghy-

rottee, could not be present that day. All that we concluded

therefore at this meeting was, upon a due and serious con-

sideration of the several letters received, to issue orders to

the different subordinates, instructing them, until they should

receive our further directions, to carry on both the Company’s

and private business in the same manner as before, paying

such duties on certain articles in the latter branch as they

usually did pay previous to the late regulations; and on this

footing to prevent, as far as possible, any violence being

committed either by our people or the Governments; but

that, if any such insolencies should be attempted as to oblige

them to make use of force, to endeavour to seize the principal

person who might have thus endeavoured to injure us, And

to prevent all pleas of ignorance, which might in such cases

be urged on the part of the Government, the President at

the same time wrote circular letters to. the several Foujdars,

informing them, as far as was necessary, of these regulations

and orders. .

“ We met again on the 19th with an intention to consider

the first article of the said plan compared with our Firmans,

Husboolhookums, and subsequent Treaties; but many of

these exact translations being previously required to enable

us to judge properly on the question, we ordered translations

to be accordingly prepared, and for that day proceeded on
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the second article of the plan, relative to the Nawab’s having

shut up one of the gates of the city of Patna and ran an

entrenchment into the river, which prevented the tracking of

boats on the side of the factory. Our opinions and deter-

mination on these points, as well as regarding a gunge or

wharf belonging to the said factory, which the Nawab wanted

to remove, are entered at large om the face of the consultation,

to which therefore we refer you.

« The translations and other necessary papers ordered to be consultations,
. . 22nd February :

prepared being laid before us, were entered on the face of matterin dispuir

the next consultation agreeable to the order in which they tions,
were read; and, being likewise fully considered and debated

on at the Board, the substance of the whole was reduced

into a set of questions, on which the several members were

desired to deliver in their opitions in writing against the

Tuesday following.

“ Accordingly, they were delivered in; and it was found to Consultations
woe Ye 1st March:

be the opinion of the majority that, from the tenour of our majority agreed

Firmans, Husboolhookums, and Treaties, we had an absolute fromall duties:
right to carry on our trade, as well foreign as inland, in the euleto the
Provinces of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa, by means of a dustuck anal
(or permit) free of all duties or customs to the Country Govern-

ment. But that the Nawab might have no room left for

complaint, or to think that we intended pressing our rights

harder upon him than we had done on former Nawabs, it was

agreed to continue to him a certain consideration in the article

of salt, And by the sum of the answers to the question,

‘What that consideration should be? It was resolved, in

consultation of the 2nd March, to allow him 24 per cent.

upon the Hughly market price; and that salt was the only

article of trade which should pay any customs whatever to the

Country Government,

1 The Consultations for 1762-63, which have been preserved in the Home

Office, are in avery imperfect state. The correspondence and minutes are

not entered in the Consultation volumes, but are only preserved in the

bundles, and much is wanting. It appears, however, that the Firmans from

the King had granted to the English Company absolute freedom from all

duties ; that these terms had been agreed to, both by Jaffier Ali Khan and

U
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« This being become here an established and fixed resolution,

it now remains with Your Honors to judge of the justness of

it, as well as of the validity of the arguments made use of

on both sides on the occasion, .

“ Having determined that our.gomastas or agents should

be under no actual control of the officers of the Nawab’s

Government, but restrained by certain regulations which should

be laid down, we proceeded to settle such regulations as we

thought neccessary for restraining accordingly our agents and

gomastas from interfering with any affairs of the Country

Government, injuring the people or being injured by them,

and for deciding disputes which might arise between them.

For these ends we determined, that a gomasta being ag-

grieved by any dependant upon the Government should first

make his application to the officer of the Government residing

on the spot; from whom, if he did not receive immediate

satisfaction, he should send his complaint to the Chief of the

nearest factory, who should be empowered to take cognisance

of the same, and demand or exact, if necessary, the satisfaction

which the case might require. On the other band, where the

Government’s people should have reason to complain against

English gomastas or agents, we determined that they should

be directed to give the said agent or gomasta notice of the

complaint in writing, and require and recommend him to turn

Cossim Ali Khan; that Mr. Vansittart had given up these privileges, ex-

cepting as regards goods bought for exportation; that he had agreed that

English merchants should pay a duty of nine per cent. ad valorem to the

Nawab on all articles of inland trade, such as salt, tobacco, and betel-nut ;

and that he had suggested that all complaints should be settled by the

Nawab’s own officers,

The majority of the Board over-ruled these proceedings of Mr. Vansittart.

It was urged that he had no right to abandon privileges which had been

freely granted. The idea of having questions settled by the Native Courts

was especially denounced. If an Englishman or his agent gained a suit he

would be obliged to pay the expenses of the Court, plus a chout of twenty-

five per cent, on the money recovered. If he refused to pay, he never gained

another suit, as it could then be the interest of the Native Judge to decide

against him. Native merchants were sensible of the impossibility of carrying

on business under such restrictions, and purchased the protection of some

higher native official.
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to settle the same in an equitable and amicable manner ; which

if the gomasta or agent should refuse or neglect to do, that

the Government’s officer should then transmit an account of

it to the Chief of the nearest English factory, who shouid be

required to exdmine strictly into the affair, and decide it ac-

cording to justice. Likewise, to render the whole everywhere

effectual, we appointed a member of the Cossimbazar Factory

Resident at Rungpoor, to take cognisance of the complaints

and decide the disputes which might arise in the districts

too distant from any of the established factories, and who

should, at the same time, carry on and endeavour to improve

the Company’s silk investment made at that place.

* During the course-of these deliberations, the President

wrote frequently to the Nawab, first, to inform him that the

regulations he had proposed could not take place, and

afterwards, of the many complaints which arrived from all

quarters against his officers, and for which we should expect

to receive ample reparation. The first answer of any con-

sequence to these letters arrived with us in Council the 7th of

March. In the one of them he contained his answer with

respect to trade in three propositions or demands, which are

extracted and entered at leneth in the body of the consulta-

tion.t In the other there appeared throughout a general

disinclination to give us any satisfaction for the interruptions

and ill-usage which we had received from the officers of his

Government. And both letters, on the whole, seemed rather

an evasion than any answer to the President’s representation.

“ It was, therefore, agreed that a letter should be imme-

diately wrote him, containing our opinion of his letters, and

1 The three demands of the Nawab are set forth in a letter entered upon the

Consultations of the 7th March 1863. They were to the following effect :—

(1).—That the Nawab should correspond only with the President and have

nothing to do with the other members of the Board.

(2)—That the English should abstain from all inland trade, and confine

their trade to exports and imports,

(8).—That the English gomastas or agents were to be ameuuble to his

(the Nawab’s) own officers.

My. Vansittuer 4
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mb Marci:

Deputation
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giving him a full account of what had hitherto been resolved

on by the Board in consequence of the reference made to the

Firmans, Husbulhookums, and Treaties, by the tenour of which

the Board were determined to abide. It was at the same

time resolved that Messrs. Amyatt and Hay should be de-

puted to the Nawab, to explain to him more fully the justice

of those rights and pretentions, and settle with him the rule

for levying the custom which we had agreed should be paid

him ; and that for the former purpose they should be furnish. —

ed with copies of the said Firmans, Husbulhookums, and

Treaties. Of this resolution likewise the Nawab was now

advised ; and further acquainted that, as we should examine

into all the complaints against English agents and gomastas

and cause them to make amends for whatsoever injustice it

might appear they had committed, so we should insist upon

justice against all those officers of his Government who

might prove guilty of the obstructions and extortions laid

to their charge, and that they should be obliged to make

reparation for all losses occasioned thereby.

“ As the first of the before-mentioned propositions from the

Nawab implied an ignorance of the nature of our Govern-

ment, and the powers of the Cotneil, Mr. Johnstone moved

that a public letter should be wrote to him, explaining these

points, and re-demanding the President’s letter, which con-

tained the regulations ; and that such letter should be signed

by the whole Board, and go under the Company’s seal. But

the majority of the Council dissenting to the latter part of

this motion, it was agreed that the point mentioned by

Mr. Johnstone should be expressed in two additional para-

graphs to the letter before ordered to be wrote under the sign

and seal of the President.

“On the 22nd March Mr, Johnstone laid before the Board

copy of asunnud and perwanna of the Nawab’s which he

had received in private letters from Patna, the former contain-

ing an exemption of all duties whatever within his Govern-

ment for the space of two years, and the latter to the Naib
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of Patna enjoining the strictest compliance with the term of

this sunnud. Oui these Mr. Johnstone desired the opinions of*
the Board might be collected, and a resolution come to before

Messrs. Amyatt and Hay should proceed on their deputation,

“This was accordingly done next council day, for the

majority of the Board being of opinion that the Nawab as

Subah had no authority to take such a step; that it was done

with a view to prejudice the Company’s business, and counter-

act the measures which the Board had been taking for the
welfare of trade in general; it was therefore resolved that a

paragraph should be added to Messrs. Amyatt and Hay’s

instructions, directing them to represent this to the Nawab,

and insist upon his revoking the suunuds and collecting

duties as before.

“ Messrs. Amyatt and Hay now remained ready to set out

when the Nawab’s answer should arrive; but, on receipt

thereof, it was found to contain: rather a refusal than an

acceptance of the visit, so far as we should regard the public

business, from a conception, that his having abolished all

kinds of duties rendered any further conference or regula-

tions respecting trade altogether unnecessary. The further

substance of his further letters congested is a repetition of his

former remonstrances and)retorts, and a refusal to give us the

satisfaction required for the losses sustained by the disturb-

ances. The several members were therefore desired to deliver

in their opinions on those letters, whether they thought

Messrs. Amyatt and Hay should proceed, or what other

measures should be taken to bring these disputes to a con-

clusion.

“ Accordingly, in consultation, the lst of April, the opinions
were given in and read; and the matter being also fully con-

sidered and debated on, it was resolved, in conformity to the

voice of the majority, that the Nawab should be again written

to, to insist on his receiving the intended deputation for treat-

ing upon business ; and that Messrs. Amyatt and Hay should

proceed to and wait his auswer at Cossimbazar. The Presi-

dent therefore addressed him, under that date, representing
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the indecent style of his letters and the impropriety of his

conduct; that these had been already such as would fully

justify our coming toarupture: but, to show him how distant

such a proceeding was from our thoughts, we acquainted him

at once with our intentions that, with a view of settling the

disputes in the country in the most effectual and speedy

manner, and to avoid coming to extremities, we deputed

Messrs. Amyatt and Hay to confer with him at Monghyr;

and that this commission treated on many other . points,

besides that of duties, tending to the welfare of his Govern-

ment, as well as the Company’s. That he accordingly ought

to regard such an appointment as that of two gentlemen of the

Board as the strongest mark of our friendship and confidence

paid him; and that it therefore behoved him to write us

immediately that he would receive the deputation ina suitable

manner to treat upon business. That, if he refused so reason-

able a demand, it would not be in our power to remove the

suspicions and jealousies whieh he harboured in his mind;

and, as the alarins in all parts of the country must be attended

with very great loss and detriment, both to his affairs and the

Company’s, that a breach of the friendship between us would

infallibly ensue. That we once more assured him of our

hearty resolution to support and assist him in every branch of

his Government; but that if he refused to receive the pre-

sent deputation, it would be regarded in no other light than a

declaration on his side of his intention to come to a rupture

with us.

“ Since the departure of Messrs. Amyatt and Hay, we have

received {wo more letters from the Nawab, in oue of which

he still declines receiving those gentlemen upon business for

the reasons he had before given. But, as we had already

resolved to be determined in our measures from the answer

which he shall send to our letter of the ]st April, we thought

it unnecessary to reply to those, and only transmitted copies

of them to Messrs. Amyatt and Hay for their information.

“In one of the President’s letters to the Nawab he had

desired him to write what particular accusations he had to
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lay to the charge of Mr. Fllis; as also to point out to him

any particular instances of the losses which he had sustained

through the oppression and bad behaviour of Fnglish gomas-

tas. But we find from his answer, which is one of the

above letters, that all he has to allege against Mr. Ellis, are

the complaints which happened in the course of last year ; and

as to the last he refuses to discuss the affuir further.”

The most important point in the foregoing Court of Direos

extracts is the action taken by the Nawab to evade Caestts Board.

the pretensions. The English persisted in main-

taining the privilege of carrying on the inland

trade without the payment of duties. The Nawab

abolished the payment of all duties for the space

of two years. By thus abandoning all duties he

broke up the monopoly by placing the native mer-

chants on the same footing. Noone could deny the

right of the Nawab to abolish duties, excepting

such as were blinded by theirown interest. .'The

Court of Directors, haying no interest whatever

in the question, were enabled to see the matter in

a just light. They strongly condemned the action

taken by the Board at Calcutta. They administered

rebukes to almost every one excepting Vansittart

and Warren Hastings. The following extracts will

sufficiently illustrate their feelings at this time :—

* Unwilling as we always are to place too mueh confidence rhe Nawab to be
. : : : : informed accord-
in private informations, yet these are too important to pass ingly.

unnoticed. If what is all stated is fact, it is natural to think

that the Nawab, tired out and disgusted with the ill-usgge

he has received, has taken this extraordinary measure, finding

that his authority and government are set at nought and

trampled upon by the unprecedented behaviour of our

servants and the agents employed by them in. the several
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parts of the Nawab’s dominions. If we are right in our

conjecture, we positively direct, as you value our service, that

you dd immediately acquaint the Nawab, in the Company’s

name, that we disapprove of every measure that has been

taken in real prejudice to his authority and Government,

particularly with respect to the wronging him in his revenues

by the shameful abuse of Dustucks; and you are further

to inform him that we look upon his and the Company’s

interest to be so connected that we wish for nothing more

than to have everything put on such a footing that the

utmost harmony may be promoted and kept up between us.}

Colonel Calliaud Having considered with the greatest attention every cir-
honourably . o .
acquitted, cumstance of your proceedings with respect to the allegation

against Colonel Calliaud for consenting to a proposal of the

late Nawab Jaffier Ali Khan to cause the Shahzada to be

seized or cut off, we ate unanimously of opinion that he

stands honourably acquitted of any design or intention upon

or against the life of that Prince,

Disapproval of “Although we have not received any letter from you since

taken against. that which bore date the 14th February 1763, which gave us

the Nava some general account of very disagreeable altercations with
the Nawab, yet private advices have been received which

take notice that the Nawab having made repeated complaints

of the notorious abuse of Dustucks by which he lost great

part of his customs, and having obtained no redress, he at

once overset the Company’s servants by declaring all goods

custom free, so that their Dustucks are of no use. ~

Allthe Nawab’s In order to promote this harmony, ycu are most heartily

eitaed ’ and seriously to take under your consideration every real
grievance the Nawab lays under, to redress them to the

utmost of your power and prevent such abuses in future.

And, with respect to the article of Dustucks in particular, you

are hereby positively directed to confine this privilege as

nearly as possible to the terms granted in the Firmans; and

you.are to give the Nawab all the assistance you can to

1 Separate letter, London, 30th December, 1763.
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reinstate him in the full power of collecting and receiving

his revenues, which as Subah he is justly entitled to.

“We are impatient for your next advices, that we may be Impatient for

informed of your proceedings with respect to this important intelligence,

affair, and that we may give you our sentiments thereupon

in a more full and explicit manner, which we hope will be

before the despatch of our last letters this season.

“ One great source of the disputes, misunderstandings, and Private trade |

difficulties which have occurred with the Country Government, of all the mis.

appears evidently to have taken its rise from the unwarrant- wththe Nawab.

able and licentious manner of carrying on the private trade

by the Company’s servants, their gomastas, agents, and

others, to the prejudice of the Subah, both with respect

to his authority and the revenues justly due to him, the

diverting and taking from his natural subjects the trade

in the inland parts of the country, to which neither we nor

any persons whatever dependent upon us, or under our pro-

tection, have any manner of right, and consequently en-

dangering the Company’s very valuable privileges. In order,

therefore, to remedy all these disorders, we do hereby posi-

tively order and direct—

“ That, from the recerpt of this letter, a final and effectual aun intend trade

end be forthwith put to the inland trade in salt, betel-nut, to- "0 he abolished.
baccos, and in all other articles whatsoever produced and con-

sumed in the country; and that all Europeans and other

agents or gomastas who have been concerned in such trade

be immediately ordered down to Calcutta, and not suffered

to return or be replaced as sach by any other persons.

« That as our Firman privileges of being duty free are cer- Export and

tainly confined to the Company’s export and import trade nue to be duty
only, you are to have recourse to, and keep within, the liberty free.
therein stipulated and given as nearly as can possibly be

done. But, as by the connivance of the Bengal Government

and constant usage, the Company’s covenant servants have

had the same benefit as the Company with respect to their

export and import trade, we are willing they should enjoy the

same, and that Dustucks be granted accordingly. But herein
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the most effectual care is to be taken that no excesses or

abuses are suffered upon any account whatsoever, nor Dustucks

grauted to any others than our covenant servants as afore-

said. However, notwithstanding any of our former orders,

no writer is to have the benefit of the Dustuck until he has

served out his full term of five yearsin that station. Free

merchants and others are not entitled to or to have the

benefit of the Company’s Dustucks, but are to pay the usual

duties.

« As no agents or gomastas are to reside on account of

private trade at any of the inland parts of the country, all

business on account of licensed private trade is to be carried

on by and through the meang of the Company’s Covenanted

Servants, resident at the several subordinate Factories, as has

been usual.

“ We are under the necessity of giving the before-going

orders in order to preserve the tranquillity of the country and

harmony with the Nawab. They are rather outlines than

complete directions, which you areto add to, and improve

upon, agreeably to the spirit of, and our meaning in, them,
as far as may be necessary to answer the desired purpose.

And, if any person or persons are guilty of a contravention

of them, be they whomsoever they may, if our own servants,

they are to be dismissed the service; if of others, the Com-

pany’s protection is to be withdrawn, and you have the option

of sending them forthwith to England if you judge the

nature of the offence requires it.

“ From the whole of your proceedings with respect to Nund-

ccomar, there seems to be no doubt of his endeavouring by

forgery and false accusations to ruin Ramchurn, that he has

been guilty of carrying on correspondence with the Country

Powers hurtful to the Company’s interest, and instrumental

in conveying letters between the Shahzada and the French

Governor General of Pondicherry, In short, it appears that

he is of that wicked and turbulent disposition that no har-

mony can subsist in a society where he has the opportunity

of interfering, We therefore most readily concur with you,
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that Nundcoomar is a person improper to be trusted with his

liberty in our settlements, and capable of doing mischief if

he is permitted to go out of the province, either to the

northward or towards the Dekhan. We shall therefore

depend upon your keeping such a watch over all his actions as

may be the means of preventing his disturbing the quiet of

the public or injuring individuals for the future.

“ We are well pleased that you have engaged no further

in. assisting the Rajah of Meckley (. ¢., Munipur) for

obtaining redress for some grievances he complained to

have suffered from the Burmas. For, although the advan-

tage offered by the Rajah may be specious, and you might

have an opportunity of getting redress for the repeated

ill-treatment of our settlement at the Negrais, yet the dis-

tance of the object, the general weakness of our forces, and

the uncertainty of success, surely are sufficient reasons for

not proceeding upon new hostilities. We do not disap-

prove, however, of your ordering the detachment of six com-

panies of -sepoys to take part at Munipore under the direc-

tion of the Chief and Couneil of Chittagong ; provided it

may have been the means of cultivating a friendship with

the said Rajah, and giving you an opportunity of being

acquainted with the strength, nature, and dispositions of the

Burmas; that such future use may be made of these cir-

cumstances as may be really and essentially necessary for the

Company’s interest, and on no other account whatsoever.
But we shall still be always well pleased with and applaud

your endeavours for opening any new channels of commerce.”

It would be tedious to proceed further with the

extracts. It will suffice to briefly refer to the man-

ner in which the question was misunderstood in

England. There was no question as to the treaty

right of the English to trade free of duty. There

may have been a question whether the right was

1 General letter, London, 22nd July 1764.
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conferred only upon the trade of the Company, or

whether it extended to the private trade of the

Company’s servants. But that was a question

which did not affect the Nawab. The Company

ask with some inconsistency why they, the masters,

had not been allowed to share in a trade which had

become so lucrative to their servants. But that

was a paltry dispute between master and servant,

with which history has nothing to do.

The plain truth was that the so-called treaties were

mere agreements patched up on the eve of a revolu-

tion. The English were in a position to demand

anything; the Nawab expectant could refuse no-

thing. There was notevena show of deliberation,

for there was no time to haggle over terms. The

term “ duty free’ meant anything or everything.

The crisis was one of those epochs in history

when nothing could stop the quarrel but the strong

arm of absolute power. Had Clive been in Bengal,

he would have made himself arbiter in the dispute ;

and both the Nawab and the English would have

been compelled to submit to his dictation. As it was,

the moderate counsels of men like Vansittart and

Warren Hastings were thrown to the winds, be-

cause they were wanting in authority. No one

heeded them ; both parties were bent on effecting

their respective objects by force of will.

Meantime Meer Cossim began to suspect the de-

signs of the English. He had inklings of the nego-

tiations between the English and the young King,

Shah Alam. . He knew that Vansittart and Warren
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Hastings were supporting his pretensions. Doubt-

less he ascribed their conduct to weakness; especially

when he saw that the English Governor was thwart-

ed by a majority of his own Council, an opposition

which few Asiatics in the eighteenth century could

have been made to understand.

Meer Cossim must have been more sure of the sup-

port of his grandees than his immediate predecessor.

He had despoiled some of the high Hindu officials ;

but the blame fell upon the English, who permitted

him to break the guarantee which had been given

by Clive. The Hindu grandees were estranged from

the English by the withdrawal of the guarantee;

and community of interests led them to make com-

mon. cause with the Nawab. Meantime the quarrel

of the Nawab with the English only served to

strengthen his position. ‘The people were regarding

the English as their oppressors, and looking to the

Nawab for protection,

Reliance of the

Hindu grandees.



CHAPTER XI.

CALCUTTA RECORDS: PATNA MASSACRE,

A. D. 1763.

English T this time the English never contemplated

meeting any real resistance from Nawab Cos-

sim. They expected that he would yield to threats.

They had long ceased to fear him; they treated

him as a creature of their own creation. As for

themselves, they never doubted their personal, secu-

rity, either at Calcutta, or at the more remote

factories up-country. Patna, for instance, was in

the heart of Behar.. It was cut off from Calcutta

by the Nawab’s capital at Monghyr. Yet Mr. Ellis,

the Chief of the English factory at Patna, had all

along been one of the most violent opponents of

the Nawab and his officials.

Ii-tinedmissin Tf} was under such circumstances that the Eng-

lish Commissioners, Messrs. Amyatt and Hay, pro-

ceeded from Calcutta to Monghyr. They were ex-

pected to induce the Nawab to withdraw his orders

for the abolition of all inland duties. The Nawab

was so angry that he would hardly give them a

hearing. He rejected every proposition that they

made to him. To make matters worse, an English

boat attempted to pass Monghyr with a supply of



CALCUTTA RECORDS: PATNA MASSACRE. 319

arms for the factory at Patna. The Nawab was furi-

ous at the news, and stopped the boat at Monghyr.

The English at Calcutta were equally furious at Imperions ation

the action of the Nawab. Messrs. Amyatt and

Hay received orders from Calcutta to leave Monghyr

unless the Nawab allowed the arms to go on to

Patna. This, however, was easicr said than done.

Mr. Hay was detained at Monghyr as a hostage

for the safety of the Nawab’s officers who had been

arrested by the English. Mr. Amyatt was permit-

ted to return to Calcutta.

Such was the course of events when a tragedy Temible resutts.

was enacted at Patna, almost as terrible as that of

the Black Hole. It raised an outery in England

like that which followed the massacre at Cawnpore

during the mutiny. In the present day the story of

Patna has been forgotten; but it may be revived

by extracts from the journals of the sufferers, for

it is a lesson for all time.

Mr. Amyatt left Monghyr in good spirits. The Mr. smyatt,

Nawab entertaincd him with a nautch the night

before he went away, and he seems to have had no

sense of danger. The story of his murder by the

Nawab’s retainers will appear hereafter.

Whilst Mr. Amyatt was at Monghyr, he carried tngtish tactory

on a correspondence with Mr. Ellis at Patna. When

he left Monghyr, Mr. Ellis took the alarm. There

was an English force at the factory ; but the factory

itself was untenable. Accordingly it was resolved

by Mr. Ellis and the English at the factory to

attack Patna and oceupy the town.
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The following extracts from the journal of a

gentleman at Patna describe the operations which

followed :—

“ June 23rd, 1763.—This day I dined at the Factory with

most of the Officers, &c., in commemoration of the Battle

of Plassey, when I observed by the private conferences of

Messrs. Ellis, Carstairs, &c., that the public embroils which

had been long threatening appeared to be coming near toa

crisis, which made me take Carstairs aside and ask him

' whether he thought I was safe to stay longer in the city ; he

Contemplated
attack on the

town of Patna.

Patna taken and
lost.

told me, for that night I may, but no longer, and invited me

out to his garden,

“ 24th.—This morning I employed myself in settling

matters with my Banian and getting my things sent out to

Captain Carstairs’s; dined at the Factory, where the gentle-

men kept everything very private; arrived at Carstairs’s

about four o’clock. Upon enquiry of him, understood that

they intended attacking the city to-morrow morning, but

he had just received a chit from Mr. Ellis, wherein he

mentioned he had received intellizence by the foot post. that

Mr. Amyatt bad been entertained by the Nawab with a

nautch and came home highly pleased ; wherefore he thought

their intentions of attack should be deferred till he heard

from Mr. Amyatt himself, which he expected that evening, and

should then give him immediate notice. Betwixt eight and

nine a message arrived that he had heard from Mr. Amyatt, -

and that he had leave of the Nawab to proceed to Caleutta

on the 24th; wherefore he ordered the attack should be made

on the morning. As they formerly agreed, most of the

Officers supped with Carstairs, and I came into the Factory

betwixt eleven and twelve, and found all the gentlemen

making all preparations for the attack.

« 25th —The Army moved from Bankipore at two o’clock

in the morning, and they judged in the Factory that the

Army would reach the city before four. Accordingly, about a

quarter before four we heard a firing, upon which a party of

sepoys who were stationed on the top of the Factory house
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were ordered to keep up a ‘constant fire upon the rampart

of the wall next the Factory, and two 3-pounders, which

were also there, were ordered to play away upon the same

rampart, and the two 24-pounders below kept up an incessant

fire till daylight (all this period very little firing was returned

from the city, as I believe they were all asleep when attack-

ed). We now observed all the walls lined with our colours

and sepoys, which to be sure in our situation was very agree-

able, and every minute furnished us with the agreeable news

of everything going before us; in short, by nine we were con-

fidently assured that we were in possession of every post ;

then our great folks began to look into the administration

of the province; perwannahs! were issuing out to the

Foujdars* to continue their former obedience in sending in

provisions, &e., to the city as formerly; Nuzzurs3 were

coming in plenty to the Chief, and joy reigned in the face

of everybody. Biscuits, wie, &c., were sent in to the

Officers to refresh them; numbers of wounded men were

now coming out of the city, which employed Messrs. Ful-

larton, Anderson, and self for the day ; surmises now passed

that we had not as yet got possession of the Fort, and by

twelve was confirmed. About twoo’elock Carstairs and Kinch

came to the Factory and aequainted us that we were beat

out of the city, and that if was not in their power to make

one man stand; which was the case, for by all accounts less

than a hundred men drove our whole Army out, and this sad

misfortune was entirely owing to the plundering of our

sepoys and soldiers, which turned their courage into avarice,

and every one of them thought of nothing but skulking off

with what they had got. By three o’clock most of the scat-

tered Army returned into the Factory.

“ After this melancholy accident everybody was greatly

nouplused what was the most prudent step to be taken: as

1 Perwannahs were letters conveying orders.

2 ¥oujdars were military officers in charge of towns, villages, or districts

in behalf of the Nawab.

3 Nuzzurs were complimentary offerings on oceasion of rejoicing,

Flight of the

English towards
Oude.
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in such case numbers of schemes were proposed, and none

could determine what was the most advisable; at last it was

fixed to proceed to Shuja-u-daula’s province, [2 e., Oude,] but

a great difficulty arose in the procuring of boats. At last

with much trouble there were collected as many as we

thought would do, and agreed to set off the next evening.”

Surender ofthe ‘The English had captured Patna; but soldiers

Cossim. and sepoys were alike wanting in discipline, and the

town was recovered by the Nawab’s troops the same

day. The English were in adilemma. They could

not remain at the factory, for they could not hold

it against the enemy. They could not go down

the river to Calcutta, for they would certainly be

stopped by the Nawab at Monghyr. They had no

alternative but to go up the river into Oude. They

made the attempt, but it failed; the stream was

against them, and indeed everything was against

them. In the end they surrendered to the Nawab.

Some were imprisoned at Patna; others, including

Mr. Ellis, were imprisoned.at Monghyr.

Diary of On ar Extracts from the journal of an English prisoner

at Patna. at Patna throw further light on the progress of

affairs :—

News from © August 6th—Myr. Roach’s boy arrived from Monghyr;

brings news of Mr. Amyatt’s head being brought there some

time ago; that Mr. Chambers and some of the Cossimbazar

Factory people are there also. Hear that we were thrice re-

pulsed in the attack of the city of Muradabad, but the fourth

attack carried everything ; that the old Nawab Meer Jafficr

is declared.

Murder of Mr. © 1]th.—Messrs. Bennct and Thomson were to-day brought
myatt and

Ensign Cooper, to us; they give us an account of Mr, Amyatt and Ensign

Cooper being killed at Muradabad as follows :—They had
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embarked all the party, and sent the horses, &e., with the

syces by land. Meeting with contrary winds, it was ten days

ere they reached Muradabad, when at once they saw troops

drawn upon each side of the river with some great guns;

they hailed them and desired them to come to, but not

taking notice of them some of them fired, on which some of

our sepoys began to fire also and killed somebody on the

shore, on which great guns and volleys were fired, which

induced them to put to the opposite shore where was the

least fire. Mr. Amyatt, notwithstanding the fire, landed

with a pair of pistols; he took the Nawab’s perwannah in

one hand and held it up tothem, and a pistol in the other,

and advanced to the top of the bank, where he was shut in

the leg, and soon after cut to pieces.) Ensign Cooper met

with the same fate in making resistance, but the other

gentlemen they ean give no account of, but expect they were

sent to Monghyr with Mr. Chambers and the others from

Cossimbazar. They also inform us Mr. Hay and Mr. Gulston

were left at Monghyr, and remain there yet. These gentle-

men have suffered greatly, being put in irons, and brought

up in one boat without cover and scarcely victuals or necessa-

ries to cover them, being im all twenty-seven persons, The

Nawab here allows ten rupees per) day to the twenty-seven

people left, and an addition of two rupees per day to us on

account of these two wentlemen.

“ 23rd,—As His lxcellency! still continues at Monghyr,

it gives us reason to think our troops are not yet in possession

of the upper pass.

“ 94th—Hear for certain our troops are at Shahabad ;

that the enemy are repairing what of Monghyy they had

destroyed; that everything was in the greatest confusion in

His Excellency’s camp; that Somru had the management

of everything. His Excellency had not eaten for three days,

nor allowed his Nazir to be beat; that he himself and Somru

were at Monghyr and his army advanced to Gulgot Nullah,

so that we may hourly expect some news.

1 The Nawab Meer Cossim.

Nawah at

Monghyr.
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“ 26th.—This evening heard that ten Europeans at Barr

had been tied and thrown into the river, so that from this

we may guess what we are to expect; have also an account

that some perwannahs have arrived here to several jemadars

of His Excellency’s camp; some think he will be laid hold of

by his own people.

* 29th and 30th.—Hear that His Excellency is two coss

this side Ruinulla, and Somru with the Armenians at the

nullah; that his people are going off daily, and he is in

great fear of his life; that about three weeks ago he proposed

cutting us all of, but was prevented by Somru, the Arme-

nians, and some of his jemadars.

“ Tuesday, 4th. —To-day, His Excellency arrived at Ram Na-

rain’s gardens, and to-morrow comesinto the city. They have

been very busy to-day mounting guns on the bastions of this

place. Heard that Meer Jaffier’s brother had made his escape.

“ Wednesday, 5th Near the Setts were cut off near Barr.

“ Thursday, 6th.—Heard this morning that Mr. Ellis and

forty-seven gentlemen were cut off last night, so that doubtless

our fate must be sealed in twenty-four hours, for which God

prepare us all.”

An English surgeon, named Fullarton, was the

sole survivor of the massacre. He had been a

medical attendant upon the Nawab Meer Cossim,

and never scems to have been in danger. When

hostilities began Mr. Fullarton was at Monghbyyr.

Subsequently he was sent to Patna, and was pre-

sent there at the time of the massacre. The follow-

ing extracts from his narrative show the course

of events at Monghyr and Patna :—

“ July 6th.—Mr. Ellis with the rest of the gentlemen were

brought to Patna. I petitioned to be sent to them, or be

suffered to see them, both which were refused.

The 8th.—Mr. Ellis with the rest of the gentlemen were

sent to Menghyy and there confined; there was Rs. 45,000 of
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the Company’s cash on board the budgerow when Mr. Ellis

was taken, and some plate which was given to him, but in

the care of some of the Nawab’s people, to be given him

when he wanted it; some time it remained with Coja Petruss,

afterwards with Mamodom Khan.

“ The 16th.—I was sent down to Monghyr and there

confined separately from the rest of the gentlemen, as I

afterwards understood they were all well used, though strictly

confined. We had victuals sent us by the Nawab regularly

twice a day.

August 10th.—The Nawab left Monghyr, and the fort

was left in charge of Mamodom Khan; he treated us with

the greatest lenity to appearance; and pretended to carry on

a treaty with Mr. Elhs, but it was all a sham for he never

was in earnest. I was allowed to see the gentlemen on

account of Captain Turner being iJ], who afterwards died

of a flux.

“ September 1381h.—Mr., Hllis and the rest of the gentlemen

were sent from Monghyr; Messrs. Ellis and Greentree

were in palankeens ; Lushington, Smith, Lieutenant Bowen,

Ensign MeLeod, and one other gentleman whom I don’t

remember, were on horseback; the rest were in irons, some

in dooleys, and some in hackeries, and after their arrival at

Patna were confined in Haji Ahmad’s house.

“ September 19th.—I was sent from Monghyr to Pataa end

confined alone in the Killa.

“ October 5th.—Mr. Ellis with the rest of the gentlemen

were inhumanly butchered by Somru, who came that even-

ing to the place with two companies of sepoys (he had the

day before sent for all the knives and forks from the gentle-

men); he surrounded the house with his people and went

into a little outer square and sent for Messrs. Ellis, Hay,

and Lushington, and with them came six other gentlemen,

who were all terribly mangled and cut to pieces, and their

bodies thrown into a well in the square and it filled up; then

the sepoys were sent into the large square and fired on the

gentlemen there, and, rushing upon them, cut them into

Massacre at
Paina by Somru,
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pieces in the most inhuman manner, and they were thrown

into another well, which was likewise filled up.

“ The 7th—Vhe Nawab sent for me and told me to get

myself in. readiness to go to Calentta, for that he had been

unlucky in the war, which, he asserted with great warmth,

had not been of his seeking, nor had he been the ageressor,

reproaching the English with want of fidelity and breach of

treaty, but he said he had still hopes of an accommodation ;

he asked me what I thought of it; I told him I made no

doubt of it. When some of his people’ then present mentioned

the affair of Mr. Amyatt’s death, he declared that he had

never given any orders of killing Mr. Amyatt, but after

receiving advice of Mr. Ellis’s having attacked Patna, he

had ordered all his servants to take and imprison all the

English in his provinces wherever they could find them; he

likewise added that if a treaty was not set afoot, he would

bring the King, the Mahrattas, and Abdulla? against us, and

so ruin our trade, &e.; he had finished his letters, and ordered

boats and a guard to conduct me, when, upon the advice of

some of his people, he stopped me and said there was no

occasion for me to go, After his sending for me at first

he ordered the sepoys in whose charge I was to go to their

quarters ; two Moguls and twelve burkaras to attend me, but

to let me go about the city where I pleased. Ithen appli-

ed for liberty to stay at the Dutch Factory, which was

granted,

« The 14th.—On the approach of our army Nawab Cossim

decamped with his troops in great confusion, and marched

five eoss to the westward of the city. The hurkaras that were

with me having no orders about me, I gave them some

money which made them pretty easy.

“ The 25th.—After giving money toa jemadar that had the

guard to the westward of the Dutch Factory by the river

side, I set out in a small boat, and got safe to the boats

ander command of Captain Wederburn that were lying

opposite to the citv on the other side of the river, and at

D Ala ad Shah Al bdali, ‘the sovereign of ‘the Atg “hi: Ls,
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éleven o’clock that night arrived at the army under the com-

mand of Major Adams, laying at Jutly.”

It is needless to dwell on the disaster. It will Ruin of Mee

suffice to say that fifty-one English gentlemen

were slaughtered in cold blood at Patna, together

with a hundred others of inferior rank. The order

was given by Nawab Cossim, but the massacre was

directed by a deserter from the French army named

Somru' who had entered the service of the Nawab.

The massacre rendered accommodation impossible.

The war which followed led to the utter ruin of

the Nawab. Meer Cossim was utterly beaten; his

threats were vain and futile; he fled away to Oude

and took refuge with the Nawab Vizicr.

The Nawab Vizier of Oude was prepared to take Decisive bate

advantage of the confusion of the times. He

was still accompanied by the King, Shah Alam;

he still hoped to get possession of Behar, Bengal,

and Orissa. The military,.operations have lost

their interest; there was a mutiny of the sepoys in

the English army; it was the first on record; it

was suppressed by blowing twenty men from

their guns. Then followed the battle of Buxar ;

it was fought on the 28rd October 1764; it

settled the fate of the English in India; it

placed the whole of Oude and the North-West Pro-

vinees at the fect of the English at Calcutta. To

2 The real name of this man was Walter Reinhardt. He deserted to

the English and took the name of Summnier ; the soldiers changed his name

to Sombre because of his evil expression. Subsequently he entered the

Nawab’s service as stated in the test.
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all outward appearance, the English had become

the paramount power, not only in Bengal, but in

all Hindustan, from the left bank of the Jumna to

the slopes of the Himalayas.

Meanwhile Meer Jaffier was restored to the throne

of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa. Mr. Vansittart re-

turned to England and was succeeded by a Mr.

Spencer as Governor of Bengal. Lord Clive had

been raised to the peerage and appointed Governor

of Bengal. A Select Committee of five members,

with Lord Clive at their head, was formed for the

exclusive management of all political affairs. All

these arrangements were reported to Calcutta in

1764. In 1765 Lord Clive was sailing up the Bay

of Bengal with two of the members of the new

Committee, for the purpose of taking over the

supreme control of affairs.



CHAPTER XII.

SECOND GOVERNMENT OF CLIVE.

1765-1767.

ORD CLIVE landed at Calcutta in May 17665. Plans of Lord

On his way up the Bay he had touched at

Madras, and heard that Meer Jaffier had died the

previous February. He was delighted at the news.

He was anxious to introduce the new system for

the government of the Bengal provinces, which

he had unfolded to Pitt more than seven years

before. He would set up a new Nawab who should

be only a cypher. He would leave the administra-

tion in the hands of native officials. The English

were to be the real masters; they were to take over

the revenues, defend the three provinces from inva-

sion and insurrection, make war and conclude peace-

But the sovereignty of the English was to be hidden

from the public eye. They were to rule only in the

name of the Nawab and under the authority of the

Moghul Emperor.

Lord Clive had no misgivings as to his new Setingupan

scheme. Ife knew that there were two claimants

to the Nawab’s throne, an illegitimate son of Meer

Jaffier aged twenty, and a legitimate grandson aged

six. We would place the child of six on the throne
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at Murshedabad. Ile would carry ont all his

arrangements during the minority, without the

possibility of any difficulty or opposition.

Yorestated ty On. reaching Calcutta, Lord Clive found that he

Spencer. had been forestalled. Governor Spencer and Mcem-

bers of Council had refused to await the arrival of

Lord Clive and the Select Committee. They were

anxious to make fortunes by installing a new Nawab.

Directly they heard of the death of Meer Jafficr,

they sent a deputation of four of their number to

A mupret awe the city of Murshedabad. The deputation made a

Mentor, hurried bargain with a clever native grandee, named

Mahomed Reza Khan. It was agreed that the

young man of twenty should be made Nawab; that

Mahomed Reza Khan should exercise all real power

under the name of Naib Subah, or Deputy Nawab ;

that twenty lakhs of rupecs, or more than two hun-

dred thousand pounds sterling, should be distributed

amongst the Governor and. Council at Calcutta ;

and to prevent any unpleasantness, like that which

led Meer Cossim to withhold the twenty lakhs,

the money was paid over at once in cash and bills

obtained from Hindu bankers, and the deputation

returned to Calcutta in great joy and exultation.

Complaints of Lord Clive did not hear all this at once. He

was sufficiently exasperated at the news that the

young man of twenty had been made Nawab in-

stead of the child of six. A few days after his

arrival at Calcutta, he received a letter from the

young Nawab. The prince was weak and stupid;

chafing of the loss of the twenty lakhs, and
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impatient of his state of pupilage under Mahomed

Reza Khan. He complained to Lord Clive that he

had been treated with insult and indignity; that

the money had been paid to the English gentlemen

against his will; that the treasury at Murshedabad

had been unequal to the demand; that most of the

money had been raised by a forced loan extorted

from the Seit bankers.

Lord Clive was excessively angry. Ife declared wratn of vora

that blacks and whites had united together to plun-

der the Nawab’s treastry. Governor Speneer and

his Council asserted that they had only followed the

example sct by Clive himsclf after the battle of

Plassey. They forgot that circumstances had entirely

changed. At Plassey Clive had rendered great

public services to the Nawab and the Company,

whilst there was no law whatever against the receipt

of presents. At the death of Meer Jafficr, Spencer

and his Council liad rendered no serviees whatever ;

moreover, stringent orders had been passed by the

Court of Directors against the reccipt of presents.

Covenants to that effect had been received at

Caleutta; and the execution of the covenants had

been purposely delayed by Governor Spencer and

his Council until the English gentlemen had

received the money. It is necdless to dwell upon

the scandal. Most of the gentlemen were return-

ing to England, and Lord Clive left their conduct

to be dealt with by the Court of Directors.

Lord Clive did not set aside the Nawab. The Provisionat

prince had been installed by the English deputation, _
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and the arrangement had been ratified by the Gov-

ernor and Council. But he restricted the authority

of Mahomed Reza Khan. He associated two Hindu

grandees with Mahomed Reza Khan, and thus

distributed the powers of the Naib Subah amongst

a council of three.

Shortly afterwards, Lord Clive was called away

from Calcutta to conclude a treaty with the King

Shah Alam and the Nawab Vizier. The nego-

tiations were of a complex character. There were

three important questions which called for early

settlement :—

1st.—The future status of Oude and the Nawab

Vizier.

2nd.—The future relations between the English

and the King, or Padishah.

3rd.—The future status of the Nawab of Bengal,

Behar, and Orissa with regard to the

King and the English.

The first business was the settlement of Onde.

This territory extended from Behar almost to Delhi.

It formed a barrier between the three Bengal pro-

vinces on one side, and the Mahrattas on the south

and Afghans on the north-west.

At this moment Delhi was in the hands of the

Afghans. Governor Spencer had wanted to treat.

with the Afghans for the cession of Oude to the

Afghan invaders, and restoration of the King to

the throne of Delhi. Lord Clive set his face against

this policy. He would have nothing to do with

Delhi or the Afghans. He sought to restrict the
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English to the three provinces of Bengal, Behar,

and Orissa, and to guard against their interference

in the countries beyond. THe was willing to restore

the territory of Oude and the guardianship of the

King to the Nawab Vizier.

Lord Clive’s idea was to establish the English ovjects of ciive.

ascendancy in Bengal, Behar, and Orissa under the

authority of Moghul sovereignty. Inso doing he

resuscitated some of the forms in the Moghul im-

perial system. He sought to maintain the King ,by

a settled yearly charge on the revenues of Oude

and Bengal, which might be regarded as the King’s

share, and serve to strengthen the King’s autho-

rity.

Lord Clive gave back Oude to the Nawab Vizier. Restoration o
ade to the

He only insisted that the King should receive the provision for the

yearly revenue of the districts of Allahabad and”

Korah as his share of the revenue of Oude. So

far the imperial sovereignty of the King was re-

cognised in Oude. The King continued to reside

at Allahabad, under the guardianship of the Nawab

Vizier. In reality he was waiting for the turn of

fortune which should carry him on to Delhi.

Lord Clive next arranged the future government The Dewani of

of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa. He accepted the wd Uris
post of King’s Dewan for the three provinces in the

name of the English Company. The English Com-
pany, as King’s Dewan, took over all the revenue

of the threc provinces; they engaged to pay the

King a yearly rent of twenty-six lakhs, or at the

existing rate of exchange, about three hundred
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thousand pounds sterling, as the imperial share.

They were left to deal with the surplus revenuc as

they thought fit, and to make their own terms

with the Nawab of Murshedabad.

Lord Clive next went to Murshedabad. He re-

quired the young Nawab to disband his rabble army.

He arranged to take over the whole revenue of the

three provinces. He agreed to pay a yearly sti-

pend of fifty-three lakhs to the Nawab.‘ In this

manner the English Company came into possession

of the yearly revenues of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa.

They paid twenty-six lakhs to the King, and fifty-

three lakhs to the Nawab. The yearly payments

were thus something less than a million sterling.

The yearly reccipts, however, were estimated at threc

or four millions. Out of the surplus they provided

for the defence of the country and maintenance of

the public peace. The balance was so large that

the Company appropriated it to the purchase of

goods and manufactures in India and China. The

1 Heneeforth the Nawab was known az the Nawab Nazim. The outward

form of the Government of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa resemLled that which

prevailed in the reign of Aurangzeb. There was a Nawab Nazim, who was

responsible for the defence of the three provinces and the maintenance of the

public peace, as well as for the administration of justice and enforcing obedi-

ence to the law. There was a King’s Dewan, who received the yearly reve-

nues of the three provinces, and was responsible for all disbursements, as well

as for the payment of the surplus to the King as his imperial share,

The outward form adopted by Lord Clive was only a veil to conceal the real

transfer of power. Lord Clive had taken away all military power from the

Nawab Nazim and reduced him toa cypher. The Company as King’s Dewan

took possession of all the surplus revenue, In the time of Aurangzeb and his

immediate successors,the yearly remittances to the King amounted to 2 million

sterling. In Lord Clive’s time the King was only too glad to receive three

hundred thousand pounds sterling,
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vesilt was that within a few years the three Ben-

gal provinces were literally drained of rupees.’

The nature and results of this grant of the De- rxposition of
the policy by the

wani to the Company are fully sect forth in the cor- feu Gp~

respondence between the Sclect Committee at Cal-“""

cutta and the Court of Directors. The Ictters to

England explain the policy of Lord Clive. The

letters from England expound the views of the

Directors. The Select Committee begins?:

“The time now approaches when we may be able to rsisting status

determine, with some degree of certainty, whether our re-

maining as merchants, subjected to the jurisdiction, encroach-

ments, and insults of the country government, or supporting

your privileges and possessions by the sword, are likely to

prove most advantageous to the Company. Whatever may

be the consequence, certain it is, that after having once

begun, and proceeded to such Jengths, we have been foreed

to go on, step by step, until your whole possessions were put

to the risk by every revolution effected, and by every battle

fought. To apply a remedy to those evils, by giving stability

and permaneney to your, government, is now and has been

the constant object: of the serious attention of your Select

Committee.

“The perpetual struggles for superiority between the necessity for

Nawabs and your Agents, together with the recent proofs ewes the
before us of notorious and avowed corruption, have rendered

us unanimously of opinion, after the most mature deliberation,

that no other method can be suggested of laying the axe to

the root of all those evils, than that of obtaining the

Dewanny of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa, for the Company.
By establishing the power of the Great Mogul, we have like-
wise estab ished His rights; and his Majesty, from principles

1'The curious phenomena which follow ud these financtal arrange ments will
be explained in the next chapter.

2 Despatch of Sclect Committee at Fort Willian, dated 80th September

1765, Also despatch from the same, dated 31st January 1766.
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of gratitude, of equity, and of policy, has thought proper to

bestow this important employment on the Company, the

nature of which is, the collecting all the revenues, and after

defraying the expenses of the army, and allowing a sufficient

fund for the support of the Nizamut, to remit the remainder

to Dehh, or wherever the King shall reside or direct. But

as the King has been graciously pleased to bestow on the

Company, for ever, such surplus as shall arise from the

revenues, upon certain stipulations and agreements expressed

in the Sunnud, we have settled with the Nawab, with bis own

free will and consent, that the sum of fifty-three lakhs! shall

be annually paid to him, for the support of his dignity and

all contingent expenses, exclusive of the charge of maintain-

ing an army, which is’ to be defrayed out of the revenues

ceded to the Company, by this royal grant of the Dewanny ;

and indeed the Nawab has abundant reason to be well satisfied

with the conditions of this agreement, whereby a fund is

secured to him, without trouble or danger, adequate to all

the purposes of such grandeur and happiness as a man of his

sentiments hag any conception of enjoying ; more would

serve only to disturb his quiet, endanger his government,

and sap the foundation of that solid structure of power and

wealth, which, at length, is happily reared and completed by

the Company, after a vast expense of blood and treasure.

“ By this acquisition of the Dewanny, your possessions

and influence are rendered permanent and secure, since no

future Nawab will either have power or riches sufficient to

attempt your overthrow, by means either of force or corrup-

tion. All revolutions must henceforward be at an end, as

there will be no fund for seeret services, for donations, or for

restitutions. The Nawab cannot answer the expectations of

the venal and mercenary, nor will the Company comply with

demands injurious to themselves, out of their own revenues.

The experience of years has convinced us that a division of

power is impossible without generating discontent and hazard-

ing the whole: all must belong either to the Company or to

! 662,5002 at the current rate of exchange.
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the Nawab. We leave you to judge which alternative is the

most desirable and the most expedient m the present circum-

stances of affairs. As to ourselves, we know of no other

system we could adopt, that would less affect the Nawab’s

dignity, and at the same time secure the Company against

the fatal effects of future revolutions than this of the Dewanny.

‘The power is now lodged where it can only be lodged with

safety to us, so that we may pronounce with some degree of

confidence, that the worst which will happen in future to the

Company will proceed from temporary ravages only, which

van never become so general as to prevent your revenues from

yielding a sufficient fund to defray your civil and military

charges, and furnish your investments.”

“The more we reflect onthe situation of your affairs, the

stronger appear the reasons for accepting the Dewanny of

these provinces, by which alone we could establish a power

sufficient to perpetuate the possessions we hold, aud the influ-

ence we enjoy. While the Nawab acted in quality of Col-

lector for the Mogul, the means of supporting our military

establishment depended upon his pleasure. In the most eri-

tical situations, while we stood balancing on the extreme

border of destruction, tis stipulated payments were slow and

deficient, his revenues withbeld by) disaffected Rajahs, and

turbulent Zemindars, who despised the weakness of his gov-

ernment ; or they were squandered in profusion, and dissipated

in corruption, the never-failing symptoms of a declining con-

stitution and feeble administration. Hence we were fre-

quently disappointed of those supphes, upon the punctual

receipt of which depended the very existence of the Company

in Bengal.”

The letter from the Court of Directors approving

of this arrangement is very valuable. It lays down

with much precision what were to be the relations

between the Nawab Nazim and the English Presi-

dent and Council. It shows that at this period

there were strong objections to any interference in

Xx

Self-preservation

Approval of the
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Directors.
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the native administration. An English Resident

was continued at Murshedabad; he was to take

over the monthly payments from the Nawab’s

officers; his chief duty was to protect the native

administration from the encroachments of the Com-

pany’s servants. The following extracts are

historical! :—

‘*We come now to consider the great and important

affair of the Dewanny, on which we shall give you our

sentiments, with every objection that occurs to us.

“When we consider that the barrier of the country

government was entirely broke down, and every Englishman

throughout the country armed with an authority that owned.
no superior, and exercising his power to the oppression of

the helpless native, who knew not whom to obey; at such a

crisis, we cannot hesitate to approve your obtaining the

Dewanny for the Company.”

“ We observe the account you give of the office and power

of the King’s Dewan, which in former times was ‘ the

collecting of all the revenues, and, after defraying the ex-

penses of the army, and allowing a sufficient fund for the

support of the Nizamat, to remit the remainder to Delhi.’

This description of it, is not the office we wish to execute ;

the experience we already have had in the province of

Burdwan convinces us, how unfit an Englishman is to con-

duct the collection of the revenues, and follow the subtle

native through all his arts, to conceal the real value of his

country, and to perplex and elude the payments. We there-

fore entirely approve of your preserving the ancient form of

government, in the upholding the dignity of the Subah.

“We conceive the office of Dewan should be exercised

only in superintending the collections, and disposal of the

revenues; which, though vested in the Company, should

officially be executed by our Resident at the Durbar, under

1 Despatch from the Directors to the Select Comniittee, dated YW th May
1766.
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the control of the Governor and the Select Committee.

The ordinary bounds of which control, should extend to

nothing beyond the superintending the collection of the

revenues, and the receiving the money from the Nawab’s

treasury to that of the Dewanny, or the Company, and this

we conceive to be neither difficult nor complicated : for at the

annual Poonah the government settles with each Zemindar

his monthly payments for the ensuing year; so the monthly

payments of the whole from the Nawab’s Dewan, is but the

total of the monthly payment of each Zemindar; which must

be strictly kept up, and if deficient, the Company must trace

what particular province, Rajah, or Zemindar, has fallen short

of his monthly payments ; Or, if it is necessary to extend the

power farther, let the annual Poonah,»by which we mean the

time when every landholder makes his agreement for the

ensuing year, be made with the consent of the Dewan or

Company. This we coneeive to be the whole office of the

Dewanny. The administration of justice, the appointment

of officers, Gemindarries,—in short, whatever comes under the

denomination of civil administration,—we understand is to

remain in the hands of the Nawab or his ministers.

“The Resident at the Durbar being constantly on the

spot, cannot be long a stranger to any abuses in the govern-

ment, and is always armed with power to remedy them. It

will be lis duty to stand between the administration and the

encroachments always to be apprehended from the agents of

the Company’s servants, which must first be known to him;

and we rely on his fidelity to the Company, to check ail such

encroachments, and to prevent the oppression of the natives.”

The Nawab Nazim died in May 1766. The event neath of the
Nawab Nazim.

was reported home by the Select Committee in the

following terms. ‘They show that the Nawab Nazim

was already of no moment in the administration :—

“We are sorry to acquaint you, that on the 8th day report of the
Select Com-

of May, his excellency the Nawab Nudjum al daulal breathed mittee,
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his last, after a short illness, incurred by some intemperance

in eating, and increased by a gross habit, and unsound con-

stitution. As he was a prince of mean capacity, bred up in

total ignorance of public affairs, this event, which formerly

might have produced important consequences in the provinces,

can at present have no other effect than that of exhibiting to

the eyes of the people a mere change of persons in the

Nizamut. Nudjum al daulah dying without issue, his

brother Sycf al daula succeeded to his dignities; and pro-

mises, from the mildness and pliancy of his disposition, to

answer all the purposes of a Nawab to the people and to the

Company. At present he is a youth not exceeding the age

of sixteen, which more immediately and naturally brings the

administration into the hands of persons in whom we can

repose confidence!”

The minor details of Lord Clive’s second admin-

istration have lost their intercst. He did not put

a stop to the private trade; and it was only stopped

in after years by a general increase of salaries,

Lord Clive had to engounter a curious mutiny

amongst the civil servants. ‘The massacre at Patna

had carried off many of the seniors. Many juniors

were appointed to posts for which they were unfit,

The Secretary’s department was made over to a

youth of only three years’ standing. The post of

Paymaster to the Army was held by another young

writer, whilst three hundred thousand pounds

sterling lay in his hands for months. The business

of these offices was really transacted by natives ;

} As the Nawab Nazim had been reduced to the position of a pageant

the necessity for maintaining an expensive state ceremonial gradually died

out. Accordingly, on the secession of the new Nawab Naziin, the yearly

allowances were reduced from fifty-three Jukhs to forty-one lakhs; in 1770

they were reduced to thirty-one lakhs; and in 1772 to sixteen lakhs. Since

1772 there bas been no further reduction,
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the most secret concerns were known in the bazar ;

and serious abuses prevailed in all directions.

Lord Clive called up four civilians from thre vntsiders trom

Madras establishment and gave them vacant seats

in the Bengal Council, The results of this mea-

sure may be given in what appears to be Lord

Clive’s own words! :—

“We are sorry to find that our endeavours to serve the opposition ot

Company in a manner the least injurions to your servants Bengal CME
here, should be misconstrued. As soon as this measure be-

came known, by reports from Madras, and previous to our

laying any proceedings before the Board, the young gentle-
men of the settlement had set themselves up for judges of

the propriety of our conduct, and the degtee of their own

merit: each would think himself qualified to transact your

weighty affairs in Council, at an age when the laws of his

country adjudge bim unfit to manage his own coneerns to the

extent of forty shillings. They have not only set their hands

to the memorial of complaint, but entcred into assoviations

unbecoming at their years, and destructive of that subordi-

nation without which no government can stand—All visits

to the President are forbidden—All invitations from him and

the members of the Seleet Committee are to be slighted—~

The gentlemen called down by cur authority from Madras

are to be treated with neglect aud contempt—Hvery man

who deviates from this confederacy is to be stigmatised and

avoided—In a word, the members are totally to separate

themselves from the head, decorum and union are to be set

at defiance, and it becomes a fair struggle whether we or the

young gentlemen shall in future guide the helm of govern-

ment. Look at their names, examine their standing, inquire

into their services, and reflect upon the age of four-fifths of the

subscribers to this bill of gnevanees, who now support the

association, and you will be -eanally surprised with ug at the

® De spateh from Select Comniittee, dated 3st January 1766,
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presumptuous intemperance of youth, and convinced that a

stop of three or four years in the course of promotion is in-

Gispensably necessary, if you would have your Council com-

posed of men of experience and discretion.

Determination ‘From this sketch of the behaviour of your servants, you

will perceive the dangerous pitch to which the independ-

ent and licentious spirit of this settlement hath risen; you

will then determine on the necessity and propriety of the step

we have taken: in the mean time we are resolved to support

it, or we must submit to the anarchy and confusion conse-

quent on subjecting the decrees of your Select Committee to

the revisal and repeal of young gentlemen just broke loose

from the hands of their schoolmasters.”

Mtiny of the Lord Clive had next to contend against a mutiny

officers, of the officers of the army. The Bengal army had

been regimented, and formed into three brigades ;

one was at Monghyr, a second at Patna, and a third

at Allahabad.

Abolition of After the battle of Plassey the officers of the

Bengal army received an additional allowance from

the Nawab, known as double batta. The Directors,

when they took the place of the Nawab, refused to

continue the double batta. The double batta was

abolished from the first of January 1766. The

officers of the three brigades formed a secret leacue

for throwing up their commissions on a certain day

unless the double batta was restored. They raised

subcriptions for the purpose ; and some of the civil

servants subscribed to the fund.

eiurnph of The story is nearly obsolete ; but the energy and

genius of Lord Clive were never more conspicuous.

The Bengal officers relied on forcing the Governor

and Council to restore the batta, for the army was



SECOND GOVERNMENT OF CLIVE. 843

about to take the field against the Mahyrattas.

Lord Clive, however, accepted every commission that

was tendered. He gave commissions to deserving

soldiers. He called up officers from Madras. Me

sent many officers under arrest to Calcutta, where

they were afterwards shipped for England. At last

the tide turned; many officers began to repent.

Lord Clive displayed as much leniency as he could,

and the mutiny was brought to a close.

Lord Clive left India in the beginning of 1767. tora ciive
leaves India,

He was only in his forty-second year; he never?”

returned to India. He died six years afterwards

at the early age of forty-eight. Before he left India

he penned an able state paper in which he ex-

pounded his policy, domestic and foreign. The Policy tor tne
future.

following extracts are worthy of permanent

record :—

“The first period in politics which I offer to your consi- authority of the

deration is the form of government. We are sensible that Mie
since the acquisition of the Dewanny, the power formerly
belonging to the Subah (2. ¢, Nawab) of these provinees is

totally, in fact, vested in the East India Company. Nothing

remains to him but the name and shadow of authority. This

name, however, this shadow, it is indispensably necessary we

should seem to venerate; every mark of distinction and re-

spect must be shown him, and he himself encouraged to show

his resentment upon the least want of respect from other

nations.

“Under the sanction of a Subah, every encroachment Nawab to be

that may be attempted by foreign powers can effectually be satiiy foreign
crushed, without any apparent interposition of our own"
authority, and all real grievances complained of by them ean,

through the same chamnel, be examined into and redressed.
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Be it, therefore, always remembered that there is a Subah ;

that we have allotted him a stipend which must be regularly

paid in support of his dignity ; and that, though the revenues

belong to the Company, the territorial jurisdiction must still

rest in the chiefs of the country acting under him and this

Presidency in conjunction, To appoint the Company’s ser-

vants to the offices of Collectors, or, indeed, to do any act by

an exertion of the English power which can equally be done

by the Nawab at our instance, would be throwing off the

mask,—would be declaring the Company Subah of the pro-

vinces. Foreign nations would immediately take umbrage,

and complaints preferred to the British Court mght be

attended with very embarrassing, consequences. Nor ean it

be supposed that either the French, Dutch, or Danes would

readily acknowledge the Company’s Subahship, and pay ito

the hands of their servants the duties upon trade or the quit.

rents of those districts which they may have long been pos-

sessed of by virtue of the Royal irman or grants from former
Nawabs. In short, the present form of government will

not, in my opinion, admit of variation. The distinction

between the Company and Nawab must be carefully main-

tained, and every measure wherein the country government

shall even seem to be concerned must be carried on in the

name of the Nawab and by his authority. In short, I

would have all the Company’s servants, the supervisors

excepted,’ confined entirely to commercial matters only,

upon the plan Jaid down in the time of Aliverdy Khan.

“Tt will not, I presume, be improper in this place to

observe that you ought not to be very desirous of icreasing:

the revenues, especially where it can only be effected by

oppressing the landholders and tenants. So leng as the

country remains in peace the collections will exceed the de-

mands ; if you inerease the former, a large sum of money

will either lay dead in the Treasury or be sent out of the

country, and much inconvenience arise in the space of a few

years. Every nation trading to the Kast Indies has usually

1The duties of supervisors will be duly set forth in the next chapter.
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imported silver for a return in commodities. The acquisition

of the Dewanny has rendered this mode of tratlic no longer

necessary for the English Company ; our investiments may be

furnished; our expenses, civil and military, paid; and a large

quantity of bullion be annually sent to China, though we

import not a single dollar. An increase of revenue, therefore,

unless you can in proportion inerease your investments, can

answer no good purpose, but may in the end prove extremely

pernicious, inasmuch as i6 may drain Bengal of its silver ;

and you will undoubtedly consider that the exportation of

silver beyond the quantity imported is an evil, which, though

slow, and, perhaps, remote in its conseqnences, will neverthe-

less be fatal to the Indian Company. ‘This point, therefore, I

leave to your constant vigilance aud deliberation.

“ Phe subject of moderation leads we naturally into a few No offensive

reflections upon military. affairs. Our possessions should be

bounded by the provinces: studiously maintain peace,—it is

the groundwork of our prosperity; never consent to act offen-

sively against any powers, exceptin defence of our own, the

King’s ov the Nawab Vizier’s dominions, as stipulated by

Treaty ; and, above all things, be assured that a march to

Delhi would be not only a vain and fruitless project, but

attended with certain destruction to your army, and perhaps

put a period to the very being of the Company in Bengal.

“ Shuja-u-daula, the Nawab Vizier of Oude, we must

observe, is now recovering his strength, and although T am

fully persuaded from his natural disposition, which is cautious

and timid, and from the experience he has had of our disei-

pline and courage, that he will never engage against us in

another war, yet, like most of his countrymen, heis ambitious,

and Iam of opinion that, as soon as he shall have formed

an army, settled his country, and increased his finances, he

will be eager to extend his territories, particularly by the

acquisition of the Bundeleund district, formerly annexed to

the Subahship of Allahabad. Ité is even not improbable

that he will propose an expedition to Delhi and desire our

assistance, without which, [ think, he has not courage to risk

such an undertaking. ILeve, therefore, we mast be upon nor

wars except for

the defence of

Benya,

Alibabad and
Oude,

Political rela-

tions with Shuja+

u-dawa, the

Nawab Vizier of
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guard, and plainly remind the Vizier that we entered into an

alliance with him. for no other purpose than the defence of

our respective dominions, and that we will not consent to

invade other powers unless they should prove the aggressors

by committing acts of hostility against him or the English,

when it will become necessary to make severe examples in

order to prevent others from attacking us unprovoked. With

regard to his Delhi scheme, it must be warmly remonstrated

against and discouraged. He must beassured, in the most

positive terms, that no consideration whatever shall induce us

to detach our forces to such a distance from this country,

which produces all the riches we are ambitions to possess.

Should he, however, be prevailed upon by the King to escort

His Majesty to that capital without our assistance, it will

then be our interest to approve the project, as it is the only

means by which we ean honourably get rid of our trouble-

some royal guest,

«The Rohillas, the Jauts, and all the northern powers are

at too great a distance ever to disturb the tranquillity of

Vizier, the King, these provinees. Shuja-u-daula’s ambition, the Kine’s solici-4 oand the

Mahrattas,

Mahrattas
divided into two

States, Poona

ang Nagpore.

tations, and the Mahrattas, these are the three grand objects of

policy to this Committee, and by conducting your measures

with that address of which you are become so well acquainted

by experience, I doubt not that the peace of Bengal may be

preserved many years, especially if a firm alliance be estab-

lished with the Subah of the Deccan, and Januji, the Nagpore

Rajah, be satisfied with the chout proposed, to which, I think

he is in justice and equity strictly entitled.’

“The Mahrattas are divided into two very great powers,

who at present are at variance with each other, v7z., first, those

Mahrattas who possess a large part of the Deccan, whose Chief

is Ram Rajah, well known by the Presidency of Bombay, and

whose capital is Poona, about thirty coss from Surat. Secondly,

those Mahrattas who possess the extensive province of Berar,

whose Chief is Januji, and whose capital, Nagpore, is distant

from Caleutta about four hundred coss. These last are called

1 Lord Clive’s idea of paying chout to the Mahrattas of Berar occasioned

niuch political controversy in after years,
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Rajpoot Mahrattas, and are those who, after the long war

with Aliverdy Khan, obliged him to make over the Ballasore

and Cuttack countries and to pay a chout of twelve Jakhs of

Rupees.”

Lord Clive’s information respecting the Mah-

rattas of the Dekhan is imperfect. Ram Raja was

a puppet prince of the dynasty of Sivaji; he was

a state prisoner at Satara. The sovercign power

was wielded by a hereditary line of Mahratta

ministers who reigned at Poona under the name of

Peishwas.

“ With Januji it is our interest to be upon terms of Mahrattasof

friendship, for which purpose a Vakeel has been dispatched Benes abe”
as appears upon the Committee proceedings ; and I would reconciled by
recommend your settling of the chout with him agreeably to

the plan I have proposed, vz., that we shall pay sixteen

lakhs upon condition that he appoint the Company Zemindar

of the Ballasore and Cuttack countries, which, though at

present of little or no advantage to Januji, would in our

possession produce nearly suilicient to pay the whole amount

of the chout. Whatever the deficiency may be, it will be

overbalanced by the security and convenience we shall enjoy

of free and open passage by Jand to and from Madras, all

the countries between the two Presidencies bemg under our

influence ; but I would not by any means think of employ-

ing force to possess ourselves of those districts ; the grant of

them must come from him with his own consent, and if that

cannot be obtained, we must settle the chout upon the most

moderate terms we can,

“The Mahrattas of the Deccan can only be kept quiet Bahrattas of
ona, i. @,and in awe by an alliance with Nizam Ali of Hy derabad, w Western Dekhan,

which has already in part taken place; and I have not the wane
least doubt that the Subah’s own security, and the perpetual with the Nizam,
encroachments of the Mahrattas, will scon make him as

desirous as we are of completing it. When this measure is
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bronght to perfection, not only the Decean Mahrattas, but

Januji also, will have too much to apprehend from our influ-

ence and authority so near home to be able to disturb far

distant countries, and Bengal may be pronounced to enjoy as

much tranquillity as it possibly ean, or atleast onght to enjoy,

consistent with our main object—security.

“ With regard to all other powers, they are so distracted

and divided amongst themselves, that their operations can

never turn towards Bengal.”

This policy did not mect the views of the Court

of Directors. In two general letters, dated respect-

ively 20th November 1767, and 16th March 1768,

they remark as follows :—

“ From what appears im your proceedings, we think we

discern too great an aptness to confederacies or alliances with

the Indian powers, on which oceasion we must give it you, as

a general sentiment, that perfidy 1s too much the characteristic

of Indian Princes for us to rely on any security with them;

but should you enter into a treaty to act in concert with

them in the field, one of our principal officers is to command

the whole—a pre-eminence our own security and our superior

military skill will entitle us) to.’

“ We entirely disapprove the idea adopted, of supporting

the Subah of the Decean as a balance of power ayainst the

Mahrattas. It is for the contending parties to establish

a balance of power among themselves. Their divisions are

our seeurity; and if the Mahrattas molest us, you must con-

sider whether an attack from Bombay, when being uear the

eapital of their dominions, may not be preferable to any

defensive operations with the country powers on your side of

Judia.”’

The forcign policy of Lord Clive and the Court

of Directors calls for no further remark. It was a

policy of isolation. The English were to lie snugly

ensconced in the three provinces of Bengal,
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Behav, and Orissa. The frontier of Oude was to

form a permanent barrier against all further pro-

evess. Within a single decade this policy was

thrown to the winds.

The domestic poliey of Lord Clive was in like painre ot ine
domestic poricy

manner doomed to fall. The “double government,” oe

as it was called, of the English and the Nawab shared

the fate of political shams. Jt was found useful,

but only as bridging over the imterval between

Native administration and British administration.

Meantime a solemn-farce was played every year at

Murshedabad. The annual Poona was held, when

every landholder made his agrecment as regards his

payments of revenne for the coming year. The

Nawab Nazin. was seated on the throne at Mur-

shedabad, as Subalidar of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa ;

and the English Governor stood on his right hand,

as representative of the Honorable Company in the

quality of King’s Dewan.

There is astvange significanee in Lord Clive’s puppet _

scheme of a puppet Nawab. The same political tiga
sham was going on in every native court in India.

In the imperial system of the Moghuls, the King

had become a puppet and the Vizicr was sovereign

ruler. In the Moghul provinces the King’s name

was the symbol of authority, whilst Subahdars and

Nawabs were sovereign princes. In the imperial

system of the Mahrattas, the nominal King was

a State prince at Satara, whilst the Peishwa, a

hereditary minister, reigned in full sovercignty at
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Poona. The double government of Lord Clive

was thus the outturn of political exigencies, which

were producing the same results elsewhere through-

out all India.

iThe Mahratta empire was a series of anomalies. Every Peishwa iu

guecession received investiture from the imprisoned Raja at Satara. All the

jater Peishwas affected to cousider themselves as the servants of the Moghul

Kings of Delhi. ‘The Mahratta confederacy wasa sham. The Peishwa was

regarded as the head; but each of the confederate powers—Scindia, Hol-

kar, the Guikowar of Baroda, and the Bhonsla of Berar—intrigued to get

the better of him and of each other.



CHAPTER XIUIT.

BEGINNING OF BRITISH ADMINISTRATION,

A. D, 1767 70 1770.

HE political system laid down by Lord Clive cive’s system

was warmly approved by the Directors. Indeed ene
it was perfect in theory. By retaining a native ad-

ministration it relieved the English of all the re-

sponsibilities of government. By therigid adherence

to a policy of isolation it stopped all dealings with

native states outside the frontier. By taking over

the surplus revenue, ample provision was made, not

only for the maintenance of an army, but for the

purchase of all commodities in India and China.

This political system, so perfect in theory, was tupossiptein

soon found to be impossible in practice. Before?”
Lord Clive left Caleutta, he moditied the three

principles it involved. Ife appointed English

supervisors, as noticed in his. own memorandum,

to check the native collectors of revenue in the

districts! He proposed to form an alliance with

the Nizam of Hyderabad against the Mahrat-

tas; and although this step was forbidden by the

Court of Directors, yet even they admitted the

possible necessity of making war upon the Mahrattas

from the side of Bombay. Last of all, Lord Clive

2 See ante, page dt,
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discovered that the appropriation of the surplus

revenue to the trade with China was draining the

Bengal provinces of rupees, and creating a silver

famine.

Lord Clive was succeeded by My. Verelst as

tovernor of Bengal. Verelst was forced by circum-

stances to depart still further from Lord Clive’s ori-

ginal platform. The administration of Verelst has

heen overlooked by historians; yet it has an in-

terest for all time. Verelst was taught by expe-

vience to adopt views and recommend measures

which moditied those origmally expounded by Lord

Clive, and Jed to still further modifications by his

successors. Ile saw that by appropriating the

revenue of the country, the English had become

responsible for the vightful government of the

people in every branch of the administration. He

saw that the English would soon be forced to hold

the balance of power between the native states

in Uindustan.,

Verelst was a different man from Lord Clive.

He was not a soldier-statesman, ruling the Bengal

provinees by the force of will. Ile was a civilian,

nundful of the welfare of the native population.

Lord Clive’s experiences were derived from life in

camp, or negotiation with native officials and

erandees. Verelst’s experiences were derived direct-

ly from the masses. He knew the people well. He

had passed through the several grades of the Com-

pany’s commercial service. He had gained great

evedit as supervisor of the collection of the revenues
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in the three districts ecded by Meer Cossim.*

Altogether he was nearly twenty years in India,

and scems to have been well versed in the thoughts

and ways of the pcople at large.

The rise of British power in Bengal is the story Revolutions of

of a single decade. It begins with the battle of ~¢

Plassey in 1757, and ends with the departure of

Lord Clive in 1767. It is one of the revolutionary

episodes in the ecightcenth century. It may not

dazzle the imagination like the later annals of

conquest which built up the British empire; but

it is more startling to the actors; and it effected

far greater changes in the social and political re-

lations between Englishmen and natives.

Verelst served his apprenticeship in Bengal verists

during the old mercantile period. We was familiar tie merean
with the times when the English in Bengal were

all traders, and nothing but traders. Stories were

told of fights with petty. Rajas about tolls and

transit duties; but the ambition of merchants was

to make good bargains and push their trading

interests in Bengal. They made municipal laws and

administered justice within their little zemindary ;

but they took no heed of what was going on out-

side the Company’s bounds unless it affected trade.

After the battle of Plassey, the English rose to Sudden aconsion

wealth and power at a single bound. Successes ts weslts ana

followed one after the other with such bewildering

rapidity that neither the English at Caleutta nor

the Directors in London could realise their real

1 See aude, page 274,

Y



Era of peace.

Experimental

political system

of Lord Clive.

B54 EARLY RECORDS OF BRITISIC INDIA,

position. Before one revolution was accomplished

it was upset by another. One Nawab was deposed

because he was too weak ; his successor was deposed

because he was too strong. Then followed the

massacre at Patna, a disaster as terrible as that of

the Black Hole. Next came the victory at Buxar

as glorious and decisive as that of Plassey. The

battle of Plassey had made the English masters of

Bengal. The battle of Buxar and capture of Luck-

now had earricd them into the heart of Hindustan.

The second administration of Lord Clive was an

era of peace. So far his foreign policy was a

suceess. By giving back Oude to the Nawab Vizier

he raised a barrier between Bengal and the Mah-

rattas, which remained undisturbed for years.

The domestic policy of Lord Clive was neces-

sarily an experiment. Neither he, nor any of the

merchants or military officers, knew anything or

eared anything for the native administration of the

country. Lord Clive thought it best to leave the

native administration alone; at any rate until some

experience should be gained of its actual workings,

Political considerations compelled him to be cau-

tious. The East India Company would have

alarmed native princes and European powers by the

premature assumption of the sovereignty of Bengal.

The nominal sovereignty of the Moghul still over-

shadowed the land. The conservatism of the people

of India was satisfied by the preservation of Moghul

forms. No other European power could possibly

interfere. so long as the Company acted only as
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King’s Dewan, and the native administration was

carried on in the name of the Nawab Nazim. No

harm could accrue from governing Bengal in the

name of the Moghul, although the representative of

the Moghul was living in empty and idle state

at Allahabad. In like manner, no harm could

accrue from exercising suzerainty in the name of a

pageant Nawab, who wasted his days in the same

empty and idle state at Murshedabad.

All this while the so-called King was living at te supnet

Allahabad under the-supposed.guardianship of the ”*

Nawab Vizier. Ile had nothing whatever to do,

directly or indirectly, with the government of the

empire. The dream of his hfe was to go to Delhi,

and sit on the throne of his fathers; but Lord

Clive steadily refused to help him.

The Nawab Nazim of Bengal was treated with The pageant

outward respect, but only as a pageant. Probably

he exercised less power outside Murshedabad than

one of the Company’s native servants. The Eng-

lish provided for the military defence of Bengal,

concluded treatics, and made ready for war without

the slighest reference to the King or Nawab Nazim.

The native administration was left alone; it was

superintended by the Mussulman grandce, named

Muhammad Reza Khan. This grandee had been

appointed Deputy Nawab by Governor Spenser,

during the gencral scramble for money which

followed the death of Meer Jaffier. Muhammad

Reza Khan excreised real and undivided control

over the entire native administration of the three
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provinces. Clive tried to introduce a cheek by

appointing two Iindu. grandees with co-ordinate

powers; but, practically, the sole charge of the

administration of justice and collection of revenue

was left in the hands of Muhammad Reza

Kian.

The sham of a Nawab’s government was called

the Nizamut. The English were the real sovercigns,

but everything was done in the name of the

Nizamut. The Court of Directors sent out the

most stringent restrictions against any interference

with the Nizamut.. The people of Bengal were left

entirely to the tender mercies of the Nizamut.

The sole political duty of the Company was to take

over the yearly revenue of the three provinces at

the annual Poona at Murshedabad. Out of this

revenue the Company paid the stipulated tribute

to the King; ° the stipulated” allowances to the

Nizamut; the salaries of theix own servants, civil

and military. The surplis was placed in the

coffers of the Company for the purposes of trade.

When Verelst succeeded Lord Clive as Governor

of Bengal, he was already alive to the evils of the

existing system. IIe had been supervisor in turn of

the three districts ceded by Meer Cossim. Ile had

witnessed the oppression and corruption of native

administration. He discovered that his predeces-

sors had shared in the corrupt profits of the native

collectors. It was these discoveries that led the

Directors to make the remark already quoted, “ that

an Engelshman was unfit to conduct the collection
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of revenue, and follow the subtle native through all

his arts.”

Verelst proved by his own conduct that the pions ot veretst

Directors were mistaken. Te largely increased the

revenues of the three districts; he planned a way

for proteeting the cultivators from the oppressions

of the zemindars: He induced the Directors to

sanction the system inaugurated during the second

administration of Lord Clive, under which English

supervisors in every district were to interfere more or

less directly in every branch of. the administration.

The so-called Native administration of Bengal Bulls of the

was about as bad as could be imagined. It was tion.

not native in the proper sense of the word. It was

an administration of foreigners. The officials were

mostly adventurers from Persia; ignorant of the

ways of the people and first principles of govern-

ment; without sympathies for Hindus; brought up

amidst the tyranny, corruption, and anarchy which

for centuries had characterised Persian rule. Hindu

officials had been much employed by Aliverdi

Khan; not out of any regard for the people, but

as a check upon the Muhammadans. They were

equally as extortionate, but were more easily de-

prived of their ill-gotten gains.’ Under such cir-

cumstances the zemindars might oppress the ryots ;

1 Meer Jaffier, as already seeu, began to squeeze the Hindu grandees, but

was stopped by Clive. His successor, Meer Cossiin, ruined several by his

coufiscations, It was a current saying that Muhaninadan grandees spent all

their gains in profusion and debauchery; consequently when squeezed they

disgorged nothing. Hindu officials were more temperaie ; they absorbed

wealth like a sponge; when squcezed they disgorged everything,
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the collectors be in collusion with the zemindars ;

the accounts might be cooked on all sides; there

was no onc to control the collections execpt Mu-

hammad Reza Khan. An English Resident was

appointed at Murshedabad, but he could do nothing.

The Company was King’s Dewan; the Nizamut

conducted the administration; the constant ery of

the Court of Directors was that no one was to

interfere.

The English knew nothing of what was going

on, excepting what they could gather during their

administration of the three districts ceded by Meer

Cossim,—Burdwan, Midnapore, and Chittagong.

To make matters worse, the monopoly of the

inland trade in salt, betel-nut, and other articles of

native consumption, continued in the hands of the

servants of the Company. The irregular use of

dustucks was prohibited; some restrictions were

introduced ; a few refractory European interlopers

were sent back to England; but the servants of the

Company, from Members of Council downwards,

derived the bulk of their incomes from the inland

trade; and their gomastas or agents continued to

oppress the people as in the days of Meer Cossim.

Muhammad Reza Khan was utterly helpless.

Meer Cossim, with an army at his back, had been

unable to resist the English, Muhammad Reza

Khan was necessarily in the hands of the English.

Tlis place, power, and wealth depended on the will

of the Company’s servants. Neither he, nor the

native officials under him, could interfere in the
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trade of their European masters, or exercise the

slightest control over the rascalitics and oppressions

of the gomastas.

The records of Verelst’s administration are of vartss
Memorandum.

the utmost value. THis experiences were perhaps

larger than those of any other European in Bengal.

Ife was a cautious man but a thoughtful one. He

had to solve one of the most difficult problems

in the carly history of British rule—the obligations

of the English both to the native rulers, and to the

people ruled. In 1769 he dvew up an exhaustive

memorandum in which he reviews the rise of

British power in India, and the corresponding decay

of Native administration. The following extracts

furnish a sad picture of the contemporary state of

Bengal :—

«he ascendency of the English in Hindostan is im the Rise of English
> . tae . * , power and

number of those events which are distinguished by a series of decline of Native
sg ‘ authority.
fortunate and unforeseen occurrences ; not the result of any

fixed or connected plan of poliey. A colony of merchants,

governed by laws, and influenced by principles merely com-

mercial, have acquired a political title and influence over a

country, which for extent, populousness, and annual revenue

may be compared to many of the most consequential states of

Europe; that commeree which was once prosecuted in sub-

jection to a tyrannical government, ever ready to take advan-

tage of our weakness, and to construe the slightest omissions

into encroachments, is now but a secondary consideration; and

the native authority being too weak to control the power

which our agents derive from our name, the rights of the

natives have been generally superseded. Substantial natives

have declined risking their property in trade under such dis-

advantages, aud the poor and industrious receive but a faint en-

couragement to their labours. We see, we feel, the increasing
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poverty of the country, from the diminution of specie, as well

as the slowness and partiality of its circulation. Indeed, from

the regulations we have made, examples we have ordered, and

the checks we have multiplied, I flatter myself that the

equality of commerce will finally be restored, and the spirit

of monopoly be destroyed.

* But the body of people are in a manner formed to wear

the yoke. They possess nothing of the inquisitiveness of the

European nations ; and the most slender arts are sufficient to

obscure their understandings, and fit them for implicit sub-

mission. Those among them, who attain to employments in

our service, are generally men who have learnt so much of

our manners as to corrupt their own, and joining an acute

and versatile genius. to abundance of low cunning, they

scarcely want the consequence of the English name to prompt

them to every villany.

“Whilst the native government retained its superiority,

its tribunals were accessible, and though venality presided at

them, yet some show of justice was maintained, and, at

times, redress might be procured. The native government is

now fallen in the eye of the mbhabitants, yet such restric-

tions have hitherto cramped our proceedings, as to prevent us

from taking that intimate part which our present character

and dignity require. The dependents of this nominal gov-

ernment have been the only instruments which we could

employ either to repress the enormities of our own agents,

or to obtain the good opinion of the country people. Their

authority is, in general, overawed, their principles too bad

to answer the former purpose, and their establishment and

conduct too temporary and too weak for the latter, so that

the English name has been only all-powerful to do mischief ;

and a mortifying spectacle of fraud and oppression on the one

hand, and imbecility on the other, has been exhibited to us,

without the power of interposing.

“Tn the infancy of our settlement, with all our care and

prudence, we could ill defend ourselves from the forged accu-

sations or open attacks of the government; we looked no
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farther than the provision of the Company’s investment; we

sought advantages to our trade with the ingenuity, I may

add, selfishness of merchants. All our Jaws were local and

municipal, reaching no farther than our own exigencies and

conveniencies ; all our servants and dependents were trained

and educated in the same notions; the eredit of a good bar-

gain was the utmost seope of their ambition.

© No sooner did we begin to feel our own strength, than

our successes followed one another with such rapidity, as to

advance us from a state of obscurity or mediucrity, te power,

affluence, and national reputation. At length we saw our-

selves, though yet under the name of merchants, masters

and administrators of a legislative authority: we began to

plan, direct, and inspirit -every measure of government,

whether with regard to foreign treaties or domestic regu-

lations, Wealth flowed m upon us from every side. Our

investment was extended: we supported the whole trade of

India; and, from our regourees, gave security to it in every

quarter. But this was rather a temporary thana solid situ-

ation; and we soon diseovered, that though our acquisitions

had been made in so short a space as scarcely to be paralleled,

considering their immensity, yet a well-digested system was

necessary to introduce permanency in our establishment.

The detects and imperfections of which were too apparent to

escape our observation. Our dependents, accustomed to apply

their talents to present gain, and to extract advantages from

the smallest opening, assumed an importance proportionable

to our successes, grew immoderate, and disclaimed their

dependency on the native government.

“ Tn this situation we could not retract without exposing

ourselves to a second stage of obscurity, perhaps lower than

the first. Our cireumstances impelled us forward, and the

grant of the Dewanny became as much an object of necessity

as it was of advantage. ‘Thus we insensikly broke dewn the

barrier betwixt us and government, and the native grew

1 By the term ‘ government,” Mr, Verelst means the Nizamut, By “ oflicers
of government,” le means the “officers of the Nizamut,”
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uncertain where his obedience was due. Such a divided and

complicated authority gave rise to oppressions and intrigues

unknown at any other period; the officers of government

caught the infection, and being removed from any immediate

control, proceeded with still greater audacity.

“Inthe meantime we were repeatedly and peremptorily

forbiden to avow any public authority over the officers of

government in our own names, and enjoined to retain our

primitive characters of merchants with the most scrupulous

deheacy,

“The consequences are but too evidently exemplified in

the decline of commerce and cultivation, the diminution of

specie, and the general distresses of the poor; a train of evils

which could only have sprung from the above causes, since

every advantage of a long and uninterrupted tranquillity has

been on our side. Jixperience must convince the most

prejudiced, that to hold vast possessions, and yet to act on

the level of mere merchants, making immediate gain our

first principle; to receive an immense revenue, without

possessing an adequate protective power over the people who

pay it; to be really imterested’in the grand and generous

object, the good of the whole, and yet to pursue a narrow

and partial end ;—are paradoxes not to be reconciled, highly

injurious to our national character, dangerous to the best

defended establishment, and absolutely bordering on in-

humanity.

“The people give us the labour of their hands, and in

return we owe them our protection; common prudence, as

well as the laws of society, require that those obligations

should be reciprocal, or the tie must soon be dissolved ; for

the firmest security of every government is the affections of

the people; and for obtaining them, there never, perhaps,

presented a more favourable opportunity, or more noble field,

than what the English possess in Bengal. The mildness of

our government, properly diffused over these provinces, will

form so conspicuous a contrast to Mahomedan despotism,

that it must bind them to us and cur cause for ever.
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“JT have hitherto considered our interest in this country

as built on a precarious foundation, because this cement was

wanting to bind it; and, in this point of view, I am parti-

cularly happy on the late resolutions which have been taken

to appoint English Supra-visors, as an introduction to so

desirable an event.”

« But there isa rock, and a dangerous one, which requires the

greatest civeumspection to avoid. We have stepped forth

beyond all former precedent or example. We have the best

and most laudable of all arguments to justify our conduct.

But it should be remembered, that we have reached that

supreme line, which, to pass, would be an open avowal of

sovereignty. It should be vemembered, that we cannot be

more, without being greater) than sound policy allows; the

interests of our employers af home, no Jess than our national

connections abroad, forbid it. If we were, before the change,

cautious of interfering with the native government, and of

awakening the jealousy of foreign nations, we ought now to

redouble our prudence. The change itself, supposing the

greatest forbearance on our parts, has an unavoidable tend-

ency to destroy the name of the Nizamut, by which means,

what might have been the happiest event for the Company and

nation may beeome the source of perplexities and jealousies,

if not the deprivation of the Company’s privileges.

“There is, however, a middle way, where moderation must

guide and continue us; where we may walk with safety, ad-

vantage, and consistency without danger of too much contfine-

ment or too much liberty. Exteriors should be regarded as

essentials. very order should serupulously wear the sanction

of the native government. Our dependence on its indulgen-

cies, our obedience to its commands, our delicacy to its min-

isters, should appear most conspicuous in all transactions,

either of business or ceremony. I am not ignorant how

difficult it is always to preserve and affect that temperate rule

of conduct which I mention, when the power and direction

of all departments so entirely concentre in your Board, and

may he still move difficult to produce a proper conformity in
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visors,
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the Supra-visors; for these reasons I am thus earnest in my

representations, and am of opinion that the whole weight

and vigilance of this Board should be exerted to check the most

trifling variation from the line, and to preserve the idea of

the native government, its dignity and superiority over all,

as entire and unimpaired as possible.

Without departing from these maxims, we shall have

sufficient opportunities to answer all our views ; our power will

not be less efficacious in being exercised with prudence. The

Supra-visorships will afford you a set of servants capable of

succeeding, in their turn, to the first offices ; that station will

introduce them toa perfect knowledge of the laws and cus-

toms of the country; they willform a judgment upon the

spot of the dispositions of the people ; they will see with their

own eyes the prevalent abuses of office, the villainy of agents,

and, in short, the truespring of the misery or happiness of

the country. Thus much may be advanced with confidence,

that if this measure meets with the necessary support and

encouragement, there cannot fail being a regular succession

of able and vigorous administrators. . The service, at present,

affords many young men of promising parts and abilities. As

the Supra-visorships may be called a nursery for them, in res-

pect to the government of the country, so in like manner

their experience in commercial matters, before they reach

Council, must bring them acquainted with our commercial in-
terest ; and as these are the grand foundation and support of

our prosperity, they must be deemed the essential part of their

education.

“ But from what has been said of the characters of the peo-

ple who are employed directly by us, or intermediately for us,

every thinking person must be sensible of one capital defect

in our government, that the members of it derive their sole

advantages from commerce, carried on through black agents,

who again employ a numerous band of retainers. It is notorious

that, at times, the agents of the lowest servants have

domineered over the ryot and kept the officers of government

in a state of awe or subjection; aud it cannot be supposed
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that more respectable names are not equally misapplied. It

would be ag easy to change the genius and manners of the

people, as to prevent the banians, and followers of men

in station, from abusing their master’s name, Chastisement

may deter the oppressor for a moment; but, in such cases the

servility of the people must be removed, before oppression

can be eradicated. Perwannahs have been recalled and sup-

pressed ; excellent effects will doubtless flow from it, but the

idea of name and authority will still be held up by rapacious

agents for their own ends. The conclusion I draw from itis

this, that was it possible to form an administration totally
free from commercial views and connections, restrictive laws

would and must then have their course ; whereas banians

and agents, by the spirit with which they act, and the

force of their example, will always obstruct their good

effects, and propagate a disrespect and delusion of them in

others.

* To form such an administration, I not only think possible rngtish Mem-

but easy. I would propose that, from the admission of a teense wrading
member into Council, he put am entire conclusion to his TM*"s*:
trade ; and, in heu of it, that he receive a certain allowance,

chargeable upon the country; which allowance should be

augmented in proportion to;the improvements made, and its

internal prosperity: a method of reward the most honour-

able that can be devised for those that are to receive it, and

the most beneficial to the community, being unencumbered

with the consequences, anxieties, and relations of private

affairs. The members of administration will have a more

undivided attention to the public, and their orders be more

thoroughly respected, and more vigorously obeyed.”

The wisdom of the foregoing observations will be Permanent

admitted by all who are familiar with the past Yeehtsobservations.

and present history of India. ‘They are sufficient

to show that, however Mr. Verelst may have been

judged by his contemporaries, he was emphatically

aman in advanee of his time.
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The following extract is taken from the proceed-

ings of the Select Committee in connection with

the employment of Supervisors; it indicates still

more clearly the existing state of the native admin-

istration :-—

“The Committee, having endeavoured to trace and assion

the true cause of our declining situation, unanimously agree

that the following imperfections, in the formation and conduct

of the system hitherto pursued, are the grand and original

sources thereof :—

« |, The want of sufficient cheeks in the instruments of

government, who are generally adventurers from Persia,

educated in the manners and principles of a government where

tyranny, corruption, and anarehy are predominant ; who are

strangers to the customs, and indifferent to the welfare of

this country ; and who eannot by any vigilance be restrained,

or by any severity be deterred, from practising their native

oppressions, over a timid, servile, and defenceless people.

“9, The delegation of a trust and authority to one, or to

a few, which require the abilities and activity of many to

execute; an error which is notoriously the cause of those

departments being worse, administered, but give vise to a

complex corruption, which is difficult, if not impossible, to

be detected. The avenues of justice are by those means

obstructed, and the injured are frequently at a loss where to

prefer their complaints, and in whom the right of decision

is invested.’

«3, The ignorance of the real produce and capacity of the

country, in which we are necessarily kept by a set of men,
who first deceive us from interest, and afterwards continue

the deception from fear of punishment, and a necessary

regard to their own safety.

“4, The numerous train of dependents and underlings,

whom the collectors entertain; whose demands, as well as

the avarice of their principals, are to be satisfied from the

d This paragraph i is evidently aimed at Muhammad Reza Bhan.
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spoils of the industrious ryot, who thus loses all confidence

in the government, and seeks protection in other places, where

he hus better hopes to see his industry rewarded.

“5, The venality which forms part of the genius of the

people, and which is known to be openly exercised, or tacitly

allowed by government, without drawing any shame or dis-

credit on the guilty, or being thought any peculiar hardship

on the injured,

“§, The collusion of the collectors with the zemindars

whom the collector employs asa tool to serve his malprac-

tices, or adinits an associate in his fraudulent e@ains.

“7, The oppressions to which the ryot is subject from the

multitude of gomastals and their dependents,

« The Committee are convinecd that this devree of power

without control, of knowledge without participation, and of

influence without any effectual counteraction, is too important

and replete in the consequences to be vested in any three

ministers, or rather one single man; who, allowing him the

clearest preference for integrity, ability, and attachment

among his countrymen, eannot be suppozed superior to tempta-

tion ; and at least ought not, im good policy, to be trusted so

extensively and independently as has been necessarily the eon-

sequence of the present systems while the Company are in

reality the principals in the revenues of this country, and the

most interested in the good conduct of its government, every

bar should be removed that tends to preelude them froin a know-

ledge of its real state. In the above causes, and others de-

ducible from them, the Committee discerns, with great regret,

the original source and present inveteravy of many of those

evils under which these provinees are at present oppressed.

“The frequent and peremptory restrictions which the Court

of Directors had thought proper to impose on us, and that

line of conduct from which no deviation was allowed, and the
smallest surveyed with jealousy, have hitherto left us without

any choice of measures, freedom of action, or power of re.

formation,

! Were, again, Verelst is alluding to Muhammad Reza Khan.
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Sanction of “Their last letter has now offered us the sanction that was

Supra-visrs, so essentially necessary for the welfare and improvement of

these provinces, as well as for our own vindication in the pur-

suit of such plans as we may judge advisable to adopt. By

that letter, the Directors seem to approve of the distribution

and allotment of the country into farms, and of the appoint-

ment of European gentlemen to supervise the different pro-

vinees, and to control the conduct of the agents of the

country government. From this permission, we have a well-

grounded expectation of success to our design of introducing

new reenlations; and the event will, we are flattered, be the

strongest confirmation of the propriety of those regulations.

Necessity far “ We have always acted as farjas the nature of the occasion

* would allow with the. most scrupulous regard to the rules

prescribed to us by by our employers ; and, on our first acces-

sion to the Dewanny, chose rather to assume the slow but

certain conviction of experience for our guide, than attempt

innovations on the precarious foundation of opinion, But

now that whole pages of our récords are filled with so many

incontestible evidences, that great alterations are wanting to

form a mode of collection, which may be restrictive to the

collector, and indulgent to the vyot, we are happy in finding

the sentiments of our employers.so, aptly correspondent to

our opinion, and the necessity of the juncture. Every native

of any substance or character in this country has been

successively tried in the department of the collections. Fear,

reward, severity, and indulgence, have all failed, and ended

in a short political forbearance, or additional acts of dis-

honesty and rapine.

Scoret corrup- “On an alarm of inspection; or at the annual Poona, .they
tion and oppres- . . .

sion, frame accounts to serve the occasion ; or by involving them

in confusion and ambiguity, waste time till it becomes too

late to continue the process against them, without hazarding

new losses in the revenue: and thus the culpable not only

escape punishment, but often obtain a prolongation of their

appointments. Many flagrant grievances reach our ears, but,

in a country of such extent, there are, doubtless, many more

concealed feom us; and, what is equally trac under our
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present disadvantages, they are,and must remain, inexplorable ;

we can neither redress grievances, nor effect improvements.

With regard to the former, our distance, and our too indirect

information through ministerial channels, set the offender

beyond our reach, and the impossibility of having time and

competent knowledge puts the latter out of our power.

“ Enough has been said, and more might be produced, to Necessity for

prove that the system, established and now pursuing in this bultivation, and
country, is deficient in every particular that is requisite to ature of trades
defend and support the poor from the injustice and oppres-

sion of the strong, and to increase its value to its possessors,

by promoting the industry of the ryot and manufacturer.

“That although we have seen these evils growing and prey-

ing upon the vitals of the country, we have been unable to stop

their progress, or afford effectual protection to the people.

“Lastly, that we can never hope to emerge from that

uncertainty and ignorance into which this system has thrown

us, whilst we sit tamely and will admit of no variation in it.

“ Let us now turn our eyes and attention toa more pleasing Prosperous

scene; to Burdwan, and the rest of the Company’s proprie- three ceded
tary lands, where we ourselves have been the managers. istrict
Plenty, content, population, inerease of revenue, without

increase of burthen, are now the effects ; and form so forcible

an argument in the comparative view, that nothing can

strengthen, nothing can render it plainer or more convincing.

« And here the Committee cannot hesitate in drawing a Administration
os ‘ ss . extended to all

decisive conclusion—that the same or similar regulations of the provincet.

be established throughout the provinces in every distinct

district. The same beneficial consequences to the country

and Company may be expected from them, and by an in-

creased security of the property of individuals, as also by an

encouragement to cultivation and commerce, they may give

a new flow to the circulation of specie, which is become so

limited as to affect every rank and profession.

“The Committee are sensible that much application, in- Extent of the

tegrity, good conduct, and time will be necessary to retrieve the works
desolations of the native collectors; to raise the sinking heart

Z
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of the ryot from despair to confidence and hope; to re-people

and settle the deserted and uncultivated tracts, and to take

every advantage of the abundant fertility of the lands.

Imperfect, “The progress towards this desirable change must be gra-

~" dual. We have yet but an imperfect knowledge of the soil,

the productions, the value, the capacity of the various pro-

vinces, and sub-divisions of the country. This, however, is the

foundation on which, and which only, we can build with suc-

cess and direct our grand design with judgment; and to

acquire this knowledge should therefore be our first care, by

means of the minutest local investigation, for none other can -

give us an authentic record to refer to on every occasion as an

established authority ; nor ean -we judge of the lenity, rigour,

or propriety of any of our resolutions respecting the country,

without such a work completely and accurately executed,

Relations be- “ The Committee concurring in the necessity of pursuing the
tween the Supra- .

Pisors resident at above work in the most effectual manner, that when perfected

they may proceed in the important business before them ; and

being farther induced by the opinion of the Court of Direct-

ors, expressed in their last letter of the ]1th November 1768,

agree unanimously to the following resolutions :—~

“That, in every province or district, a gentleman in the

service be appointed, with or without assistance, in proportion

to the extent of the district, whose office or department is

to be subordinate to the resident of the Durbar.”

Native atmviss — ‘The instructions to the Supervisors have become

Meee obsolete, but the following remarks which refer to

the native administration of justice are interesting

and suggestive :—

“Tt is difficult to determine whether the original customs

or the degenerate manners of the Mussulmans have most con-

tributed to confound the principles of right and wrong in

these provinces. Certain it is, that almost every decision of

theirs is a corrupt bargain with the highest bidder. The

numerous offences which are compromised by fines have left

a great latitude for unjust determinations. Trifling offenders,
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and even many condemned on fictitious accusations, are fre-

quently loaded with heavy demands, and capital criminals

are as often absolved by the venal judge. Your conduct in

all capital offences should be to enforce justice where the law

demands it, checking every composition by fine or mulet;

‘and where any disputes arise in matters of property, you

should recommend the method of arbitration to any other;

and inculcate strongly in the minds of the people that we are

not desirous to augment our revenue by such impositions, but

to acquire their confidence by the equity and impartiality of our

proceedings, and by our tenderness for their happiness. The

arbitrators should be men chosen by the parties themselves,

and of known integrity, and whose circumstances may sup-

pose them exempt from venality, and promise best to insure

their rectitude. In capital erimes, the sentence should, be-

fore execution, be referred tome, and by me tothe ministers of

the Nizamut, that they may ultimately approve or mitigate if,

according to the peculiarity of the case. You are further to

observe, that the want of regular registers of all causes and

determinations have encouraged the natural propensity of the

native judge to bribery and fraud by making him easy with

respect to any future prosecution on a re-hearing of the cases

which have been thus partially determined. Whereas, whilst a

reference to records is always open, he must live in perpetual

fear of detection. One of these registers should be lodged in

the principal eutcherry of the province, and an authenticated

copy transmitted to Murshedabad. As to suits on account of re-

venues, these will, we are flattered, be much obviated in future

by the happy consequences of our possessing a real, local, and

undisguised knowledge of the country ; which we promise our-

selves from the investigations above mentioned, and from your

diligence and exactness in the performance of the several duties.

“‘ For the ryot being eased and secured from all burthens Leases to ryote,

and demands but what are imposed by the legal authority of

government itself, and future pottahs ' being granted him,

specifying that demand; he should be taught that he is to

1 Leases.
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regard the same as a sacred and inviolable pledge to him,

that he is liable to no demands beyond their amount. There

can, therefore, be no pretence for suits on that account; no

room for inventive rapacity to practise its usual arts: all will

be fair, open, regular. Every man will know what he can

call attd defend as his own; and the spirit of lawless en-

croachment, subsiding, for want of a field for exercise, will be

changed into a spirit of industry ; and content and security

will take place of continual alarms and vexations.

Other reforms. “The instance where venal, ignorant, and rapacious judges

avail themselves of a crude and mercenary system of Jaws of

the prevalance of licentiousness and the force of reigning

habits and customs, have been already mentioned. I can only

repeat, that it is your part to endeavour to reform all these

corruptions which have encroached on the primitive rights of

both the Mahomedans and Hindoos; particularly by abolish-

ing the arbitrary imposition of fines, and recommending all in

your power the more equitable method of arbitration.

Control of Kazis. = The officers of justice and Kazis who are established

and Brahmins. 1y the Mahomedan law, as also the Brahmins, who administer
justice among the Hindoos, in every village, town, and quarter,

should all be summoned to appear, produce their Sunnuds, or

authority for acting, and register, them. Records, of what-

ever cases are heard and determined, are to be sent to and

deposited in the Sudder Cutcherry of the province, and

monthly return thereof forwarded to Murshedabad.

Registration of * The register of Sunnuds is intended to deter any from

sunnuds, exercising a judicial, because lucrative function, who may not

be legally appointed by government, if a Mahomedan, or

fairly elected by his caste, ifa Hindoo, And the depositing

of all cases and determinations, added to the other regulation,

will figure to the several officers a vigorous and observant

power, watching all their actions, and, in case of abuses,

direct you at once to the culpable.

Forfeit of caste. The peculiar punishment of forfeiting castes, to which the

Hindoos are liable, is often inflicted from private pique and

personal resentment amongst themselves; and requires to be
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restrained to those occasions only where there may be a regu-

lar process, and clear proofs of the offence before the Brah-

mins, who are their natural judges. But when any man has

naturally forfeited his caste, you are to observe that he cannot

be restored to it without the sanction of government, which

was a political supremacy reserved to themselves by the Maho-

medans, and which, as it publicly asserts the subordination of

Hindus, who are so considerable a majority of subjects, ought

not to be laid down; though every indulgence and privilege

of caste should be otherwise allowed them.

The following evidence about the oppressions of

the zemindars may be regarded as trustworthy :—

“The truth cannot be:doubted that the poor and industri-

ous tenant is taxed by his. zemindar, or collector, for every

extravagance that avarice, ambition, pride, vanity, or in-

temperance may lead him into, over and above what is gener-

ally deemed the established rent of his lands. If he is to

be married, a child born, honours conferred, luxury indulged,

and nuzzurannas, or fines, exacted, even for his own mis-

conduct, all must be paid by the ryot. And what heightens the

distressful scene, the more opulent, who can better obtain redress

for imposition, escape, while the weaker are obliged to submit.”

The drain of silver out of Hindustan was pro-

ducing the most lamentable results. The following

extracts from a dispatch to the Court of Directors

will throw some light on the subject :—

‘We have frequently expressed to you our apprehension

lest the annual exportation of treasure to China would pro-

duce a scarcity of money in the country. This subject be-

comes every day more serious, as we already feel, in a very

sensible manner, the effects of the considerable drain made

from the silver currency. Experience will ever yield stronger

conviction than the most abstract and refined reasoning.

“ Whatever sums had formerly been remitted to Delhi

were amply reimbursed by the returns made to the immense

Oppressions of
zemindars.

Drain of silver;

its causes.

Non-return of

specie,
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commeree of Bengal, which might be considered as the

central point to which all the riches of India were attracted.

Its manufactures found their way to the remotest part of

Hindostan, and specie flowed in by a thousand channels that

are at present lost and obstructed. All the European com-

panies formed their investments with money brought into the

country; the Gulphs’ poured in their treasures into this

river; and across the continent, an inland trade was driven

to the westward to the extremity of the kingdom of Guzerat

“ How widely different from these are the present cir-

cumstances of the Nabob’s dominions! Immense treasures

have lately been carried out of the provinces by Meer Cossim,

which may possibly be reserved as a fund to excite future

troubles. Each of the European companies, by means of

money taken up in the country, have greatly enlarged

their annual investments, without adding a rupee to the

riches of the province. On the contrary, the increase of

exports to Europe has proved so great a restraint upon the

industry of private merchants, that we will venture to affirm

the balance from Europe, in favour of Bengal, amounts to

a very trifling sum in specie. We know of no foreign trade

existing at present which produces a‘clear balance in money,

except that carried on with the ports of Judda, Mocha, and

Bassora, from whence not fifteen lakhs? in bullion have been

returned in the course of four years.

“ When the provinces of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa came

under your jurisdiction, they were much sunk in opulence,

population, and manufactures, from their ancient importance,

The almost continual irruptions of the Mahrattas, under the

government of Alliverdy Khan, and the avarice of the

ministers under the supineness of Seraj-u-doulah, the

necessities of Meer Jaflier, and the iron hand of the rapa-

cious and bloodthirsty Meer Cossim, struck equally at the

property of the-rich, and industry of the poor: and while it
yeduced the one to indigence, compelled the other to seek

'The two Gulphs of Mocha and Persia.

7 187,5001,
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safety in flight. If to these we add, first, the immense

amount in specie and jewels to the value of between three

and five crores of rupees‘ secreted or carried off by Cossim

after his several defeats had obliged him to relinquish all

hopes of a reinstatement: 2ndly, the royal tribute of twenty-

six ? lakhs and the expence of about twenty lakhs for a brigade,

both paid annually out of the provinces, and consequently

out of the sphere of our immediate circulation : 38rdly, the

annual-amount of our own, and the other nations’ Investments,

for which no value is received into the country: 4thly, the

Jarge exports of bullion to China and the different pre-

sidencies during the three last years: and lastly, the un-

avoidable misfortune and capital drain, the immense sums

paid into the cash of foreign nations, for bills on their

respective Companies. I say, the ageregate of these several

exports must appear inevitable and immediately ruinous to

the most flourishing state, much less be deemed tolerable to a

declining and exhausted country! Yet it isin this situation

the Court of Directors, and the nation in general, have been

induced to expect prodigious remittances in specie, from a

country which produces little gold and no silver ; and where

any considerable imports of both have, for a series of years, been

rendered necessary to the trade of foreigu Companies, by the

general demands for draughts on Kurope.”

It appears from another calculation that during Rigen the

three years the exports of bullion from Bengal

exceeded five millions sterling, whilst the imports

of bullion were little more than half a million.

Meantime the rupee rose to an exchange value of

two-and-sixpence.

The views of Verclst on the political sittia- views of verust
on foreign

tion of Bengal as regards the native powers in “hin.

1 Between 3,750,0002, and 6,250,0002.

325,060/,
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Hindustan may be gathered from the following

extracts :—

“The first and great cause of our security is the general

indigence of the Moghulempire. The invasion of Nadir Shah

gave the first stroke to its power and opulence, but it fell not

so heavily as is commonly imagined. It gave a mortal

wound, it is true, to the overgrown wealth and arrogance of

the Moghul grandees; but, as the blow was not pursued, its

effect was not immediately felt beyond the capital. The erup-

tion of the Mahrattas ensued, their wide-extended ravages laid

desolate almost everything on the south side of the Ganges,

from near the frontiers of Behar on the east, to Sirhind on

the north and west. Their undistinguishing rapine plunged

cities and countries in one common ruin, and the empire must

have sunk under their oppression, or fallen a prey to their

ambition, if the defeat at Paniput had not put a period at

once to their power and devastations.!. The expeditions of

Ahmad Shah Abdali succeeded, which, though neither so

extensive, destructive, or bloody ay those of the Mahrattas,

still conduced greatly to exhaust a declining state; and,

though his sphere of action was chiefly confined to the Panjab

and confines of Dehli, yet the vast sums he levied must have

been severely felt throughout a country which produces no

silver, and but very little gold. So large a decrease of specie

naturally produced a decay of trade, and a diminution of

cultivation ; and, though these evils have, in some measure, been

palliated in our provinces by the annual imports of bullion,

yet in the most flourishing interior parts, such as Benares,

Mirzapore, &c., the fact is notorious, and beyond dispute.

“ The natural consequence of these circumstances has been,

that the different native powers find their finances narrow, and

their treasures unequal to the maintenance of a respectable

army, or the prosecution of a war of any duration. When-

ever, therefore, they are urged by ambition or necessity to

1 The Mahrattas were defeated by the Afghans under Ahmad Shah

Abdali in 1761.
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enter on any expedition, they assemble new levies for the

purpose with the most unreflecting precipitancy ; they risk

everything on one campaign, because they have seldom re-

sources for a second ; and come to an engagement at all events,

because the consequences of a defeat are less terrible than

those which must ensue from the desertion or sedition of an

ill-paid and disaffected army. As their troops, then, are

chiefly raw men and aliens, they are without attachment to

their general, or confidence in each other: a variety of indepen-

dent commanders destroys all subordination and authority ;

and the certainty of beggary and starving from the common

accidents of war, throws a damp on the most ardent bravery.

“ These circumstances, Lapprehend, gentlemen, have been

very principal sources of our repeated victories over these

immense Asiatic armies, which have fled before a handful of

your troops ; and these will, I trust, either deter others in

future, or ensure success against any who may be desperate

enough to brave a force like ours, so strengthened by disci-

pline, and rendered formidable by uninterrupted successes.

“A second, and no less powerful reason for the security

Englsh victories.

Discordancy
of Native

of our situation, is the discordancy of the principles, views, princes.

and interests of the neighbouring powers; and which must

ever defeat any project of accomplishing, by an association,

what the wealth or power of a single one must prove unequal

to. ‘The majority of the present princes of Hindostan have

no natural right to the countries they possess, In the

general wreck of the monarchy, every man seized what

fortune threw into his hands ; and they are, therefore, more

studious to secure what they have already obtained, than to

grasp at new acquisitions. Hence, the principal disturbances

which have lately happened in Hindostan (Shuja-u-daula’s

invasion of Bengal excepted) have been accidental broils

raised by the Mahrattas, Sikhs, and Ahmad Shah Abdali,

whose views were rather extended to plunder than to territorial

possessions. Conscious that the maintenance of their usurped

authority depends on their preventing any of the members

from being too much depressed, or too much elevated, they
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are become jealous and suspicious of each other, and ever

ready to throw in their weight against any one whom they

see rising too high above the common level. For this reason,

they at first looked on our successes with an evil eye; still

our generosity to Shuja-u-daula, our attention to our trea-

ties and public faith, and, above all, our moderation in

not pursuing our victories, begot a confidence in us they had

not in their countrymen, and made them rather ambitious

of our friendship than jealous of our power.

“ Thus cireumstanced, it will always be easy for a watehful

and active administration on our side to hold the general

balance of Hindustan, and erush every combination in the

bud,-by spiriting up some neighbouring power, who may be

either ill-disposed, or at least not favourable to the con-

federates. A very little acquaintance with the disposition of

the natives will shew their ardour for change, where they have

a prospect of support ; and the situation of Allahabad, and the

station of a brigade there, reuders this plan still more praeti-

rable. Its situation makes it, in some measure, the key of

the surrounding territuries; and its vicinity to the several

countries of Shuja-u-daula, the Rohillas, Jauts, and Mah-

rattas, enables us to penetrate their views with more

certainty, and in case of necessity, to enter any part with our

army in ten or fifteen days, where we can have either an ally

to support, or an cnemy to punish. It is for these reasons,

we have been obliged to retain a brigade out of the pro-

vineces. Our repeated resolutions in Committee will, I doubt

not, evince our earnest desire to fulfil your orders on this

head, and the necessity itself exenses us for keeping it there

as long as these reasons shall subsist.

“Such, gentlemen, seem to be the general causes of our

present security here; but they receive additional strength

from the particular characters and situations of the several

potentates themselves.

“The King Shah Alam, acknowledged emperor of Hindu-

stan, retains little of the authority or dominions of his

ancestors, but what he has derived from us. The provinces
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of Korah and Allahabad yield him a revenue of about

twenty-seven lakhs! per annum, at a rack-rent; this is

almost exhausted, to support rather the name than the sub-

stance of an army, whilst the Bengal tribute’ defrays the

expences of his court and household, and enables him to

live in an affluence, if not with a splendour, he never before

enjoyed. His abilities are rather below mediocrity, and his

character seems rather calculated for private life than a

throne. He is religious as a man, affectionate as a father,

and humane as a master; but as a prince he is weak,

indolent, irresolute, and easily swayed by the counsels of self-

interested men: I cannot, however, think we have anything

to apprehend from these dispositions ; the remembrance of

what he experienced, when dependent on Shuja-u-daula,

has created in him such a diflidence of Hindustan connexions

as will effectually prevent him trusting himself to any of

them again ; and, at the same time, he probably entertains

a distant hope that the hand which has already raised him to

his present independence, may one day be extended to restore

him to his throne and right.

« The King has lately affected great earnestness to under- anxiety of the

take his favourite expedition to Dehli. But the lowness of Ringe”

his finances threaten his. project with a very sudden abortion.

The weakuess of his disposition is no less evident in the ad-

ministration of his domestic affairs, than in the formation

of his political schemes. Perpetual changes of his ministers

and confidants have bred an uncertainty and distrust in the

minds of all his adherents, which has checked public spirit,

and produced a general turn to selfish pursuits. With a

treasury so ill supplied, and a court so ill affected, it is more

than probable, if he should advance, that he will be preyed on

by his own servants ; and being awakened from his delusion

by a scene of beggary and contempt, will ultimately take

protection in our provinces,

“From these conclusions it was I formed my opinion

1 337,500l.. The King drew the revenue of Korah and Allahabad in

addition to the tribute which he drew from the English in Bengal,
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some months ago, when I acquiesced in His Majesty’s

requisition of two battalions; and all circumstances since have

served to corroborate that opinion. An occasion of demon-

strating the sincerity of our professions, without subjecting us

to any apparent inconvenience, were too inviting advantages

to be neglected, and may be derived from our connections

with his Majesty.

Necessity for “As the necessity of retaining His Majesty under our

King at Allah influence, or separating ourselves entirely from him, is a

maxim in our system, and as the former seems most pro-

bable, we should be careful how we allow strangers to assume

the management of his councils. Our conduct towards him

is plain. "We must either contrive to guide him at a distance,

or so to palliate, that, if unsuccessful, he may consider us as

his protectors, our provinces as the place of his refuge.

Superior advan- = Aj] things, at present, seem tending to the latter, and it
tage of the

King removing ig an event most to be wished ; but I had rather His Majesty

re pene should make the proposition, than that we should give the
invitation, Disappointment may correct his impatience, and

difficulties may teach him prudence. The treachery of Hin-

dustan professions will prepare him better for the frank, plain

declarations of his English allies; and there is the greatest

reason to believe he will return to us with repentance.

Bhajan-daula, “The Nawab Shuja-u-daula is our next ally; and, if

of uude. gratitude can be any tie on an Hindustan heart, we have

every reason to consider him as connected with us by the

most indissoluble bonds. His dominions, except the zemin-

dary of Bulwant Sing, lie on the north of the Ganges, and

extend to the hills ; and, though they are more thinly peopled

than is common in this country, have been so much improved

by his late regulations in them, as to produce annually near

one crore and twenty-five lakhs of rupees.! His increase of

strength has kept pace with his increase of revenue. He has

near eleven battalions of sepoys of all sorts, a good body of

horse, and has made considerable additions to his artillery and

magazines; but, as his whole revenue can never support a

1 1,568,500/.
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force which can be really formidable to us, so it will always

be in our power to direct the force he has to such purposes

as may best conduce to the imterest of the Honourable Com-

pany and the general peace. The Nawal’s education, and

perhaps disposition, have led him to be vain, aspiring, and

impatient. He is active, but desultory; his judgment

rather acute than sound; and his generalship and policy

more plausible than solid. From pride, or jealousy, he is

afraid to employ men of abilities or rank in the several

departments of his government ; he plans, directs, oversees,

and executes everything himself; so that the multiplicity

of business, and his daily increasing infirmities, oblige him

to leave his best designs imperfect and crude. His ambition,

it is true, is always inciting him to form new projects, but

his volatility induces him to be continually abandoning

some, and his impetuosity often renders the remainder

abortive. In a word, from a most careful review of his

character and conduct, he seems a much proper instrument

to accomplish the Company’s main point, the maintaining

themselves the empire of Hindustan, than an enemy who,

from his strength or situation, could give them any material

uneasiness or trouble,”

Mr. Verelst contemplated a measure, as regards

the Nizam of Hyderabad, which reads somewhat

strangely in the present day. The Nizam had

proved refractory. He had joined Hyder Ali of

Mysore in his war against the English at Madras.

Verelst proposed to punish him, and set up another

Nizam in his room. He proceeded after Moghul

forms. He procured a grant from the King at

Allahabad of the whole of the Nizam’s dominions.

The name of the person to whom the grant was to

be made was left blank. The grant was sent to

Madras. The English at Madras were told to depose

Proposed

dethronement

of the Nizam.
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the Nizam, and set up another in his room, They

were at liberty to make their choice, and then to

fill up the blank in the grant with the name of the

new Nizam. The measure is fully explained in the

following extract from a general letter + :—

Grant of a ‘* By letters some time since received from the gentlemen
blank firman to

the Englsh for at Madras, it appears that they laboured under great difficul-

ship of the ties in the nomination of a Subah to the Moghul province of

the Dekhan, in case Nizam Ali should, by an obstinate per-

severance in his unjust measures, oblige them to deprive him

of his government; and they were even pleased to request

our opinion in a matter of so great importance. We ex-

pressed ourselves with that unreserved freedom which we

wish may mutually subsist between the two Presidencies; and

judging it expedient to secure the King’s firman for the

nomination of some other person, our President was desired

to apply for the same to His Majesty, who has been pleased

to comply with the request; and in a letter lately received from

him, he promised to despatch a blank firman within five days

of the date thereof, to be filled with the name of any

person we may judge most proper for the security and lasting

tranquillity of your possessions on the coast. This is a

power we should be loth to avail ourselves of, excepting in

the case of the utmost necessity ; and such we fear this will

prove, if we can form our judgment from the present situa-

tion of affairs.”

Verelst was so convinced of the expediency of
this measure, that a year afterwards he expressed

his regret that it had not been carried out. The

passage is worthy of extract :—

“ T could have wished the gentlemen on the coast” had been

more deeply impressed with this idea, so that) the reinforce-

Regrets of

Verelst,

‘1 Despatch to the Court of Directors, dated 3rd February 1768,

2 The presidency of Madras, on the coast of Coromandel.
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ments sent from Bengal, instead of being scattered and dis-

membered, might have struck the important blow we medi-

tated against the Subah.' Jn this case, Hyderabad, weak

and defenceless, must have fallen an easy prey before the

Nizam could have even received intelligence of the expedi-

tions; and, as the capture must have more universally enforced

a conviction of our power, so the generous restitution of

it to a repenting enemy, must have highly exalted our

moderation and disinteresteduess,”

The measure, however, was contrary to the policy Directors.

of the Directors. They expressed their disapproval tTM.

in the strongest terms. ‘They ordered the grant

to be cancelled.

Verelst left Bengal at the end of 1769. THe was peperture of

succeeded by Mr. Cartier, who in his turn gave

place to Warren Hastings. The administration of

Warren Hastings opens up a new era in Indian his-

tory, into which it is impossible to enter in the

present volume.

It has been scen more than once that within two possipiity of an

or three years of the battle of Plassey, the English over Hindostan,
entertained the idea of going to Delhi. Possibly

the attempt might have proved a success, and

even at this early period the English might have

established a paramount power in Hindostan.

But the course of events prevented the enterprise.

Indeed, an Anglo-Indian empire under the existing

system would have been productive of evil rather

than of good. The appropriation of revenues for

trading purposes, without regard for the people who

1 Nizam Ally, Subah of the Dekhan,
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paid it, was bad enough in Bengal; it would have

been fatal to the good name of the British govern-

ment had it ever been extended into Hindostan.

It was destined that Bengal should be the school

of English administrators; that the English should

not become masters of an Indian empire until they

had learned how to rule it; and this result was not

effected until a later generation. The measure of

appointing Supravisors was a move in the right

direction, but it proved a failure. An Englishman

placed alone in a large district, surrounded by

native influences of the worst character, was help- .

less to contend against the general corruption, and

was often tempted to share in the spoil. Such

appears to have been the fate of Verelst’s Supra-

visors.
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English Governors, ib. ; story of Captain Perrin and Governor Sheldon,

ib.; Hamilton’s interference, 194; story of the Persian wine, 195;

territory and population of the Company’s settlement, ib.; Barnagul, ib.;

Danish colony, ib.; Danish and, French Companies, 196; Dutch fac-

tory at Chinsura, ib.; Hughli, ib.; Cossimbazar, 197; Murshedabad,

ib.; Malda, ib.; Patna, ib.; Bonares, 198; Dacca, ib.; Chittagong,

199; Sundiva, ib.; a hundred pagans to one Mussulman, ib.; lightness

of Moghul taxation, 200; Hamilton’s imperfect information, ib.; death

of Murshed Kuli Khan, ib.; rise of Aliverdi Khan, ib.; Raja of the

Chukwars, 201; independence of the old Raja: submission of the

young Raja, ib.; treachery of Aliverdi Khan, ib.; Persian invasion

under Nadir Shah, 202; Afghan conquest of Persia: rise of Nadir

Shah, 208; causes of the Persian invasion of India, ib.; incapacity,

corruption, and treachery, 204; massacre, outrage, and spoliation, 206 ;

breaking up of the Moghul Empire, ib.; state of Bengal, 206; the

Seits or Hindu bankers, ib.; lawlessness of the Nawab, 207; con-

spiracy, ib.; rebellion of Aliverdi Khan, ib.; usurpation of Aliverdi

Khan, 208; Mahrattas invade Bengal, ib.; war between England

and France, ib. ; peace between English and French in India, 209.

Black Hole, Holwell’s narrative of the tragedy, 227; later notices of the

building, 251; list of the sufferers, 252.

Bombay, early English settlement. at, 36; subordination to Surat,

ib.; the town of, 37; fresh-water springs scarce, ib.; woods of

cocoes, ib.; Parell, 38; salt-pans, ib.; Maijym, ib.; Salvasong, ib.;

Malabar-hill, ib.; bigness of the island, 39; mixt people, ib.; English

Government, ib.; power and state of the President, ib.; unhealthiness

of Bombay, 40; English women, ib.; longevity of natives and Por.

tuguese, tb.; misery and mortality of the English, 41; visit of Khai

Khan, 109.

Buxar, decisive battle at, 327.
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Caleutta, foundation of, 162; fortification of, 163; Channock’s settlement

at, 189; state of, about 1750, and general appearance, 212; Mahratta

ditch, ib.; population, 213; Calcutta of 1752 and 1876 compared, ib. ;

Enropean element at Calentta, 214; trade at Caleutta, 215; social hfe,

216; native life, Hindu and Muhammadan, 217; English supreme

within the Company’s bounds, 218; administration of justice amongst

the English, ib.; administration of justice amongst the natives, 219 ;

revenue of the English at Calcutta, 220; total revenue, 222; general

use of cowries, 223; the Kotwal or head of police, ib.; subordinate

factories, 224; changes in the transaction of business: abolition of

contractors like Omichund, ib.; accession of Nawab Suraj-u-daula,

225; capture of Calcutta, 226 ; Holwell’s narrative of the tragedy of the

Black Hole, 227; city recovered by Clive, 354; victory at Plassey,

260; universal joy, 261; Vansittart Governor, 272; disputes about

private trade, 298.

Carnatic, first Nawab of, 99 ;. second Nawab, 102 ;—see Arcot.

Chandernagore, French at, 163; difficulties with Clive, 256; capture, 257.

Channock, Job, flight from Bengal to Madras, 89, 161; settlement

at Calcutta, 189; his despotic power, 1b,; story of his native wife, ib.

Child, Josiah, 79.

Chinsura, Dutch factory at, 196.

Chunda Sahib, the French Nawab of Arcot, 141.

Clive, Robert, relieves Arcot, 144; his fame, 145; recovers Caleutta

after the Black Hole tragedy, 254; defeats the Nawab, 255; diffi-

culties with the French at Chandernagore, 256; afraid of Bussy, ib.;

captures Chandernagore, 257; victory at Plassey, 260; makes Meer

Jaffir Nawab of Bengal, ib.; his wealth, 261; difficulties, 263; exer-

cises the authority of the Naweb, ib.; courted by Moghuls and Mah-

yattas, 264; threatened by the Shahzada and the Nawab Vizicr, 265;

victory, ib.; war with the Dutch, 266; returns to England, 267;

his letter to Pitt, ib.; reasons for refusing the post of Dewan, 268;

previous scheme of Colonel Mill, ib.; ideas of conquest, 270; Pitt’s

objection, ib.; second administration of Bengal, 329; his wrath at

the measures of his predecessor, 331; settlement of Oudh, 333; set-

tlement of Bengal, ib.; exposition of his policy, 335; mutiny of the

civil servants, 340; mutiny of Bengal military officers, 342 ; exposition

of future policy, 348 ; its imperfections, 351.

Cooch Behar, ravages of the Raja, 152; submission to the Nawab of

Bengal, 166.

Cossimbazar described by Hamilton, 196.

DAtid Khan, second Nawab of the Carnatic, 102; entertained at Madras

by Governor Pitt, 104, besieges Madras, 118.

Delhi, English embassy to, 170; contemporary state of affairs at, ib.
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Directors of East India Company, their despatches as regards policy,

private trade, &c., 271—317.

Dupleix, French Governor of Pondicherry, his political schemes, 140; Iis

glory, 143.

English settlements in India, 1; at Surat, 18; at Bombay, 36; at

Madras, 48; in Bengal, 147.

Farrukh Siyar, Moghul Emperor at Delhi, his history, 171; receives an

embassy from the English at Calcutta, ib.; murdered, 185.

Fort St. David, English settlement at, 99.

Fryer, visit to Surat, 28; to Bombay, 36; to Madras, 54, to St. Thomé,

60.

Fullerton, Dy., his journal of the massacre at Patna, 324.

Golkonda, subordination of Madvas, 62 ; conquered by Aurengzeb, 88.

Gyfford, Mr. William, 79.

Holwell, his narrative of the Black Hole tragedy, 227.

Hughli, destruction of the English factory at, 88; revenge of Shah

Jehan, 148; English factory at, 150; described by Hamilton, 196.

Hyderabad,—see Nizam.

Hamilton, Captain, his description of Madras, 124; his deseription of

the English settlements in Bengal, 186.

Hamilton, Dr., his troubles at Delhi, 183; his tomb at Caleutta, 184,

India in the seventeenth century, 1; division of India—Hindustan,

Dekhan, and Peninsula, ib.; Moghul empire, 3; breaking up of the

empire, 205.

Jehangir, reign of, 12.

Khafi Khan, his visit to Bombay, 109.

Langhorn, Sir William, Agent at Madras, 56; his government, 62.

Madras, English settlement at, 47 ; territory and island, 48; White Town,

49; Black Town, ib.; early perils, 50; European establishment, 51;

consultations and general letters, ib.; Merchants, Factors, Writers, and

Apprentices, 52; private trade and presents, ib.; Chaplain and School-

master, ib.; administration of justice, 53; Native police, ib.; morals,

54; Fryer’s visit about 1674, ib.; Madras under Golkonda, 62; pro-

posed abandonment of Madras, 64; moral rules, 65 ; low state of morals
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66; Reverend Patrick Warner, 68 ; letter to the Directors, ib. ; visit of

Sivaji, 72; inundation at Madras, ib.; Directors insist on local tax-

ation, 81; petition of natives, ib.; slave trade at Madras, 83; final

prohibition of the slave trade, 85 ; bistory of Madras under the Moghuls,

88; municipal government, 92; entertainment of Nawab Datid Khan,

104: besieged by David Khan, 113; trade in 1712, 116; described by

Captain Hamilton, 124; war of the Carnatic, 135.

Mahrattas, rise of, 14; wars of Aurungzeb, 16; ravages near Madras, 95;

besiege Pondicherry, 98; at Trichinopoly, 136; invade Bengal, 208.

Malabar hill, 38.

Mandelslo, visit to Surat, 19; to Ahmedabad, 22.

Mayor’s Court, original form at Madras, 92 ; reorganisation of, 133.

Meer Cossim, installed Nawab, 272; his designs, 273; attitude towards

Shah Alam, 277 ; efforts of Governor Vansittart to conciliate him, 279;

disputes about private trade, 298; massacre at Patna, 318; Fullerton’s

diary, 324; his ruin, 327.

Meer Jaffr, made Nawab of Bengal by Clive, 260; drives the Hindus

into rebellion, 262 ; alaymed at Clive’s defeat of the Dutch expedition,

266 ; deposed, 272 ; restored to the throne, 328.

Mill, Colonel, bis scheme for the conquest of Bengal Jong anterior to

Clive, 268.

Moghul empire in India, 2; inherent weakness of Moghul rule, 5;

Moghul despotism, ib.; land tenures, 6; renter and husbandman, ib.;

proprietary right of the Sovereign, 7; rights of inheritance refused to

office-holders, ib.; life in public, 8; government in the provinces, ib. ;

revenue system, 9; presents, 10; Moghul Court, ib.; rebellions, 11;

breaking up of the Moghul empire, 205.

Muhammad Ah, the English Nawab of Arcot, 141.

Municipal government at Madras, natives mixed with Europeans, 92 ;—

see Mayor’s Court. ,

Murshed Kuli Khan, Nawab of Bengal, his oppressive administration,

164. .

Murshedabad founded by Murshed Kuli Khan, 164; described by Cap-

tain Hamilton, 196.

Mysore in the seventeenth century, 73.

Nadir Shah, his invasion of India, 202.

Nizam of Hyderabad, growing independence, 135; wars for the succes-

sion, 140; the English and French Nizams, 142; French at Hyderabad

under Bussy, 143.

Patna, English saltpetre factory at, 150; loss of the trade, 162; massacre

of the English by Meer Cossim, 318; diaries of the siege and massacre,

320.
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Piply, English at, 149; ruined by the removal to Hughli and Caleutta,

186.

Pitt, Governor of Madras, resists the demands of Dafd Khan, 103;

entertains the Nawab, 104; besieged by the Nawab, 113.

Pitt, William, his objections to Clive’s policy, 270.

Plassey, Clive’s victory at, 260.

Pondicherry besieged by the Mahrattas, 98.

Portuguese hostility to the English, 18; Moghul complaints against, 147 ;

yevenge of Shah Jehan on Hughli, 148; suppression of the Portuguese

pirates, 153.

Rajputana, Aurungzeb’s persecuting wars in, 17.

St. Thomé, Portuguese settlement at, 6; captured by the Muhammadans

50; description of, by Fryer, 60; description of, by Captain Hamilton,

131.

Seits or Hindu bankers, 206.

Shah Alam proclaimed Emperor, 274; proposals for conducting him to

Delhi, 275 ; designs of Nawab Cossim and the English, 277.

Shah Jehan, reign of, 12; revenge on Hughli, 148; war between his

sons, 150.

Shuja-u-daula, Nawab of Oude, threatens Bengal, 262; defeated at

Buxar, 327 ; settlement of Lord Clive, 333.

Sikhs, massacre of, at Delhi described by the English embassy, 180.

Silver, drain of, its causes, 373.

Sivaji, the Mahratta, 15; war against him, ib.; goes to Delhi, ib. ; death
of, 16; plunders Surat, 34; English ae bessy to, 42; audience, 43;
coronation, 45; visits the neighbourhood of Madras, 73.

Slave trade at Madras, 83.

Supravisors, appéintment of, in Bengal, 363 ; failure of the scheme, 384.
Suraj-u-daula becomes Nawab of Bengal, 225; captures Calcutta, 226;

narrative of the Black Hole tragedy, 227 ; defeated by Clive, 255; his

lavish promises, 256; intrigues with the French, 257; conspiracy

against him at Murshedabad, 259; defeated at Plassey, 260.

Surat, early English settlement at, 18; hostility of the Portuguese, ib.;

pomp of the President, ib.; visit of Mandelslo, 19; Surat Custom

House, tb.; entertainment at the Knglish house, 20; order of the

English factory, 21; tea, 22; English garden, ib.; amusements at, ib.;

visit of Fryer, 28; attacked by Sivaji, 34; subordination of Bombay,

36...

Tavernier, his journey from Agra to Hughli, 154; Agra, ib.; Bengal

revenue, ib.; rhinoceros, ib; Aurungabad, 155; River Ganges, ib.;

Allahabad, ib.; crossing a river, 156; Benares, ib.; Patna, 157;
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Rajmahal, tb.; parting from Bernier, ib.; crocodiles, ib. ; Dacea, 158 ;

visits the Nawab, 159; hospitalities, 160; Hughli, ib.; Tavernier’s

grievances, ib.

Vansittart, Governor of Calcutta, 272; history of his administration, 273

et seq.

Verelst, Governor of Bengal, 351; his advanced policy, 352; his plans,

357 ; appointment of supravisors, 363; permanent value of his observa-

tions, 365.

Warner, Reverend Patrick, his letter to the Court of Directors on im-

morality at Madras, 68.

Zemindars, Bengal, oppressed by the Nawab Murshed Kuli Khan, 164.

Zultikar Khan, first Nawab of the Carnatic, 99.
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THE HISTORY OF INDIA,

BY

J. TALBOYS WHEELER.

LONDON: TRUBNER AND CO, CALCUTTA: NEWMAN AND CO.

AND BY ALL BOOK-SELLERS,

Volume I1—~THH VEDIC PERIOD—-THE MAHABHARATA.

“ O one can be said to know India, whether ancient or modern, who

is unacquainted with the Mahabharata and Ramayana, and we con-

gratulate Mr. Wheeler on having performed a task which will earn him

the gratitude of many readers, both in England and in India. He has

given us something that has never been done before by any European

scholar, and something which does not lose in value by the independent

way in which it is carried out.”—The Times, January 11, 1868.

“ My. Wheeler’s first volume presents an epitome of all those parts

of the poem (The Mahabharata) which have a bearing on the History

of Ancient India. This abstract satisfied the critical, not to say fasti-

dious, judgment of the late Professor Goldstiicker, than whom no more

competent judge could be found.”—Saturday Review.

** OF all the works which have been written to illustrate the Maha-

bharata, the most remarkable in many respectsis Mr. Wheeler’s. He

has, produced the best existing sketch of the story of the great war. He

has in addition to this, embodied in the work, in the form of a running

commentary, his own criticisms on the incidents narrated, giving fre-

quent instances of his sagacity in detecting forgeries, and in following out

the conclusions, often very important, which are implied in details ap.

parently trivial.” ~Zhe Asiatic.

Volume I1—THE RAMAYANA AND BRAHMANIC PERIOD,

“ Mr. Wheeler has undertaken and brought to a sucessful completion

a work which few men would have ventured upon. He has endeavoured

to present to us that ancient India which had been lost to human eyes

long before history, in the proper sense of the word, began.
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“ Tt is these epics (the Mahabharata and the Ramayana), rather than
the philosophical and religious writings of the Brahmins, which repre-

sent the element of human struggles and suffering in ancient Indian

history.

“ Mr. Wheeler has rendered accessible to every English reader two

great works, which contain the most important memorials that remain

to us of ancient life in India.”—The Pioneer, Allahabad, September

22, 1869,

“ Tn his analysis and bold criticism of the Mahabharata, Mr. Wheeler

was, in England at any rate, first in the field. Readers who never

studied a Sanscrit book, and who have not yet summoned up courage

to face those ponderous tomes in which German erudition is slowly

opening up the as yet unexplored wilds of Indian history and mythology,

can appreciate Mr. Wheeler’s lively style, and enjoy his brilliant analysis

of one of the most interesting poems in the world. And to this task

he brought a mind trained in Grecian and Roman history, familiar with

oriental modes of thought, and the practical acumen of the Govern-

ment official, whose life is spent in close contact with the minds of the

people whose ancient history forms the subject of his investigations.

To these causes it is due that he should have elicited the applause of

orientalists, and wrung from German savans, whose life is passed in the

study of early Indian history, the tribute of sincere admiration.”-—
Prorgssor Goupstucker in The Westminster Review.

Volume Ill,-HINDU, BUDDHIST, AND BRAHMANTICAL.

“The author closes his retrospect of Brahmanic India with a par-

ticular notice of the rite of sati, or burning of widows.

“ The third chapter is devoted to the life and teachings of Gotama

Buddha. The whole of this chapter shows not only. a careful study of

books, but a close and intelligent observation of the working of the

rival systems in the present day. Mr. Wheeler’s field of service has

been varied; he has seen the Brahmanism of India and the Buddhism

of Burma in full operation, and he has scrutinised them with a careful

and observant eye. His contrast of the two religions is very graphic.

“ The expedition of Alexander and the notices of India by Greek

and Roman writers make an interesting chapter. All matters of interest

xecorded by Arrian, Strabo, Megasthenes, Quintus Curtius, and others,

have been diligently woven into a narrative. This has never been so

completely done before.

“ The most interesting chapter in the work is that upon the Rajpoots,

the descendants of the Kshatriyas, the noblest and proudest race in

India.



ADVERTISEMENT.

“ We heartily commend Mr. Wheeler’s book. It treats of the early

history of India in a way never before attempted.”—Saturday Review.

Volume IV., PART L—MUSSULMAN RULE.

“The author’s arrangement is systematic, and his boldness of ex-

pression is at least suggestive of mastery of the subject. We think he

deserves great credit for giving a new tone to a dry but important theme ;

and for expounding with a vigorous mannerism, if not originality of

style, facts and theories which have heretofore been little dwelt upon

by oriental annalists, or discussed by critics and reviewers, apart from

the historical record.’—Siz FrepErick GoLpsmip in The Academy,

April 8th, 1876.

“The fourth volume of Mr. Wheeler’s excellent history of India

from the earliest ages, is devoted to the important period of Mussulman

ascendancy extending from the eleventh to the sixteenth century.

“We may add that if there. be one quality which his “work can

claim, it is that of being thoroughly conscientious and trustworthy.

He has consulted endless authorities, examined and sifted their state-

ments with scrupulous care, and his terse, lucid, and vigorous style is

a further recommendation of the work.”—The Standard.

The Indian Gift Book of the season.

HISTORY OF THE IMPERIAL ASSEMBLAGE AT DELHI.
HELD ON THE isr OF JANUARY 1877,

To celebrate the assumption by Her Majesty QUEEN VICTORIA

of the Titleof EMPRESS OF INDIA;

Wirn Historica SxercHes oF Inpia AND HER PRINCES.

By J. TALBOYS WHEELER.

With 13 Portraits, Maps, and 17 Illustrations, chiefly by Photographs.

Royal 4to, elegantly bound in cloth.

Price 86 Rupees, cash.

Subscribers’ names are being registered by

W. NEWMAN & Co.,

3, Dalhousie Square, Calcutta.




	Contents
	India in the seventeenth century. A. D. 1600 to 1700.
	English at Surat and Bombay
	English at Madras
	Madras Under Golkonda
	English in Bengal
	Calcutta and its Capture
	First Government of Clive
	Calcutta Records Patna Massacre
	Second Government of Clive
	Begining of British Administration
	Index

